
 

TUPELO REGULAR CITY COUNCIL 

MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 05, 2023 AT 6:00 PM 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS | CITY HALL 

AGENDA 

INVOCATION:                                COUNCIL MEMBER JANET GASTON 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:       COUNCIL MEMBER BUDDY PALMER 

CALL TO ORDER:                        COUNCIL PRESIDENT TRAVIS BEARD 

CONFIRMATION OR AMENDMENT TO THE AGENDA AND AGENDA ORDER 

PROCLAMATIONS, RECOGNITIONS AND REPORTS AGENDA 

PROCLAMATIONS 

RECOGNITION GIRL/BOY SCOUTS 

EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION 

PUBLIC RECOGNITION 

MAYOR'S REMARKS 

(CLOSE REGULAR MEETING OPEN PUBLIC AGENDA) 

PUBLIC AGENDA 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

1. IN THE MATTER OF PUBLIC HEARING-2023 TAX LEVY KH 

2. IN THE MATTER OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR DEMOLITIONS TN 

3. IN THE MATTER OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR LOT MOWING TN 

4. IN THE MATTER OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR REZONING APPLICATION RZ22-03 

TN 

APPEALS 

- 1 -



CITIZEN HEARING 

(CLOSE PUBLIC AGENDA AND OPEN REGULAR SESSION) 

ACTION AGENDA 

ROUTINE AGENDA 

5. IN THE MATTER OF APPROVAL OF REGULAR MEETING ON AUGUST 15 AND 

SPECIAL CALLED MEETING ON AUGUST 22, 2023 

6. IN THE MATTER OF BILL PAY KH 

JANET GASTON 

TRAVIS BEARD 

NETTIE DAVIS 

7. IN THE MATTER OF ADVERTISING AND PROMOTIONAL ITEMS KH 

8. IN THE MATTER OF THE TAX ROLL FOR THE 2023 TAX YEAR KH 

9. IN THE MATTER OF SURPLUS OF FIXED ASSETS TO RETURN TO VENDOR FOR 

CREDIT KH 

10. IN THE MATTER OF BUDGET AMENDMENT #10 FOR FY 2023. KH 

11. IN THE MATTER OF RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF A 

GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND, IN ONE OR MORE SERIES NOT TO EXCEED 

$12,000,000 TO RAISE MONEY FOR CAPITAL PROJECTS AS DESCRIbED IN THIS 

RESOLUTION; DIRECTING THE PREPARATION AND DELIVERY THEREOF; 

AUTHORIZING THE SALE OF SAID BOND TO THE MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT 

BANK AND THE SALE OF THE NOT TO EXCEED $12,000,000 MISSISSIPPI 

DEVELOPMENT BANK SPeCIAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2023, IN ONE OR 

MORE SERIES; AND FOR RELATED PURPOSES KH 

12. IN THE MATTER OF APPOINTMENT OF BRAD ROBINSON AS TUPELO FIRE 

CHIEF TJ 

13. IN THE MATTER OF APPOINTMENT OF HAROLD WILSON AS CHAIRMAN TO 

THE COMMUNITY OUTREACH TASK FORCE TJ 

14. IN THE MATTER OF REVIEW/APPROVE PROPERTIES FOR LOT MOWING TN 

15. IN THE MATTER OF REVIEW/APPROVE PROPERTIES FOR DEMOLITION TN 

16. IN THE MATTER OF REZONING APPLICATION RZ22-03 TN 

17. IN THE MATTER OF MDAH CLG GRANT FOR SPRING HILL BAPTIST CHURCH 

TN 

- 2 -



18. IN THE MATTER OF REVIEW/APPROVE LIENS FOR LOT MOWING DRB 

19. IN THE MATTER OF APPROVING AND ADDING NMNU SEIZED VEHICLE TO 

ASSET LIST. JQ 

20. IN THE MATTER OF APPROVING NMNU SGT. DANIEL SHEPHERD TO BE ADDED 

TO THE PAYEE LIST FOR PIPE CHECKS. JQ 

21. IN THE MATTER OF MOU BETWEEN TPD AND US SECRET SERVICE JQ 

22. IN THE MATTER OF BID APPROVAL 12 MOS MATERIALS AND DELIVERY BID 

NO. 2023-039PW CW 

23. IN THE MATTER OF BID APPROVAL FOR THE ENDVILLE ROAD 

WIDENING/SAFETY IMPROVMENTS PROJECT - BID NO. 2023-022PW CW 

24. IN THE MATTER OF CONTRACT APPROVAL FOR CITY PARK DRAINAGE 

IMPROVEMENTS ARPA 2023-028PW CW 

25. IN THE MATTER OF CONTRACT APPROVAL FOR VAN BUREN DRAINAGE 

IMPROVMENTS ARPA 2023-032PW CW 

26. IN THE MATTER OF CONTRACT APPROVAL FOR GUM TREE PARK DRAINAGE 

IMPROVEMENTS ARPA 2023-029PW CW 

27. IN THE MATTER OF SURPLUS FIXED ASSET ITEMS FOR AUGUST 2023 AF 

28. IN THE MATTER OF APPROVAL OF CADENCE BANK ARENA MINUTES OF JULY 

17, 2023 KK 

29. IN THE MATTER OF REQUEST TO REJECT BID # 2023-038WL (LED LUMINAIRES 

– 6 MONTH SUPPLY BID) JT  

30. IN THE MATTER OF BID AWARD 2023-037WL WATER MATERIALS (6 MONTH 

SUPPLY BID) JT  

31. IN THE MATTER OF APPROVAL OF CHANGE ORDER # 1 FOR THE HWY 45 

SEWER OUTFALL PROJECT (BID NO 2023-019WL) JT  

32. IN THE MATTER OF FINAL RESOLUTION FOR LEGGETT & PLATT #0341, #0908, 

AND #4201 BL 

33. IN THE MATTER OF DONATION OF STREETS AND ALLEYWAYS IN THE 

VILLAGES COMPLEX SR 

34. IN THE MATTER OF AN ORDER ACCEPTING A CONVEYANCE OF REAL 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 120 SOUTH HIGHLAND DRIVE AND DECLARING AS 

- 3 -



SURPLUS THE STRUCTURE(S) LOCATED AT SAID PROPERTY AND TO 

AUTHORIZE THE DEMOLITION OF THE SURPLUSED STRUCTURE(S). SR 

35. IN THE MATTER OF AN ORDER ACCEPTING A CONVEYANCE OF REAL 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 124 SOUTH HIGHLAND DRIVE AND DECLARING AS 

SURPLUS THE STRUCTURE(S) LOCATED AT SAID PROPERTY AND TO 

AUTHORIZE THE DEMOLITION OF THE SURPLUSED STRUCTURE(S) SR 

36. IN THE MATTER OF AN ORDER ACCEPTING A CONVEYANCE OF REAL 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1507 FORREST STREET AND DECLARING AS SURPLUS 

THE STRUCTURE(S) LOCATED AT SAID PROPERTY AND TO AUTHORIZE THE 

DEMOLITION OF THE SURPLUSED STRUCTURE(S). SR 

37. IN THE MATTER OF CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS CONTRACT DL 

(CLOSE REGULAR SESSION) 

STUDY AGENDA 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

ADJOURNMENT 

- 4 -



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Kim Hanna, CFO 

DATE September 5, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF PUBLIC HEARING-2023 TAX LEVY KH 
  

 

Request:  

Public Hearing for the 2023 Budget and tax levy. 

 

ATTACHED: 

Public Notice 

 

 

- 5 -

Item # 1.



 

 

 

NOTICE OF A PUBLIC HEARING ON THE PROPOSED BUDGET 

AND PROPOSED TAX LEVIES FOR THE UPCOMING FISCAL 

YEAR FOR THE CITY OF TUPELO 

 

 The City of Tupelo will hold a public hearing on its proposed budget 

and proposed tax levies for fiscal year 2024 during a Regular Meeting on 

September 5, 2023 at 6:00 p.m. at City Hall.  

 

The City of Tupelo is now operating with projected total budget revenue 

of $59,623,926. Of that amount 29.77% or $17,751,274 of such revenue is 

obtained through ad valorem taxes. 

 

For next fiscal year, the proposed budget has total projected revenue of 

$61,598,914.  Of that amount, 30.35% or $18,693,804 is proposed to be 

financed through a total ad valorem levy of 32.47 mills.  

 

The decision to not increase the ad valorem tax millage rate for fiscal year 

2024 above the current fiscal year’s ad valorem tax millage rate means 

you will not pay more in ad valorem taxes on your home, automobile tag, 

utilities, business fixtures and equipment and rental real property, unless 

the assessed value of your property has increased for fiscal year 2024.  

 

Any citizen of the City of Tupelo is invited to attend this public hearing on 

the proposed budget and tax levies for fiscal year 2024 and will be 

allowed to speak for a reasonable amount of time and offer tangible 

evidence before any vote is taken.  

 

- 6 -

Item # 1.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Tanner Newman, Director of Development Services  

DATE August 30, 2023  

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR DEMOLITIONS TN 
  

 

Request: DRB 

The Department of Development Services requests Council approval to demolish 

substandard structures on the following properties:  

 

2607 Mount Vernon Road             076S-14-013-00 

 

5465-5546 West Main Street        103C-05-024-00 

(386 Hwy 6 West) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 7 -

Item # 2.



- 8 -

Item # 2.



- 9 -

Item # 2.



- 10 -

Item # 2.



- 11 -

Item # 2.



- 12 -

Item # 2.



- 13 -

Item # 2.



- 14 -

Item # 2.



- 15 -

Item # 2.



- 16 -

Item # 2.



- 17 -

Item # 2.



- 18 -

Item # 2.



- 19 -

Item # 2.



- 20 -

Item # 2.



- 21 -

Item # 2.



- 22 -

Item # 2.



- 23 -

Item # 2.



- 24 -

Item # 2.



- 25 -

Item # 2.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Tanner Newman, Director of Development Services 

DATE September 5, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR LOT MOWING TN 
  

 

Request:  

Public Hearing for properties on final lot mowing list.  Preliminary list is attached.  Final list will 

be provided prior to the meeting.   

 

 

- 26 -

Item # 3.



Preliminary Lot Mowing Report for 09/05/2023 
 

 Violation Ref Parcel Location Owner Owner Address Owner City State Zip Inspector 

1.  44786 105H1509800 3319 ROBERT 
KENNEDY DR 

MOORE TONY A 
SR & BERNICE 

109  BELWOOD COVE BELDEN, MS 38826 RS 

2.   44788 077M3605900 1104 
CHAPMAN DR 

MALDONADO 
JOSE & JESSICA 
CRUZ 

1105 LAWNDALE STREET TUPELO, MS 38801 TP 

3.   44793 105H1501200 3492 ROBERT 
KENNEDY DR 

MOORE CHARLES 
C & SHADE' P 

3404 SHONDA CIR TUPELO, MS 38801 RS 

4.   44795 105H1500900 3321 BEASLEY 
DR 

TUCKER JAMES L 
& ELNOIS R (LE) 

271 COUNTY ROAD 1467 PLANTERSVILLE, MS 38862 RS 

5.   44797 105H1505500 3302 MEADOW 
DR 

DUKES ELIJAH & 
RENEE 

P O BOX 162 NEW ALBANY, MS 38652 RS 

6.   44798 105H1503100 3333 MEADOW 
DR 

SAMUELS LLC 4924 HARVEST PARK DRIVE MEMPHIS, TN 38125 RS 

7.   44800 105H1503000 3317 MEADOW 
DR 

WILLIAMS CARRIE 
H & JOHNNY L 

3317 MEADOW DR TUPELO, MS 38801 RS 

8.   44803 082J0902500 2413 BARNES 
CROSSING RD 

BLAGG STEVEN 
JEFFREY & 
APHILAK 

2413 BARNES CROSSING SALTILLO, MS 38866 RS 

9.   44804 088A2800700 1792 ELVIS 
PRESLEY DR 

HERNANDEZ 
CYNTHIA & 
FERNANDO 

929 BEECH AVE CHULA VISTA, CA 91911 RS 

10.   44805 088A2801200 1722 ELVIS 
PRESLEY DR 

COBALT LLC 1685 DUNWOODY DR TUPELO, MS 38801 RS 

11.   44806 088B2800200 1477 ELVIS 
PRESLEY DR 

SMITH RACHEL 251 KESWICK C DEERFIELD BEACH, FL 33442 RS 

12.   44810 112C0303900 889 S 
FEEMSTER LAKE 
RD 

MCDANIEL 
JOHNATHON D & 
KALIE MARIE 

889 S FEEMSTER LAKE RD TUPELO, MS 38804 DS 

- 27 -

Item # 3.



Preliminary Lot Mowing Report for 09/05/2023 
 

 Violation Ref Parcel Location Owner Owner Address Owner City State Zip Inspector 

13.  44812 101B0213200 414 LAKEVIEW 
DR 

TTLBL LLC 4747 EXECUTIVE DR STE 510 SAN DIEGO, CA 92121 TP 

14.   44816 077P3506700 107 LAKEVIEW 
DR 

GDA 
INVESTMENTS 
LLC 

P O BOX 87 RED BANKS, MS 38661 TP 

15.   44834 077D2515700 1208 EUGENE 
ST 

SUNSHINE STATE 
CERTIFICATES VII 
LLLP 

7900 MIAMI LAKES DR WEST MIAMI, FL 33016 TP 

16.   44849 088N3309100 1022 E MAIN ST KITTY'S HOUSE 
OF CARPET LLC 

1291 E MAIN ST TUPELO, MS 38804 RS 

17.   44863 101B0212100 508 AUGUSTA 
ST 

GRAB THE MAP 
LLC 

3195 MCCULLOUGH BLVD BELDEN, MS 38826 TP 

18.   44864 077L3606900 1910 NELLE ST BMO PROPERTIES 
LLC 

114 ROBINS ST. TUPELO, MS 38804 SB 

19.   44865 101H0123900 100 ANDREW 
CIR 

MORAES ELOI 
DOS SANTOS 

112 CR 503 GUNTOWN, MS 38849 SB 

20.   44869 077P3518700 2308 TORREY JENKINS TOMMY 
& KAREN 

2308 TORREY ST TUPELO, MS 38801 TP 

21.   44883 077C2501600 1507 TRACE 
AVE 

WEBB DEAN & 
HANKINS 
JENNIFER 

1104 COUNTY ROAD 811 SALTILLO, MS 38866 TP 

22.   44886 101R1214800 2009 
MODEANNIA ST 

HILL JAMES P 360 BOWEN FALLS GROVETON, GA 30813 SB 

23.   44887 083U0702800 1414 BEECH 
SPRINGS RD 

ARCHUSA 
PROPERTIES INC 

1100 CLAYTON AVE TUPELO, MS 38801 DS 

24.   44894 101M1206800 2011 
PRESIDENT AVE 

DOWDEN KASHIA 2011 PRESDIENT AVE TUPELO, MS 38801 SB 

- 28 -

Item # 3.



Preliminary Lot Mowing Report for 09/05/2023 
 

 Violation Ref Parcel Location Owner Owner Address Owner City State Zip Inspector 

25.  44895 089K3108200 443 N SPRING 
ST 

GRAB THE MAP 
LLC 

3195 MCCULLOUGH BLVD BELDEN, MS 38826 DS 

26.   44910 089K3105300 465 N 
BROADWAY ST 

JM HARRISON 
PROPERTIES LLC 

4098 LINCOLN CIRCLE TUPELO, MS 38801 TP 

27.   44913 078D2703300 1526 GUN CLUB 
RD 

HIGDON CALEB 1526 GUN CLUB ROAD TUPELO, MS 38801 TP 

28.   44914 078D2709900 1407 GUN CLUB 
RD 

GORDON 
STEPHEN B & 
DELOUCHE 

6768-A LEE HIGHWAY ARLINGTON, VA 22205 TP 

29.   44915 075R2214100 3428 FOREST 
HILL DR 

CHASE DAVID E 3428 FORREST HILL DR BELDEN, MS 38826 TP 

30.   44916 075S1600200 4903 ENDVILLE 
RD 

PREVAIL 
PROPERTIES LLC 

1401 FRANCIS SQUARE TUPELO, MS 38804 TP 

31.   44934 088T2706800 508 N 
HILLSDALE DR 

BOND ESTHER 508 N HILLSDALE TUPELO, MS 38804 TP 

32.          

33.          

34.          

35.          

36.          

 

- 29 -

Item # 3.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Tanner Newman, Director of Development Services 

DATE September 5, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR REZONING APPLICATION 

RZ22-03 TN 
  

 

Request:  

Rezoning of parcels fronting Barnes Crossing Rd West of the Natchez Trace and East of the 

intersection of Barnes Crossing Rd and I-22. 

 

 

- 30 -

Item # 4.



- 31 -

Item # 4.



- 32 -

Item # 4.



- 33 -

Item # 4.



- 34 -

Item # 4.



- 35 -

Item # 4.



- 36 -

Item # 4.



- 37 -

Item # 4.



- 38 -

Item # 4.



- 39 -

Item # 4.



- 40 -

Item # 4.



- 41 -

Item # 4.



- 42 -

Item # 4.



- 43 -

Item # 4.



- 44 -

Item # 4.



- 45 -

Item # 4.



- 46 -

Item # 4.



- 47 -

Item # 4.



- 48 -

Item # 4.



- 49 -

Item # 4.



- 50 -

Item # 4.



- 51 -

Item # 4.



- 52 -

Item # 4.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Missy Shelton, Council Clerk 

DATE August 24, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF APPROVAL OF REGULAR MEETING ON AUGUST 

15 AND SPECIAL CALLED MEETING ON AUGUST 22, 2023 
  

 

Request:  

For your review and approval. 

 

- 53 -

Item # 5.



REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MUNICIPAL MINUTES CITY OF TUPELO 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI 

AUGUST 15, 2023 

Be it remembered that a regular meeting of the Tupelo City Council was held in the Council Chambers 

in the City Hall building on Tuesday, August 15, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. with the following in attendance: 

Council Members Chad Mims, Lynn Bryan, Travis Beard, Nettie Davis, Buddy Palmer, Janet Gaston 

and Rosie Jones; Ben Logan, City Attorney, and Kim Hanna filling in for Missy Shelton, Clerk of the 

Council.  Council Member Beard led the invocation. Council Member Lynn Bryan led the pledge of 

allegiance.  

 

Council President Travis Beard called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

 

CONFIRMATION OR AMENDMENT TO THE AGENDA AND AGENDA ORDER 

Council Member Davis moved, seconded by Council Member Buddy Palmer, to approve the agenda and 

agenda order with the following additions and changes: 

ADD #26 IN THE MATTER OF BID # 2023-035AD – COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

ADD #27 IN THE MATTER OF BID #2023-033WL – NORTH GREEN STREET SUB STATION  

ADD #28 IN THE MATTER OF APPROVAL OF CONTRACT WITH COOK AND SON LLC 

FOR BID # 2023-033WL 

CHANGE  THE DEMOLITON LIST BY DELETING  1207 MT. VERNON ROAD PARCEL # 

076S-14-013-00 

The vote was unanimous in favor. 

PUBLIC RECOGNITION 

Council Member Palmer said he was glad to see Tanner Newman back. 

Council Member Jones also said she was glad to see Tanner Newman back. She encouraged Nettie 

Davis, “I am glad she could rest now.” 

Council Member Gaston recognized her daughter, Katherine Servati, for being appointed by the 

Mississippi Supreme Court to the Access to Justice Commission. 

Council Member Mims recognized the 19-under and 15-under girls' Tupelo Futbal Club teams. Both 

won their age groups at the Southern President’s Cup in Greenville, South Carolina and advanced to 

compete for the national championship at the United States Youth Soccer Association’s national 

tournament in Wichita, Kansas. Only two other Mississippi teams had previously competed in the 

national tournament. The 15-under girls team placed second in the nation.   

- 54 -

Item # 5.



Council Member Beard recognized Kim Hanna for filling for Missy Shelton at tonight’s meeting. 

MAYOR'S REMARKS 

Mayor Todd Jordan recognized the girls of the Tupelo Futbal Club teams present at the meeting. He 

emphasized the hard work of the players and coaches and the support of the parents, and congratulated 

them on their high achievement.  

IN THE MATTER OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR LOT MOWING 

Mr. Russell Fox, 3369 Winchester Circle, addressed the Council saying that the lot mowing is an unfair 

process, although his name was not on tonight’s list. He was deferred to Dennis Bonds. 

No one appeared to speak on the properties listed on the Final Lot Mowing list, as follows: 

Parcel  Location 

 

089J3118300 920 BLAIR ST 

113B0602200 S GREEN ST 

101B0219500 2607 BRYAN ST 

101B0206400 2400 BRYAN ST 

088N3312500 1003 KINGSLEY DR 

088N3312700 1007 KINGSLEY DR 

077Q3608100 1400 CENTRAL AVE 

088J3301900 1171 KELLY ST 

088J3301002 1203 KELLY ST 

088J3302400 1210 KELLY ST 

101A0223300 JASMINE CT 

089E3018300 811 N MADISON ST 

089E3017300 901 N MADISON ST 

089F3002500 532 W BARNES ST 

089F3005400 527 W BARNES ST 

089N3100601 123 S INDUSTRIAL RD 

089F3005000 517 W BARNES ST 

089N3103600 903 W MAIN ST 

IN THE MATTER OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR DEMOLITIONS 

No one appeared to speak on the following properties on the demolition list: 

2773 ST. ANDREWS DRIVE                  075J-21-041-00 

2625 HAMPTON AVENUE                   101A-02-064-00 

5768 CHESTERVILLE ROAD                   079T-29-022-01 

CITIZEN HEARING 

Patricia Ross, 103 Pinehill Drive, addressed the Council concerning the issue of large trees behind her 

house in her neighbor’s yard. 

- 55 -

Item # 5.



IN THE MATTER OF COUNCIL MINUTES OF AUGUST 1, 2023 

Council Member Palmer moved, seconded by Council Member Gaston, to approve the minutes of the 

August 1, 2023 regular Council meeting. The vote was unanimous in favor. 

IN THE MATTER OF BILL PAY  

Bills were reviewed at 4:30 p.m. by Council Members Beard, Gaston, Bryan and Palmer. Council 

Member Davis moved, seconded by Council Member Jones, to approve the payment of the checks, bills, 

claims and utility adjustments.  The vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX A 

IN THE MATTER OF BUDGET AMENDMENT #9 FOR FY 2023 AND DONATION OF 

$18,500 FROM JUST JESUS, INC.  

Council Member Bryan moved, seconded by Council Member Mims, to approve Budget Amendment #9 

for FY 2023 and accept a donation of $18,500 from Just Jesus, Inc. The vote was unanimous in favor. 

APPENDIX B 

IN THE MATTER OF APPROVAL OF AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE MS 

DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY AND THE CITY OF TUPELO AND TO 

AUTHORIZE THE MAYOR TO SIGN SAID AGREEMENT – FIRE DEPARTMENT TRUCK  

Council Member Gaston moved, seconded by Council Member Palmer, to approve an agreement 

between the MS Department of Homeland Security and the City of Tupelo and to authorize the mayor to 

sign the agreement - Fire Department Truck. The vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX C 

IN THE MATTER OF PROPERTIES FOR LOT MOWING  

Council Member Davis moved, seconded by Council Member Bryan, to adjudicate the properties on the 

final lot mowing list as menaces to the public health, safety and welfare of the community and in need of 

cleaning and to approve their cleaning in accordance with Mississippi Code Annotated 21-19-11. The 

vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX D 

IN THE MATTER PROPERTIES FOR DEMOLITION  

Council Member Beard moved, seconded by Council Member Bryan, to approve the properties on the 

demolition list, with the exception of 2607 Mt. Vernon Road - 076S-14-013-00, for being a menace to 

the public health, safety and welfare in accordance with Mississippi Code Annotated 21-19-11.  The 

vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX E 

 

IN THE MATTER OF LIENS FOR LOT MOWING  

Council Member Davis moved, seconded by Council Member Gaston, to approve Resolutions Assessing 

Judgment Liens Against Real Property for the Costs Associated with Lot Mowing in Accordance with 

Miss. Code Annotated § 21-19-11, for the following properties:  

823 Shumacola Trail     101H-01-150-02  

  2972 Moore Avenue    105D-15-041-00 

- 56 -

Item # 5.



  905 Allen Street     089J-31-212-00 

  910 Allen Street     089J-31-189-02  
 

The vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX F          

IN THE MATTER OF CHANGE ORDER FOR STP-0430-00 (021) LPA / 107362-70100 

CONSTRUCTION OF SIDEWALK CROSSINGS AT VARIOUS LOCATIONS IN TUPELO, 

MS PROJECT  

Council Member Palmer moved, seconded by Council Member Jones, to approve change order #1 for 

STP-0430-00(021) LPA/107362-70100 Construction of Sidewalk Crossings at Various Locations in 

Tupelo, MS. This change order will add a total amount of $6,929.80. The vote was unanimous in favor. 

APPENDIX G 

IN THE MATTER OF VEHICLE TRANSFER FROM WATER AND LIGHT TO PUBLIC 

WORKS  

Council Member Davis moved, seconded by Council Member Gaston, to approve the transfer of a 2010 

Ford F250 3/4-ton pickup, VIN 0929, from Tupelo Water & Light to the Public Works Department. 

APPENDIX H 

IN THE MATTER OF BID APPROVAL OF ARPA PROJECT - GUM TREE PARK 

DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS 2023-029PW 

The City advertised and accepted bids for ARPA project - Bid #2029-32PW – Gum Tree Park Drainage 

Improvements. Multiple bids were received with the lowest and best bid being from Townes 

Construction in the amount of $413,736.00. Council Member Davis moved, seconded by Council 

Member Palmer, to award the bid to Townes Construction. The vote was unanimous in favor. 

APPENDIX I 

IN THE MATTER OF APPROVAL OF AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE TUPELO WATER 

& LIGHT DEPARTMENT’S SERVICE PRACTICE STANDARDS: SCHEDULE OF RULES, 

REGULATIONS AND FEES FOR UTILITY SERVICE, APPENDIX A: SCHEDULE OF RATES, 

CHARGES AND FEES: CUSTOMER SERVICE CHARGES 

Council Member Palmer moved, seconded by Council Member Gaston, to approve an Ordinance 

Amending the Tupelo Water & Light Department's Service Practice Standards: Schedule of Rules, 

Regulations and Fees for Utility Service, Appendix A: Schedule of Rates, Charges and Fees: Customer 

Service Charges. The vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX J 

IN THE MATTER OF APPROVAL OF AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE TUPELO WATER 

& LIGHT DEPARTMENT’S ELECTRIC RATES  

Council Member Mims moved, seconded by Council Member Bryan, to approve an Ordinance 

Amending the Tupelo Water & Light Department's Electric Rates. The vote was unanimous in favor. 

APPENDIX K 

- 57 -

Item # 5.



IN THE MATTER OF CVB BOARD MINUTES AUGUST 1, 2023  

Council Member Palmer moved, seconded by Council Member Davis, to approve the minutes of the 

August 1, 2023, CVB Board meeting. The vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX L 

IN THE MATTER OF APPOINTMENT OF EMILY ELLIOT TO CVB BOARD 

Council Member Bryan moved, seconded by Council Member Davis, to approve the Mayor's 

appointment of Emily Elliot to the CVB Board for a two-year term starting August 2023 representing 

the Tupelo Restaurant Association. The vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX M 

IN THE MATTER OF CONTRACT APPROVAL FOR THE DEPOT (FARMERS MARKET) 

AUTHORIZING MAYOR TO EXECUTE DOCUMENTS  

Council Member Bryan moved, seconded by Council Member Palmer, to approve a contract with Tek1 

Studio to design The Depot (Farmer's Market) and to authorize the Mayor to sign all documents. The 

vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX N 

IN THE MATTER OF CONTRACT APPROVAL WITH PRYOR MORROW AND 

AUTHORIZE MAYOR TO EXECUTE DOCUMENT  

Council Member Gaston moved, seconded by Council Member Mims, to approve a professional service 

contract with Pryor Morrow architects to design Fire Station 5 and to authorize the Mayor to sign the 

necessary documents. The vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX N 

IN THE MATTER OF AN ORDER AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF A CREDIT CARD 

TO THE MAYOR FOR USE RELATED TO HIS OFFICIAL TRAVEL AND FOR OTHER 

EXPENSES RELATED TO THE OFFICIAL TRAVEL OF OTHER EMPLOYEES AND 

OFFICIALS OF THE CITY OF TUPELO  

Council Member Davis moved, seconded by Council Member Bryan, to approve an Order Authorizing 

the Issuance of a Credit Card to the Mayor for Use Related to His Official Travel and for Other 

Expenses Related to the Official Travel of Other Employees and Officials of the City of Tupelo.  All 

expenses charged to this card will be verified and receipts will be provided for any payments. The vote 

was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX O 

IN THE MATTER OF APPOINTMENT OF STEPHANIE COOMER AS DIRECTOR OF 

CONVENTION AND VISITORS BUREAU  

Council Member Davis moved, seconded by Council Member Palmer, to approve the appointment of 

Stephanie Coomer as the Director of the Convention and Visitors Bureau, effective immediately. The 

vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX P 

IN THE MATTER OF APPOINTMENT OF TANNER NEWMAN AS DIRECTOR OF 

DEPARTMENT OF DEVELOPMENT SERVICES  

- 58 -

Item # 5.



Council Member Palmer moved, seconded by Council Member Jones, to approve the appointment of 

Tanner Newman as Director of the Department of Development Services, effective immediately. The 

vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX Q 

IN THE MATTER OF ORDER AUTHORIZING SMALL EXPENDITURE TO MATCH 

SECTION 42 AND/OR HISTORIC TAX CREDITS FUNDS FOR CARNATION PLANT 

RENOVATIONS PROJECT  

Council Member Bryan moved, seconded by Council Member Davis, to approve an Order Authorizing 

Small Expenditure to Match Section 42 and/or Historic Tax Credits Funds for Carnation Plant 

Renovations Project. The vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX R 

IN THE MATTER OF ORDER CORRECTING MINUTES OF 9-6-2022 

Council Member Bryan moved, seconded by Council Member Mims to approve an Order Correcting the 

Minutes of the September 6, 2022, Council Meeting. The changes to the minutes will only involve the 

correction of appendices. The vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX S 

IN THE MATTER OF BID # 2023-035AD - COUNCIL CHAMBER RENOVATIONS 

The City accepted bids for bid # 2023-035AD - Council Chamber Renovations. Multiple bids were 

received with the lowest and best bid being from CIG Contractors, Inc. in the amount of $338,600.00. 

Council Member Davis moved, seconded by Council Member Mims, to award the bid to CIG 

Contractors, Inc. The vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX T 

IN THE MATTER OF BID # 2023-033WL - NORTH GREEN STREET SUB STATION 

The City accepted bids for bid # 2023-033WL- North Green Street Sub Station. Multiple bids were 

received with the lowest and best bid being from Cook and Son, LLC, in the amount of $638,934.92. 

Council Member Davis moved, seconded by Council Member Palmer, to award the bid to Cook and 

Son, LLC. The vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX U 

IN THE MATTER OF APPROVAL OF CONTRACT WITH COOK AND SON LLC FOR BID # 

2023-033WL 

Council Member Bryan moved, seconded by Council Member Palmer, to approve the contract with 

Cook and Son, LLC for Bid # 2023-033WL - North Green Street Sub Station in the amount of 

$638,934.92. The vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX V 

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to come before the Council at this time, Council Member Davis moved, 

seconded by Council Member Jones, to adjourn the meeting at 6:40 PM. 

This the 15th day of August, 2023. 

- 59 -

Item # 5.



 

 

 

       __________________________________________ 

       Travis Beard, Council President 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Missy Shelton, Council Clerk 

 

       APPROVED 

 

 

       __________________________________________ 

       Todd Jordan, Mayor 

 

       __________________________________________ 

       Date 

 

 

 

 

  

- 60 -

Item # 5.



CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL CALLED MEETING 
MUNICIPAL MINUTES CITY OF TUPELO 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI 

AUGUST 22, 2023 

Be it remembered that a special called meeting of the Tupelo City Council was held in the Council 

Chambers in the City Hall building on Tuesday, August 22, 2023, at 4:00 p.m. with the following in 

attendance: Council Members Chad Mims, Lynn Bryan, Travis Beard, Nettie Davis, and Buddy Palmer; 

Stephen Reed, Assistant City Attorney and Missy Shelton, Clerk of the Council.  Council President 

Travis Beard called the meeting to order at 4:00 p.m. 

IN THE MATTER OF DECLARING EMERGENCY AND AWARDING CONTRACT TO 

COOK COGGIN ENGINEERS FOR BRIDGE #202 US 278/WEST MAIN STREET 

Council Member Bryan moved, seconded by Council Member Davis, to declare an emergency bridge 

closure of Bridge #202 US 278/West Main Street over the Little Coonewah Creek and award to Cook 

Coggin Engineers, Inc. a professional services contract for planning, design, construction and inspection 

engineering services of the new bridge. Of those present, the vote was unanimous in favor. APPENDIX 

A 

IN THE MATTER OF REQUEST TO REJECT BID # 2023-036WL (B&B SEWER 

REPLACEMENT)  

Johnny Timmons addressed the Council concerning Bid # 2023-036WL - B & B Sewer Replacement. 

All bids received exceeded the budget by 10.69%, or more of the original estimated amount. Council 

Member Palmer moved, seconded by Council Member Mims, to reject Bid # 2023-036WL - B & B 

Sewer Replacement. The project will be rebid. Of those present, the vote was unanimous in favor. 

APPENDIX B 

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to come before the Council at this time, Council Member Palmer 

moved, seconded by Council Member Mims, to adjourn the meeting. Of those present, the vote was 

unanimous in favor. 

This the 22nd day of August, 2023. 

 

 

     

ATTEST: 

                                    Travis Beard, President, City Council 

      

       

       

       

     

- 61 -

Item # 5.



Missy Shelton, Clerk of the Council    

    

   

                                                             Todd Jordan, Mayor 

   

   

   

   

                                                                                     Date 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

- 62 -

Item # 5.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Kim Hanna, City Clerk/CFO 

DATE August 24, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF BILL PAY KH 
  

 

Request:  

For your review and approval. 

 

- 63 -

Item # 6.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Kim Hanna, CFO 

DATE September 5, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF ADVERTISING AND PROMOTIONAL ITEMS KH 
  

 

Request:  

There are no items for approval at this time.  

 

ITEMS: 

None 

 

- 64 -

Item # 7.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Kim Hanna, CFO 

DATE September 5, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF THE TAX ROLL FOR THE 2023 TAX YEAR KH 
  

 

Request:  

I am requesting the approval of Tax Roll for the 2023 Tax Year 

 

ATTACHED 

City Tax Assessments 

Tupelo Public School Tax Assessments 

Tax Exemptions 

Tax Abatements 

 

 

- 65 -

Item # 8.



Tupelo, Inc. 7-Aug-23

 Assessed Value       Real Property         Personal Property

22-Aug-05 270,809,827 96,967,934

14-Aug-06 276,784,948 101,059,304

13-Aug-07 283,718,839 101,056,503

14-Aug-08 314,193,402 98,697,319

17-Aug-09 318,589,097 98,308,007

16-Aug-10 324,185,603 97,019,342

15-Aug-11 327,815,868 97,083,803

6-Aug-12 322,299,460 103,235,638

15-Aug-13 342,806,141 103,043,160

4-Aug-14 348,678,742 108,541,317

17-Aug-15 347,939,941 109,786,856

15-Aug-16 376,933,334 113,106,167

7-Aug-17 373,306,250 113,476,902

20-Aug-18 376,906,778 113,527,445

19-Aug-19 381,241,620 119,109,748

3-Aug-20 410,487,833 119,344,040

6-Jul-21 411,003,239 119,321,676

16-Aug-21 412,840,687 119,363,761

5-Jul-22 417,872,765 130,947,910

1-Aug-22 419,231,470 131,054,848

3-Jul-23 430,298,050 145,952,946

7-Aug-23 432,198,243 145,937,241

State & School 4,531,065 6,775,152

City & School 731,508 2,101,985

Special HS 30,471,987 N/A

Cooper Tire Lieu 15,105,380

Increased Value 12,966,773 14,882,393

New Value 8,868,317 720,570

 

 

 

Overall Increase        27,849,166

- 66 -

Item # 8.



Tupelo Schools 7-Aug-23

Assessed Value        Real Property        Personal Property

22-Aug-05 291,701,225 98,117,352

14-Aug-06 298,668,283 102,105,434

13-Aug-07 308,223,436 102,161,552

14-Aug-08 342,496,252 99,917,617

17-Aug-09 348,160,742 99,632,008

16-Aug-10 354,390,717 98,224,425

15-Aug-11 358,393,262 98,210,041

6-Aug-12 352,294,518 104,333,493

15-Aug-13 354,283,493 102,472,067

4-Aug-14 359,242,956 107,829,386

17-Aug-15 358,582,245 108,978,566

15-Aug-16 388,841,695 112,274,271

7-Aug-17 385,846,555 113,336,358

20-Aug-18 389,864,530 113,526,091

19-Aug-19 394,511,294 118,642,115

3-Aug-20 424,716,465 118,822,571

6-Jul-21 425,250,862 118,789,315

16-Aug-21 427,095,538 118,831,348

5-Jul-22 432,544,157 130,118,688

1-Aug-22 433,902,862 130,225,626

3-Jul-23 445,247,381 145,164,905

7-Aug-23 447,234,976 145,149,200

Special HS 33,190,170 N/A

Increased Value 13,332,114 14,923,574  

New Value 9,197,838 8,181,873

 

 

 

Regular Homestead 1,576,381

to be shared with County

Overall Increase   28,255,688

- 67 -

Item # 8.



CITY OF TUPELO PAGE NO.       1
PERSONAL PROPERTY ROLLS
BY NAME
TAX LEVY  96.57 MILLS 64.1 32.47
FOR TAX YEAR 2023

INVENTORY ASSESSED SCHOOL CITY EXEMPT EXPIRATION AD VALOREM
PARCEL BCSL NAME VALUE VALUE AD VAL AD VAL DATE YEARS TAXES

0.15 TAXES TAXES AVAIL
P012653 4739 BMW WAREHOUSE OF N -$                        5,119.00$                  328.13$                                166.21$             12/31/2024 3 328.13$                  
P012527 4739 COOPER TIRE & RUBB -$                        587,146.00$              37,636.06$                           19,064.63$        12/31/2023 1 37,636.06$             
P012868 4739 COOPER TIRE & RUBB -$                        1,604,763.00$          102,865.31$                         52,106.65$        12/31/2024 3 102,865.31$           
P013132 3739 FOAMCRAFT -$                        26,635.00$                1,707.30$                             864.84$             12/31/2025 4 1,707.30$               
P013364 3739 FOAMCRAFT -$                        73,946.00$                4,739.94$                             2,401.03$          12/31/2026 5 4,739.94$               
P014243 1739 GIBSON CORRUGATED -$                        212,736.00$              13,636.38$                           6,907.54$          12/31/2029 8 13,636.38$             
P012528 1709 HAWKEYE INDUSTRIES -$                        105,954.00$              6,791.65$                             3,440.33$          12/31/2023 2 6,791.65$               
P013130 1709 HAWKEYE INDUSTRIES -$                        141,443.00$              9,066.50$                             4,592.65$          12/31/2025 4 9,066.50$               
P013673 1709 HAWKEYE INDUSTRIES -$                        153,305.00$              9,826.85$                             4,977.81$          12/31/2028 7 9,826.85$               
P013963 1709 HAWKEYE INDUSTRIES -$                        324,034.00$              20,770.58$                           10,521.38$        12/31/2028 7 20,770.58$             
P013389 5739 INNOCOR FOAM TECHN -$                        326,961.00$              20,958.20$                           10,616.42$        12/31/2026 5 20,958.20$             

P012577 4739

JOURNAL PUBLISHING NO 
CITY REQ TO EXMPT MADE 
08/15 -$                        436,993.00$              28,011.25$                           14,189.16$        12/31/2024 3 28,011.25$             

3739 L&P COMPONENTS CO#0341 -$                        9,961.11$                  638.51$                                323.44$             12/31/2030 9 638.51$                  
3739 L&P COMPONENTS CO#4201 -$                        97,542.21$                6,252.46$                             3,167.20$          12/31/2030 9 6,252.46$               

P013137 3739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        58,271.00$                3,735.17$                             1,892.06$          12/31/2026 5 3,735.17$               
P013138 3739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        26,022.00$                1,668.01$                             844.93$             12/31/2026 5 1,668.01$               
P013390 3739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        12,100.00$                775.61$                                392.89$             12/31/2026 5 775.61$                  
P013678 3739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        43,202.00$                2,769.25$                             1,402.77$          12/31/2028 7 2,769.25$               
P013953 3739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        5,699.00$                  365.31$                                185.05$             12/31/2028 7 365.31$                  
P014247 3739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        35,602.00$                2,282.09$                             1,156.00$          12/31/2029 8 2,282.09$               
P013393 4739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        43,216.00$                2,770.15$                             1,403.22$          12/31/2026 5 2,770.15$               

 Confidential 8/17/2023 Page 1
- 68 -

Item # 8.



CITY OF TUPELO PAGE NO.       1
PERSONAL PROPERTY ROLLS
BY NAME
TAX LEVY  96.57 MILLS 64.1 32.47
FOR TAX YEAR 2023

INVENTORY ASSESSED SCHOOL CITY EXEMPT EXPIRATION AD VALOREM
PARCEL BCSL NAME VALUE VALUE AD VAL AD VAL DATE YEARS TAXES

0.15 TAXES TAXES AVAIL
P013676 4739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        23,368.00$                1,497.89$                             758.76$             12/31/2028 7 1,497.89$               
P013955 4739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        77,667.00$                4,978.45$                             2,521.85$          12/31/2028 7 4,978.45$               
P014249 4739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        106,729.00$              6,841.33$                             3,465.49$          12/31/2029 8 6,841.33$               

4739 L&P COMPONENTS CO#908 61,846.12$            9,276.92$                  594.65$                                301.22$             12/31/2029 8 594.65$                  
P012460 4739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        164,096.00$              10,518.55$                           5,328.20$          12/31/2023 2 10,518.55$             
P012866 4739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        81,846.00$                5,246.33$                             2,657.54$          12/31/2024 3 5,246.33$               
P013134 4739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        56,346.00$                3,611.78$                             1,829.55$          12/31/2026 5 3,611.78$               
P013392 4739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        186,629.00$              11,962.92$                           6,059.84$          12/31/2026 5 11,962.92$             
P013679 4739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        691,541.00$              44,327.78$                           22,454.34$        12/31/2028 7 44,327.78$             
P013956 4739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        104,598.00$              6,704.73$                             3,396.30$          12/31/2028 7 6,704.73$               
P014246 4739 L&P COMPONENTS CO -$                        41,393.00$                2,653.29$                             1,344.03$          12/31/2029 8 2,653.29$               
P012863 4739 PRECISION MACHINE -$                        184,578.00$              11,831.45$                           5,993.25$          12/31/2024 3 11,831.45$             
P014563 4739 L&P COMPONENTS CO 908 -$                        3,983.00$                  255.31$                                129.33$             12/31/2030 9 255.31$                  
P014565 4739 L&P COMPONENTS CO 341 -$                        7,255.00$                  465.05$                                235.57$             12/31/2030 9 465.05$                  
P015148 4739 L&P COMPONENTS CO 341 165,628.00$          24,844.20$                1,592.51$                             806.69$             12/31/2032 10 1,592.51$               
P015149 4739 L&P COMPONENTS CO 0908 248,861.00$          37,329.15$                2,392.80$                             1,212.08$          12/31/2032 10 2,392.80$               
P015151 4739 SUPERSAGLESS 4201 356,245.00$          53,436.75$                3,425.30$                             1,735.09$          12/31/2032 10 3,425.30$               
P014566 4739 SUPERSAGLESS 4201 -$                        96,811.00$                6,205.59$                             3,143.45$          12/31/2030 9 6,205.59$               
P014243 4739 GIBSON CORRUGATED -$                        212,736.00$              13,636.38$                           6,907.54$          12/31/2029 8 13,636.38$             

832,580.12$          6,495,113.35$          416,336.77$                         210,896.33$      416,336.77
11,344.00$                           CITY A/V EXEMPT ONLY

6,483,769.35$                     LEE & CITY A/V EXEMPT
6,495,113.35$                     TOTAL CITY/COUNTY EXEMPT

�

 Confidential 8/17/2023 Page 2
- 69 -

Item # 8.



CITY OF TUPELO
REAL PROPERTY
TAX LEVY  96.57 MILLS
TAX YEAR 2023
SCHOOL AND CITY EXEMPTION 64.1 32.47

SCHOOL CITY
ASSESSED AD VAL AD VAL EXPIRATION YEARS BCSL TOTAL

PARCEL# PPIN NAME VALUE TAX TAX DATE AVAIL TAXES DUE TYPE I TYPE II Comment
078V3400901 53400/24027 AE WESTPARK LLC 217,005.00$            13,910.02$                                   7,046.15$               12/31/2028 6 3739 13,910.02$            SCHOOL

113K0700300 26503 IRE PROPERTIES L 108,930.00$            6,982.41$                                     3,536.96$               12/31/2024 3 4739 6,982.41$              SCHOOL

078V3401700 17325 JSR LLC DBA:FOAMCRAFT 251,148.00$            16,098.59$                                   8,154.78$               12/31/2025 4 3739 16,098.59$            SCHOOL

078V3403300 17346 JSR LLC DBA:FOAMCRAFT 144,242.00$            9,245.91$                                     4,683.54$               12/31/2024 3 3739 9,245.91$              FULL CITY & SCHOOL

075T1500105 49686 SETZER PROPERTIE 725,930.00$            46,532.11$                                   23,570.95$             12/31/2024 3 3739 46,532.11$            SCHOOL NO CITY EXEMPTION REQUESTED

92,769.05$                                   46,992.37$             92,769.05$            

144,242 CITY A/V EXEMPT ONLY
1,303,013 LEE & CITY A/V EXEMPT
1,447,255 TOTAL CITY/COUNTY EXMPT

VALUES DOLLARS
CITY ASSESSED TOTALS 1,447,255 92,769.05
STATE TAX ONLY (CODE 20) 0
ANNEXED EXEMPT CITY & SCHOOL 0
TOTAL COUNTY ASSESSED 1,447,255 92,769.05
FULL CITY 46,992.37
FULL SCHOOL 92,769.05
FULL CITY & SCHOOL 144,242 12,463.80 5
SCHOOL ONLY 1,303,013 86,681.21 1
ANNEXED CITY ONLY 0 0 0
SPECIAL ASSESSED 0 5
OTHER ASSESSED 0
TOTAL 1,447,255 92,769.05 5
REGULAR HOMESTEAD EXEMPT 0 0
SPECIAL HOMESTEAD EXEMPT 0 0
TOTAL 0 0
NET TAXES 1,447,255 92,769.05

�

- 70 -

Item # 8.



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

14

17

21

23

26

27

28

29

30

33

34

35

36

37

38

A B C D E F G H I J Q

CITY OF TUPELO

HISTORIC DOWNTOWN

ABATEMENTS  

AS OF 08/15/2023 Assess  2023

This Column: City Millage

32.47

Prior

Improvement 2023** Assessed City

PPIN PARCEL # Tax TAX ASSESSED ASSESSED Value Tax PROPERTY NO. OF 2023

Year 

Abatement 

Requested

Year the 

Abatement 

was added VALUE-Locked VALUE Loss Loss ADDRESS/ YEARS TAXES

 OWNER

24031 078V-34-013-00 2020 7,500 28,782 (21,282.00)$           (691.03)$            KINDRED AT HOME 5 243.53

25175 089N-31-028-00 2020 37,500 117,941 (80,441.00)$           (2,611.92)$         BULLDOG BURGER 5 1,217.63

45768 084N-19-022-01 2021 97,500 184,811 (87,310.50)$           (2,834.97)$         STEAK AND SHAKE 5 3,165.83

53493 078V-34-021-03 2021 15,000 194,555 (179,554.50)$         (5,830.13)$         WEST PARK PAVILION LLC 5 487.05

19188 089K31-291-00 2021 18,000 47,985 (29,985.00)$           (973.61)$            INDIGO COWORK 522 WEST MAIN 5 584.46

0 -$                    

31745 089N3102106 2021 2023 33,750 589,368 (555,618.00)$         (18,040.92)$       MIDTOWNE POINT 495 SOUTH GLOSTER 5 1,095.86

22876 089Q-32-005-00 2022 2023 72,000 262,852 (190,852.20)$         (6,196.97)$         HOTEL TUPELO 314 E. MAIN STREET TRASH GROUP 7 2,337.84

31630 084N-19-042-06 2023 2023 33,600 121,244 (87,643.50)$           (2,845.78)$          JUST LOVE COFFEE CAFÉ 1600 N GLOSTER 5 1,090.99

$314,850.00 $1,547,536.70 ($1,232,686.70) ($40,025.34) $25,881.84

*Final Abatement Report for 2023Taxes

By_______________________________

- 71 -

Item # 8.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Kim Hanna, CFO/City Clerk 

DATE August, 30, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF SURPLUS OF FIXED ASSETS TO RETURN TO 

VENDOR FOR CREDIT KH 
  

 

Request:  

I am requesting permission to surplus the items listed below for credit: The items are no longer 

working. 

 

 ASSET 4523 IPAD NO LONGER WORKING  BARCODE#15892 

 ASSET 4821  IPAD NO LONGER WORKING  BARCODE#15979 

 ASSET 5199 IPAD NO LONGER WORKING BARCODE#16469 

 

Thank you for your attention in this matter. 

 

- 72 -

Item # 9.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Kim Hanna, CFO 

DATE September 5, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF BUDGET AMENDMENT #10 FOR FY 2023. KH 
  

 

Request:  

Please review and approve amendment #10 

 

ITEMS: 

Amendment #10 

 

 

- 73 -

Item # 10.



City of Tupelo

Fy 2023 Budget Revision #10

 

Whereas, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Tupelo have determined that the budget

estimates and certain increases are needed in the operating departments, it is hereby 

resolved to amend the FY 2023 Budget as follows:

      Original        Amended

      Budget  Amendment        Budget

General Fund Revenues

Local Taxes 7,564,566             7,564,566             

Licenses & Permits 1,190,500             1,190,500             

Intergovernmental Revenues 36,832,391           36,832,391           

Charges for Services 628,000                 628,000                

Fines & Forfeits 621,000                 621,000                

Interest Income & Misc. Revenues 703,760                 69,785                 773,545                

Other Financing Resources 255,322                 255,322                

Unreserved Fund Balance 3,604,422             -                            3,604,422             

Total General Fund Revenues 51,399,961          69,785                51,469,746          

Purpose: To use funds from equipment sells to purchase mowing equipment by the Public Works

Dept ($18,850)

To increase the budget for the training center revenue to be used for training center expenditures

($20,000)

To receive a donation from the Sports Council for Aquatics and Parks & Rec.($30,935)

Expenditures:

City Council

Personnel 304,341                 304,341                

Supplies 7,500                     7,500                     

Other Services & Charges 204,150                 204,150                

Capital -                             -                            -                             

Total City Council 515,991               -                          515,991               

Purpose:

Executive Dept.

Personnel 967,625                 967,625                

Supplies 30,000                   30,000                  

Other Services & Charges 304,850                 304,850                

Capital -                             -                            -                             

Total Executive Dept. 1,302,475            -                          1,302,475            

Purpose:

City Court

Personnel 973,567                 973,567                

Supplies 32,300                   32,300                  

Other Services & Charges 109,154                 109,154                

Capital -                             -                            -                             

Total City Court 1,115,021            -                          1,115,021            

Purpose:

1

- 74 -

Item # 10.



      Original        Amended

      Budget  Amendment        Budget

Finance Department

Personnel 866,256                 866,256                
Supplies 27,150                   27,150                  
Other Services & Charges 555,897                 555,897                
Capital 286,532                 -                            286,532                

Total Finance Department 1,735,835            -                          1,735,835            

Purpose:

CVB
Personnel 156,445                 -                            156,445                

Total CVB Expenditures 156,445               -                          156,445               

Purpose:

Human Resources

Personnel 339,009                 339,009                
Supplies 4,100                     4,100                     
Other Services & Charges 126,900                 126,900                
Capital -                             -                            -                             

Total Human Resources 470,009               -                          470,009               

Purpose:

Development Services

Personnel 1,597,389             1,597,389             
Supplies 50,868                   50,868                  
Other Services & Charges 193,300                 193,300                
Capital 2,132                     -                            2,132                     

Total Development Services 1,843,689            -                          1,843,689            

Purpose:

Police Dept

Personnel 9,879,791             9,879,791             
Supplies 772,486                 772,486                
Other Services & Charges 1,787,019             124,587               1,911,606             
Capital 576,582                 -                            576,582                

Total Police Dept. 13,015,878          124,587              13,140,465          

Purpose: To purchase software(fuses) for the command center (100,000) and to increase the training center.

budget for additional costs (24,587).

Fire Dept

Personnel 7,069,017             7,069,017             
Supplies 403,974                 403,974                
Other Services & Charges 334,600                 334,600                
Capital 10,000                   -                            10,000                  

Total Fire Dept. 7,817,591            -                          7,817,591            

Purpose:

2

- 75 -

Item # 10.



      Original        Amended

      Budget  Amendment        Budget

Public Works

Personnel 3,194,671             3,194,671             
Supplies 406,100                 406,100                
Other Services & Charges 2,255,390             2,255,390             
Capital 17,000                   18,850                 35,850                  

Total Public Works 5,873,161            18,850                5,892,011            

Purpose:

Parks & Recreation

Personnel 2,237,912             2,237,912             
Supplies 441,000                 24,145                 465,145                
Other Services & Charges 1,154,533             1,154,533             
Capital 130,500                 -                            130,500                

Total Parks & Rec 3,963,945            24,145                3,988,090            

Purpose: To fund supplies needed for baseball soccer and softball maintenance that will be funded

through a donation from the Sports Council.

Aquatics Facility

Personnel 474,713                 474,713                
Supplies 98,500                   6,790                   105,290                
Other Services & Charges 462,000                 462,000                
Capital 10,000                   -                            10,000                  

Total Aquatics Facility 1,045,213            6,790                  1,052,003            

Purpose: To fund Aquatic Center supplies that will be funded through a donation from the Sports Council.

Museum

Personnel 144,794                 144,794                
Supplies 9,000                     9,000                     
Other Services & Charges 40,100                   40,100                  
Capital 5,000                     -                            5,000                     

Total Museum 198,894               -                          198,894               

Purpose:

Community Services 1,078,172            -                          1,078,172            

Purpose:

Debt Service 325,480               -                          325,480               

Purpose:

Other Financing Uses 10,837,575          -                          10,837,575          

Purpose

Reserves 104,587                     (104,587)                  -                                  

Total General Fund Expenditures 51,399,961          69,785                51,469,746          

3

- 76 -

Item # 10.



      Original        Amended

      Budget  Amendment        Budget

Fund #327
Tupelo Capital & Infrastructure Fund

Revenues
Grants 1,352,972             1,352,972             
Transfer from Other Funds 12,283,033           2,632,541            14,915,574           
Donations 218,500                 218,500                
Bond Proceeds -                             -                             
Unreserved Fund Balance 10,196,688           85,000                 10,281,688           

Total Revenues 24,051,193          2,717,541           26,768,734          

Purpose: To transfer funds from the Municipal Reserve to fund the bridge project.(2,600,000)

To transfer funds from the Municipal Reserve to fund the match funds awarded for the Carnation Plant

Project. (32,541)

Expenditures
Other Services & Charges
  Maintenance Projects 317,782                 317,782                
  Street Overlay 6,784,987             6,784,987             
  Neighborhood Revitalization 677,771                 677,771                
  Traffic Calming 120,000                 120,000                
  Contingies/Grant Matches -                             32,541                 32,541                  

Total Other Services & Charges 7,900,540            32,541                7,933,081            

Capital
  Infrastructure Improvements 7,958,154             2,685,000            10,643,154           
  Purchase of Property 932,500                 932,500                
  Equipment 1,095,954             1,095,954             
  Building Improvements 2,353,387             2,353,387             
  Park Improvements 2,625,272             2,625,272             
  Vehicles 581,807                 581,807                
  Police Vehicles/Equipment 373,739                 373,739                
  Fire Equipment/Trucks 229,840                 229,840                
  Contingencies(Grant Matches) -                             -                            -                             

Total Capital 16,150,653          2,685,000           18,835,653          

Other Financing Uses -                            -                          -                           

Total Expenditures 24,051,193          2,717,541           26,768,734          

Purpose: To amend the budget for the West Main Street Bridge Project ($2,600,000) and to increase

the amount allocated for Endville Road ($85,000).

To amend the budget for the approval of the match funds for the Carnation Plant project.

4

- 77 -

Item # 10.



      Original        Amended

      Budget  Amendment        Budget

Fund 329

City ARPA Project Fund

Revenues

ARPA Grants -                             5,538,817            5,538,817             

Arpa Funds awarded from the State -                             5,115,728            5,115,728             

Other Financing Sources -                             -                            -                             

Unreserved Fund Balance -                             -                            -                             

   Total Revenues -                            10,654,545        10,654,545          

Expenditures

Capital Outlay -                             10,654,545          10,654,545           

   Total Expenditures -                            10,654,545        10,654,545          

Purpose: To update the budget to reflect the ARPA fund projects. See Exhibit A.

Fund-002

Municipal Reserve

Revenues

Municipal Reserve Fund Balance -                             2,632,541            2,632,541             

   Total Revenues -                            2,632,541           2,632,541            

Expenditures

Other Financing Uses -                             2,632,541            2,632,541             

   Total Expenditures -                            2,632,541           2,632,541            

Purpose: To transfer restricted funds to provide match grant for Carnation Plant ($32,541) and for the

West Main St. Bridget Project.

5

- 78 -

Item # 10.



Voting

   Councilman Chad Mims

   Councilman Lynn Bryan

   Councilman Travis Beard

   Councilman Nettie Davis  

   Councilman Buddy Palmer  

   Councilman Janet Gaston  

   Councilman Rosie Jones  

 

                                     Approved:

 

President of the Council

City of Tupelo

Attest:

 

Clerk of the Council

                                     ---------------------- 

Mayor

City of Tupelo

Attest:

 

City Clerk

6

- 79 -

Item # 10.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Kim Hanna, CFO 

DATE September 5, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF A 

GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND, IN ONE OR MORE SERIES NOT TO 

EXCEED $12,000,000 TO RAISE MONEY FOR CAPITAL PROJECTS AS 

DESCRIBED IN THIS RESOLUTION; DIRECTING THE PREPARATION 

AND DELIVERY THEREOF; AUTHORIZING THE SALE OF SAID BOND 

TO THE MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK AND THE SALE OF THE 

NOT TO EXCEED $12,000,000 MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

SPECIAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2023, IN ONE OR MORE SERIES; 

AND FOR RELATED PURPOSES KH 
  

 

Request:  

To review and approve the City 2023 G.O. Bond Resolution.  

 

ITEMS: 

 City Bond Resolution with the following exhibits: 

A. Form of Indenture; 
B. Form of City Bond Purchase Agreement; 
C. Form of Bond Purchase Agreement;  
D. Form of Preliminary Official Statement; and  
E. From of Private Placement Agreement. 

 
 

 

 

- 80 -

Item # 11.



1 

 

 

PRIVATE PLACEMENT AGREEMENT 

 

This Private Placement Agreement, dated ____, 2023 (this “Placement Agreement”), is 

by and among the Mississippi Development Bank (the “Issuer”), a body politic existing under 

the Constitution and laws of the State of Mississippi (the “State”), the City of Tupelo, 

Mississippi (the “City”), a local governmental unit of the State, and Raymond James & 

Associates, Inc., Memphis, Tennessee (the “Placement Agent”). 

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Issuer, acting for and on behalf of the Issuer, 

has authorized the issuance of the Issuer’s Special Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (City of 

Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement General Obligation Bond Project), in the aggregate 

principal amount of ___ Million Dollars ($___,000,000) (the “Series 2023 Bonds”), pursuant to 

the provisions of an Indenture of Trust dated __, 2023 (the “Indenture”), by and between the 

Issuer and The Peoples Bank, as trustee (the “Trustee”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds will be used to provide funds to 

purchase the City’s $___,000,000 Public Improvement General Obligation Bond, Series 2023 

(the “City Bond”), issued by the City pursuant to a resolution adopted by the Mayor and the City 

Council of the City on September 5, 2023 (the “City Resolution”); and  

 

 WHEREAS, in the Indenture and the City Resolution, the Issuer and the City direct that 

the proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds be used for financing certain capital projects of the City 

which shall consist of any of (i) constructing, improving or paving streets, sidewalks, driveways, 

parkways, walkways or public parking facilities, and purchasing land therefor; (ii) erecting, 

repairing, improving, adorning and equipping municipal buildings and purchasing buildings and 

land therefor; (iii) purchasing land for parks, cemeteries and public playgrounds, and improving, 

equipping and adorning the same, including the constructing, repairing and equipping of 

swimming pools and other recreational facilities; (iv) purchasing fire-fighting equipment and 

apparatus, and providing housing for same, and purchasing land therefor; (v) erecting or 

purchasing waterworks, gas, electric and other public utility plants or distribution systems or 

franchises, and repairing, improving and extending the same; (vi) establishing sanitary, storm, 

drainage or sewerage systems, and repairing, improving and extending the same; (vii) protecting 

a municipality, its streets and sidewalks from overflow, caving banks and other like dangers; 

(viii) constructing bridges and culverts; (ix) purchasing machinery and equipment, including 

motor vehicles weighing not less than twelve thousand (12,000) pounds, which have an expected 

useful life in excess of ten (10) years which expected useful life shall exceed the life of the bonds 

financing such purchase; and (x) for other authorized purposes under the City Bond Act, 

including funding capitalized interest, if applicable, and paying the costs of borrowing; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Series 2023 Bonds are more fully described in the Indenture and in 

SCHEDULE I attached hereto; and 

 

- 81 -

Item # 11.



2 

 

 

WHEREAS, the Issuer and the City have requested the Placement Agent to act as their 

agent in connection with the placement of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the covenants herein made, and upon 

the terms and subject to the conditions herein set forth, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

 

Section 1.  Definitions.  All capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise herein 

defined shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Indenture. 

 

Section 2.  Appointment of Placement Agent.  Pursuant to the Indenture, the City 

Resolution and this Placement Agreement, the Issuer and the City hereby appoint the Placement 

Agent as exclusive, best efforts basis, placement agent with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds, 

and the Placement Agent hereby accepts such appointment, with such duties as described herein 

and in the Indenture. 

 

Section 3.  Placement of the Series 2023 Bonds.  The Placement Agent hereby agrees, 

as the agent of the Issuer and the City, to place the Series 2023 Bonds with ___________ (the 

“Lender”), pursuant to the terms of the Lender’s Term Sheet, attached as SCHEDULE II, on a 

best efforts basis.  The Lender is to purchase the Series 2023 Bonds at a price equal to 

$___,000,000 (the “Lender’s Purchase Price”).  It is understood that the purchase of the Series 

2023 Bonds by the Lender is subject to (a) receipt by the Lender and the Placement Agent of an 

opinion of Butler Snow LLP, Ridgeland, Mississippi (“Bond Counsel”), to the effect that the 

Series 2023 Bonds constitute valid and legally binding obligations of the Issuer, and to the effect 

that the interest on the Series 2023 Bonds is excludable from federal and State income taxation 

under existing laws, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions existing on the date hereof, with 

such exceptions as shall be required by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended; (b) the 

delivery of certificates in form and tenor satisfactory to Bond Counsel and the Lender evidencing 

(i) the proper execution and delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds and receipt of payment therefor, 

and (ii) certain tax matters related to the Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond; (c) delivery to the 

Placement Agent and the Lender of a statement or opinion, as applicable, of each of the Issuer, 

Issuer’s Counsel, the City and the City’s Counsel, each dated as of the date of delivery of the 

Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond, to the effect that there is no litigation pending or, to the 

knowledge of the signer or signers thereof, threatened relating to the issuance, sale, validation 

and delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond, as applicable; and (d) satisfaction of 

other conditions specified in the Indenture, the City Resolution and as may be required by the 

Lender or Bond Counsel.  The Lender shall be required to disburse immediately available funds 

in the amount of the Lender's Purchase Price to or as directed by the Issuer on  ___, 2023, the date 

of delivery and issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds (the “Closing Date”).  The Placement Agent 

will receive a placement fee of $______.00, payable from the proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

The Series 2023 Bonds will be placed on the Closing Date with the Lender under the exemptions 

set forth in Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

 

The Series 2023 Bonds shall be delivered in physical certificated form, without CUSIP 

numbers or rating and shall not be in book-entry form with a securities depository, but shall be 

- 82 -

Item # 11.



3 

 

 

duly executed on the Issuer's behalf and authenticated by the Trustee under the Indenture in fully 

registered form in the principal amount provided in SCHEDULE I, registered in the name of the 

Lender.  The Series 2023 Bonds will be made available to the Lender at least the business day 

prior to the Closing Date for inspection by the Lender.  

 

Section 4.  Payment to the Issuer.  The Placement Agent agrees that it will, on the 

Closing Date, direct that the Lender transfer to or as directed by the Issuer the Lender’s Purchase 

Price, in immediately available funds.  If the Lender does not deposit with or as directed by the 

Issuer the Lender’s Purchase Price of the Series 2023 Bonds or otherwise refuses to purchase the 

Series 2023 Bonds, the Placement Agent will use its reasonable best efforts to arrange for a 

substitute purchaser for such Series 2023 Bonds on the terms set forth in Section 3, without any 

additional placement fee. 

 

Section 5.  Limitation.  Nothing contained in this Placement Agreement shall obligate 

the Placement Agent to purchase the Series 2023 Bonds in the event the Lender fails to pay the 

Lender’s Purchase Price of the Series 2023 Bonds or in the event the Placement Agent is unable 

to arrange for the purchase of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

 

Section 6.  Fees and Expenses.  The Placement Agent fee set forth in Section 3 

represents the total compensation due to the Placement Agent for its services under this 

Placement Agreement. 

 The City is responsible for all other expenses and fees due in connection with the sale, 

validation, delivery and issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds which are to be paid from the 

proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds, as directed by the Issuer and the City, and pursuant to the 

Indenture. 

 

Section 7.  Governing Law.  This Placement Agreement shall be governed by and 

construed in accordance with the laws of the State. 

 

Section 8.  Counterparts.  This Placement Agreement may be executed in one or more 

counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which, when taken together, shall 

constitute but one and the same instrument. 

 

Section 9.  Binding Effect.  This Placement Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure 

to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns, except that no 

party hereto may assign any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the consent of the other 

party. 

 

Section 10. Arm’s Length Transaction.  The Issuer and the City acknowledge and 

agree that (i) the purchase and sale of the Series 2023 Bonds pursuant to this Placement 

Agreement is an arm’s length commercial transaction among the Issuer, the City, the Lender and 

the Placement Agent; (ii) in connection with such transaction, each of the  Placement Agent, and 

the Lender is acting solely as a principal and not as an agent or a fiduciary of the Issuer or the 

City; (iii) neither the Placement Agent nor the Lender has  assumed a fiduciary responsibility in 

- 83 -

Item # 11.



4 

 

 

favor of the Issuer or the City with respect to the offering of the Series 2023 Bonds or the 

process leading thereto (whether or not the Placement Agent, or any affiliate of the Placement 

Agent or the Lender, has advised or is currently advising the Issuer or the City on other matters) 

nor has it assumed any other obligation to the Issuer except the obligations expressly set forth in 

this Placement Agreement, (iv) each  of the Placement Agent and the Lender has financial and 

other interests that differ from those of the Issuer and the City; and (v) the Issuer has consulted 

with its own legal and financial advisors to the extent it deemed appropriate in connection with 

the offering of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

 

Section 11. Lender Letter.  The Lender shall execute a Lender Letter in substance and 

in form satisfactory to the Issuer, the City and the Placement Agent to the effect that the Series 

2023 Bonds are being purchased for the account of the Lender without intent to distribute. 

 

[Remainder of Page Left Blank Intentionally]  

- 84 -

Item # 11.



5 

 

 

If you agree with the foregoing, please sign and date this Placement Agreement in the 

space provided below and return one copy so executed to each of the Issuer, the Placement 

Agent and the City, whereby this Placement Agreement shall then become a binding agreement 

among such parties, as of the date first above written. 

 

Executed on: ________, 2023 

 

 

Very truly yours, 

 

RAYMOND JAMES & ASSOCIATES, INC. 

 

By: _______________________________________ 

 Lindsey Rea, Managing Director 

 

 

  

- 85 -

Item # 11.



6 

 

 

Accepted and agreed to as of 

the date first above written: 

 

MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

 

 

 

By: ___________________________________ 

Executive Director 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
[Signature Page for Private Placement Agreement, among Raymond James & Associates, Inc., the Mississippi 

Development Bank and the City of Tupelo, Mississippi.] 

- 86 -

Item # 11.



 

7 

 

 

CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI 

 

 

 

By: ___________________________________ 

Mayor 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signature Page for Private Placement Agreement, among Raymond James & Associates, Inc., the Mississippi 

Development Bank and the City of Tupelo, Mississippi.] 

- 87 -

Item # 11.



 

81526569.v1 
 

SCHEDULE I 

To Private Placement Agreement 

Dated: ________, 2023 

 

MATURITY DATE 

(March 1) 

PRINCIPAL 

AMOUNT 

INTEREST 

RATE 

 

PRICE 

20 $____,000,000* % 100% 

 

 *Term Bond subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption. Interest shall be payable semiannually 

commencing September 1, 2024, and each March 1 and September 1 thereafter. 

 

 (i) Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  

 The Series 2023 Bonds are issued as a term bond subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to 

their scheduled maturity on March 1, in each of the years set forth below, under the provisions of the Indenture at 

one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount so paid, plus accrued interest thereon: 

$___,000,000  

Series 2023 Bonds 

Maturing March_1, 20__ 

Year Principal Amount 

2024  

2025  

2026  

2027  

2028  

2029  

2030  

2031  

2032  

2033  

2034  

2035  

2036  

2037  

  2038*  
 

*Final Maturity.  

 [(ii)    Optional Redemption.  The Series 2023 Bonds are subject to redemption prior to their stated date 

of maturity, in whole or in part, subject to the limitations set forth below, on March 1, 20____ and any date 

thereafter, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof together with accrued interest to the date 

fixed for redemption and without premium.]  [Any partial redemption of the Series 2023 Bonds (a) must be in a 

principal amount of at least $1,000,000, (b) shall occur no more than once during any consecutive 12-month period, 

and (c) shall be applied to the then remaining scheduled installments of principal payable on the Series 2023 Bonds 

in inverse order of principal installments due.] 

- 88 -

Item # 11.



 

81526569.v1 
 

SCHEDULE II 

To Private Placement Agreement 

Dated: ________, 2023 

 

LENDER’S TERM SHEET  

 

(attached) 

 

- 89 -

Item # 11.



  

 

INDENTURE OF TRUST 

 

 

 

by and between 

 

 

MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

 

 

and 

 

 

THE PEOPLES BANK, as Trustee 

 

 

 

 

Dated ___, 2023 

 

 

 

 

Relating To The Issuance Of 

 

$___,000,000 

MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

SPECIAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2023 

(City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement 

General Obligation Bond Project) 

- 90 -

Item # 11.



 

i 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 Page  

ARTICLE I. DEFINITIONS AND RULES OF INTERPRETATION 4 

SECTION 1.01. Definitions. ......................................................................................................4 
SECTION 1.02. Rules of Interpretation. ..................................................................................10 

ARTICLE II. AUTHORIZATION AND ISSUANCE OF BONDS 12 

SECTION 2.01. Authorization and Issuance of Series 2023 Bonds. .......................................12 

SECTION 2.02. Purpose and Disposition of Series 2023 Bonds. ............................................12 
SECTION 2.03. General Description of the Series 2023 Bonds. .............................................12 

SECTION 2.04. Provisions for Issuance of Series 2023 Bonds. ..............................................13 

SECTION 2.05. Provisions for Issuance of Refunding Bonds. ................................................14 

SECTION 2.06. Form of Series 2023 Bonds. ..........................................................................15 
SECTION 2.07. Book-Entry Only System ...............................................................................24 
SECTION 2.08. Successor Securities Depository; Transfers Outside Book-Entry Only  

System ............................................................................................................................................ 24 
SECTION 2.09. Payments ........................................................................................................25 

ARTICLE III. GENERAL TERMS AND PROVISIONS OF BONDS 26 

SECTION 3.01. Medium, Form and Place of Payment. ..........................................................26 
SECTION 3.02. Legends. .........................................................................................................26 

SECTION 3.03. Execution. ......................................................................................................26 

SECTION 3.04. Authentication. ...............................................................................................26 
SECTION 3.05. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bonds..................................................26 
SECTION 3.06. Registration, Transfer and Exchange of Bonds; Persons Treated as Owners.27 

SECTION 3.07. Destruction of Bonds. ....................................................................................28 
SECTION 3.08. Nonpresentment of Bonds. ............................................................................28 
SECTION 3.09. Other Obligations Payable from Revenues. ...................................................28 

SECTION 3.10. Temporary Bonds. .........................................................................................28 
SECTION 3.11. Limitations on Obligations of the Issuer. .......................................................29 
SECTION 3.12. Immunity of Officers and Directors. ..............................................................29 

ARTICLE IV. REDEMPTION OF SERIES 2023 BONDS PRIOR TO MATURITY 31 

SECTION 4.01. Redemption and Redemption Prices and Terms for Series 2023 Bonds. ......31 

SECTION 4.02. Redemption at the Election or Direction of the Issuer. ..................................32 
SECTION 4.03. Selection of Series 2023 Bonds to be Redeemed. .........................................32 

SECTION 4.04. Redemption Payments. ..................................................................................32 
SECTION 4.05. Notice of Redemption. ...................................................................................32 
SECTION 4.06. Cancellation. ..................................................................................................33 

- 91 -

Item # 11.



 

 
ii 

 

ARTICLE V. GENERAL COVENANTS 34 

SECTION 5.01. Payment of Debt Service. ..............................................................................34 

SECTION 5.02. Performance of Covenants. ............................................................................34 
SECTION 5.03. Instruments of Further Assurance. .................................................................34 
SECTION 5.04. Covenants Concerning Program. ...................................................................34 
SECTION 5.05. Possession and Inspection of City Bond. .......................................................35 
SECTION 5.06. Accounts and Reports. ...................................................................................35 

SECTION 5.07. Issuer Covenants with Respect to the City Bond. ..........................................35 
SECTION 5.08. Monitoring Investments. ................................................................................36 
SECTION 5.09. Covenants Concerning Preservation of Tax Exemption. ...............................36 

ARTICLE VI. REVENUES AND FUNDS 37 

SECTION 6.01. Source of Payment of Bonds. ........................................................................37 
SECTION 6.02. Creation of Funds...........................................................................................37 
SECTION 6.03. Deposit of Net Proceeds of Bonds. ................................................................37 

SECTION 6.04. Deposit of Revenues and Other Receipts. .....................................................37 
SECTION 6.05. Operation of General Account. ......................................................................37 

SECTION 6.06. Operation of the Redemption Account. .........................................................38 
SECTION 6.07. Operation of the Purchase Account. ..............................................................38 
SECTION 6.08. Operation of Bond Issuance Expense Account. .............................................38 

SECTION 6.09. Operation of the Rebate Fund. .......................................................................39 
SECTION 6.10. Moneys to be Held in Trust. ..........................................................................39 

SECTION 6.11. Amounts Remaining in Funds or Accounts. ..................................................40 
SECTION 6.12. Certain Verifications. .....................................................................................40 

ARTICLE VII. PURCHASE OF CITY BOND 41 

SECTION 7.01. Terms and Conditions of Purchase. ...............................................................41 

SECTION 7.02. Purchase. ........................................................................................................41 
SECTION 7.03. Retention and Inspection of Documents. .......................................................42 
SECTION 7.04. Report. ............................................................................................................42 

ARTICLE VIII. INVESTMENT OF MONEYS 43 

SECTION 8.01. General Provisions. ........................................................................................43 
SECTION 8.02. Valuation of Investments. ..............................................................................43 

SECTION 8.03. Arbitrage Restrictions; Series 2023 Bonds to Remain Tax Exempt. .............44 

ARTICLE IX. DISCHARGE OF INDENTURE 45 

SECTION 9.01. Discharge of Indenture. ..................................................................................45 

- 92 -

Item # 11.



 

 
iii 

 

ARTICLE X. DEFAULT PROVISIONS AND REMEDIES OF TRUSTEE AND 

BONDHOLDERS 47 

SECTION 10.01. Defaults; Events of Default. .........................................................................47 
SECTION 10.02. Remedies; Rights of Bondholders. ..............................................................48 
SECTION 10.03. Rights of Bondholders to Direct Proceedings. .............................................49 
SECTION 10.04. Appointment of Receivers. ..........................................................................49 
SECTION 10.05. Application of Moneys. ...............................................................................49 

SECTION 10.06. Remedies Vested in the Trustee. ..................................................................51 
SECTION 10.07. Rights and Remedies of Bondholders. .........................................................51 
SECTION 10.08. Termination of Proceedings. ........................................................................51 
SECTION 10.09. Waivers of Events of Default. ......................................................................52 
SECTION 10.10. Notice of Defaults under Section 10.01(d) or (e); Opportunity of the Issuer 

to Cure Such Defaults. ..................................................................................52 

ARTICLE XI. TRUSTEE 53 

SECTION 11.01. Acceptance of the Trusts. .............................................................................53 
SECTION 11.02. Fees, Charges and Expenses of the Trustee. ................................................55 

SECTION 11.03. Intervention by the Trustee. .........................................................................55 
SECTION 11.04. Successor Trustee. .......................................................................................55 
SECTION 11.05. Resignation by the Trustee. .........................................................................55 

SECTION 11.06. Removal of the Trustee. ...............................................................................55 
SECTION 11.07. Appointment of Successor Trustee by the Bondholders; Temporary  

Trustee. ......................................................................................................................................56 
SECTION 11.08. Concerning Any Successor Trustee. ............................................................56 

SECTION 11.09. Indemnification. ...........................................................................................57 
SECTION 11.10. Successor Trustee as Trustee of Funds, Paying Agent and Registrar. .........57 

ARTICLE XII. SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES 58 

SECTION 12.01. Supplemental Indentures not Requiring Consent of Bondholders. ..............58 
SECTION 12.02. Supplemental Indentures Requiring Consent of Bondholders. ....................58 

ARTICLE XIII. MISCELLANEOUS 60 

SECTION 13.01. Consents, etc. of Bondholders. ....................................................................60 
SECTION 13.02. Limitation of Rights. ....................................................................................60 

SECTION 13.03. Severability. .................................................................................................60 

SECTION 13.04. Notices. ........................................................................................................60 

SECTION 13.05. Trustee as Paying Agent and Registrar. .......................................................60 
SECTION 13.06. Payments Due on Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays. ..................................61 
SECTION 13.07. Counterparts. ................................................................................................61 
SECTION 13.08. Receipt of Money or Revenues by Trustee. .................................................61 
SECTION 13.09. Applicable Provisions of Law. .....................................................................61 

- 93 -

Item # 11.



 

 
iv 

 

 

EXHIBIT A – FORM OF CITY BOND

- 94 -

Item # 11.



 

 

INDENTURE OF TRUST 

THIS INDENTURE OF TRUST (this “Indenture”) is dated ___, 2023, by and between 

the MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK, a public body corporate and politic, of the State 

of Mississippi (the “State”), exercising essential public functions (the “Issuer”), organized under 

the provisions of Sections 31-25-1 et seq. Mississippi Code of 1972, as from amended and 

supplemented from time to time (the “Issuer Act”), and THE PEOPLES BANK, a banking 

corporation duly organized, existing and authorized under the laws of the State of Mississippi to 

accept and execute trusts of the character herein with a corporate trust office in Biloxi, 

Mississippi, as trustee (in such capacity, the “Trustee”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the Issuer is authorized and empowered by the provisions of the Act (as 

hereinafter defined) to issue the Bonds (as defined herein) for the purpose of buying “securities” 

of “local governmental units” (as such terms are defined in the Issuer Act); and 

WHEREAS, the City of Tupelo, Mississippi (the “City”) is a Local Governmental Unit 

(as hereinafter defined) under the Issuer Act and has duly authorized the issuance of its 

Securities (as hereinafter defined) designated as the City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public 

Improvement General Obligation Bond, Series 2023 in the aggregate principal amount of _____ 

Million Dollars ($___,000,000) (the “City Bond”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms and provisions hereof and a City Bond Purchase 

Agreement, dated ______, 2023, by and between the Issuer and the City (the “City Bond 

Purchase Agreement”), the Issuer will issue its $___,000,000 Special Obligation Bonds, Series 

2023 (City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement General Obligation Bond Project) (the 

“Series 2023 Bonds”) to provide funds to purchase the City Bond, and to pay the costs incident 

to the sale and issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond; and 

WHEREAS, the proceeds of the City Bond will be used by the City to provide funds to 

pay the costs authorized in the City Bond Act, as defined herein, including, but not limited to, 

financing certain capital projects of the City which shall consist of any of (i) constructing, 

improving or paving streets, sidewalks, driveways, parkways, walkways or public parking 

facilities, and purchasing land therefor; (ii) erecting, repairing, improving, adorning and 

equipping municipal buildings and purchasing buildings and land therefor; (iii) purchasing land 

for parks, cemeteries and public playgrounds, and improving, equipping and adorning the same, 

including the constructing, repairing and equipping of swimming pools and other recreational 

facilities; (iv) purchasing fire-fighting equipment and apparatus, and providing housing for same, 

and purchasing land therefor; (v) erecting or purchasing waterworks, gas, electric and other 

public utility plants or distribution systems or franchises, and repairing, improving and extending 

the same; (vi) establishing sanitary, storm, drainage or sewerage systems, and repairing, 

improving and extending the same; (vii) protecting a municipality, its streets and sidewalks from 

overflow, caving banks and other like dangers; (viii) constructing bridges and culverts; (ix) 

purchasing machinery and equipment, including motor vehicles weighing not less than twelve 

thousand (12,000) pounds, which have an expected useful life in excess of ten (10) years which 

expected useful life shall exceed the life of the bonds financing such purchase; and (x) for other 

- 95 -

Item # 11.



 

 
2 

 

authorized purposes under the City Bond Act, including funding capitalized interest, if 

applicable, and paying the costs of borrowing (the “City Project”), all as more particularly 

described in the City Bond Resolution and the City Bond Act; and 

WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of this Indenture has been in all respects duly 

and validly authorized by a resolution duly passed and approved by the Board of Directors of the 

Issuer. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS INDENTURE OF TRUST WITNESSETH: 

GRANTING CLAUSES 

The Issuer, in consideration of the premises and the acceptance by the Trustee of the 

trusts hereby created and of the purchase and acceptance of the Bonds by the owners thereof, and 

for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, in order 

to secure the payment of the principal of, Redemption Price (as hereinafter defined),  and interest 

on the Bonds according to their tenor and effect and to secure the performance and observance 

by the Issuer of all covenants expressed or implied herein and in the Bonds, does hereby grant, 

transfer, bargain, sell, convey, mortgage, assign and pledge, and grant a security interest in the 

rights, interests, properties, moneys and other assets described in the following Granting Clauses 

to the Trustee and its successors in trust and assigns forever (collectively, the “Trust Estate”), 

for the purpose of securing the performance of the obligations of the Issuer hereinafter set forth, 

such grant, transfer, bargaining, sale, conveyance, mortgage, assignment, pledge and security 

interest, as described in the following Granting Clauses. 

GRANTING CLAUSE FIRST 

All cash and securities now or hereafter held in the Funds (as hereinafter defined) and 

Accounts (as hereinafter defined) created or established under this Indenture (other than the 

Rebate Fund, as hereinafter defined) and the investment earnings thereon (other than the Rebate 

Fund) and all proceeds thereof (except to the extent in the Rebate Fund or any amounts which 

are transferred from such Funds and Accounts from time to time in accordance with this 

Indenture). 

GRANTING CLAUSE SECOND 

The City Bond acquired and held by the Trustee pursuant to this Indenture, all the 

payments thereunder, all the earnings thereon and all proceeds thereof and all rights of the holder 

of the City Bond under the City Bond Resolution. 

GRANTING CLAUSE THIRD 

All funds, accounts and monies hereinafter pledged to the Trustee in accordance with this 

Indenture as security by the Issuer to the extent of that pledge. 

- 96 -

Item # 11.



 

 
3 

 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD all and singular the Trust Estate (as hereinafter defined), 

whether now owned or hereafter acquired, unto the Trustee and its respective successors in trust 

and assigns forever; 

IN TRUST NEVERTHELESS, upon the terms and trusts herein set forth for the equal 

and proportionate benefit, security and protection of all present and future owners of the Bonds 

issued under and secured by this Indenture without privilege, priority or distinction as to the lien 

or otherwise of any of the Bonds over any of the other Bonds except as otherwise expressly 

provided herein; 

PROVIDED HOWEVER, that if the Issuer shall pay or cause to be paid, or there shall 

otherwise be paid or made provision for payment of, the principal of, Redemption Price, and 

interest on the Bonds due or to become due thereon, at the times and in the manner prescribed in 

the Bonds, or there shall otherwise be paid or made provision for payment to the Trustee of all 

sums of money due or to become due according to the provisions hereof which payments shall 

otherwise comply with Article IX hereof, then this Indenture and the rights hereby granted shall 

cease, determine and be void; otherwise this Indenture to be and remain in full force and effect. 

THIS INDENTURE OF TRUST FURTHER WITNESSETH, and it is expressly 

declared, that all Bonds issued and secured hereunder are to be issued, authenticated and 

delivered, and all said property, rights and interests, including, without limitation, the amounts 

hereby assigned and pledged, are to be dealt with and disposed of, under, upon and subject to the 

terms, conditions, stipulations, covenants, agreements, trusts, uses and purposes hereinafter 

expressed, and the Issuer has agreed and covenanted, and does hereby agree and covenant, with 

the Trustee and with the respective owners, from time to time, of the Bonds, or any part thereof, 

as follows (subject, however, to the provisions of Sections 3.11 and 3.12 hereof): 

- 97 -

Item # 11.



 

 
4 

 

ARTICLE I. 

 

DEFINITIONS AND RULES OF INTERPRETATION 

SECTION 1.01.  Definitions.  The following words and phrases shall have the following 

meanings unless the context otherwise requires: 

“Accounts” means the accounts created pursuant to Article VI hereof. 

“Act” means together the Issuer Act and the City Bond Act. 

“Arbitrage Rebate Agreement” means the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement by and between 

the Issuer and the City, dated _____, 2023, in connection with the Series 2023 Bonds, or any 

similar documentation included within a certificate or other agreement of the Issuer and the City 

regarding the status of the income of the Series 2023 Bonds for federal income tax purposes. 

“Authorized Officer” means the President, Vice President, Executive Director, Secretary 

or Assistant Secretary of the Issuer or such other person or persons who are duly authorized to 

act on behalf of the Issuer. 

“Bankruptcy Code” means 11 U.S.C. Section 101 et seq., as amended or supplemented 

from time to time. 

"Beneficial Owner" means, whenever used with respect to a Bond, the person in whose 

name such Bond is recorded as the beneficial owner of such Bond by a DTC participant on the 

records of such DTC participant, or such person's subrogee. 

“Bond Counsel” means an attorney or firm of attorneys approved by the Mayor and the 

City Council of the City and the Issuer nationally recognized in the area of municipal law and 

matters relating to the exclusion of interest on state and local government bonds from gross 

income under federal tax law, including particularly compliance with Section 148(f) of the Code. 

Bond Counsel shall initially mean Butler Snow LLP, Ridgeland, Mississippi. 

"Bond Purchase Agreement" means that certain Bond Purchase Agreement, dated 

______, 2023, by and among the Bank, the Underwriter and the City in connection with the 

issuance and sale of the Series 2023 Bonds,  

“Bond Issuance Expense Account” means the account by that name created by Section 

6.02 hereof. 

“Bond Register” means the registration records of the Issuer kept by the Trustee to 

evidence the registration and transfer of the Bonds. 

“Bondholder” or “holder of Bonds” or “owner of Bonds” or any similar term means the 

Registered Owner of any Bond. 

- 98 -

Item # 11.



 

 
5 

 

“Bonds” means the Series 2023 Bonds and any Refunding Bonds issued pursuant to this 

Indenture. 

“Business Day” means any day other than (a) a Saturday, (b) a Sunday, (c) any other day 

on which banking institutions in New York, New York or Biloxi, Mississippi, are authorized or 

required not to be open for the transaction of regular banking business, (e) any day the City 

Courthouse in Tupelo, Mississippi is closed, or (f) a day on which the New York Stock 

Exchange is closed. 

“City” means City of Tupelo, Mississippi, a Local Governmental Unit under the Issuer 

Act. 

“City Bond” means the $___,000,000 Public Improvement General Obligation Bond, 

Series 2023, issued by the City pursuant to the City Bond Resolution and registered to the 

Trustee as assignee of the Issuer pursuant to this Indenture, the form of which is attached as 

Exhibit A hereto. 

“City Bond Act” means Sections 21-33-301 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as the 

same may be supplemented and amended from time to time. 

“City Bond Interest Payment” means that portion of a City Bond Payment which 

represents the interest due or to become due on the City Bond. 

“City Bond Payment” means the amounts paid or required to be paid, from time to time, 

for principal, premium, if any, and interest on the City Bond held by the Trustee pursuant to this 

Indenture. 

“City Bond Principal Payment” means that portion of a City Bond Payment which 

represents the principal due or to become due on the City Bond. 

“City Bond Purchase Agreement” means that certain City Bond Purchase Agreement, 

dated ____, 2023, by and between the City and the Issuer in connection with the issuance and 

sale of the City Bond. 

“City Bond Resolution” means that certain resolution adopted by the Mayor and the 

City Council of the City on September 5, 2023, in connection with the issuance of the City Bond. 

“City Project” means providing financing for the costs authorized by the City Bond Act, 

including, but not limited to, financing certain capital projects of the City which shall consist of 

any of (i) constructing, improving or paving streets, sidewalks, driveways, parkways, walkways 

or public parking facilities, and purchasing land therefor; (ii) erecting, repairing, improving, 

adorning and equipping municipal buildings and purchasing buildings and land therefor; (iii) 

purchasing land for parks, cemeteries and public playgrounds, and improving, equipping and 

adorning the same, including the constructing, repairing and equipping of swimming pools and 

other recreational facilities; (iv) purchasing fire-fighting equipment and apparatus, and providing 

housing for same, and purchasing land therefor; (v) erecting or purchasing waterworks, gas, 

electric and other public utility plants or distribution systems or franchises, and repairing, 

- 99 -

Item # 11.



 

 
6 

 

improving and extending the same; (vi) establishing sanitary, storm, drainage or sewerage 

systems, and repairing, improving and extending the same; (vii) protecting a municipality, its 

streets and sidewalks from overflow, caving banks and other like dangers; (viii) constructing 

bridges and culverts; (ix) purchasing machinery and equipment, including motor vehicles 

weighing not less than twelve thousand (12,000) pounds, which have an expected useful life in 

excess of ten (10) years which expected useful life shall exceed the life of the bonds financing 

such purchase; and (x) for other authorized purposes under the City Bond Act, including funding 

capitalized interest, if applicable, and paying the costs of borrowing. 

“Code” or “Internal Revenue Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 

amended, and all applicable Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder. 

“Costs of Issuance” means items of expense payable or reimbursable, directly or 

indirectly, by the Issuer and related to the authorization, sale, validation, issuance and/or delivery 

of the Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond, which items of expense shall include, but not be 

limited to, printing costs, costs of reproducing documents, filing and recording fees, initial fees 

and charges of the Trustee, legal fees and charges (including Bond Counsel fees), 

financial/municipal advisory and professional consultants' fees, costs of credit ratings, fees and 

charges for execution, transportation and safekeeping of the Series 2023 Bonds, credit 

enhancements or liquidity facility fees, and other costs, charges and fees in connection with the 

foregoing. 

“Counsel” means an attorney or firm of attorneys duly admitted to practice law before 

the highest court of any state and approved by the Issuer, the City and the Trustee, as applicable. 

“Default” means an event or condition the occurrence of which, with the lapse of time or 

the giving of notice or both, would become an Event of Default hereunder. 

"DTC" means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York. 

"DTC participants" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 2.7 herein. 

"DTC's Blanket Letter of Representations" means the Blanket Letter of 

Representations between the Bank and DTC. 

“Event of Default” means any occurrence or event specified in Section 10.01 hereof. 

“Fiscal Year” means, when used with respect to the Issuer, the Issuer's fiscal year being 

the twelve (12) month period from July 1 through the following June 30 or such other fiscal year 

as may be established by the Issuer. 

“Funds” means the funds created pursuant to Article VI hereof (except for the Rebate 

Fund). 

“General Account” means the account by that name created by Section 6.02 hereof. 

“General Fund” means the fund by that name created by Section 6.02 hereof. 

- 100 -

Item # 11.



 

 
7 

 

“Governmental Obligations” means to the extent permitted by State law (a) direct 

obligations of the United States of America; (b) obligations guaranteed as to principal and 

interest by the United States of America or any federal agency whose obligations are backed by 

the full faith and credit of the United States of America, including but not limited to: Department 

of Housing and Urban Development, Export-Import Bank, Farmers Home Administration (or 

successor thereto), Federal Financing Bank, Federal Housing Administration, Maritime 

Administration, Small Business Administration, which obligations include but are not limited to 

certificates or receipts representing direct ownership of future interest or principal payments on 

obligations described in clause (a) or in this clause (b) and which are held by a custodian in 

safekeeping on behalf of the holders of such receipts; and (c) obligations of any state of the 

United States of America or any political subdivision thereof, the full payment of principal of, 

premium, if any, and interest on which (i) is fully and unconditionally guaranteed or insured by 

the United States of America, or (ii) is provided for by an irrevocable deposit of the securities 

described in clause (i) to the extent such investments are permitted by State law. 

“Indenture” means this Indenture of Trust, and all supplements and amendments hereto 

entered into pursuant to Article XII hereof. 

“Interest Payment Date” means any date on which interest is payable on the Bonds, and 

for the Series 2023 Bonds, means each March 1 and September 1, commencing September 1, 

2024. 

“Investment Securities” means any of the following to the extent such investments are 

permitted by State law: (a) obligations of the State, any municipality of the State or the United 

States of America rated at least “A” by S&P or Moody's; (b) obligations the principal and 

interest of which are fully guaranteed by the State or the United States of America; 

(c) obligations of any corporation wholly owned by the United States of America; (d) obligations 

of any corporation sponsored by the United States of America which are or may become eligible 

as collateral for advances to member banks as determined by the Board of Governors of the 

Federal Reserve System; (e) obligations of insurance firms or other corporations whose 

investments are rated “AA” or better by recognized rating companies; (f) certificates of deposit 

or time deposits of qualified depositories of the State as approved by the State Depository 

Commission, secured in such manner, if any, as the Issuer shall determine; (g) contracts for the 

purchase and sale of obligations of the type specified in items (a) through (e) above; 

(h) repurchase agreements secured by obligations specified in items (a) through (e) above; or (i) 

money market funds, rated “AAm” or “AAm-G” or better by S&P, the assets of which are 

required to be invested in obligations specified in items (a) through (f) above. 

“Issuer” means the Mississippi Development Bank, a body corporate and politic 

exercising essential public functions, or any successor to its functions. 

“Issuer Act” means the provisions of Sections 31-25-1 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, 

as amended or supplemented from time to time. 

“Local Governmental Unit” means (a) any county, municipality, utility district, regional 

solid waste authority, county cooperative service district or political subdivision of the State, (b) 

- 101 -

Item # 11.



 

 
8 

 

the State or any agency thereof, (c) the institutions of higher learning of the State, (d) any 

education building corporation established for institutions of higher learning, or (e) any other 

governmental unit created under state law, such as the City.  The City is a Local Governmental 

Unit under the Issuer Act. 

“Moody's” means Moody's Investors Service, Inc., a Delaware corporation, its 

successors and assigns, and, if such corporation shall for any reason no longer perform the 

functions of a securities rating agency, “Moody's” shall be deemed to refer to any other 

nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the City (with the approval of the 

Issuer), with written notice to the Trustee. 

“Notice Address” means, with respect to the City, the City's address given in connection 

with the sale of the City Bond to the Issuer, and, with respect to the Issuer, the Trustee and the 

Underwriter: 

Issuer: Mississippi Development Bank 

735 Riverside Drive, Suite 300 

Jackson, Mississippi 39202 

Attention: Executive Director 

 

Trustee: The Peoples Bank 

758 Howard Avenue 

Biloxi, Mississippi 39530 

Attention:  Corporate Trust Department 

Underwriter: Raymond James & Associates, Inc. 

1100 Ridgeway Loop, 3rd floor 

Memphis, Tennessee 38120 

Attention:  Municipal Finance 

“Opinion of Bond Counsel” means an opinion by a nationally recognized firm 

experienced in matters relating to the tax exemption for interest payable on obligations of states 

and their instrumentalities and political subdivisions under federal law, and which is acceptable 

to the Issuer and the Trustee. 

“Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion of Counsel addressed to the Trustee, for 

the benefit of the owners of the Bonds, who may (except as otherwise expressly provided in this 

Indenture) be Counsel to the Issuer or Counsel to the owners of the Bonds and who is acceptable 

to the Trustee. 

“Outstanding” or “Bonds Outstanding” means all Bonds, which have been 

authenticated and delivered by the Trustee under this Indenture, including Bonds held by the 

Issuer, except: 

(a) Bonds canceled after purchase in the open market or because of payment at or 

redemption prior to maturity; 

- 102 -

Item # 11.



 

 
9 

 

(b) Bonds deemed paid under Article IX hereof; and 

(c) Bonds in lieu of which other Bonds have been authenticated under Section 3.05, 

3.06 or 3.10 hereof. 

“Paying Agent” means The Peoples Bank, Biloxi, Mississippi, or any successor thereto, 

acting as the Paying Agent under the City Bond Resolution. 

“Principal Office” means, as it relates to the Trustee, the address for the Trustee set forth 

under the definition of Notice Address above. 

“Principal Payment Date” means the maturity date or any mandatory sinking fund 

redemption date of any Bond. 

“Program” means the program for purchasing Securities of Local Governmental Units 

by the Issuer pursuant to the Issuer Act.  

“Program Expenses” means all of the fees and expenses of the Trustee relating to the 

Series 2023 Bonds or the City Bond and costs of determining the amount rebatable, if any, to the 

United States of America under Section 6.09 hereof, all to the extent properly allocable to the 

Program and approved in writing by the Issuer. 

“Project” means using the proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds to provide financing (a) to 

the City for the City Project, and (b) to pay the Costs of Issuance for the City Bond and the 

Series 2023 Bonds. 

“Purchase Account” means the account by that name created by Section 6.02 hereof. 

“Rebate Fund” means the fund by that name created by Section 6.02 hereof. 

“Record Date” means, with respect to any Interest Payment Date, the fifteenth day of the 

calendar month next preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

“Redemption Account” means the account by that name created by Section 6.02 hereof. 

“Redemption Price” means, with respect to any Bond, the principal amount thereof, plus 

premium, if any, and accrued interest payable upon redemption prior to maturity. 

“Refunding Bonds” means bonds issued pursuant to Section 2.05 hereof and any 

Supplemental Indenture. 

“Registered Owner” means the person or persons in whose name any Bond shall be 

registered on the Bond Register. 

“Related Documents” means this Indenture and the City Bond Resolution. 

“Revenues” means the Funds and Accounts (except for the Rebate Fund) and all income, 

revenues and profits of the Funds and Accounts (except for the Rebate Fund) referred to in the 

- 103 -

Item # 11.



 

 
10 

 

granting clauses hereof including, without limitation, all City Bond Payments and any additional 

amounts paid to the Trustee under the City Bond Resolution or from any other source 

whatsoever. 

“S&P” means Standard and Poor's Ratings Services, a Standard & Poor's Financial 

Services Inc. business, its successors and assigns, and, if dissolved or liquidated or if it no longer 

performs the functions of a securities rating agency, “S&P” shall be deemed to refer to any other 

nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the City (with the approval of the 

Issuer), with written notice to the Trustee. 

“Securities” means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued by a Local 

Governmental Unit pursuant to the Issuer Act including the City Bond. 

“Series 2023 Bonds” means the $___,000,000 Mississippi Development Bank Special 

Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement General 

Obligation Bond Project) issued pursuant to Section 2.01 of this Indenture. 

“State” means the State of Mississippi. 

“Supplemental Indenture” means an indenture supplemental to or amendatory of this 

Indenture, executed by the Issuer and the Trustee in accordance with Article XII hereof. 

“Trust Estate” means the property, rights, and amounts pledged and assigned to the 

Trustee as security for the Bonds, pursuant to the granting clauses hereof. 

“Trustee” means the state banking corporation or national banking association with 

corporate trust powers qualified to act as Trustee under this Indenture which may be designated 

(originally or as a successor) as Trustee for the owners of the Bonds issued and secured under the 

terms of this Indenture, and which shall initially be The Peoples Bank, Biloxi, Mississippi. 

“Underwriter” means Raymond James & Associates, Inc., Memphis, Tennessee. 

SECTION 1.02.  Rules of Interpretation. For all purposes of this Indenture, except as 

otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires:   

(a) “This Indenture” means this instrument as originally executed as it may from time 

to time be supplemented or amended pursuant to the applicable provisions hereof. 

(b) The words “herein” and “hereof” and “hereunder” and words of similar import, 

without reference to any particular section or subdivision, refer to this Indenture as a whole 

rather than to any particular section or subdivision of this Indenture. 

(c) References in this Indenture to any particular article, section or subdivision hereof 

are to the designated article, section or subdivision of this Indenture as originally executed. 

(d) All accounting terms not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to 

them in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and all computations 

- 104 -

Item # 11.



 

 
11 

 

provided for herein shall be made in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 

consistently applied and applied on the same basis as in prior years. 

(e) The Table of Contents and titles of articles and sections herein are for 

convenience only and are not a part of this Indenture. 

(f) Unless the context hereof clearly requires otherwise, the singular shall include the 

plural and vice versa and the masculine shall include the feminine and vice versa. 

(g) Articles, sections, subsections and clauses mentioned by number only are those so 

numbered which are contained in this Indenture. 

(h) For purposes of this Indenture, a petition in bankruptcy shall be deemed dismissed 

only if the petition is dismissed by order of a court of competent jurisdiction and no further 

appeal rights exist from such order. 

(i) Any Opinion of Counsel required hereunder shall be a written opinion of such 

counsel. 

- 105 -

Item # 11.



 

 
12 

 

ARTICLE II. 

 

AUTHORIZATION AND ISSUANCE OF BONDS 

SECTION 2.01.  Authorization and Issuance of Series 2023 Bonds.  

(a) In accordance with the Issuer Act, bonds of the Issuer to be known and designated 

as “Mississippi Development Bank Special Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (City of Tupelo, 

Mississippi Public Improvement General Obligation Bond Project),” are hereby authorized to be 

issued, authenticated and delivered in the aggregate principal amount of _____ Million Dollars 

($___,000,000). 

(b) There is hereby created by this Indenture, in the manner and to the extent 

provided herein, a continuing pledge and lien to secure the full and final payment of the principal 

or Redemption Price of and interest on all of the Series 2023 Bonds issued pursuant to this 

Indenture. The Series 2023 Bonds shall be payable solely from the Revenues. The State shall not 

be liable on the Series 2023 Bonds and the Series 2023 Bonds shall not be a debt, liability, 

pledge of the faith or loan of the credit or moral obligation of the State.  The Series 2023 Bonds 

shall contain on the face thereof a statement to the effect that the Issuer is obligated to pay the 

principal of the Series 2023 Bonds, Redemption Price, and the interest thereon only from the 

Revenues and that the State is not obligated to pay such principal, Redemption Price, and interest 

and that neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State is pledged to the payment of 

the Series 2023 Bonds.  In the Issuer Act, the State has pledged to and agreed with the holders of 

any bonds of the Issuer that the State will not limit or alter the rights hereby vested in the Issuer 

to fulfill the terms of any agreements made with the said bondholders or in any way impair the 

rights and remedies of such holders until such bonds, together with the interest thereon, with 

interest on any unpaid installments of interest, and all costs and expenses in connection with any 

action or proceeding by or on behalf of such holders of bonds, are fully met and discharged.  The 

Series 2023 Bonds shall mature on or before March 1, 20___ as set forth herein. 

SECTION 2.02.  Purpose and Disposition of Series 2023 Bonds. The purpose for 

issuing the Series 2023 Bonds is to provide funds (i) to fund the Purchase Account for the 

purchase of the City Bond (which amounts are to provide financing for the City Project pursuant 

to the Act), and (ii) to pay Costs of Issuance in connection with the Series 2023 Bonds and the 

City Bond.  Upon the delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds and receipt of the net proceeds therefor, 

the Issuer shall deliver, or provide for the delivery, to the Trustee the proceeds of the Series 2023 

Bonds in the amount of $___,000,000.   

(b) The net proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds shall be deposited as follows: (i) into 

the Bond Issuance Expense Account, the sum of $_______.00 to pay Costs of Issuance of the 

Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond, and (ii) into the Purchase Account, the sum of 

$____________.00, which amount is to be immediately distributed to the City as provided in 

Sections 6.07(a) and 7.02 hereof to pay the costs of the City Project.  

SECTION 2.03.  General Description of the Series 2023 Bonds. The Series 2023 

Bonds shall initially be issued as fully registered bonds in the denomination of $5,000 or any 

- 106 -

Item # 11.



 

 
13 

 

integral multiple thereof.  The Series 2023 Bonds shall be numbered from R-1 upward, as 

applicable.   

(b) The Series 2023 Bond shall be dated the date of its original issuance, and shall 

carry the date on which it is authenticated.  If the Series 2023 Bond is authenticated on or prior to 

September 1, 2024, it shall bear interest from its date of original issuance.  Any Series 2023 

Bond authenticated after September 1, 2024, shall bear interest from the most recent Interest 

Payment Date to which interest has been paid as of the date of authentication of such Series 2023 

Bond unless such Series 2023 Bond is authenticated after a Record Date and on or before the 

next succeeding Interest Payment Date, in which event the Series 2023 Bond will bear interest 

from such next succeeding Interest Payment Date. 

(c) Interest on the Series 2023 Bonds shall be payable on March 1 and September 1, 

commencing September 1, 2024, until the Series 2023 Bonds are paid.  Interest will be calculated 

using a three hundred sixty (360) day year based on twelve (12) thirty (30) day months. 

(d) The Series 2023 Bonds shall mature on March 1 in the years and in the principal 

amounts, shall bear interest at the rate per annum, and shall be payable as set forth below: 

 

Year  

Principal 

Amount 

Interest 

Rate 

   

   

   

   

20____* $___,000,000 ______% 

 

*Term Bond subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption as set forth herein. 

 

SECTION 2.04.  Provisions for Issuance of Series 2023 Bonds. The Series 2023 

Bonds shall be executed by Authorized Officers of the Issuer for issuance under this Indenture, 

shall be delivered to the Trustee and thereupon shall be authenticated by the Trustee and by it 

delivered to or as directed by the Underwriter through the facilities of DTC, the Bank or to the 

purchasers thereof, as specified in a written order of the Bank, but only upon the receipt by the 

Trustee of: 

(a) A copy, duly certified by an Authorized Officer, of the resolution or resolutions 

adopted by the Board of Directors of the Issuer authorizing the execution and delivery of this 

Indenture and all other instruments contemplated thereby and the authorization, issuance, sale 

and delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds; 

(b) A copy, duly certified by the City Clerk of the City or an authorized officer of the 

City, of the City Bond Resolution and any other resolution(s) of the City authorizing the 

execution and delivery of all instruments contemplated thereby and approving this Indenture and 

the authorization, issuance, sale and delivery of the City Bond; 

- 107 -

Item # 11.



 

 
14 

 

(c) Original executed counterparts of this Indenture; 

(d) Signed copies of all opinions of Counsel required by Bond Counsel; 

(e) A request and authorization to the Trustee by or on behalf of the Issuer and signed 

by an Authorized Officer to authenticate and deliver the Series 2023 Bonds to or as directed by 

the Underwriter and specifying the amounts to be deposited in the accounts of the General Fund 

pursuant to Section 2.02 hereof; 

(f) Signed copies of the legal opinion of Bond Counsel; and 

(g) Such further documents, moneys and securities as are required by the provisions 

of Article VII hereof. 

SECTION 2.05.  Provisions for Issuance of Refunding Bonds. 

(a) All or any part of one or more series of Refunding Bonds may be issued 

hereunder, authenticated and delivered upon original issuance to refund all or any part of the 

Outstanding Bonds.  Refunding Bonds shall be issued in a principal amount sufficient, together 

with other monies available therefor, to accomplish such refunding and to make such deposits 

required by the provisions of the Act, this Section and by the Supplemental Indenture authorizing 

said Refunding Bonds. 

(b) Refunding Bonds may be authenticated and delivered only upon receipt by the 

Trustee (in addition to the receipt by the Trustee of the documents required by Section 2.04 

hereof) of: 

(i) Irrevocable instructions to the Trustee, satisfactory to it, to give due notice 

of redemption of all the Series 2023 Bonds to be refunded on the redemption date 

specified in such instructions; 

(ii) Irrevocable instructions to the Trustee, satisfactory to it, to give due notice 

provided for in Section 4.05 hereof to the owners of the Series 2023 Bonds being 

refunded (which may be a conditional notice of redemption); and 

(iii) Either (A) monies in an amount sufficient to effect timely payment at the 

Redemption Price or principal payment amount of the Series 2023 Bonds to be refunded 

or paid, respectively, together with accrued interest on such Series 2023 Bonds to the 

redemption or maturity date and all necessary and appropriate fees and expenses of the 

Trustee, which monies shall be held by the Trustee or an escrow agent approved by the 

City in a separate account irrevocably in trust for and assigned to the respective owners 

of the Series 2023 Bonds to be refunded or paid, or (B) Governmental Obligations in 

such principal amounts, of such maturities, bearing such interest, and otherwise having 

such terms and qualifications, as shall be necessary to comply with the provisions of 

Article IX which Governmental Obligations shall be held in trust and used only as 

provided in said Article. 

- 108 -

Item # 11.



 

 
15 

 

SECTION 2.06.  Form of Series 2023 Bonds. The Series 2023 Bonds and the Trustee's 

certificate of authentication to be endorsed on the Series 2023 Bonds are all to be in substantially 

the following form, with necessary and appropriate variations, omissions and insertions as are 

permitted or required by this Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture, as applicable: 

- 109 -

Item # 11.



 

 
16 

 

[FORM OF SERIES 2023 BOND] 

UNLESS THIS BOND IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF 

THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY, A NEW YORK CORPORATION ("DTC"), 

TO THE TRUSTEE (AS DEFINED BELOW) OR ITS AGENT FOR REGISTRATION 

OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE, OR PAYMENT, AND ANY CERTIFICATE ISSUED IS 

REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR IN SUCH OTHER NAME AS IS 

REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC (AND ANY 

PAYMENT IS MADE TO CEDE & CO. OR TO SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS 

REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC), ANY TRANSFER, 

PLEDGE, OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY 

PERSON IS WRONGFUL IN AS MUCH AS THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, 

CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN. 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI 

 

MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

SPECIAL OBLIGATION BOND, SERIES 2023 

(CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT 

GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND PROJECT) 

No. R-__ $_________ 

Interest Rate Maturity Date Original Date 

Date of 

Authentication CUSIP 

     

 % March 1, 20__ 

 

_______, 2023 _______, 2023 ___ 

Registered Owner: CEDE & CO. 

 

Principal Amount:  

Mississippi Development Bank, a body corporate and politic, exercising essential public 

functions (the “Issuer”), and organized under the laws of the State of Mississippi (the “State”), 

for value received, hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner specified above, or 

registered assigns, without surrender hereof other than upon the final payment of principal 

(whether upon redemption or at maturity), the principal amount stated above in lawful money of 

the United States of America but solely from the sources referred to herein and not otherwise, on 

the Maturity Date specified above, unless this Bond, as hereinafter defined, shall be redeemable 

and shall previously have been called for redemption and payment of the Redemption Price made 

or provided for, and to pay interest on such principal amount in like money, but solely from said 

sources, from the interest payment date to which interest has been paid as of the date of 

authentication of this Bond (unless this Bond is authenticated on or before September 1, 2024, 

then from __, 2023, or unless this Bond is authenticated after September 1, 2024, and on or 

- 110 -

Item # 11.



 

 
17 

 

before the next succeeding interest payment date, then from such interest payment date or unless 

payment of the interest on this Bond is in default, then from such date when interest has been 

paid in full) at the Interest Rate per annum stated above, payable on each March 1 and September 

1, commencing September 1, 2024, until payment of such principal amount shall have been 

made upon redemption or at maturity.  The principal of this Bond is payable at the corporate trust 

office (the “Principal Office”) of The Peoples Bank, Biloxi, Mississippi (the “Trustee”), or at a 

corporate trust office of any successor trustee appointed under the Indenture hereinafter 

mentioned; and payments of interest hereon will be made to the Registered Owner hereof (whose 

name appears on the registration records kept by the Trustee at the close of business on the 

fifteenth (15th) day of the month prior to such Interest Payment Date) by check mailed on the 

Interest Payment Date by the Trustee to such Registered Owner at its address as it appears on the 

registration records of the Issuer kept by the Trustee or at such other address as is furnished to 

the Trustee in writing by such Registered Owner or at the written election of the Registered 

Owner of $100,000 or more in aggregate principal amount of this Bond delivered to the Trustee 

at least one Business Day prior to the Record Date (as defined in the within defined Indenture) 

for which such election will be effective by wire transfer to the Registered Owner or by deposit 

into the account of the Registered Owner if such account is maintained by the Trustee. No 

presentation or surrender shall be required for any mandatory sinking fund redemption of this 

Bond. 

This Bond and the interest payable hereon and thereon, is payable by the Issuer solely 

from the Revenues (as defined herein) and other funds of the Issuer pledged therefor under the 

Indenture, which Revenues and funds include the payments on the City Bond (as defined herein) 

purchased by the Issuer.  The Issuer has no taxing power.  This Bond, as to principal, premium, 

if any, and interest, constitutes neither a debt, liability or loan of the credit of the State or any 

political subdivision thereof under the constitution or statutes of the State nor a pledge of the 

faith and credit, the taxing power or moral obligation of the State or any political subdivision 

thereof; provided, however, that the City Bond (as hereinafter defined), which provides security 

for this Bond, is a general obligation of the City of Tupelo, Mississippi (the “City”). The 

issuance of this Bond under the provisions of the Act (as defined herein) does not, directly, 

indirectly or contingently, obligate the State or any political subdivision thereof to levy any form 

of taxation for the payment thereof or to make any appropriation for its payment and this Bond 

does not now and shall never constitute a debt of the State or any political subdivision thereof 

within the meaning of the constitution or the statutes of the State and does not now and shall 

never constitute a charge against the credit of the State or any political subdivision thereof or a 

charge against the taxing power of the State or any political subdivision thereof except for the 

City.  Neither the State nor any agent, attorney, member or employee of the State or of the Issuer 

shall in any event be liable for the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on 

this Bond or for the performance of any pledge, mortgage, obligation or agreement of any kind 

whatsoever which may be undertaken by the Issuer.  No breach by the Issuer of any such pledge, 

mortgage, obligation or agreement may impose any liability, pecuniary or otherwise, upon the 

State or any agent, employee, attorney or member of the State or of the Issuer, or any charge 

upon their general credit or upon the taxing power of the State. 

This Bond is one of an authorized issue of bonds by the Issuer known as Mississippi 

Development Bank Special Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public 

- 111 -

Item # 11.



 

 
18 

 

Improvement General Obligation Bond Project) (the “Series 2023 Bonds”) issued under and 

secured by an Indenture of Trust, dated  __, 2023 (“Indenture”), duly executed and delivered by 

the Issuer to the Trustee.  This Bond is limited in aggregate principal amount to _____ Million 

Dollars ($___,000,000).  This Bond is issued pursuant to Sections 31-25-1 et seq., Mississippi 

Code of 1972, as amended and supplemented from time to time (the “Issuer Act”), and Sections 

21-33-301 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended and supplemented from time to time 

(the “City Bond Act” and together with the Issuer Act, the “Act”), to provide funds to purchase 

the City Bond and to pay the costs of issuing the Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond.  The City 

Bond is the City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement General Obligation Bond, Series 

2023, issued in the aggregate principal amount of $___,000,000 (the “City Bond”).  The City 

Bond is a general obligation of the City secured and described in that certain resolution, adopted 

by the Mayor and the City Council of the City on September 5, 2023 (the “City Bond 

Resolution”).  The proceeds received by the City from the sale of the City Bond to the Issuer 

will be used by the City for the purpose of providing projects authorized under the City Bond 

Act. 

Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in 

the Indenture. 

The City Bond Resolution, a certified copy of which is on file in the Principal Office of 

the Trustee, provides that the City is unconditionally obligated to make payments secured by the 

full faith, credit and taxing power of the City in an aggregate amount sufficient, with any other 

funds available therefor, for the payment in full of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest 

on all Bonds issued and outstanding under the Indenture, to the date of payment thereof, and 

certain costs, expenses and charges of the Issuer and the Trustee.   

For purposes of funding the 2023 Bond Fund (as defined in the City Bond Resolution) of 

the City, the City Bond Resolution provides that the City will levy a direct, continuing and 

special tax upon all of the taxable property within the geographical limits of the City, adequate 

and sufficient, after allowance shall have been made for the expenses of collection and 

delinquencies in the payment of taxes, to produce sums required for the payment of the principal 

of, premium, if any, and interest on the City Bond.  Said tax shall be extended upon the tax rolls 

and collected in the same manner and at the same time as other taxes of the City are collected, 

and the rate of the tax which shall be so extended shall be sufficient in each year fully to produce 

the sums required as aforesaid, without limitation as to time, rate or amount; provided, however, 

that such tax levy for any year shall be abated pro tanto to the extent the City on or prior to 

September 1 of that year has transferred money to the 2023 Bond Fund, or has made other 

provisions for funds, to be applied toward the payment of the principal of and interest on the City 

Bond due during the ensuing fiscal year of the City, in accordance with the provisions of the City 

Bond Resolution.  The avails of said tax are irrevocably pledged by the City under the City Bond 

Resolution for the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the City Bond as 

the same shall respectively mature and accrue. 

The Series 2023 Bonds are all equally and ratably secured by and entitled to the 

protection of the Indenture on a parity one with another and with any Refunding Bonds which 

may be issued pursuant to the terms of the Indenture. To secure payment of the principal of and 

- 112 -

Item # 11.



 

 
19 

 

interest on all Bonds and performance of all other covenants of the Issuer under the Indenture, 

the Issuer, pursuant to the Indenture, has assigned and pledged to the Trustee, and has granted to 

the Trustee a security interest in, the Trust Estate (as defined in the Indenture), including City 

Bond Payments, all right, title and interest of the Issuer in and to all moneys and securities from 

time to time received and held by the Trustee under the Indenture and all income from the 

deposit, investment and reinvestment thereof except any moneys and securities held in the 

Rebate Fund established under the Indenture (all such money and funds and accounts referred to 

in the granting clauses of the Indenture are defined in the Indenture and are herein referred to as 

the “Revenues”).  Reference is hereby made to the Indenture for a description of the rights, 

duties and obligations of the Issuer, the Trustee and the owners of the Bonds, the terms and 

conditions upon which the Bonds are issued and the terms and conditions upon which the Bonds 

will be paid at or prior to maturity, or will be deemed to be paid upon the making of provision 

for payment therefor.  A copy of the Indenture is on file in the Principal Office of the Trustee. 

THE SERIES 2023 BONDS ARE LIMITED AND SPECIAL OBLIGATIONS OF 

THE ISSUER AND DO NOT CONSTITUTE OR CREATE AN OBLIGATION, 

GENERAL OR SPECIAL, DEBT, LIABILITY OR MORAL OBLIGATION OF THE 

STATE OR ANY OTHER POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF WITHIN THE 

MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISIONS 

WHATSOEVER AND NEITHER THE FAITH OR CREDIT NOR THE TAXING 

POWER OF THE STATE, THE ISSUER OR OF ANY OTHER POLITICAL 

SUBDIVISION THEREOF IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL 

OF, PREMIUM, IF ANY, OR THE INTEREST ON THE SERIES 2023 BONDS; 

PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE CITY BOND CONSTITUTES A PLEDGE OF 

THE FULL FAITH, CREDIT AND TAXING POWER OF THE CITY.  THE SERIES 

2023 BONDS ARE NOT A GENERAL OBLIGATION OF THE ISSUER BUT ARE A 

LIMITED AND SPECIAL REVENUE OBLIGATION OF THE ISSUER PAYABLE 

SOLELY FROM THE TRUST ESTATE, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE 

AVAILS OF THE FULL FAITH, CREDIT AND TAXING POWER OF THE CITY 

DERIVED OR TO BE DERIVED FROM PAYMENTS MADE BY THE CITY IN 

RESPECT OF THE CITY BOND PURSUANT TO THE CITY BOND RESOLUTION 

AND FROM ANY MONEYS RECEIVED BY THE TRUSTEE UNDER THE 

INDENTURE.  THE ISSUER HAS NO TAXING POWER. 

This Bond is transferable by the Registered Owner hereof in person or by its attorney 

duly authorized in writing at the Principal Office of the Trustee, but only in the manner and 

subject to the limitations prescribed in the Indenture and upon surrender and cancellation of this 

Bond.  This Bond may be transferred without cost to the Registered Owner except for any tax or 

governmental charge required to be paid with respect to the transfer.  Upon such transfer, a new 

Bond of the same maturity for the same then outstanding principal amount will be issued to the 

transferee in exchange therefor. Nothing in the Indenture shall be construed as a limitation on the 

right of the Registered Owner or its assignees to sell or assign participation interest in this Bond. 

The Issuer and the Trustee may deem and treat the Registered Owner hereof as the 

absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment of or on account of principal hereof 

- 113 -

Item # 11.



 

 
20 

 

and the interest due hereon and for all other purposes and neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall 

be affected by any notice to the contrary. 

The Series 2023 Bonds are issuable as fully registered bonds in denominations of $5,000 

and any integral multiple thereof. Subject to the limitations and upon payment of any taxes or 

governmental charges, the Series 2023 Bonds may be exchanged for a like aggregate principal 

amount of Series 2023 Bonds of the same maturity of authorized denominations. 

Optional Redemption. 

In accordance with the Indenture and the City Bond Resolution, the Series 2023 Bonds 

(or any portions thereof in integral multiples of $5,000 each) maturing on or after March 1, 20__, 

are subject to redemption in whole or in part, in principal amounts and maturities selected by the 

Bank on any date on or after March 1, 20__, at par, plus accrued interest to the date of 

redemption.  Under the Indenture, selection of the Series 2023 Bonds to be redeemed within a 

maturity will be made by lot by the Trustee.  In accordance with DTC's standard practices and its 

agreement with the Bank, DTC and the DTC Participants will make this selection so long as the 

Bonds are in book-entry form. 

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. 

The Series 2023 Bonds are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption as follows: 

The Series 2023 Bonds maturing March 1, 20__ in the principal amount of $_____ are 

subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption, prior to their scheduled maturity on March 1 of 

the years listed below at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount redeemed plus 

accrued interest to the redemption date from amounts on deposit in the General Account of the 

General Fund in accordance with the following schedule: 

$___,000 Term Bonds 

Maturing __ 1, 20__ 

_.00% 

 

Year Principal Amount 

20 $,000 

20* ,000 

  

 * Final Maturity 

The Series 2023 Bonds maturing March 1, 20__ in the principal amount of $_____ are 

subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption, prior to their scheduled maturity on March 1 of 

the years listed below at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount redeemed plus 

accrued interest to the redemption date from amounts on deposit in the General Account of the 

General Fund in accordance with the following schedule: 

- 114 -

Item # 11.



 

 
21 

 

$___,000 Term Bonds 

Maturing __ 1, 20__ 

_.00% 

 

Year Principal Amount 

20 $,000 

20* ,000 

  

 * Final Maturity 

In the event less than all of the Series 2023 Bonds are to be redeemed, the principal 

amount and maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by the Bank, and the Trustee, in its sole 

discretion, shall select the Series 2023 Bonds to be redeemed by lot within a selected maturity, 

provided that Series 2023 Bonds shall be redeemed only in whole multiples of $5,000. 

In the event the Series 2023 Bonds are called for optional redemption as aforesaid, notice 

of the call thereof shall be given by the Trustee by mailing a copy of the redemption notice by 

first class mail, postage prepaid, at least thirty (30) days but not more than forty-five (45) days 

prior to the date fixed for redemption to the Registered Owner of the Series 2023 Bonds at the 

address shown on the registration records kept by the Trustee.  If applicable, any such notice may 

be conditioned upon the deposit of sufficient moneys to effect such redemption at or prior to the 

date fixed for redemption and if such moneys to effect such redemption are not deposited, the 

Series 2023 Bonds shall not be subject to redemption pursuant to such notice.  No call notices 

will be delivered in connection with any scheduled mandatory sinking fund redemption. 

All Series 2023 Bonds or any portion thereof (in the case of a mandatory sinking fund 

redemption) has been called for redemption, the principal amount redeemed will cease to bear 

interest on the specified redemption date, shall no longer be secured under the Indenture and 

shall not be deemed to be Outstanding under the provisions of the Indenture, provided funds for 

the redemption thereof are on deposit at the place of payment on or prior to the redemption date.  

The Registered Owner of this Bond shall have no right to enforce the provisions of the 

Indenture or to institute an action to enforce the covenants therein, or to take any action with 

respect to any event of default under the Indenture, or to institute, appear in or defend any suit or 

other proceeding with respect thereto, except as provided in the Indenture. In certain events, on 

the conditions, in the manner and with the effect set forth in the Indenture, the principal of all the 

Bonds issued under the Indenture and then outstanding may become or may be declared due and 

payable before the stated maturity thereof, together with interest accrued thereon. Modifications 

or alterations of the Indenture or of any supplements thereto, may be made to the extent 

permitted by, and in accordance with, the Indenture. 

The Issuer hereby certifies, recites and declares that all acts, conditions and things 

required by the constitution and statutes of the State, the Indenture, and resolutions of the Issuer 

to exist, to have happened and to be performed prior to the issuance of this Series 2023 Bond do 

- 115 -

Item # 11.



 

 
22 

 

exist, have happened and have been performed in due time, form and manner as required by the 

Act; that the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, together with all other obligations of the Issuer, 

does not exceed or violate any constitutional or statutory limitation applicable to the Issuer; and 

that the revenues pledged to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Series 2023 

Bonds, as the same become due, are designed to be sufficient in amount for that purpose. 

This Bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any 

security or benefit under the Indenture until the certificate of authentication hereon shall have 

been signed by the Trustee. 

Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in 

the Indenture. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Mississippi Development Bank has caused this Bond to 

be executed in its name and on its behalf by the manual or facsimile signature of its Executive 

Director and a manual or facsimile seal of its official seal to be hereunto impressed or imprinted 

hereon by any means and attested by the manual signature of its Secretary or Assistant Secretary. 

(SEAL) 

MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

 

By  _________________________________ 

          Executive Director 

ATTEST: 

 

By ____________________________ 

        Secretary 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This Series 2023 Bond is one of the Series 2023 Bond issued and delivered pursuant to 

the provisions of the within mentioned Indenture. 

THE PEOPLES BANK, as Trustee 

 

By  _________________________________ 

         Authorized Signatory 

Date of Authentication:  __, 2023 

VALIDATION CERTIFICATE 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI 

 

- 116 -

Item # 11.



 

 
23 

 

COUNTY OF HINDS 

The undersigned Secretary of the Mississippi Development Bank does hereby certify that 

the within Bond has been validated and confirmed by Decree of the Chancery Court of the First 

Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, rendered on the _____ day of _________, 2023. 

(SEAL) 

___________________________________ 

Secretary 

ASSIGNMENT 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
(please insert social security or other identifying number of assignee) 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
(please print or typewrite name and address of assignee) 

the within Bond and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints 

______________, Attorney, to transfer the within Bond on the records kept for registration 

thereof, with full power of substitution in the premises. 

 

Dated: ___________________________ 

 

 

 

[END OF SERIES 2023 BOND FORM] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 117 -

Item # 11.



 

 
24 

 

 

SECTION 2.07.  Book-Entry Only System.  The Series 2023 Bonds shall be initially 

issued in the form of a separate single fully registered Series 2023 Bond for each of the 

maturities thereof.  Upon initial issuance, the ownership of each such Series 2023 Bond shall be 

registered in the Bond Register in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, and except as 

provided in Section 2.8 hereof, all of the outstanding Series 2023 Bonds shall be registered in the 

Bond Register in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC. With respect to Series 2023 

Bonds registered in the Bond Register in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, the Bank 

and the Trustee shall have no responsibility or obligation to any participant for whom DTC is a 

security depository nominee ("DTC Participants") or to any person on behalf of whom such a 

DTC Participant holds an interest in the Series 2023 Bonds.  Without limiting the immediately 

preceding sentence, the Bank and the Trustee shall have no responsibility or obligation with 

respect to (a) the accuracy of the records of DTC, Cede & Co. or any DTC Participant with 

respect to any ownership interest in the Series 2023 Bonds, (b) the delivery to any DTC 

Participant or any other person, other than a Bondholder, as shown in the Bond Register, of any 

notice with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds, or (c) the payment to any DTC Participant or any 

other person, other than a Bondholder, as shown in the Bond Register, of any amount with 

respect to principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, the Series 2023 Bonds.  Notwithstanding 

any other provision of this Indenture to the contrary, the Bank, the Trustee and each paying 

agent, if any, shall be entitled to treat and consider the person in whose name each Series 2023 

Bond is registered in the Bond Register as the absolute owner of such Series 2023 Bond for the 

purpose of payment of principal, premium, if any, and interest with respect to such Series 2023 

Bond, for the purpose of giving notices and other matters with respect to such Series 2023 Bond, 

for the purpose of registering transfers with respect to such Series 2023 Bond, and for all other 

purposes whatsoever.  The Trustee and each paying agent, if any, shall pay all principal of, 

premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds only to or upon the order of the 

respective Bondholders, as shown in the Bond Register as provided in this Indenture, or their 

respective attorneys duly authorized in writing, and all such payments shall be valid and 

effective to fully satisfy and discharge the Bank's obligations with respect to payment of 

principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds to the extent of the sum or 

sums so paid.  No person other than a Bondholder, as shown in the Bond Register, shall receive a 

Series 2023 Bond certificate evidencing the obligation of the Bank to make payments of 

principal, premium, if any, and interest pursuant to this Indenture.  Upon delivery by DTC to the 

Trustee of written notice to the effect that DTC has determined to substitute a new nominee in 

place of Cede & Co., and subject to the provisions in this Indenture with respect to interest 

checks or drafts being mailed to the Registered Owner at the close of business on the Record 

Date, the words "Cede & Co." in this Indenture shall refer to such new nominees of DTC; and 

upon receipt of such a notice the Trustee shall promptly deliver a copy of the same to each 

paying agent, if any 

SECTION 2.08.  Successor Securities Depository; Transfers Outside Book-Entry 

Only System.  In the event that the Bank determines that DTC is incapable of discharging its 

responsibilities described herein and DTC's Blanket Letter of Representations or that it is in the 

best interest of the Beneficial Owners of the Series 2023 Bonds that they be able to obtain 

certificated Series 2023 Bonds, the Bank shall (a) appoint a successor securities depository, 

- 118 -

Item # 11.



 

 
25 

 

qualified to act as such under Section 17(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as 

amended, notify DTC and DTC Participants of the appointment of such successor securities 

depository and transfer one or more separate Series 2023 Bond certificates to such successor 

securities depository or (b) notify DTC and DTC Participants of the availability through DTC of 

Series 2023 Bond certificates and transfer one or more separate Series 2023 Bond certificates to 

DTC Participants having Series 2023 Bonds credited to their DTC accounts.  In such event, the 

Series 2023 Bonds shall no longer be restricted to being registered in the Bond Register in the 

name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, but may be registered in the name of the successor 

securities depository, or its nominee, or in whatever name or names Bondholders transferring or 

exchanging Series 2023 Bonds shall designate, in accordance with the provisions of this 

Indenture. 

SECTION 2.09.  Payments. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture to the 

contrary, so long as any of the Series 2023 Bonds are registered in the name of Cede & Co., as 

nominee of DTC, all payments with respect to the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on 

such Series 2023 Bond and all notices with respect to such Series 2023 Bond shall be made and 

given, respectively, in the manner provided in DTC's Blanket Letter of Representations.  The 

Trustee shall request in each notice sent to Cede & Co. pursuant to the terms of this Indenture 

that Cede & Co. forward or cause to be forwarded such notice to the DTC Participants. 

 

- 119 -

Item # 11.



 

 
26 

 

ARTICLE III. 

 

GENERAL TERMS AND PROVISIONS OF BONDS 

SECTION 3.01.  Medium, Form and Place of Payment. The Bonds shall be payable, 

with respect to interest, principal, and Redemption Price in any coin or currency of the United 

States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and 

private debts. Interest shall be payable by check mailed on the Interest Payment Date to the 

Registered Owners as of the Record Date.  The Issuer may provide for the payment of interest on 

Bonds to holders of $100,000 or more in aggregate principal amount of Bonds at the written 

direction of such holders delivered to the Trustee at least one Business Day prior to the Record 

Date by wire transfer or by deposit into the account of the Registered Owner if such account is 

maintained by the Trustee.  Principal shall be payable at the Principal Office of the Trustee upon 

presentation of the Bonds to be paid. No presentation or surrender shall be required for any 

mandatory sinking fund redemption or partial optional redemption of the Bonds. 

SECTION 3.02.  Legends. The Bonds may contain or have endorsed thereon such 

provisions, specifications and descriptive words not inconsistent with the provisions of this 

Indenture as may be necessary or desirable to comply with custom, as determined by the Issuer 

prior to the delivery thereof. 

SECTION 3.03.  Execution. The Bonds shall be executed on behalf of the Issuer with 

the manual or facsimile signature of its Executive Director, President or Vice President and shall 

have impressed or imprinted thereon, by facsimile or otherwise, the official seal of the Issuer, 

which seal shall be attested by the manual or facsimile signature of the Secretary or Assistant 

Secretary of the Issuer.  In case any officer of the Issuer whose signature or whose facsimile 

signature shall appear on the Bonds shall cease to be such officer before the delivery of such 

Bonds, such signature or facsimile signature shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all 

purposes, the same as if such officer had remained in office until delivery. Any Bond may be 

executed and attested on behalf of the Issuer by such officer as at the time of the execution of 

such Bonds shall be duly authorized or hold the proper office of the Issuer although at the date 

borne by the Bonds or at the date of delivery of the Bonds such officer may not have been so 

authorized or have held such office. 

SECTION 3.04.  Authentication. No Bond shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose 

or entitled to any security or benefit under this Indenture unless and until a certificate of 

authentication on such Bond shall have been duly executed by the Trustee, and such executed 

certificate of the Trustee upon any such Bond shall be conclusive evidence that such Bond has 

been authenticated and delivered under this Indenture. 

The Trustee's certificate of authentication on any Bond shall be deemed to have been 

executed by the Trustee it if signed by an authorized representative or signatory of the Trustee, 

but it shall not be necessary that the same representative or signatory sign the certificate of 

authentication on all of the Bonds. The signature of the authorized representative or signatory of 

the Trustee shall be manual. 

SECTION 3.05.  Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bonds. If any Bond is 

mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the Issuer shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate a 

- 120 -

Item # 11.



 

 
27 

 

new Bond or Bonds of the same maturity and denomination, as that mutilated, lost, stolen or 

destroyed; provided that in the case of any mutilated Bond, it shall first be surrendered to the 

Trustee, and in the case of any lost, stolen or destroyed Bond, there shall be first furnished to the 

Trustee evidence of such loss, theft or destruction satisfactory to the Trustee, together with 

security and/or indemnity satisfactory to it.  In the event any such Bond shall have matured or 

been called for redemption instead of issuing and authenticating a duplicate Bond, the Trustee 

may pay the same without surrender thereof, provided, however, that in the case of a lost, stolen 

or destroyed Bond, there shall be first furnished to the Trustee evidence of such loss, theft or 

destruction satisfactory to the Trustee together with security and/or indemnity satisfactory to it.  

The Trustee may charge the owner of such Bond its reasonable fees and expenses in connection 

with replacing any Bond mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed.  Any Bond issued pursuant to this 

Section 3.05 shall be deemed part of the original series of the Bonds in respect of which it was 

issued and a contractual obligation of the Issuer replacing the obligation evidenced by such 

mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed Bond. 

SECTION 3.06.  Registration, Transfer and Exchange of Bonds; Persons Treated as 

Owners. The Issuer shall cause records for the registration and for the transfer of the Bonds to be 

kept by the Trustee at its Principal Office, and the Trustee is hereby constituted and appointed 

the bond registrar of the Issuer for the Bonds.  At reasonable times and under reasonable 

regulations established by the Trustee, said records may be inspected and prepared by the Issuer 

or by Registered Owners (or a designated representative thereof) of five percent (5%) or more in 

aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding. 

Upon surrender for transfer of any Bond at the Principal Office of the Trustee, duly 

endorsed by, or accompanied by a written instrument or instruments of transfer in form 

satisfactory to the Trustee and duly executed by the Registered Owner or such Registered 

Owner’s attorney duly authorized in writing, the Issuer shall execute and the Trustee shall 

authenticate and deliver in the name of the transferee or transferees a new Bond or Bonds of the 

same maturity for a like aggregate principal amount.  The Bonds may be transferred or 

exchanged without cost to the Bondholders except for any tax or governmental charge required 

to be paid with respect to the transfer or exchange.   

The Trustee shall not be required to (a) register, transfer or exchange any Bond during a 

period of fifteen (15) days next preceding mailing of a notice of redemption of any Bond, or (b) 

to register, transfer or exchange any Bond selected, called or being called for redemption in 

whole or in part after mailing notice of such call has been made. 

The person in whose name a registered Bond shall be registered shall be deemed and 

regarded as the absolute owner thereof for all purposes, and payment of principal, premium, if 

any, and interest thereon, shall be made only to or upon the order of the Registered Owner 

thereof or such Registered Owner’s legal representative, but such registration may be changed as 

hereinabove provided.  All such payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge 

the liability upon such Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. 

All Bonds delivered upon any transfer or exchange shall be valid obligations of the 

Issuer, evidencing the same debt as the Bonds surrendered, shall be secured by this Indenture and 

- 121 -

Item # 11.



 

 
28 

 

shall be entitled to all of the security and benefits hereof to the same extent as the Bond 

surrendered. 

SECTION 3.07.  Destruction of Bonds. Whenever any Outstanding Bond shall be 

delivered to the Trustee for cancellation pursuant to this Indenture or upon payment of the 

principal, premium, if any, or interest represented thereby or for replacement pursuant to Section 

3.05 hereof, such Bond shall be canceled and destroyed by the Trustee and a counterpart of a 

certificate of destruction evidencing such destruction shall be furnished by the Trustee to the 

Issuer. 

SECTION 3.08.  Nonpresentment of Bonds. In the event any Bond shall not be 

presented for payment (if required in this Indenture) when the principal thereof comes due, either 

at maturity or at the date fixed for redemption thereof, or otherwise, if funds sufficient to pay 

such Bond shall have been made available to the Trustee for the benefit of the owner thereof, all 

liability of the Issuer to the owner thereof for the payment of such Bond shall forthwith cease, 

terminate and be completely discharged, and thereupon it shall be the duty of the Trustee to hold 

such funds for four (4) years, for the benefit of the owner of such Bond, without liability for 

interest thereon to such owner, who shall thereafter be restricted exclusively to such funds, for 

any claim of whatever nature on his part under this Indenture or on, or with respect to, said 

Bond. 

Any money so deposited with and held by the Trustee not so applied to the payment of 

Bonds within four (4) years after the date on which the same shall become due shall be repaid by 

the Trustee to the Issuer and thereafter the Bondholders shall be entitled to look only to the 

Issuer for payment, and then only to the extent of the amount so repaid, and the Issuer shall not 

be liable for any interest thereon to the Bondholders and shall not be regarded as a trustee of such 

money. 

SECTION 3.09.  Other Obligations Payable from Revenues. The Issuer shall grant no 

liens or encumbrances on or security interests in the Trust Estate (other than those created by this 

Indenture), and, except for the Bonds, shall issue no bonds or other evidences of indebtedness 

payable from the Trust Estate. 

SECTION 3.10.  Temporary Bonds. Until the definitive Bonds are ready for delivery, 

the Issuer may execute, in the same manner as is provided in Section 3.03, and, upon the request 

of the Issuer, the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver, one or more temporary Bonds, which 

shall be fully registered.  Such temporary Bonds shall be subject to the same provisions, 

limitations and conditions as the definitive Bonds and shall be substantially of the tenor of the 

definitive Bonds in lieu of which such temporary Bond or Bonds are issued, in the denomination 

of $5,000 or any integral multiples thereof authorized by the Bank, and with such omissions, 

insertions and variations as may be appropriate to temporary Bonds. The Issuer at its own 

expense shall prepare and execute and, upon the surrender of such temporary Bonds, shall 

deliver in exchange therefor definitive Bonds of the same aggregate principal amount and 

maturity as the temporary Bonds surrendered. Until so exchanged, the temporary Bonds shall in 

all respects be entitled to the same benefits and security as definitive Bonds issued pursuant to 

this Indenture. 

- 122 -

Item # 11.



 

 
29 

 

If the Issuer shall authorize the issuance of temporary Bonds in more than one 

denomination, the owner of any temporary Bond or Bonds may, at such owner’s option, 

surrender the same to the Trustee in exchange for another temporary Bond or Bonds of like 

aggregate principal amount and maturity of any other authorized denomination or 

denominations, and thereupon the Issuer shall execute and the Trustee, in exchange for the 

temporary Bond or Bonds so surrendered and upon payment of the taxes and charges provided 

for in Section 3.06, shall authenticate and deliver a temporary Bond or Bonds of like aggregate 

principal amount and maturity in such other authorized denomination or denominations as shall 

be requested by such owner.  All temporary Bonds surrendered in exchange for either another 

temporary Bond or Bonds or a definitive Bond or Bonds shall be forthwith canceled by the 

Trustee. 

SECTION 3.11.  Limitations on Obligations of the Issuer. The Series 2023 Bonds, 

together with interest thereon, shall be limited obligations of the Issuer but payable solely from 

Revenues and shall be a valid claim of the respective owners thereof only against the Funds and 

Accounts, other than the Rebate Fund and any Accounts created thereunder, established 

hereunder and the City Bond acquired by the Trustee, all of which are hereby assigned and 

pledged hereunder for the equal and ratable payment of the Series 2023 Bonds and shall be used 

for no other purpose than the payment of the Series 2023 Bonds, except as may be otherwise 

expressly authorized in this Indenture. The Series 2023 Bonds do not constitute a debt or liability 

or moral obligation of the State or of any political subdivision thereof under the constitution of 

the State or a pledge of the faith and credit or taxing power of the State or any political 

subdivision thereof, but shall be payable solely from the Revenues and funds pledged therefor in 

accordance with this Indenture including, without limitation, the avails of the full faith, credit 

and taxing power of the City derived or to be derived from City Bond Payments made in respect 

of the City Bond pursuant to the City Bond Resolution.  The issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds 

under the provisions of the Act does not directly, indirectly or contingently, obligate the State or 

any political subdivision thereof to levy any form of taxation for the payment thereof or to make 

any appropriation for their payment and such Series 2023 Bonds and the interest payable thereon 

do not now and shall never constitute a debt of the State or any political subdivision thereof 

within the meaning of the constitution of the State or the statutes of the State and do not now and 

shall never constitute a charge against the credit or taxing power of the State or any political 

subdivision thereof; provided, however, that the City Bond is a general obligation of the City.  

Neither the State nor any agent, attorney, member or employee of the State or of the Issuer, shall 

in any event be liable for the payment of the principal of, and premium, if any, or interest on the 

Series 2023 Bonds or damages, if any, for the nonperformance of any pledge, mortgage, 

obligation or agreement of any kind whatsoever which may be undertaken by the Issuer.  No 

breach by the Issuer of any such pledge, mortgage, obligation or agreement may impose any 

liability, pecuniary or otherwise, upon the State or any of the State's or the Issuer's agents, 

members, attorneys, and employees or any charge upon the general credit of the State or a charge 

against the taxing power of the State or any political subdivision thereof.   

SECTION 3.12.  Immunity of Officers and Directors. No recourse shall be had for the 

payment of the Bonds or for any claim based thereon or upon any obligation, covenant or 

agreement in this Indenture contained against any past, present or future officer, member, 

director, agent or employee of the Issuer or any officer, member, director, trustee, agent or 

- 123 -

Item # 11.



 

 
30 

 

employee of any successor entities thereto, as such, either directly or through the Issuer or any 

successor entities, under any rule of law or equity, statute or constitution or by the enforcement 

of any assessment or penalty or otherwise, and all such liability of any such officers, members, 

directors, trustees, agents, or employees as such, is hereby expressly waived and released as a 

condition of and consideration for the execution of this Indenture and issuance of such Bonds. 

- 124 -

Item # 11.



 

 
31 

 

ARTICLE IV. 

 

REDEMPTION OF SERIES 2023 BONDS PRIOR TO MATURITY 

SECTION 4.01.  Redemption and Redemption Prices and Terms for Series 2023 

Bonds.  

In accordance with Section 11(c) of the City Bond Resolution, the Issuer agrees to accept 

redemption and redeem the Series 2023 Bonds prior to their respective maturities in the 

following instances:  

(a) Optional Redemption.  The Series 2023 Bonds (or any portions thereof in integral 

multiples of $5,000 each) maturing on or after March 1, 20__, are subject to redemption in whole 

or in part, in principal amounts and maturities selected by the Bank on any date on or after 

March 1, 20__, at par, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.  Under the Indenture, 

selection of the Series 2023 Bonds to be redeemed within a maturity will be made by lot by the 

Trustee.  In accordance with DTC's standard practices and its agreement with the Bank, DTC and 

the DTC Participants will make this selection so long as the Bonds are in book-entry form. 

(b) Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. 

The Series 2023 Bonds maturing March 1, 20__ in the principal amount of $_____ are 

subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption, prior to their scheduled maturity on March 1 of 

the years listed below at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount redeemed plus 

accrued interest to the redemption date from amounts on deposit in the General Account of the 

General Fund in accordance with the following schedule: 

 

Year Principal Amount 

  

  

  

 * Final Maturity 

 

 The Series 2023 Bonds maturing March 1, 20__ in the principal amount of $_____ are 

subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption, prior to their scheduled maturity on March 1 of 

the years listed below at a redemption price of 100% of the principal amount redeemed plus 

accrued interest to the redemption date from amounts on deposit in the General Account of the 

General Fund in accordance with the following schedule: 

Year Principal Amount 

  

  

  

* Final Maturity 

- 125 -

Item # 11.



 

 
32 

 

 

SECTION 4.02.  Redemption at the Election or Direction of the Issuer. In the case of 

the optional redemption of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Issuer shall give written notice to the 

Trustee of its direction so to redeem, of the redemption date, of the principal amount of the 

Series 2023 Bonds to be redeemed (which maturities and principal amounts, including 

mandatory sinking fund redemption amounts, thereof to be redeemed shall be determined and 

selected by the Issuer at the direction of the City, subject to any limitations with respect thereto 

contained in the Act or this Indenture) and of the monies to be applied to the payment of the 

Redemption Price. Such notice shall be given at least thirty (30) but not more than forty-five (45) 

days prior to the redemption date or such shorter period as shall be acceptable to the Trustee and 

the Registered Owner of the Series 2023 Bonds and may be conditioned upon receipt of 

sufficient funds to redeem the Series 2023 Bonds called for redemption on the redemption date. 

The Issuer shall pay to the Trustee an amount in cash which, in addition to other monies, if any, 

available therefor and held by the Trustee, will be sufficient to redeem, on the redemption date at 

the Redemption Price thereof together with interest accrued to the redemption date, all of the 

Series 2023 Bonds to be redeemed. If the Series 2023 Bond or any portion thereof (in the case of 

a mandatory sinking fund redemption) has been called for redemption, the principal amount 

redeemed will cease to bear interest on the specified redemption date, shall no longer be secured 

hereunder and shall not be deemed to be Outstanding hereunder, provided funds for the 

redemption thereof are on deposit at the place of payment on or prior to the redemption date. 

Notice of mandatory sinking fund redemption is not required. 

SECTION 4.03.  Selection of Series 2023 Bonds to be Redeemed. 

If less than all of the Series 2023 Bonds are to be redeemed, the Series 2023 Bonds shall 

be redeemed only in whole multiples of $5,000.  For purposes of redemption, each $5,000 of 

principal shall be considered as a Series 2023 Bond.  If less than all of the Series 2023 Bonds 

shall be called for redemption, the principal amount and maturity of the Series 2023 Bonds to be 

redeemed shall be selected by the Bank and the Trustee shall select the particular Series 2023 

Bonds to be redeemed by lot within a maturity in such manner as the Trustee may determine. 

SECTION 4.04.  Redemption Payments. The Trustee is hereby authorized and directed 

to apply funds deposited with the Trustee by the Issuer in an amount sufficient to pay the 

Redemption Price of the Series 2023 Bonds or portions thereof called for redemption, together 

with accrued interest thereon to the redemption date. If proper notice of optional redemption by 

mailing has been given as provided in Section 4.05 hereof and sufficient funds for redemption 

shall be on deposit with the Trustee as aforesaid, interest on the Series 2023 Bonds or portions 

thereof thus called shall no longer accrue after the date fixed for redemption. No payment shall 

be made by the Trustee upon the Series 2023 Bond or portion thereof called for redemption until 

the Series 2023 Bond or portion thereof shall have been delivered for payment or cancellation or 

the Trustee shall have received the items required by Section 3.05 hereof with respect to any 

mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed Series 2023 Bond. 

SECTION 4.05.  Notice of Redemption. Notice of the call for any optional redemption, 

identifying the portion of the Series 2023 Bonds to be redeemed (which may be a conditional 

notice of redemption), shall be given by the Trustee by mailing a copy of the redemption notice 

- 126 -

Item # 11.



 

 
33 

 

by registered or certified mail at least thirty (30) days (or such shorter period agreed to by the 

Registered Owner) but not more than forty-five (45) days prior to the date fixed for redemption 

to the Registered Owner of the Series 2023 Bond to be redeemed at the address shown on the 

Bond Register. No notice of redemption shall be required to be given in connection with 

mandatory sinking fund redemptions of Bonds. 

SECTION 4.06.  Cancellation. All Series 2023 Bonds which have been redeemed shall 

not be reissued but shall be canceled and destroyed by the Trustee in accordance with Section 

3.07 hereof. 

- 127 -

Item # 11.



 

 
34 

 

ARTICLE V. 

 

GENERAL COVENANTS 

SECTION 5.01.  Payment of Debt Service. The Issuer covenants and agrees that it will 

promptly pay the principal of, Redemption Price and interest on every Bond issued under this 

Indenture at the place, on the dates and in the manner provided herein and in said Bonds 

according to the true intent and meaning thereof, provided that the principal, Redemption Price 

and interest are payable by the Issuer solely from Revenues and any other funds or assets 

constituting the Trust Estate herein pledged to the Trustee as security by the Issuer to the extent 

of that pledge. 

SECTION 5.02.  Performance of Covenants. The Issuer covenants and agrees that it 

will faithfully perform at all times any and all covenants, undertakings, stipulations and 

provisions contained in this Indenture, and every Bond executed, authenticated and delivered 

hereunder and in all of its proceedings pertaining thereto. The Issuer covenants and agrees that it 

is duly authorized under the constitution and laws of the State, including particularly the Act, to 

issue the Bonds authorized hereby and to execute this Indenture and to pledge the Revenues and 

all other property hereby pledged in the manner and to the extent herein set forth, that all action 

on its part for the issuance of the Bonds and the execution and delivery of this Indenture has been 

duly and effectively taken, and that the Bonds in the possession of the owners thereof are and 

will be valid and enforceable limited obligations of the Issuer according to the terms thereof and 

hereof. 

SECTION 5.03.  Instruments of Further Assurance. The Issuer covenants and agrees 

that the Trustee may defend its rights to the payment of the Revenues for the benefit of the 

Registered Owner of the Bonds against the claims and demands of all persons whomsoever.  The 

Issuer covenants and agrees that it will do, execute, acknowledge and deliver, or cause to be 

done, executed, acknowledged and delivered, such indentures supplemental hereto and such 

further acts, instruments and transfers as the Trustee may reasonably require for the better 

assuring, transferring, pledging, assigning and confirming unto the Trustee all and singular the 

rights assigned hereby and the amounts and other property pledged hereby to the payment of the 

principal of and interest on the Bonds. 

SECTION 5.04.  Covenants Concerning Program.   

(a) In order to provide for the payment of the principal, Redemption Price and 

interest on the Series 2023 Bonds and Program Expenses, the Issuer shall from time to time, with 

all practical dispatch and in a sound and economical manner consistent in all respects with the 

Act, the provisions of this Indenture and sound banking practices and principles, to the extent 

necessary to provide for the payment of the Series 2023 Bonds (i) do all such acts and things as 

shall be necessary to receive and collect Revenues (including enforcement of the prompt 

collection of all arrears on the City Bond), and (ii) diligently enforce, and take all steps, actions 

and proceedings reasonably necessary in the judgment of the Issuer to protect its rights with 

respect to the City Bond and to enforce all terms, covenants and conditions of the City Bond 

including the collection, custody and prompt application of all City Bond Payments and deposits 

required by the terms of the City Bond for the purposes for which they were made. 

- 128 -

Item # 11.



 

 
35 

 

(b) Whenever necessary in order to provide for the payment of debt service on the 

Series 2023 Bonds, the Issuer shall commence appropriate remedies with respect to the 

occurrence of any event of default in connection with the City Bond or any other bonds or 

obligations issued by the City pursuant to a resolution of the City and as authorized by a 

supplemental bond resolution. 

SECTION 5.05.  Possession and Inspection of City Bond. The Trustee covenants and 

agrees to retain or cause its agent to retain possession of the City Bond and a copy of the 

transcript or documents related thereto and release them only in accordance with the provisions 

of this Indenture.  The Issuer and the Trustee covenant and agree that all records and documents 

in their possession relating to the City Bond shall at all times be open to inspection by such 

accountants or other agencies or persons as the Issuer or the Trustee may from time to time 

designate. 

SECTION 5.06.  Accounts and Reports. The Issuer covenants and agrees to keep 

proper records and accounts (separate from all other records and accounts) in which complete 

and correct entries shall be made of its transactions relating to the Program in regard to the 

Bonds, the City Bond and the Funds and Accounts.  Such records, and all other records and 

papers of the Issuer, and such Funds and Accounts shall at all reasonable times be subject to the 

inspection of the Trustee and the Registered Owners of an aggregate of not less than five percent 

(5%) in principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds then Outstanding or their representatives duly 

authorized in writing. 

The Trustee covenants and agrees, if requested, to provide to the Issuer prior to the 

twentieth (20th) day of the month following the end of each six-month period, commencing with 

the period ending September 1, 2024, a statement of the amount on deposit in each Fund and 

Account as of the first day of that month and of the total deposits to and withdrawals from each 

Fund and Account during the preceding six-month period. 

The reports, statements and other documents required to be furnished to or by the Trustee 

pursuant to any provision of this Indenture shall be provided to the Registered Owners of an 

aggregate of not less than five percent (5%) in principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds then 

Outstanding who file or have filed a written request therefor with the Trustee with any such costs 

of such documents to be paid by the Registered Owner. 

SECTION 5.07.  Issuer Covenants with Respect to the City Bond. 

(a) The Issuer covenants and agrees that it will not permit or agree to any material 

change in the City Bond. 

(b) The Issuer covenants and agrees that it will enforce or authorize the enforcement 

of all remedies available to the owner or holder of the City Bond; provided, however, that 

decisions as to the enforcement of remedies shall be within the sole discretion of the Trustee as 

set forth in Article X hereof.  

(c) The Issuer covenants and agrees that it will not sell or dispose of the City Bond. 

- 129 -

Item # 11.



 

 
36 

 

SECTION 5.08.  Monitoring Investments. The Issuer covenants and agrees to regularly 

review the investments held by the Trustee in the Funds and Accounts for the purpose of 

assuring that the Revenues derived from such investments are sufficient to provide, with other 

anticipated Revenues, the debt service on Outstanding Bonds. 

SECTION 5.09.  Covenants Concerning Preservation of Tax Exemption. The Issuer 

hereby covenants and agrees to take all qualifying actions and shall take any qualifying actions 

that are necessary in order to protect and preserve the exclusion from gross income for federal 

income tax purposes of the interest on the Series 2023 Bonds.  For this purpose, the Issuer shall 

approve and deliver to the Trustee a certificate concerning the provisions of the Code necessary 

to protect and preserve such exclusion. Such certificate may only be amended from time to time 

upon the receipt by the Trustee of an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that compliance by 

the Issuer with the certificate will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the Series 

2023 Bonds from gross income of the Registered Owner thereof for federal income tax purposes. 

- 130 -

Item # 11.



 

 
37 

 

ARTICLE VI. 

 

REVENUES AND FUNDS 

SECTION 6.01.  Source of Payment of Bonds.  The Bonds and all payments by the 

Issuer hereunder are limited obligations of the Issuer payable solely out of the Trust Estate as 

authorized by the constitution and statutes of the State, including particularly the Act and this 

Indenture, as provided herein. 

SECTION 6.02.  Creation of Funds.  There are hereby created by the Issuer and 

ordered established the General Fund and the Rebate Fund to be held by the Trustee.  There are 

hereby created and established in the General Fund a “General Account,” a “Bond Issuance 

Expense Account,” a “Redemption Account” and a “Purchase Account.”  The Trustee is 

authorized to establish and maintain hereunder such additional Funds, Accounts or subaccounts 

from time to time to the extent that in the judgment of the Trustee the establishment of such 

Fund, Account or subaccount is not to the material prejudice of the Trustee or the Bondholders. 

SECTION 6.03.  Deposit of Net Proceeds of Bonds. The Trustee shall deposit the 

proceeds from the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds in the manner provided in Section 2.02 hereof. 

(b) The Trustee shall deposit the proceeds of any Refunding Bonds in the manner 

provided in the Supplemental Indenture authorizing the issuance thereof. 

SECTION 6.04.  Deposit of Revenues and Other Receipts. Upon receipt of any 

Revenues or other receipts (except the proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds and moneys received 

upon sale or redemption prior to maturity of the City Bond), the Trustee shall deposit such 

amounts into the General Account of the General Fund. 

SECTION 6.05.  Operation of General Account. The Trustee shall deposit in the 

General Account of the General Fund all amounts received for payment of principal and interest 

on the Series 2023 Bonds and required to be deposited therein pursuant to the provisions of this 

Article VI. 

The Trustee shall invest funds in the General Account in accordance with Article VIII 

hereof and shall make the following payments from the General Account on the specified dates 

and, if there are not sufficient funds to make all the payments required, with the following order 

of priority: 

(a) On or before each Interest Payment Date, to the Registered Owners such amount 

(including Investment Securities held by the Trustee maturing or callable on or before the 

Interest Payment Date) as shall be necessary to pay the principal and interest coming due on the 

Series 2023 Bonds on such Interest Payment Date; 

(b) At such times as shall be necessary, to pay Program Expenses; 

- 131 -

Item # 11.



 

 
38 

 

(c) On or before thirty (30) days after each anniversary of the issuance of the Series 

2023 Bonds, the amounts, if any, to be transferred to the Rebate Fund as provided in the 

Arbitrage Rebate Agreement; and 

(d) After making such payments in paragraphs (a) through (c) above, the Trustee 

shall make a determination of the amounts reasonably expected to be received in the form of 

cash in the succeeding twelve (12) months and shall transfer all moneys in the General Account 

which, together with such expected receipts for the succeeding twelve (12) months are in excess 

of the amounts needed to pay principal and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds within the 

immediately succeeding twelve month period, to the City at the request of the City with the prior 

written approval of the Issuer. 

SECTION 6.06.  Operation of the Redemption Account. The Trustee shall deposit in 

the Redemption Account all monies received upon the sale or redemption prior to maturity of the 

City Bond and all other monies required to be deposited therein pursuant to the provisions of 

Article IV and Article VI hereof, shall invest such funds pursuant to Article VIII hereof and shall 

disburse the funds held in the Redemption Account to redeem Series 2023 Bonds.  Such 

redemption shall be made pursuant to a redemption under the provisions of Article IV hereof. 

SECTION 6.07.  Operation of the Purchase Account. The Trustee shall deposit in the  

Purchase Account all moneys required to be deposited therein pursuant to the provisions of 

Section 2.02 and Article VI hereof, shall invest such funds pursuant to Article VIII hereof, and 

shall disburse the funds held in the Purchase Account to purchase the City Bond in accordance 

with the procedures established by the Issuer as set forth in Article VII hereof upon the 

submission of a written requisition of the Issuer signed by an Authorized Officer stating that all 

requirements with respect to such financing set forth in this Indenture have been or will be 

complied with.  Upon purchase of the City Bond, the Trustee will transmit such funds to the City 

as provided in Section 7.02 hereof.  Upon receipt of such funds, the City will provide for the 

deposit thereof in the 2023 Construction Fund of the City established under the City Bond 

Resolution, which fund will be used by the City to finance the City Project.  Any amounts 

remaining in the Purchase Account after the purchase of the City Bond shall be transferred to the 

General Account. 

SECTION 6.08.  Operation of Bond Issuance Expense Account. The Trustee shall 

deposit in the Bond Issuance Expense Account the moneys required to be deposited therein 

pursuant to Section 2.02 of this Indenture, shall invest such funds pursuant to Article VIII hereof 

and shall disburse the funds held in the Bond Issuance Expense Account as follows: 

(a) Upon receipt of acceptable invoices and the written authorization of an officer of 

the City and an Authorized Officer, to pay the Costs of Issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds and 

the City Bond or to reimburse the Issuer or the City for amounts previously advanced for such 

costs; and 

(b) On the date that is sixty (60) days after the date of issuance of the Series 2023 

Bonds, any funds remaining in the Bond Issuance Expense Account shall be transferred to the 

General Account. 

- 132 -

Item # 11.



 

 
39 

 

SECTION 6.09.  Operation of the Rebate Fund. 

(a) The Trustee is authorized to establish and maintain, so long as any Series 2023 

Bonds are Outstanding and are subject to a requirement that arbitrage profits be rebated to the 

United States of America, a separate fund to be known as the “Rebate Fund.”  The Trustee shall 

make information regarding the Series 2023 Bonds and investments hereunder available to the 

Issuer and shall make deposits and disbursements from the Rebate Fund in accordance with the 

Arbitrage Rebate Agreement and Section 8.02 hereof, shall invest the Rebate Fund as directed by 

the Issuer and shall deposit income from such investments immediately upon receipt thereof in 

the Rebate Fund.  Anything in this Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the provisions of 

this Section may be superseded or amended by an amended Arbitrage Rebate Agreement and 

accompanied by an Opinion of Bond Counsel addressed to the Trustee to the effect that the 

provisions of the amended Arbitrage Rebate Agreement will not adversely affect the exclusion 

from gross income for federal income tax purposes of the interest on the Series 2023 Bonds. 

(b) If a deposit to the Rebate Fund is required as a result of the computations made by 

or on behalf of the Issuer pursuant to the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement, the Trustee shall, upon 

receipt of direction from the Issuer, accept such payment for the benefit of the Issuer and make 

transfers of moneys from the General Account or otherwise to the Rebate Fund to comply with 

such direction. If amounts in excess of that required to be rebated to the United States of 

America accumulate in the Rebate Fund, the Trustee shall, upon direction from the Issuer, 

transfer such amount to the General Account.  Records of the determinations required by this 

Section and the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement and the investment instructions must be retained by 

the Trustee until six (6) years after the Series 2023 Bonds are no longer Outstanding. 

(c) Not later than sixty (60) days following March _, 2028, and every five (5) years 

thereafter, the Trustee shall, upon written request of the Issuer in accordance with the Arbitrage 

Rebate Agreement, pay to the United States of America one hundred percent (100%) of the 

amount required to be on deposit in the Rebate Fund as of such payment date provided that 

direction from the Issuer for transfer of such amount to the Rebate Fund has been previously 

received by the Trustee pursuant to the provisions of Section 6.09(b), and further provided that 

funds were available in the General Account to fund one hundred percent (100%) of the amount 

required to be on deposit in the Rebate Fund as of such payment date.  Not later than sixty (60) 

days after the final retirement of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Trustee shall upon written request of 

the Issuer, pay to the United States of America one hundred percent (100%) of the amount owing 

to the United States of America.  Each payment required to be paid to the United States of 

America pursuant to this Section shall be filed with the Internal Revenue Service Center, Ogden, 

Utah 84201.  Each payment shall be accompanied by a copy of the Form 8038-G originally filed 

with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds and a statement of the Issuer summarizing the 

determination of the amount to be paid to the United States of America. 

SECTION 6.10.  Moneys to be Held in Trust. All moneys required to be deposited with 

or paid to the Trustee for the account of any Fund or Account established under any provision of 

this Indenture shall be held by the Trustee in trust and applied in accordance with the provisions 

of this Indenture, except for moneys held pursuant to the Rebate Fund and any Accounts created 

thereunder and except for moneys deposited with or paid to the Trustee for the redemption of 

- 133 -

Item # 11.



 

 
40 

 

Bonds, notice of the redemption of which has been duly given, and shall, while held by the 

Trustee, constitute part of the Trust Estate and be subject to the security interest created hereby 

and shall not be subject to any lien or attachment by any creditor of the Issuer. 

SECTION 6.11.  Amounts Remaining in Funds or Accounts. Any amounts remaining 

in any Fund or Account after full payment of the Bonds and the fees, charges (including any 

required rebate to the United States of America) and expenses of the Trustee and all other 

amounts due and owing hereunder shall be distributed to the City, except for any moneys owing 

to the Issuer which shall be paid to such party and except as provided in Section 3.08 hereof. 

SECTION 6.12.  Certain Verifications. The Issuer and/or the Trustee from time to time 

may cause a firm of independent certified public accountants of national standing or other 

nationally recognized experts to supply the Issuer and the Trustee with such information as the 

Issuer or the Trustee may request in order to determine in a manner reasonably satisfactory to the 

Issuer and the Trustee all matters relating to (a) the sufficiency of projected cash flow receipts 

and disbursements with respect to the Funds and Accounts to pay the principal of and interest on 

the Bonds and Program Expenses; (b) the actuarial yields on the Outstanding Bonds as the same 

may relate to any data or conclusions necessary to verify that the Bonds are not arbitrage bonds 

within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code; (c) the yields on any obligations acquired and 

held by the Issuer and/or the Trustee; and (d) the rebate calculation required by Section 6.09 

hereof. The Issuer and/or the Trustee from time to time may also obtain an Opinion of Bond 

Counsel concerning post-issuance compliance with any federal legislation applicable to the 

Bonds.  The fees of such independent certified public accountants and Bond Counsel shall 

constitute reimbursable Program Expenses to be paid by the City. 

- 134 -

Item # 11.



 

 
41 

 

ARTICLE VII. 

 

PURCHASE OF CITY BOND 

SECTION 7.01.  Terms and Conditions of Purchase. The City Bond purchased by the 

Issuer shall be purchased on the terms and conditions of, and upon submission of the documents 

required by this Article VII. 

SECTION 7.02.  Purchase. The Trustee shall pay the purchase price of the City Bond 

upon receipt by the Trustee of: 

(a) a written requisition of the Issuer signed by an Authorized Officer stating to 

whom payment from the Purchase Account is to be made for and on behalf of the City and the 

amount to be paid; 

(b) a certificate signed by an Authorized Officer attached to the requisition and 

certifying that the City, pursuant to the City Bond Purchase Agreement, has sold or will sell the 

City Bond to the Issuer and is obligated to make City Bond Payments and to pay all fees and 

charges required to be paid to the Issuer under the City Bond Resolution, and that, to the 

knowledge of such officer, the City is not in default under the payment terms or other material 

terms or provisions of any other obligations of the City; 

(c) a certified transcript of proceedings authorizing the issuance, execution and 

delivery of the City Bond, which transcript shall contain the certifications required by the Act 

and such other certifications and representations which are reasonable and appropriate as 

determined by the Issuer or the Trustee; 

(d) the opinions of Counsel for the City, which may be Bond Counsel, in form 

satisfactory to the Issuer stating that the City Bond constitutes a valid and binding obligation 

enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to such enforcement limitations customarily 

contained in such opinions; 

(e) the City Bond, registered as to both principal and interest to the Issuer and 

delivered in accordance with the Act; 

(f) an Opinion of Counsel for the City in form satisfactory to the Issuer stating that 

such City is a Local Governmental Unit within the meaning of the Act; 

(g) a signed City Bond Purchase Agreement from the City; and 

(h) an executed Arbitrage Rebate Agreement. 

Upon receipt of the documents enumerated above, the Trustee shall pay such amount 

directly to the entity entitled thereto as named in the requisition described in Section 7.02(a) 

above. 

- 135 -

Item # 11.



 

 
42 

 

SECTION 7.03.  Retention and Inspection of Documents. The City Bond and all 

documents received by the Trustee as required in this Article as a condition of payment may be 

relied upon by and shall be retained in the possession of the Trustee, subject at all times during 

normal business hours to the inspection of the Issuer and, after written request received by the 

Trustee at least five (5) Business Days prior to the date of inspection, by any Registered Owner 

of at least five percent (5%) in principal amount of Outstanding Bonds. 

SECTION 7.04.  Report. Within sixty (60) days after the delivery of the Series 2023 

Bonds, the Trustee shall file a written report with the Issuer, if requested, and the City covering 

all receipts and all disbursements made pursuant to the provisions of this Article VII in respect of 

the net proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds deposited in the Purchase Account.  Said report shall 

be supplemented at least once every sixty (60) days by the Trustee until all of the net proceeds of 

the Series 2023 Bonds deposited in the Purchase Account shall have been expended.  

- 136 -

Item # 11.



 

 
43 

 

ARTICLE VIII. 

 

INVESTMENT OF MONEYS 

SECTION 8.01.  General Provisions.   

(a) Any moneys held as part of any Fund or Account created under or pursuant to 

Article VI hereof including the Rebate Fund shall be invested or reinvested by the Trustee as 

continuously as reasonably possible in such Investment Securities as may be directed in writing 

by the Issuer.  All such investments shall at all times be a part of the Fund or Account in which 

the moneys used to acquire such investments had been deposited and, except as provided in 

Article VI, all income and profits on such investments, other than from moneys on deposit in the 

Rebate Fund or any Account created thereunder, shall be deposited as received in the General 

Account.  The Trustee may make any and all such investments through its bond department or 

through the bond department of any financial institution that is an affiliate of the Trustee and 

may trade with itself or any of its affiliates in doing so.  Moneys in separate Funds and Accounts 

may not be commingled for the purpose of investment or deposit.  Any investment losses shall 

be charged to the Fund or Account in which moneys used to purchase such investment had been 

deposited.  For so long as the Trustee is in compliance with the provisions of this Section 8.01, 

the Trustee shall not be liable for any investment losses. Moneys in any Fund or Account shall be 

invested in Investment Securities with a maturity date or a redemption date that shall coincide as 

nearly as practicable with times at which moneys in such Funds or Accounts will be required for 

the purposes thereof.  The Trustee shall sell and reduce to cash a sufficient amount of such 

investments in the respective Fund or Account whenever the cash balance therein is insufficient 

to pay the amounts contemplated to be paid therefrom at the time those amounts are to be paid. 

All investment income from the assets held in any Fund or Account, except for the Rebate Fund 

and any Accounts created thereunder, will be added to the General Account. 

(b) The Issuer (i) certifies to the Registered Owner of the Bonds from time to time 

Outstanding that moneys on deposit in any Fund or Account in connection with the Bonds, 

whether or not such moneys were derived from the proceeds of the sale of the Bonds or from any 

other sources, are not intended to be used in a manner which will cause the interest on the Bonds 

to lose the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes and (ii) covenants with 

the owners of the Bonds from time to time Outstanding that, so long as any of the Bonds remain 

Outstanding, moneys on deposit in any Fund or Account established in connection with the 

Bonds, whether or not such moneys were derived from the proceeds of the sale of the Bonds or 

from any other source, will not be used in any manner which will cause the interest on the Bonds 

to become subject to federal income taxation. 

SECTION 8.02.  Valuation of Investments. For the purpose of determining the amount 

in any Fund or Account, all Investment Securities credited to such Fund or Account shall be 

valued at the lesser of (a) the average of the bid and asked prices most recently published prior to 

the date of determination for those Investment Securities, the bid and asked prices of which are 

published on a regular basis in The Wall Street Journal, or, if not there, in The New York Times; 

or (b) the average bid price as of the date of determination by any two nationally recognized 

government securities dealers selected by the Trustee for those Investment Securities the bid and 

- 137 -

Item # 11.



 

 
44 

 

asked prices of which are not published on a regular basis as set forth in subsection (a) above; or 

(c) par value (plus, prior to the first payment of interest following purchase, the amount of any 

accrued interest paid as part of the purchase price) for Investment Securities which are 

certificates of deposit and bankers acceptances; or (d) for all other Investment Securities the 

lesser of cost or market value (exclusive of accrued interest paid as part of the purchase price 

after the first payment of interest following purchase); provided, however, that any repurchase 

agreements shall be valued, respectively, at the unpaid repurchase price or principal balance 

collectible pursuant thereto. 

SECTION 8.03.  Arbitrage Restrictions; Series 2023 Bonds to Remain Tax Exempt. 

(a) The Issuer shall provide the Trustee with the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement which 

shall govern the investment of the Funds and Accounts and the application of Section 6.09 

hereof. 

(b) Without limiting subsection (b) of Section 8.01 hereof, the Issuer further 

covenants and agrees that it will not take any action or fail to take any action with respect to the 

investment of the proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds, or with respect to the investment or 

application of any payments under the City Bond or any other agreement or instrument entered 

into in connection therewith or with the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, including but not 

limited to the obligation, if any, to rebate certain funds to the United States of America, which 

would result in constituting the Series 2023 Bonds arbitrage bonds within the meaning of such 

term as used in Section 148 of the Code. The Issuer further agrees that it will not act in any other 

manner that would adversely affect the exclusion from gross income tax for federal income tax 

purposes of the interest on the Series 2023 Bonds. 

- 138 -

Item # 11.



 

 
45 

 

ARTICLE IX. 

 

DISCHARGE OF INDENTURE 

SECTION 9.01.  Discharge of Indenture.  

(a) Except as provided in this Article IX, if payment or provision for payment is 

made to the Trustee, of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest due and to become due on 

the Bonds at the times and in the manner stipulated therein, and there is paid or caused to be paid 

to the Trustee all sums of money due and to become due according to the provisions hereof, and 

all other amounts due hereunder have been paid in full, then these presents and the Trust Estate 

and rights hereby granted shall cease, terminate and be void, whereupon the Trustee shall cancel 

and discharge the lien of this Indenture, and execute and deliver to the Issuer such instruments in 

writing as shall be requisite to cancel and discharge the lien hereof, and release, assign and 

deliver unto the Issuer any and all estate, right, title and interest in and to any and all rights 

assigned or pledged to the Trustee hereby or otherwise subject to the lien of this Indenture, 

except moneys or securities held by the Trustee for the payment of the principal of, premium, if 

any, and interest on the Bonds. 

(b) Any Bond shall be deemed to be paid within the meaning of this Indenture when 

(i) payment of the principal of (and premium, if any, on) such Bond and interest thereon to the 

due date thereof (whether such due date be by reason of maturity or upon redemption as provided 

herein or otherwise), either (A) shall have been made or caused to have been made in accordance 

with the terms thereof, or (B) shall have been provided for by irrevocably depositing with the 

Trustee or other financial institution (which must meet the requirements of Section 11.07 hereof) 

which provides services as escrow agent for the Issuer (for purposes of this Article, an “Escrow 

Agent”), in trust and exclusively for such payment, (1) moneys sufficient to make such payment 

or (2) Governmental Obligations maturing as to principal and interest in such amounts and at 

such times, without consideration of any reinvestment thereof, as will insure the availability of 

sufficient moneys to make such payment, or (3) a combination of such moneys and 

Governmental Obligations, and (ii) all necessary and proper fees and expenses of the Trustee 

pertaining to the Bonds, including the amount, if any, required to be rebated to the United States 

of America in accordance with the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement and Section 6.09 hereof, with 

respect to which such deposit is made shall have been paid or deposited with the Trustee. 

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of Bonds which by their terms may be 

optionally redeemed prior to their stated maturity, no deposit under the immediately preceding 

paragraph shall be deemed a payment of such Bonds as aforesaid until the Issuer shall have given 

the Trustee, in form satisfactory to the Trustee, irrevocable instructions: (i) stating the date when 

the principal of each such Bond is to be paid, whether at maturity or on a redemption date (which 

shall be any redemption date permitted by this Indenture); (ii) to timely call for redemption 

pursuant to this Indenture any Bond to be redeemed prior to maturity pursuant to clause (i) of 

this paragraph; and (iii) to timely mail, in the manner prescribed by Article IV hereof, a notice to 

the owners of such Bonds satisfying the requirements thereof. 

- 139 -

Item # 11.



 

 
46 

 

(d) Any monies so deposited with the Trustee or the Escrow Agent as provided in this 

Article may at the direction of the Issuer also be invested and reinvested in Governmental 

Obligations, maturing in the amounts and times as hereinbefore set forth, and all income from all 

Governmental Obligations in the possession of the Trustee pursuant to this Article which is not 

required for the payment of the Bonds and interest thereon with respect to which such monies 

shall have been so deposited, shall be deposited in the General Account, as and when and 

collected for use and application as are other monies deposited in such General Account. 

(e) With respect to the Series 2023 Bonds, no such deposit under this Article shall be 

made or accepted hereunder and no use shall be made of any such deposit unless the Trustee 

shall have received an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such deposit and use would not 

cause the Series 2023 Bonds to be treated as arbitrage bonds within the meaning of Section 148 

of the Code or adversely affect for federal income tax purposes the excludability from gross 

income of the interest on the Series 2023 Bonds.  Moreover, no such deposit shall be deemed a 

payment of Bonds unless the Trustee shall have received a verification from an accountant or 

firm of accountants appointed by the Issuer and acceptable to the Trustee verifying the 

sufficiency of the deposit to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds to 

the due date, whether such due date be by reason of maturity or upon redemption.  Provided, 

however, such verification from an accountant or firm of accountants appointed by the Issuer and 

acceptable to the Trustee will not be required if the deposit made with the Trustee represents 

sufficient funds in the form of cash for the payment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest 

on the Bonds to be paid prior to their due date by reason of maturity or upon redemption within 

ninety (90) days of the delivery date of the Bonds.  If requested by the Trustee, the Issuer will 

provide proof in a form acceptable to the Trustee of the sufficiency of the cash funds deposited 

as stated in the preceding sentence. 

(f) Notwithstanding any provision of any other Article of this Indenture which may 

be contrary to the provisions of this Article, all moneys or Governmental Obligations set aside 

and held in trust pursuant to the provisions of this Article for the payment of Bonds (including 

interest thereon but excluding any amounts, if any, set aside for rebate to the United States of 

America in accordance with the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement and Section 6.09 hereof) shall be 

applied to and used solely for the payment of the particular Bonds (including interest thereon) 

with respect to which such moneys or obligations have been so set aside in trust. 

(g) Upon the deposit with the Trustee or Escrow Agent, in trust, at or before maturity, 

of money or Governmental Obligations in the necessary amount to pay or redeem all 

Outstanding Bonds as aforesaid (whether upon or prior to their maturity or the redemption date 

of such Bonds), provided that if such Bonds are to be redeemed prior to the maturity thereof, 

notice of such redemption shall have been given as herein provided, or provisions satisfactory to 

the Trustee shall have been made for the giving of such notice, and compliance with the other 

payment requirements hereof, this Indenture may be discharged in accordance with the 

provisions hereof but the limited liability of the Issuer in respect of such Bonds shall continue 

provided that the owners thereof shall thereafter be entitled to payment only out of the moneys or 

Governmental Obligations deposited with the Trustee or Escrow Agent as aforesaid. 

- 140 -

Item # 11.



 

 
47 

 

ARTICLE X. 

 

DEFAULT PROVISIONS AND REMEDIES 

OF TRUSTEE AND BONDHOLDERS 

SECTION 10.01.  Defaults; Events of Default.If any of the following events occurs, it 

is hereby defined as and declared to be and to constitute an “Event of Default”: 

(a) Default in the due and punctual payment of any interest on any Bond; or 

(b) Default in the due and punctual payment of the principal or redemption premium 

of any Bond whether at the stated maturity thereof or on any date fixed for redemption, principal 

payment or other acceleration prior to maturity; or 

(c) Failure of the Issuer to remit to the Trustee within the time limits prescribed 

herein any moneys which are required by this Indenture to be so remitted; or 

(d) Default in the performance or observance of any other of the covenants, 

agreements or conditions on the part of the Issuer contained in this Indenture or in the Bonds and 

failure to remedy the same within the time provided in, and after notice thereof pursuant to, 

Section 10.10 hereof; or 

(e) Any warranty, representation or other statement by or on behalf of the Issuer 

contained in this Indenture or in any instrument furnished in compliance with or in reference to 

this Indenture is false or misleading, when made, in any material respect, and failure to remedy 

the same within the time provided in, and after notice thereof pursuant to, Section 10.10 hereof; 

or 

(f) A petition is filed against the Issuer under any bankruptcy, reorganization, 

arrangement, insolvency, readjustment of debt, dissolution or liquidation law of any jurisdiction 

whether now or hereafter in effect and is not dismissed within sixty (60) days after such filing; or 

(g) The Issuer files a petition in voluntary bankruptcy or seeking relief under any 

provisions of any bankruptcy, reorganization, arrangement, insolvency, adjustment of debt, 

dissolution or liquidation law of any jurisdiction whether now or hereafter in effect, or consents 

to the filing of any petition against it under such law; or 

(h) The Issuer is generally not paying its debts as such debts become due, or becomes 

insolvent or bankrupt, or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or a liquidator or 

trustee of the Issuer or any of its property is appointed by court order or takes possession of such 

property and such order remains in effect or such possession continues for more than sixty (60) 

days; or 

(i) Default in the due and punctual payment of any interest or principal on the City 

Bond; or 

(j) There is a default under the City Bond and/or the City Bond Resolution; or 

- 141 -

Item # 11.



 

 
48 

 

(k) The City shall be dissolved; or 

(l) Any representation or certification made by the City in the City Bond Resolution 

or the City Bond, or by an officer of the City or any other authorized City representative in any 

document or certificate furnished in connection with the City Bond Resolution or the City Bond 

shall prove at any time to be, in any material respect, incorrect or misleading as of the date made; 

or 

(m) There is a petition filed, declaration or proceeding in bankruptcy or other 

insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, moratorium, readjustment of debt, or liquidation 

regarding the City; or 

(n) The City is generally not paying its debts as such debts become due, or becomes 

insolvent or bankrupt or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or a liquidator or 

trustee of the State or the City or any of its property is appointed by court order or takes 

possession of such property and such order remains in effect or such possession continues for 

more than sixty (60) days. 

SECTION 10.02.  Remedies; Rights of Bondholders. Upon the occurrence of an Event 

of Default, the Trustee shall in its discretion, except for Events of Default under Section 

10.01(a), (b), (i) and (j), notify the owners of all Bonds then Outstanding of such Event of 

Default by registered or certified mail, and will have the following rights and remedies: 

(a) The Trustee may pursue any available remedy at law or in equity or by statute to 

enforce the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds then Outstanding, including 

enforcement of any rights of the Issuer or the Trustee under the City Bond, including, but not 

limited to, acceleration thereof. 

(b) The Trustee may by action or suit in equity require the Issuer to account as if it 

were the trustee of an express trust for the holders of the Bonds and may take such action with 

respect to the City Bond as the Trustee deems necessary or appropriate and in the best interest of 

the Bondholders, subject to the terms of the City Bond. 

(c) Upon the filing of a suit or other commencement of judicial proceedings to 

enforce any rights of the Trustee and of the Bondholders under this Indenture, the Trustee will be 

entitled, as a matter of right, to the appointment of a receiver or receivers of the Trust Estate and 

of the Revenues, issues, earnings, income, products and profits thereof, pending such 

proceedings, with such powers as the court making such appointment shall confer. 

(d) The Trustee may declare the principal of and accrued interest on all Bonds to be 

due and payable immediately in accordance with this Indenture and the Act, by notice to the 

Issuer and the City. 

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, (i) if requested so to do by the holders of 

twenty-five percent (25%) or more in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds then Outstanding, 

and (ii) if secured and/or indemnified as provided in Section 11.01(k) hereof, the Trustee shall be 

obligated to exercise such one or more of the rights, remedies and powers conferred by this 

- 142 -

Item # 11.



 

 
49 

 

Section as the Trustee, being advised by Counsel, shall deem most expedient in the interests of 

the Bondholders. 

No right or remedy by the terms of this Indenture conferred upon or reserved to the 

Trustee (or to the Bondholders) is intended to be exclusive of any other right or remedy, but each 

and every such right or remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other right or 

remedy given to Trustee or to the Bondholders hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or 

in equity or by statute.  The assertion or employment of any right or remedy shall not prevent the 

concurrent or subsequent assertion or employment of any other right or remedy. 

No delay or omission to exercise any right or remedy accruing upon any Event of Default 

shall impair any such right or remedy or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such Event of 

Default or acquiescence therein, and every such right or remedy may be exercised from time to 

time and as often as may be deemed expedient. 

No waiver of any Event of Default hereunder, whether by the Trustee or by the 

Bondholders, shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent Event of Default or shall impair any 

rights or remedies consequent thereon. 

SECTION 10.03.  Rights of Bondholders to Direct Proceedings. Anything in this 

Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the Registered Owners of a majority in aggregate 

principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding shall have the right, at any time during the 

continuance of an Event of Default, by an instrument or instruments in writing executed and 

delivered to the Trustee, to direct the time, method and place of conducting all proceedings to be 

taken in connection with the enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Indenture, or for the 

appointment of a receiver or any other proceedings hereunder; provided that such direction shall 

not be otherwise than in accordance with the provisions of law and of this Indenture including 

Section 11.01(k) hereof. 

SECTION 10.04.  Appointment of Receivers. Upon the occurrence of an Event of 

Default, and upon the filing of a suit or other commencement of judicial proceedings to enforce 

any rights of the Trustee and of the Bondholders under this Indenture, the Trustee shall be 

entitled, as a matter of right, to the appointment of a receiver or receivers of the Trust Estate and 

of the Revenues, issues, earnings, income, products and profits thereof, pending such 

proceedings with such powers as the court making such appointment shall confer. 

SECTION 10.05.  Application of Moneys. All moneys received by the Trustee pursuant 

to any right or remedy given or action taken under the provisions of this Article (including 

moneys received by virtue of action taken under provisions of the City Bond) shall, after 

payment of the costs and expenses of the proceedings resulting in the collection of such moneys 

and of the expenses, liabilities and advances incurred or made by the Trustee and any other 

moneys owed to the Trustee hereunder, be deposited in the General Account and all moneys in 

such Accounts shall be applied as follows: 

(a) Unless the principal of all the Bonds shall have become due and payable, all such 

moneys shall be applied: 

- 143 -

Item # 11.



 

 
50 

 

FIRST – To the payment of any amount owed to the United States of America under the 

Arbitrage Rebate Agreement;  

SECOND - To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of all installments of interest 

then due on the Bonds, including interest on any past due principal of any Bond at the 

rate borne by such Bond, in the order of the maturity of the installments of such interest 

and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full any particular 

installment, then to such payment ratably, according to the amounts due on such 

installments, to the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or privilege; 

THIRD - To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal of any of 

the Bonds which shall have become due either at maturity or pursuant to a call for 

redemption (other than Bonds called for redemption for the payment of which other 

moneys are held pursuant to the provisions of this Indenture), in the order of their due 

dates, and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full the principal of 

Bonds due on any particular date, together with such interest, then to such payment 

ratably, according to the amount of principal due on such date, to the persons entitled 

thereto without any discrimination or privilege; and 

FOURTH - To be held for the payment to the persons entitled thereto as the same shall 

become due of the principal of and interest on the Bonds which may then become due 

either at maturity or upon call for redemption prior to maturity, and, if the amount 

available shall not be sufficient to pay in full the principal of and interest on Bonds due 

on any particular date, such payment shall be made ratably according to the amount of 

principal and interest due on such date to the persons entitled thereto without any 

discrimination or privilege. 

(b) If the principal of all the Bonds shall have become due or shall have been 

declared due and payable, all such moneys shall be applied to the payment of the principal and 

interest then due and unpaid upon the Bonds, without preference or priority of principal over 

interest or of interest over principal, or of any installment of interest over any other installment 

of interest, or of any Bond over any other Bond, ratably, according to the amounts due 

respectively for principal and interest, to the persons entitled thereto without any discrimination 

or privilege. 

Whenever moneys are to be applied pursuant to the provisions of this Section, such 

moneys shall be applied at such times, and from time to time, as the Trustee shall determine, 

having due regard for the amount of such moneys available for application and the likelihood of 

additional moneys becoming available for such application in the future.  Whenever the Trustee 

shall apply such funds, it shall fix the date (which shall be an Interest Payment Date unless the 

Trustee shall deem another date more suitable) upon which such application is to be made and 

upon such date interest on the amounts of principal to be paid on such dates shall cease to accrue. 

The Trustee shall give such notice as it may deem appropriate of the deposit with it of any such 

moneys and of the fixing of any such date, and shall not be required to make payment of 

principal to the owner of any Bond until such Bond shall be presented to the Trustee for 

appropriate endorsement or for cancellation if fully paid. 

- 144 -

Item # 11.



 

 
51 

 

Whenever all principal of and interest on all Bonds have been paid under the provisions 

of this Section and all expenses and charges of the Trustee have been paid and all other amounts 

due hereunder have been paid in full, any balance remaining in the General Account shall be 

paid as provided in Article VI hereof. 

SECTION 10.06.  Remedies Vested in the Trustee. All rights of action (including the 

right to file proof of claims) under this Indenture or under any of the Bonds may be enforced by 

the Trustee without the possession of any of the Bonds or the production thereof in any trial or 

other proceeding related thereto and any such suit or proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be 

brought in its name as Trustee without the necessity of joining as plaintiffs or defendants any 

owners of the Bonds, and any recovery of judgment shall be for the equal and ratable benefit of 

the owners of all the Outstanding Bonds. 

SECTION 10.07.  Rights and Remedies of Bondholders. No owner of any Bond shall 

have any right to institute any suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity for the enforcement 

of this Indenture or for the execution of any trust hereof or for the appointment of a receiver or 

any other remedy hereunder, unless (a) a Default has occurred, (b) such Default shall have 

become an Event of Default and the Registered Owners of not less than twenty-five percent 

(25%) in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding shall have made written request 

to the Trustee and shall have offered it reasonable opportunity either to proceed to exercise the 

remedies hereinbefore granted or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its own name, (c) 

such Registered Owners of Bonds have offered to the Trustee security and/or indemnity as 

provided in Section 11.01(k) hereof, and (d) the Trustee has refused or for sixty (60) days after 

receipt of such request and offer of security and/or indemnification has failed to exercise the 

remedies hereinbefore granted or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in its own name, and 

such request and offer of security and/or indemnity are hereby declared in every case at the 

option of Trustee to be conditions precedent to the execution of the powers and trusts of this 

Indenture, and to any action or cause of action for the enforcement of this Indenture, or for the 

appointment of a receiver or for any other remedy hereunder; it being understood and intended 

that no one or more owners of the Bonds shall have any right in any manner whatsoever to 

affect, disturb or prejudice the lien of this Indenture by its, his, her or their action or to enforce 

any right hereunder except in the manner herein provided, and that all proceedings at law or in 

equity shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner herein provided and for the equal 

and ratable benefit of the owners of all Bonds then Outstanding.  However, nothing contained in 

this Indenture shall affect or impair the right of any Bondholder to enforce the payment of the 

principal of, premium, if any, and interest on any Bond at and after the maturity thereof, or the 

limited obligation of the Issuer to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on each of 

the Bonds issued hereunder to the respective owners thereof at the time and place, from the 

source and in the manner expressed in the Bonds. 

SECTION 10.08.  Termination of Proceedings. In case the Trustee or any owner of any 

Bonds shall have proceeded to enforce any right under this Indenture by the appointment of a 

receiver or otherwise, and such proceedings shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any 

reason, or shall have been determined adversely, then and in every such case the Issuer, the 

Trustee and the Bondholders shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, 

respectively, and with regard to the property herein subject to this Indenture, and all rights, 

- 145 -

Item # 11.



 

 
52 

 

remedies and powers of the Trustee and the owners of Bonds shall continue as if no such 

proceedings had been taken. 

SECTION 10.09.  Waivers of Events of Default. The Trustee may at its discretion 

waive any Event of Default hereunder and its consequences, and shall do so upon the written 

request of the Registered Owners of (a) more than sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) in 

aggregate principal amount of all the Bonds then Outstanding in respect of which an Event of 

Default in the payment of principal or interest exists, or (b) more than fifty percent (50%) in 

aggregate principal amount of all Bonds then Outstanding in the case of any other Event of 

Default; provided, however, that there shall not be waived (x) any Event of Default in the 

payment of the principal of any Outstanding Bond at the date of maturity specified therein or 

(y) any Event of Default in the payment when due of the interest on any Outstanding Bond 

unless prior to such waiver all of the interest or all payments of principal when due, as the case 

may be, with interest on overdue principal at the rate borne by such Bond, and all expenses of the 

Trustee in connection with such Event of Default shall have been paid or provided for. In case of 

any such waiver or rescission, or in case any proceeding taken by the Trustee on account of any 

such Event of Default shall have been discontinued or abandoned or determined adversely, then 

and in every such case the Issuer, the Trustee and the Bondholders shall be restored to their 

former positions and rights hereunder, respectively, but no such waiver or recession shall extend 

to any subsequent or other Event of Default or impair any rights consequent thereon. 

SECTION 10.10.  Notice of Defaults under Section 10.01(d) or (e); Opportunity of 

the Issuer to Cure Such Defaults.  

(a) Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, no Default under Section 

10.01(d) or (e) hereof shall constitute an Event of Default until actual notice of such Default by 

registered or certified mail shall be given to the Issuer by the Trustee or the Registered Owners 

of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds then 

Outstanding and the Issuer shall have had sixty (60) days after receipt of such notice to correct 

the Default or cause the Default to be corrected, and shall not have corrected the Default or 

caused the Default to be corrected within the applicable period; provided, however, if the Default 

be such that it is correctable but cannot be corrected within the applicable period, it shall not 

constitute an Event of Default if corrective action is instituted by the Issuer within the applicable 

period and diligently pursued until the Default is corrected.  If a Default is cured under this 

Section 10.10, then it will not constitute an Event of Default. 

(b) With regard to any alleged Default concerning which notice is given to the Issuer 

under the provisions of this Section, the Issuer hereby grants to the Trustee full authority for the 

account of the Issuer to perform any covenant or obligation, the failure of performance which is 

alleged in said notice to constitute an Event of Default, in the name and stead of the Issuer with 

full power to do any and all things and acts to the same extent that the Issuer could do and 

perform any such things and acts and with power of substitution. 

- 146 -

Item # 11.



 

 
53 

 

ARTICLE XI. 

 

TRUSTEE 

SECTION 11.01.  Acceptance of the Trusts. The Trustee hereby accepts the trusts and 

duties imposed upon it by this Indenture, and agrees to perform said trusts and duties with the 

same degree of care and skill in their exercise, as a prudent corporate trustee would exercise or 

use under the circumstances in the conduct of its own affairs, but only upon and subject to the 

following express terms and conditions: 

(a) The Trustee, prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default and after the curing of 

all Events of Default which may have occurred, undertakes to perform such duties and only such 

duties as are specifically set forth in this Indenture.  In case an Event of Default has occurred 

(which has not been cured or waived), the Trustee shall exercise the rights and powers vested in 

it by this Indenture in accordance with the standard specified above. 

(b) The Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers hereof and perform any of its 

duties by or through attorneys, agents, receivers or employees but shall not be answerable for the 

conduct of the same if appointed in accordance with the standard specified above, and shall be 

entitled to advice of Counsel concerning all matters of trusts hereof and the duties hereunder, and 

may in all cases pay such reasonable compensation to all such attorneys, agents, receivers and 

employees as may reasonably be employed in connection with the trusts hereof.  The Trustee 

may act upon the opinion or advice of any attorney or firm of attorneys (who may be the attorney 

or firm of attorneys for the Issuer), approved by the Trustee in the exercise of reasonable care.  

The Trustee shall not be responsible for any loss or damage resulting from any action or 

non-action in good faith in reliance upon such opinion or advice. 

(c) The Trustee shall not be responsible for any recital herein or in the Bonds, other 

than the Certificate of Authentication required by Section 3.04 hereof, or for the validity of the 

execution by the Issuer of this Indenture or of any supplements hereto or instruments of further 

assurance, or for the sufficiency of the security for the Bonds issued hereunder or intended to be 

secured hereby. 

(d) The Trustee shall not be accountable for the use of any Bonds authenticated or 

delivered hereunder.  The Trustee may become the owner of Bonds secured hereby with the 

same rights which it would have if not the Trustee and Bonds owned by the Trustee shall be 

deemed Outstanding unless canceled pursuant to the provisions hereof. 

(e) The Trustee shall be protected in acting upon any notice, request, consent, 

certificate, order, affidavit, letter, telegram or other paper or document reasonably believed to be 

genuine and correct and to have been signed or sent by the proper person or persons.  The 

Trustee shall not withhold unreasonably its consent, approval or action to any reasonable request 

of the Issuer.  Any action taken by the Trustee pursuant to this Indenture upon the request of the 

Issuer or consent of any person who at the time of making such request or giving such consent is 

the owner of any Bond, shall be conclusive and binding upon all future owners of the same Bond 

and upon Bonds issued in exchange therefor or in place thereof. 

- 147 -

Item # 11.



 

 
54 

 

(f) As to the existence or nonexistence of any fact or as to the sufficiency or validity 

of any instrument, paper or proceeding, the Trustee shall be entitled in good faith to rely upon a 

certificate signed by an Authorized Officer as sufficient evidence of the facts therein contained 

and prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default of which the Trustee has become aware shall 

also be at liberty to accept a similar certificate to the effect that any particular dealing, 

transaction or action is necessary or expedient but may at its discretion secure such further 

evidence deemed necessary or advisable, but shall in no case be bound to secure the same.  The 

Trustee may accept a certificate of an Authorized Officer of the Issuer to the effect that a 

resolution in the form therein set forth has been adopted by the Issuer as conclusive evidence that 

such resolution has been duly adopted and is in full force and effect. 

(g) The permissive right of the Trustee to do things enumerated in this Indenture shall 

not be construed as a duty and it shall not be answerable for such other than for its gross 

negligence or willful default. 

(h) At any and all reasonable times the Trustee and its duly authorized agents, 

attorneys, experts, engineers, accountants and representatives shall have the right to inspect any 

and all of the books, papers and records of the Issuer pertaining to the Revenues and receipts 

pledged to the payment of the Bonds, and to take such memoranda from and in regard thereto as 

may be desired. 

(i) The Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or surety in respect of the 

execution of the said trusts and powers or otherwise in respect of the premises. 

(j) Notwithstanding anything elsewhere in this Indenture contained, the Trustee shall 

have the right, but shall not be required, to demand, in respect of the authentication of any 

Bonds, the withdrawal of any cash, or any action whatsoever within the purview of this 

Indenture, any showings, certificates, opinions, appraisals or other information, or corporate 

action or evidence thereof, in addition to that by the terms hereof required as a condition of such 

action, deemed desirable by the Trustee for the purpose of establishing the right of the Issuer to 

the authentication of any Bond, the withdrawal of any cash or the taking of any other action by 

the Trustee. 

(k) Before taking any action referred to in Section 10.02, 10.03 or 10.07 hereof, the 

Trustee may require that a satisfactory indemnity bond and/or other security be furnished for the 

reimbursement of all expenses to which it may be put and to protect it against all liability, except 

liability which is adjudicated to have resulted from its gross negligence or willful default. 

(l) All moneys received by the Trustee shall, until used, applied or invested as herein 

provided, be held in trust for the purposes for which they were received but need not be 

segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law and this Indenture.  The Trustee 

shall not be under any liability for interest on any moneys received hereunder except such as may 

be agreed upon in writing. 

(m) The Trustee for all purposes of this Indenture shall be deemed to be aware of any 

Event of Default in the payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest on any of the Bonds. 

- 148 -

Item # 11.



 

 
55 

 

SECTION 11.02.  Fees, Charges and Expenses of the Trustee. The Trustee shall be 

entitled to prompt payment and reimbursement upon demand for reasonable fees for its services 

rendered hereunder and all advances, counsel fees and other expenses reasonably and necessarily 

made or incurred by the Trustee in connection with such services.  The Trustee shall be entitled 

to payment and reimbursement for the reasonable fees and charges of the Trustee as paying agent 

and registrar for the Bonds but only as hereinabove provided.  Upon any Event of Default, but 

only upon an Event of Default, the Trustee shall have a first lien with right of payment prior to 

payment on account of principal of or interest on any Bond upon the Trust Estate for the 

foregoing fees, charges and expenses incurred by it, respectively. 

SECTION 11.03.  Intervention by the Trustee. In any judicial proceeding to which the 

Issuer is a party and which in the opinion of the Trustee and its Counsel has a substantial bearing 

on the interests of the owners of the Bonds, the Trustee may intervene on behalf of the 

Bondholders, and shall do so if requested in writing by the Registered Owners of at least 

twenty-five percent (25%) of the aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding upon 

receiving security and/or indemnification satisfactory to the Trustee. 

SECTION 11.04.  Successor Trustee. Any corporation or association into which the 

Trustee may be converted or merged, or with which it may be consolidated, or to which it may 

sell or transfer its trust business and assets as a whole or substantially as a whole, or any 

corporation or association resulting from any such conversion, sale, merger, consolidation or 

transfer to which it is a party (“Reorganization”), ipso facto shall be and become successor 

Trustee hereunder, if legally qualified to serve as such, and vested with all of the title to the Trust 

Estate and all the trusts, powers, discretions, immunities, privileges and all other matters as was 

its predecessor, without the execution or filing of any instrument or any further act, deed or 

conveyance on the part of any of the parties hereto, anything herein to the contrary 

notwithstanding; provided that within thirty (30) days of the effective date of such 

Reorganization, the Issuer may object to such corporation or association becoming successor 

Trustee by filing written notice of such objection with the Trustee and by mailing such notice to 

each Bondholder whereupon a successor or temporary Trustee shall be appointed in accordance 

with Section 11.07 hereof. 

SECTION 11.05.  Resignation by the Trustee. The Trustee and any successor Trustee 

may at any time resign from the trusts hereby by giving thirty (30) days' written notice by 

registered or certified mail to the Issuer, the City and the owner of each Bond as shown by the 

list of Bondholders required by this Indenture to be kept at the office of the Trustee, and such 

resignation shall only take effect upon the appointment of a successor Trustee in accordance with 

Section 11.07 and acceptance of such appointment by the successor Trustee. Notwithstanding 

any other provision of this Indenture, no removal, resignation or termination of the Trustee shall 

take effect until a successor acceptable to the Issuer and the City shall be appointed. Provided, 

however, in the event that a successor Trustee is not so appointed within said thirty (30) day 

period or the Issuer and City cannot agree on a suitable successor Trustee, the Trustee may, but 

shall not be required to, petition a court of competent jurisdiction to appoint a successor Trustee. 

SECTION 11.06.  Removal of the Trustee. The Trustee may be removed at any time 

with or without cause by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing delivered to the 

- 149 -

Item # 11.



 

 
56 

 

Trustee and to the Issuer and signed by (a) the City, or (b) the Registered Owners of a majority in 

aggregate principal amount of all Bonds then Outstanding or their attorneys-in-fact duly 

authorized.  Notice of the removal of the Trustee shall be given in the same manner as provided 

in Section 11.05 hereof with respect to the resignation of the Trustee.  So long as no Event of 

Default or an event which, with the passage of time would become an Event of Default, shall 

have occurred and be continuing, the Trustee may be removed at any time for cause by 

resolution or other official written action taken by the Issuer or the City with such written action 

to be filed with the Trustee and written notification of such action to be sent to the owner of each 

Bond as shown by the Bond Register. 

SECTION 11.07.  Appointment of Successor Trustee by the Bondholders; 

Temporary Trustee. In case the Trustee shall resign or be removed, or be dissolved, or shall be 

in course of dissolution or liquidation, or otherwise become incapable of acting hereunder, or in 

case it shall be taken under the control of any public officer or officers, or of a receiver appointed 

by a court, a successor may be appointed by the owners of a majority in aggregate principal 

amount of all Bonds then Outstanding, by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing 

signed by such owners, or by their attorneys-in-fact duly authorized, a copy of which shall be 

delivered personally or sent by registered mail to the Issuer and the City.  Nevertheless, in case 

of such vacancy, the Issuer by resolution may appoint a temporary Trustee to fill such vacancy.  

Within ninety (90) days of such appointment, the Bondholders may appoint a successor Trustee; 

any such successor Trustee so appointed by the Issuer shall become the successor Trustee if no 

appointment is made by the Bondholders within such period, but in the event an appointment is 

made by the Bondholders, the temporary Trustee shall immediately and without further act be 

superseded by any Trustee so appointed by such Bondholders.  Notice of the appointment of a 

successor Trustee shall be given in the same manner as provided by Section 11.05 hereof with 

respect to the resignation of a Trustee.  Every such Trustee appointed pursuant to the provisions 

of this Section shall be a trust company or bank having its principal place of business in the 

United States of America duly authorized to exercise trust powers and having a reported capital 

and surplus of not less than $75,000,000, if there be such an institution willing, qualified and 

able to accept the trust upon reasonable or customary terms.   

SECTION 11.08.  Concerning Any Successor Trustee. Every successor Trustee 

appointed hereunder shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor and also to the 

Issuer and the City an instrument in writing accepting such appointment hereunder, and 

thereupon such successor, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become fully vested 

with all the estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of its predecessors; 

but such predecessor shall, nevertheless, on the written request of the Issuer or the City, after the 

payment of all fees, charges and expenses which may be due and owing to such predecessor 

pursuant to the provisions of Section 11.02 hereof, execute and deliver an instrument transferring 

to such successor Trustee all the estates, properties, rights, powers and trusts of such predecessor 

hereunder; and every predecessor Trustee shall deliver all securities, moneys and other property 

or documents held by it as Trustee hereunder to its successor hereunder. Should any instrument 

in writing from the Issuer be required by any successor Trustee for more fully and certainly 

vesting in such successor the estate, rights, powers and duties hereby vested or intended to be 

vested in the predecessor, any and all such instruments in writing shall, on request, be executed, 

acknowledged and delivered by the Issuer.  The resignation of any Trustee and the instrument or 

- 150 -

Item # 11.



 

 
57 

 

instruments removing any Trustee and appointing a successor hereunder, together with all other 

instruments provided for in this Article, shall be filed or recorded by the successor Trustee in 

each recording office where this Indenture shall have been filed or recorded. 

SECTION 11.09.  Indemnification. The Issuer, will, to the fullest extent permitted by 

law, protect, indemnify and save the Trustee and its respective officers, board members, agents, 

and employees, harmless from and against all liabilities, losses, damages, costs, expenses 

(including attorneys' fees and expenses of the Trustee), taxes, causes of action, suits, claims, 

demands and judgments of any nature arising from: 

(a) violation of any agreement, provision or condition of this Indenture, the City 

Bond, the Bonds or the City Bond Resolution except a violation by the Trustee resulting from its 

gross negligence or willful misconduct; 

(b) any statement or information relating to the expenditure of the proceeds of the 

Bonds contained in the “Tax Certificate” or similar document furnished by the City to the Issuer 

which, at the time made, is misleading, untrue or incorrect in any material respect; and 

(c) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in 

any offering material relating to the sale or remarketing of the Bonds (as from time to time 

amended or supplemented) or arising out of or based upon the omission or alleged omission to 

state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the 

statements therein not misleading, or failure to properly register or otherwise qualify the sale of 

the Bonds or failure to comply with any licensing or other law or regulation which would affect 

the manner whereby or to whom the Bonds could be sold. 

Promptly after receipt by the Trustee of notice of the commencement of any action with 

respect to which security and/or indemnity may be sought against the Issuer under this Section, 

the Trustee will notify the Issuer in writing of the commencement thereof, and, subject to the 

provisions hereinafter stated, the Issuer shall assume the defense of such action (including the 

employment of Counsel or such other person as the case may be, and the payment of expenses).  

Insofar as such action shall relate to any alleged liability with respect to which security and/or 

indemnity may be sought against the Issuer, the Trustee shall have the right to employ separate 

Counsel in any such action and to participate in the defense thereof, but the fees and expenses of 

such Counsel shall not be at the expense of the Issuer unless the employment of such Counsel 

has been specifically authorized by the Issuer.  The Issuer shall not be liable to indemnify any 

person for any settlement of any such action effected without its consent. 

The provisions of this Section 11.09 shall survive the payment and discharge of the City 

Bond and the Bonds. 

SECTION 11.10.  Successor Trustee as Trustee of Funds, Paying Agent and 

Registrar. In the event of a change in the office of Trustee, the predecessor Trustee which has 

resigned or been removed shall cease to be Trustee of the funds provided hereunder and registrar 

and paying agent for principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds, and the successor 

Trustee shall become such Trustee, registrar and paying agent. 

- 151 -

Item # 11.



 

 
58 

 

ARTICLE XII. 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES 

SECTION 12.01.  Supplemental Indentures not Requiring Consent of Bondholders. 

The Issuer and the Trustee may, without the consent of, or notice to, any of the Bondholders, 

enter into an indenture or indentures supplemental to this Indenture for any one or more of the 

following purposes: 

(a) To cure any ambiguity or formal defect or omission in this Indenture; 

(b) To grant to or confer upon the Trustee for the benefit of the Bondholders any 

additional benefits, rights, remedies, powers or authorities that may lawfully be granted to or 

conferred upon the Bondholders or the Trustee, or to make any change which, in the opinion of 

Bond Counsel, does not materially and adversely affect the interest of the owners of Outstanding 

Bonds and does not require unanimous consent of the Bondholders pursuant to Section 12.02 

hereof; 

(c) To subject to this Indenture additional Revenues, properties or collateral; 

(d) To modify, amend or supplement this Indenture or any indenture supplemental 

hereto in such manner as required to permit the qualification hereof under the Trust Indenture 

Act of 1939, as amended, or any similar federal statute hereafter in effect, to permit qualification 

of the Bonds for sale as exempt securities or in exempt transactions under the Securities Act, the 

Exchange Act or the securities laws of any state or to avoid registration under the Investment 

Company Act of 1940, as amended, or any similar federal statute hereafter in effect, or to permit 

compliance with the Code;  

(e) To evidence the appointment of a separate or co-trustee or the succession of a new 

Trustee hereunder or the succession of a new registrar and/or paying agent; 

(f) To conform the text herein to any description or summary of this Indenture in any 

official statement or other offering document with respect to the Bonds or the City Bond to the 

extent that such description or summary was intended to be a verbatim recitation of a provision 

herein; and 

(g) In connection with the issuance of Refunding Bonds. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, consent of the Registered Owner of the Series 2023 

Bonds shall be required in connection with any of the foregoing supplements except those 

described under subsection (f), which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

SECTION 12.02.  Supplemental Indentures Requiring Consent of Bondholders. 

Exclusive of Supplemental Indentures provided for by Section 12.01 hereof and subject to the 

terms and provisions contained in this Section, and not otherwise, the owners of not less than a 

majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding which are affected 

(exclusive of Bonds held by the Issuer), shall have the right, from time to time, anything 

- 152 -

Item # 11.



 

 
59 

 

contained in this Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, to consent to and approve the 

execution by the Issuer and the Trustee of such other indenture or indentures supplemental hereto 

as shall be deemed necessary and desirable by the Trustee for the purpose of modifying, altering, 

amending, adding to or rescinding, in any particular, any of the terms or provisions contained in 

this Indenture or in any Supplemental Indenture; provided, however, that nothing in this Section 

contained shall permit, or be construed as permitting, without the consent of the owners of all 

then Outstanding Bonds, (a) an extension of the maturity of the principal of or the interest or 

redemption date on any Bond issued hereunder, or (b) a reduction in the principal amount of any 

Bond or change in the rate of interest, or (c) a privilege or priority of any Bond or Bonds over 

any other Bond or Bonds, or (d) a reduction in the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds 

required for consent to such Supplemental Indenture, or (e) the creation of any lien securing any 

Bonds other than a lien ratably securing all of the Bonds at any time Outstanding hereunder, or 

(f) any modification of the trusts, powers, rights, obligations, duties, remedies, immunities and 

privileges of the Trustee without the written consent of the Trustee. 

If at any time the Issuer shall request the Trustee to enter into any such Supplemental 

Indenture for any of the purposes set forth in this Section, the Trustee shall, upon being 

satisfactorily secured and/or indemnified with respect to expenses, cause notice of the proposed 

execution of such Supplemental Indenture to be mailed by registered or certified mail to each 

owner of a Bond at the address shown on the registration records maintained by the Trustee.  

Such notice shall briefly set forth the nature of the proposed Supplemental Indenture and shall 

state that copies thereof are on file at the Principal Office of the Trustee for inspection by all 

Bondholders. If, within sixty (60) days, or such longer period as shall be prescribed by the Issuer, 

following the mailing of such notice, the owners of not less than fifty-one percent (51%) in 

aggregate principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding at the time of the execution of any such 

Supplemental Indenture (exclusive of Bonds held by the Issuer) shall have consented to and 

approved the execution of such Supplemental Indenture as provided in Section 13.01 hereof, no 

owner of any Bond shall have any right to object to any of the terms and provisions contained 

therein, or the operation thereof, or in any manner to question the propriety of the execution 

thereof, or to enjoin or restrain the Trustee or the Issuer from executing the same or from taking 

any action pursuant to the provisions thereof.  Upon the execution of any such Supplemental 

Indenture as in this Section permitted and provided, this Indenture shall be and be deemed to be 

modified and amended in accordance therewith. 

 

- 153 -

Item # 11.



 

 
60 

 

ARTICLE XIII. 

 

MISCELLANEOUS 

SECTION 13.01.  Consents, etc. of Bondholders. Any consent, request, direction, 

approval, objection or other instrument required by this Indenture to be signed and executed by 

the Bondholders may be in any number or concurrent writings of similar tenor and may be 

signed or executed by such Bondholders in person or by agent appointed in writing.  Proof of the 

execution of any such consent, request, direction, approval, objection or other instrument or of 

the writing appointing any such agent and of the ownership of Bonds, if made in the following 

manner, shall be sufficient for any of the purposes of this Indenture, and shall be conclusive in 

favor of the Trustee with regard to any action taken by it or them under such request or other 

instrument, namely: 

(a) The fact and date of the execution by any person of any such writing may be 

proved (i) by the certificate of any officer in any jurisdiction who by law has power to take 

acknowledgments within such jurisdiction that the person signing such writing acknowledged 

before him the execution thereof, or (ii) by an affidavit of any witness to such execution. 

(b) The fact of ownership of Bonds and the amount or amounts, numbers and other 

identification of Bonds, and the date of holding the same shall be proved by the Bond Register 

maintained by the Trustee pursuant to Section 3.06 hereof. 

SECTION 13.02.  Limitation of Rights. With the exception of rights herein expressly 

conferred, nothing expressed or mentioned in or to be implied from this Indenture or the Bonds 

is intended or shall be construed to give to any person or company other than the parties hereto, 

and the owners of the Bonds, any legal or suitable right, remedy or claim under or in respect to 

this Indenture or any covenants, conditions and provisions herein contained; this Indenture and 

all of the covenants, conditions and provisions hereof being intended to be and being for the sole 

and exclusive benefit of the parties hereto and the owners of the Bonds as herein provided. 

SECTION 13.03.  Severability. If any provision of this Indenture shall be held or 

deemed to be or shall, in fact, be illegal, inoperative or unenforceable, the same shall not affect 

any other provision or provisions herein contained or render the same invalid, inoperative or 

unenforceable to any extent whatever. 

SECTION 13.04.  Notices. Any notice, request, complaint, demand, communication or 

other paper shall be sufficiently given when delivered or mailed by registered or certified mail, 

postage prepaid, or sent by telegram, addressed to the appropriate Notice Address. A duplicate 

copy of each notice required to be given hereunder by the Trustee or the Issuer to the City, or the 

Underwriter shall also be given to the other. The Issuer, the City, or the Trustee may, by notice 

given hereunder, designate any further or different addresses to which subsequent notices, 

certificates or other communications shall be sent. 

SECTION 13.05.  Trustee as Paying Agent and Registrar. The Trustee is hereby 

designated and agrees to act as paying agent and registrar for and in respect to the Bonds. 

- 154 -

Item # 11.



 

 
61 

 

SECTION 13.06.  Payments Due on Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays. In any case 

where the date of maturity of interest on or principal of or the dated fixed for redemption of the 

Bonds shall be in the City of payment a Saturday, Sunday or a legal holiday or a day on which 

banking institutions are authorized by law to close, then payment of interest or principal may be 

made on the next Business Day with the same force and effect as if made on the date of maturity 

or the date fixed for redemption. 

SECTION 13.07.  Counterparts. This Indenture may be simultaneously executed in 

several counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one 

and the same instrument. 

SECTION 13.08.  Receipt of Money or Revenues by Trustee. The Trustee is an 

authorized agent of the Issuer for purposes of receiving money and Revenues on behalf of the 

Issuer.  It is not the intent of this Section 13.08, or any other Section of this Indenture, to create a 

power of attorney relationship between the Issuer and the Trustee. 

SECTION 13.09.  Applicable Provisions of Law. This Indenture shall be governed by 

and construed in accordance with the laws of the State. 

 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

- 155 -

Item # 11.



 

S-1 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer has caused this Indenture to be executed on its 

behalf by its Executive Director and duly attested by its Secretary and the Trustee, to evidence its 

acceptance of the trusts created hereunder, has caused this Indenture to be executed in its name 

by one of its duly authorized officers, all as of the day and year first above written. 

 

 

MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

 

By  _________________________________ 

         Executive Director 

ATTEST: 

 

By _______________________________ 

       Secretary 

THE PEOPLES BANK, as Trustee 

 

By _________________________________  

             Trust Officer 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

- 156 -

Item # 11.



 

A-1 

81527235.v2 

EXHIBIT A 

 

FORM OF CITY BOND 

- 157 -

Item # 11.



 

A-2 

81527235.v2 

[Form of City Bond to Be Inserted] 

 

- 158 -

Item # 11.



 

 

 

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

Regarding the 

 

$___,000,000 

MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

SPECIAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2023 

(CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT GENERAL 

OBLIGATION BOND PROJECT) 

Mississippi Development Bank 

735 Riverside Drive, Suite 300 

Jackson, Mississippi 39202 

Mayor and City Council 

City of Tupelo, Mississippi 

71 East Troy Street 

Tupelo, Mississippi 38802 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

The undersigned, Raymond James & Associates, Inc. (the "Underwriter"), being duly 

authorized, offers to enter into the following agreement with the Mississippi Development Bank 

(the "Bank") and the City of Tupelo, Mississippi (the "City"), which, upon your acceptance of 

this offer, will be binding upon the Bank and the City and upon the Underwriter.  This offer is 

made subject to your written acceptance of this Bond Purchase Agreement on or before 4:00 

o'clock p.m., Mississippi Time, on _____, 2023, and, if not so accepted, will be subject to 

withdrawal by the Underwriter upon written notice delivered by the Underwriter to the Bank and 

the City at the above addresses, at any time prior to the acceptance hereof by you. 

1. Purchase. 

(a) Upon the terms and conditions and upon the basis of the representations, 

warranties and agreements set forth herein, the Underwriter hereby agrees to purchase 

from the Bank for offering to the public, and the Bank hereby agrees to sell and deliver to 

the Underwriter for such purpose, an aggregate of $___,000,000 principal amount of the 

Bank's Special Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement 

General Obligation Bond Project) (the "Series 2023 Bonds"), dated the date of delivery 

thereof, and having maturities and bearing interest at the rates per annum as set forth in 

Exhibit A hereto, and payable as described in the resolution concerning the Series 2023 

Bonds adopted on September 13, 2023, by the Board of Directors of the Bank (the "Bank 

Resolution"), an Indenture of Trust under which the Series 2023 Bonds will be issued 

and by which they will be secured, dated as of ______, 2023 (the "Indenture"), by and 

between The Peoples Bank, Biloxi, Mississippi, as trustee (the "Trustee"), and otherwise 

having such terms as are described in the Preliminary Official Statement (as hereinafter 

defined).  The purchase price for the Series 2023 Bonds shall be $____.00, being 

- 159 -

Item # 11.



2 
 

comprised of the principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds of $___,000,000.00, plus a 

net original issue premium of $_____.00, and less an Underwriter's discount of 

$____,000.00, which purchase price, subject to the terms and conditions of this Bond 

Purchase Agreement, will be paid to the Trustee on behalf of the Bank on the date of the 

payment for and delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds (herein called the "Closing").  The 

Series 2023 Bonds will be subject to optional redemption and mandatory redemption 

prior to maturity as set forth in Exhibit B hereto.   

(b) It is intended that interest on the Series 2023 Bonds will be excluded from 

gross income for federal income tax purposes under existing statutes, regulations, rulings 

and court decisions and as set forth in the Preliminary Official Statement, and in reliance 

thereon, the Underwriter may offer the Series 2023 Bonds without registration under the 

Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

(c) All capitalized terms used and not defined herein shall have the meanings 

ascribed to them in the Indenture and the Preliminary Official Statement. 

(d) The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds 

shall be payable solely and only from those revenues and funds of the Bank under the 

Indenture, including the $___,000,000 City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement 

General Obligation Bond, Series 2023 (the "City Bond") and payments derived 

therefrom, as more particularly described in the Preliminary Official Statement. The City 

Bond has been sold to the Bank by the City pursuant to a resolution of the City adopted 

by the Mayor and City Council of the City (the "Governing Body") on September 5, 

2023, authorizing the sale and issuance of the City Bond and approving the sale and 

issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds (the "City Bond Resolution" and collectively with the 

Bank Resolution, the "Bond Resolutions"), and a City Bond Purchase Agreement 

between the City and the Bank (the "City Bond Purchase Agreement").  The City Bond 

is a general obligation of the City and represents a pledge of the full faith, credit and 

taxing power thereof. 

2. Preliminary Official Statement and Official Statement. A Preliminary Official 

Statement of the Bank, dated April 3, 2023 (the "Preliminary Official Statement"), has been 

distributed in connection with the Series 2023 Bonds, and an Official Statement of the Bank, to 

be dated the date hereof, will be delivered as hereinafter set forth in this Paragraph 2.  The final 

Official Statement as it may be amended or supplemented, with the written consent of the Bank 

and the Underwriter, is hereinafter called the "Official Statement." 

The Bank and the City hereby authorize the use of the Preliminary Official Statement, the 

Official Statement and the information therein contained by the Underwriter in connection with 

the public offering and the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds.  As required by Rule 15c2-12 

promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under Section 15 of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ("Rule 15c2-12"), the Underwriter shall deliver the Official 

Statement to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the "MSRB").  The Bank and the City 

hereby approve of and ratify the use by the Underwriter on or before the date hereof of the 

Preliminary Official Statement in connection with the prospective offering of the Series 2023 

Bonds prior to the date hereof.  The Bank and the City have duly authorized, approved and 

- 160 -

Item # 11.



3 
 

delivered the Preliminary Official Statement to the Underwriter; the Bank and the City have 

previously deemed the Preliminary Official Statement final, except for the omission of the 

following information: offering, prices, interest rates, selling compensation, aggregate principal 

amount of the Series 2023 Bonds, principal amount per maturity, delivery date, ratings and other 

terms of the Series 2023 Bonds depending on such matters permitted to be omitted in accordance 

with Paragraph (b)(1) of Rule 15c2-12; and the Bank has duly authorized, approved and will 

execute the Official Statement on or prior to the Closing and shall deliver the same in final 

printed form subject to the provisions of Paragraph 9 hereof to permit the Underwriter to comply 

with Paragraph 9(b)(4) of Rule 15c2-12 and the rules of the MSRB, within seven (7) business 

days from the date hereof.  The Bank and the City have delivered a "deemed final" certificate to 

the Underwriter, dated the date hereof, to evidence compliance with Rule 15c2-12 to the date 

hereof (the "Deemed Final Certificate"), in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

3. Establishment of Issue Price 

(a) The Underwriter agrees to assist the Bank in establishing the issue price of 

the Series 2023 Bonds and shall execute and deliver to the Bank at the Closing (as 

hereinafter defined) an "issue price" or similar certificate, together with the supporting 

pricing wires or equivalent communications, substantially in the form attached hereto as 

Exhibit D, acceptable to Butler Snow LLP, Ridgeland, Mississippi ("Bond Counsel"), 

with such modifications as may be appropriate or necessary, in the reasonable judgment 

of the Underwriter and the Bank, to accurately reflect, as applicable, the sales price or 

prices or the initial offering price or prices to the public of the Series 2023 Bonds. All 

actions to be taken by the Bank under this section to establish the issue price of the Series 

2023 Bonds may be taken on behalf of the Bank by Government Consultants, Inc., 

Madison, Mississippi, its independent registered municipal advisor (the "Municipal 

Advisor") and any notice or report to be provided to the Bank may be provided to the 

Municipal Advisor. 

(b) Except as otherwise set forth in Schedule A attached to Exhibit D hereto, 

the Bank will treat the first price at which 10% of each maturity of the Series 2023 Bonds 

(the "10% test") is sold to the public as the issue price of that maturity (if different 

interest rates apply within a maturity, each separate CUSIP number within that maturity 

will be subject to the 10% test).  At or promptly after the execution of this Agreement, 

the Underwriter shall report to the Bank the price or prices at which it has sold to the 

public each maturity of Series 2023 Bonds.  If at that time the 10% test has not been 

satisfied as to any maturity of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Underwriter agrees to promptly 

report to the Bank the prices at which it sells the unsold Series 2023 Bonds of that 

maturity to the public.  That reporting obligation shall continue, whether or not the 

Closing has occurred, until the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Series 2023 Bonds of 

that maturity or until all Series 2023 Bonds of that maturity have been sold to the public. 

(c) The Underwriter confirms that it has offered the Series 2023 Bonds to the 

public on or before the date of this Agreement at the offering price or prices (the "initial 

offering price"), or at the corresponding yield or yields, set forth in Schedule A attached 

to Exhibit D hereto, except as otherwise set forth therein.  Exhibit D also sets forth, as of 

the date of this Agreement, the maturities, if any, of the Series 2023 Bonds for which the 

- 161 -

Item # 11.



4 
 

10% test has not been satisfied and for which the Bank and the Underwriter agree that the 

restrictions set forth in the next sentence shall apply, which will allow the Bank to treat 

the initial offering price to the public of each such maturity as of the sale date as the issue 

price of that maturity (the "hold-the-offering-price rule"). So long as the hold-the-

offering-price rule remains applicable to any maturity of the Series 2023 Bonds, the 

Underwriter will neither offer nor sell unsold Series 2023 Bonds of that maturity to any 

person at a price that is higher than the initial offering price to the public during the 

period starting on the sale date and ending on the earlier of the following: 

(i) the close of the fifth (5th) business day after the sale date; or 

(ii) the date on which the Underwriter has sold at least 10% of that 

maturity of the Series 2023 Bonds to the public at a price that is no higher than 

the initial offering price to the public. 

The Representative shall promptly advise the Bank when the Underwriters have sold 10% 

of that maturity of the Securities to the public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering 

price to the public, if that occurs prior to the close of the fifth (5th) business day after the sale 

date. 

The Bank acknowledges that, in making the representation set forth in this subsection, the 

Representative will rely on (i) the agreement of each Underwriter to comply with the hold-the 

offering-price rule, as set forth in an agreement among underwriters and the related pricing 

wires, (ii) in the event a selling group has been created in connection with the initial sale of the 

Securities to the public, the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling group to 

comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, as set forth in a selling group agreement and the 

related pricing wires, and (iii) in the event that an Underwriter is a party to a retail distribution 

agreement that was employed in connection with the initial sale of the Series 2023 Bonds to the 

public, the agreement of each broker-dealer that is a party to such agreement to comply with the 

hold-the-offering-price rule and that no Underwriter shall be liable for the failure of any other 

Underwriter or of any dealer who is a member of a selling group, or of any broker-dealer that is a 

party to a retail distribution agreement, to comply with its corresponding agreement regarding 

the hold-the-offering-price rule as applicable to the Series 2023 Bonds. 

(d) The Underwriter confirms that any selling group agreement and any retail 

distribution agreement relating to the initial sale of the Series 2023 Bonds to the public, 

together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each 

dealer who is a member of the selling group and each broker-dealer that is a party to such 

retail distribution agreement, as applicable, to (A) report the prices at which it sells to the 

public the unsold Series 2023 Bonds of each maturity allotted to it until it is notified by 

the Underwriter that either the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Series 2023 Bonds of 

that maturity or all Series 2023 Bonds of that maturity have been sold to the public and 

(B) comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, in each case if and for so 

long as directed by the Underwriter.  The Bank acknowledges that, in making the 

representation set forth in this subsection, the Underwriter will rely on (i) in the event a 

selling group has been created in connection with the initial sale of the Series 2023 Bonds 

to the public, the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling group to 

- 162 -

Item # 11.



5 
 

comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, as set forth in a selling group 

agreement and the related pricing wires, and (ii) in the event that a retail distribution 

agreement was employed in connection with the initial sale of the Series 2023 Bonds to 

the public, the agreement of each broker-dealer that is a party to such agreement to 

comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, as set forth in the retail 

distribution agreement and the related pricing wires.  The Bank further acknowledges that 

the Underwriter shall not be liable for the failure of any dealer who is a member of a 

selling group, or of any broker-dealer that is a party to a retail distribution agreement, to 

comply with its corresponding agreement regarding the hold-the-offering-price rule as 

applicable to the Series 2023 Bonds. 

(e) The Underwriter acknowledges that sales of any Series 2023 Bonds to any 

person that is a related party to the Underwriter shall not constitute sales to the public for 

purposes of this section.  Further, for purposes of this section: 

(i) "public" means any person other than an underwriter or a related 

party, 

(ii) "underwriter" means (A) any person that agrees pursuant to a 

written contract with the Bank (or with the lead underwriter to form an 

underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Series 2023 Bonds 

to the public and (B) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly 

or indirectly with a person described in clause (A) to participate in the initial sale 

of the Series 2023 Bonds to the public (including a member of a selling group or a 

party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Series 

2023 Bonds to the public), 

(iii) a purchaser of any of the Series 2023 Bonds is a "related party" to 

an underwriter if the underwriter and the purchaser are subject, directly or 

indirectly, to (i) at least 50% common ownership of the voting power or the total 

value of their stock, if both entities are corporations (including direct ownership 

by one corporation of another), (ii) more than 50% common ownership of their 

capital interests or profits interests, if both entities are partnerships (including 

direct ownership by one partnership of another), or (iii) more than 50% common 

ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the corporation or the capital 

interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a 

corporation and the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of the 

applicable stock or interests by one entity of the other), and 

(iv) "sale date" means the date of execution of this Agreement by all 

parties. 

(f) It will be a condition of the Bank's obligation to sell and deliver the Series 

2023 Bonds to the Underwriter, and the obligation of the Underwriter to purchase and 

accept delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds, that the entire aggregate principal amount of 

the Series 2023 Bonds must be sold and delivered by the Bank and accepted and paid for 

by the Underwriter on the Closing. 

- 163 -

Item # 11.



6 
 

4. Representations and Warranties of the Bank. The Bank represents and 

warrants to, and agrees with the Underwriter that: 

(a) The Bank is a public body corporate and politic of the State of Mississippi 

(the "State").  The Board of Directors of the Bank (the "Board") is duly organized and 

existing under the Constitution and laws of the State with the powers and authority, 

among others, set forth in Sections 31-25-1 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as 

amended and supplemented from time to time (the "Bank Act"), and is authorized to 

issue the Series 2023 Bonds and otherwise to act on behalf of the Bank in connection 

with the sale and issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

(b) The Board, on behalf of the Bank, has full legal right, power and authority 

to enter into or accept this Bond Purchase Agreement, the City Bond Purchase 

Agreement and the Indenture, to adopt the Bank Resolution, to accept and assign the City 

Bond and to sell, issue and deliver the Series 2023 Bonds to the Underwriter as provided 

herein and to carry out and consummate all other transactions contemplated by this Bond 

Purchase Agreement, the Series 2023 Bonds, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, the 

Indenture, the Bank Resolution and the Official Statement. 

(c) By official action of the Board prior to or concurrently with the acceptance 

hereof, the Board has duly adopted the Bank Resolution, has duly authorized and 

approved the execution and delivery of or acceptance of, and the performance by the 

Bank of the obligations of the Bank contained in the Bank Resolution, the Indenture, the 

City Bond Purchase Agreement, the Series 2023 Bonds, and this Bond Purchase 

Agreement and the consummation by it of all other transactions contemplated by the 

Official Statement and this Bond Purchase Agreement. 

(d) Neither the Bank nor the Board is in breach of or default under any 

applicable law or administrative regulation of the State or the United States of America or 

any applicable judgment or decree or any agreement or other instrument to which either 

the Bank or the Board is a party or is otherwise subject, which breach or default would in 

any way materially adversely affect the official existence or powers of the Bank or the 

Board, the Bank Resolution, the Indenture, the City Bond Purchase Agreement or the 

issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, and no event has occurred and is continuing, which 

with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute such a breach 

of or default under any such instrument; and the execution and delivery of or acceptance 

of this Bond Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, and 

the Series 2023 Bonds and the adoption of the Bank Resolution and compliance with the 

provisions of each thereof will not conflict with or constitute a breach of or default under 

any law, administrative regulation, judgment, decree, agreement or other instrument to 

which either the Bank or the Board is a party or is otherwise subject. 

(e) At the time of the Bank's acceptance hereof, the Preliminary Official 

Statement as it pertains to the Bank does not contain any untrue statement of a material 

fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the 

statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 

misleading. 

- 164 -

Item # 11.



7 
 

(f) No summons or complaint or any other notice or document has been 

served upon or delivered to the Bank or the Board or any of their officers or employees 

relating to any litigation, and there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, or investigation, 

at law or in equity, before or by any court, public board or body, pending or, to the best 

knowledge of the Bank or the Board, threatened against the Bank or the Board, affecting 

the existence of the Bank or the Board, the titles of their officers to their respective 

offices or seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin the sale, issuance or delivery of the Series 

2023 Bonds or in any way contesting or affecting the validity or enforceability of the 

Series 2023 Bonds or the tax exempt status of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Bank 

Resolution, the Indenture, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, the acceptance and 

assignment of the City Bond or this Bond Purchase Agreement or contesting in any way 

the completeness or accuracy of the Preliminary Official Statement, or contesting the 

powers of the Bank or the Board or any authority for the issuance of the Series 2023 

Bonds, the adoption of the Bank Resolution, the acceptance and assignment of the City 

Bond or the execution or acceptance of this Bond Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, the 

City Bond Purchase Agreement, or the Bank's performance thereunder, nor is there any 

controversy or litigation pending or, to the best knowledge of the Bank or the Board, 

threatened, nor, to the best of the knowledge of the Bank and the Board, is there any basis 

therefore, wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would materially adversely 

affect the tax exempt status of the interest on the Series 2023 Bonds or the validity or 

enforceability of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Bank Resolution, the Indenture, the City 

Bond Purchase Agreement, the City Bond, or this Bond Purchase Agreement. 

(g) Except as otherwise provided herein, (i) the Bank Resolution, the 

Indenture, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, and the Series 2023 Bonds conform to the 

description thereof contained in the Preliminary Official Statement, and (ii) the Series 

2023 Bonds, this Bond Purchase Agreement, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, the 

Bank Resolution, and the Indenture will constitute valid, legally binding, and enforceable 

obligations of the Bank. 

(h) The proceeds from the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds will be used or 

applied as is provided in the Bond Resolutions, the Indenture, and the Preliminary 

Official Statement. 

(i) If required by law to do so in the future, the Bank will undertake, pursuant 

to a continuing disclosure agreement with the City and the Trustee, to provide notices of 

certain events in connection with the Series 2023 Bonds.   

(j) To the best of the Bank's knowledge, the Preliminary Official Statement 

does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein in connection 

with the Bank or the Series 2023 Bonds, in the light of the circumstances under which 

they were made, not misleading, and as of the Closing, the Official Statement will not 

contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to 

be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein in connection with the Bank 

or the Series 2023 Bonds, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, 

not misleading.   

- 165 -

Item # 11.



8 
 

5. Representations and Warranties of the City. The City represents and warrants 

to, and agrees with the Underwriter that: 

(a) The City is a public body corporate and a political subdivision of the State 

and a "local governmental unit" within the meaning of the Bank Act.  The Governing 

Body is duly organized and existing under the Constitution and laws of the State and is 

authorized, pursuant to the provisions of Sections 21-33-301 et seq., Mississippi Code of 

1972, as amended and supplemented from time to time, (the "City Act" and together with 

the Bank Act, the "Act"), to issue the City Bond under the terms and provisions of the 

City Bond Resolution, under which the City's obligations on the City Bond arise, and 

otherwise to act on behalf of the City in connection with the execution of the City Bond 

Purchase Agreement and the execution and delivery of the City Bond. 

(b) The Governing Body, on behalf of the City, shall have full legal right, 

power and authority to enter into or accept this Bond Purchase Agreement, the 

Continuing Disclosure Certificate (as hereinafter defined) and the City Bond Purchase 

Agreement, to execute, issue and deliver the City Bond to the Bank as provided in the 

City Bond Resolution and the City Bond Purchase Agreement and to carry out and 

consummate all other transactions contemplated by this Bond Purchase Agreement, the 

City Bond Purchase Agreement, the City Bond, the City Bond Resolution, the Continuing 

Disclosure Certificate and the Official Statement. 

(c) By official action of the Governing Body prior to or concurrently with the 

acceptance hereof, the Governing Body has duly adopted the City Bond Resolution and 

has duly approved the execution and delivery by the Mayor of the City (the "Mayor") 

and/or the City Clerk (the "Clerk") and/or an Authorized Officer of the City of this Bond 

Purchase Agreement, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure 

Certificate, and the City Bond, has duly authorized and approved the execution and 

delivery of or acceptance of, and the performance by the City of the obligations of the 

City contained in, the City Bond, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, the Continuing 

Disclosure Certificate, and this Bond Purchase Agreement and the consummation by it of 

all other transactions contemplated by the Preliminary Official Statement and this Bond 

Purchase Agreement. 

(d) Neither the City nor the Governing Body is in breach of or default under 

any applicable law or administrative regulation of the State or the United States of 

America or any applicable judgment or decree or any agreement or other instrument to 

which either the City or the Governing Body is a party or is otherwise subject, which 

breach or default would in any way materially adversely affect the official existence or 

powers of the City or the Governing Body, the City Bond Resolution or the issuance of 

the City Bond and no event has occurred and is continuing which with the passage of 

time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute such a breach of or default under 

any such instrument; and the execution and delivery of or acceptance of this Bond 

Purchase Agreement, the City Bond, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, the adoption 

of the City Bond Resolution, the execution and delivery of the City Bond Purchase 

Agreement, and compliance with the provisions of each thereof will not conflict with or 

constitute a breach of or default under any law, administrative regulation, judgment, 

- 166 -

Item # 11.



9 
 

decree, agreement or other instrument to which either the City or the Governing Body is a 

party or is otherwise subject. 

(e) The Preliminary Official Statement does not contain any untrue statement 

of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary 

to make the statements therein in connection with the City, the City Bond Resolution, the 

City Bond Purchase Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, and the City 

Bond, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, and 

as of the Closing, the Official Statement will not contain any untrue statement of a 

material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to 

make the statements therein in connection with the City, the City Bond Resolution, the 

City Bond Purchase Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, and the City 

Bond, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. 

(f) The financial statements and the statistical and financial information of the 

City referred to or contained in the Preliminary Official Statement with respect to the 

Series 2023 Bonds are, and as to the Official Statement (including any and all 

supplements and amendments thereto) will, present fairly the financial position of the 

City as of the dates indicated therein and the results of operations for the periods 

specified therein, and the financial statements therein have been prepared in conformity 

with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied in all material respects 

with respect to the periods involved. 

(g) Between the date of this Bond Purchase Agreement and the Closing, 

neither the City nor the Governing Body on behalf of the City, will, without the prior 

written consent of the Underwriter, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, 

issue any bonds, notes or other obligations for borrowed money. 

(h) No summons or complaint or any other notice or document has been 

served upon or delivered to the City or the Governing Body or any of their officers or 

employees relating to any litigation, and there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, or 

investigation, at law or in equity, before or by any court, public board or body, pending 

or, to the best knowledge of the City or the Governing Body, threatened against the City 

or the Governing Body, affecting the existence of the City or the Governing Body, the 

titles of their officers to their respective offices or seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin 

the issuance or delivery of the City Bond, or in any way contesting or affecting the 

validity or enforceability of the City Bond Resolution, the City Bond Purchase 

Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, and the City Bond, the tax exempt 

status of the interest on the Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond, or this Bond Purchase 

Agreement or contesting in any way the completeness or accuracy of the Preliminary 

Official Statement, or contesting the powers of the City or the Governing Body or any 

authority for the issuance of the City Bond, the adoption of the City Bond Resolution, the 

City Bond Purchase Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, and this Bond 

Purchase Agreement, or the City's performance thereunder, nor is there any controversy 

or litigation pending, or to the best knowledge of the City or the Governing Body, 

threatened, nor, to the best of the knowledge of the City and the Governing Body, is there 

any basis therefore, wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would materially 

- 167 -

Item # 11.



10 
 

adversely affect the tax exempt status of the Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond, the 

validity or enforceability of the Series 2023 Bonds, the City Bond, the City Bond 

Resolution, City Bond Purchase Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, or 

this Bond Purchase Agreement. 

(i) The proceeds from the sale of the City Bond to the Bank by the City as 

evidenced by the City Bond Purchase Agreement and the City Bond will be used or 

applied as provided in the City Bond Resolution, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, and 

the Preliminary Official Statement. 

(j) The City will undertake, pursuant to the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, 

to provide annual reports and notices of certain events in connection with the Series 2023 

Bonds for the benefit of the holders of the Series 2023 Series 2023 Bonds and to deliver, 

or cause to be delivered, to (a) the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the 

"MSRB") through the MSRB's Electronic Municipal Market Assess system (EMMA), in 

the electronic format then prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission 

pursuant to Rule 15c2-12, and (b) any public or private repository or entity designated by 

the State as a State repository, if any, for the purposes of the Rule, the information 

described in the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, together with any identifying 

information or other information then required to accompany the applicable filing. 

(k) Except as otherwise provided herein, (i) the City Bond Resolution, the 

City Bond Purchase Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate and the City Bond 

conform to the descriptions thereof contained in the Preliminary Official Statement, 

(ii) the City Bond, when issued and delivered in accordance with the City Bond 

Resolution and the City Bond Purchase Agreement, will be a validly issued and 

outstanding general obligation of the City secured by a pledge of its full faith, credit, and 

taxing power, all as more fully described in the Preliminary Official Statement and as to 

be more fully described in the Official Statement, and (iii)  the City Bond Purchase 

Agreement, this Bond Purchase Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, the 

City Bond Resolution, and the City Bond will constitute valid, legally binding and 

enforceable obligation of the City. 

6. Further Representations and Warranties of the Bank. The Bank further 

represents and warrants to, and agrees with the Underwriter that: 

(a) The Bank will furnish such information, execute such instruments, and 

take such other reasonable action in cooperation with the Underwriter as the Underwriter 

may reasonably request to qualify the Series 2023 Bonds for offer and sale under the 

Blue Sky or other securities laws or regulations of such states and other jurisdictions of 

the United States of America as the Underwriter may designate; provided, however, that 

the Bank shall not be required to consent to service of process in any state or place where 

such is not provided by the laws of such state. 

(b) No consent, approval, authorization or order of or filing, registration or 

declaration with any court or government agency or body is required for the sale, 

issuance or delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds or the consummation of the other 

- 168 -

Item # 11.



11 
 

transactions effected or contemplated herein or thereby, except such as may be required 

under the Blue Sky or other securities laws or regulations of any jurisdiction in 

connection with the offer and sale of the Series 2023 Bonds by the Underwriter, or if any 

such consent, approval or authorization is required, the Bank will obtain it prior to the 

date of the Closing and will provide reasonable evidence to the Underwriter that the same 

has been obtained. 

(c) Except as otherwise provided herein, (i) the Bank Resolution, the 

Indenture, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, the City Bond, and the Series 2023 Bonds 

conform to the descriptions thereof contained in the Preliminary Official Statement, (ii) 

the Series 2023 Bonds, when validly issued, authenticated, and delivered in accordance 

with the Bank Resolution and the Indenture and sold to the Underwriter as provided 

herein, will be validly issued and outstanding limited obligations of the Bank entitled to 

the benefits and security of the Bank Resolution and the Indenture, all as more fully 

described in the Preliminary Official Statement and as to be more fully described in the 

Official Statement, and will constitute valid, legally binding, and enforceable limited 

obligations of the Bank, and (iii) the Bank Resolution and the Indenture will constitute 

valid, legally binding and enforceable obligations of the Bank. 

(d) In order for the Underwriter to comply with Rule 15c2-12, the Bank: 

(i) Represents and warrants that, if, after the date of this Bond Purchase 

Agreement and until twenty-five (25) days after the "end of the underwriting period", as 

such term is defined in Rule 15c2-12, any event shall occur, and be known to the Bank, 

as a result of which it is necessary to amend or supplement the Official Statement in order 

to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances when the Official Statement 

is delivered to a purchaser, not misleading, or if it is necessary to amend or supplement 

the Official Statement to comply with law, it will notify the Underwriter (and for the 

purposes of this paragraph (i) of this subsection (d) to provide the Underwriter with such 

information as it may from time to time reasonably request), and it will forthwith prepare 

and furnish, at the expense of the City (in a form and manner reasonably acceptable to the 

Underwriter), a reasonable number of copies of either amendments or supplements to the 

Official Statement so that the statements in the Official Statement as so amended and 

supplemented will not, in light of the circumstances when the Official Statement is 

delivered to a purchaser, be misleading or so that the Official Statement will comply with 

all applicable laws and regulations; 

(ii) Represents and warrants that, at the time of the Bank's acceptance hereof, 

and unless an event of the nature described in paragraph (i) of this subsection (d) occurs, 

at all times subsequent thereto during the period up to and including twenty-five (25) 

days subsequent to the end of the underwriting period, the Official Statement does not 

and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material 

fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not 

misleading; and 

(iii) Represents and warrants that, if the Official Statement is supplemented or 

amended pursuant to paragraph (i) of this subsection (d), at the time of each supplement 

- 169 -

Item # 11.



12 
 

or amendment thereto and (unless an event of the nature described in paragraph (i) of this 

subsection (d) subsequently occurs ) at all times subsequent thereto during the period up 

to and including twenty-five (25) days subsequent to the end of the underwriting period, 

the Official Statement as so supplemented or amended will not contain any untrue 

statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein 

or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading; and 

(iv) Unless otherwise notified in writing by the Underwriter by the date of 

Closing, the Bank can assume that the "end of the underwriting period" for purposes of 

Rule 15c2-12 is the Closing.  In the event such notice is so given in writing by the 

Underwriter, the Underwriter agrees to notify the Bank in writing following the 

occurrence of the "end of the underwriting period" as defined in Rule 15c2-12.  The "end 

of the underwriting period" as used in this Bond Purchase Agreement shall mean the date 

of Closing or such later date as to which notice is given by the Underwriter in accordance 

with the preceding sentence. 

(e) The proceeds from the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds will be used or 

applied as is provided in the Bank Resolution, the Indenture and the Preliminary Official 

Statement. 

7. Closing. The Bank will deliver the Series 2023 Bonds by delivery thereof to Cede 

& Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") as directed by the Underwriter 

against payment of the purchase price therefore by wire transfer of immediately available funds 

to the Trustee at or prior to 9:00 o'clock a.m., Central Standard Time, on ______, 2023, or such 

other place, time or date as shall be mutually agreed upon by the Bank and the Underwriter.  The 

Series 2023 Bonds will be delivered in fully registered form in such denominations and 

registered to such persons as the Underwriter shall request at least three (3) days prior to the date 

of the Closing.  The Series 2023 Bonds may be in printed, engraved, typewritten or photocopied 

form and each such form shall constitute "definitive form." The legal documents required by this 

Bond Purchase Agreement and the Official Statement shall be delivered to the parties hereto at 

the offices of Bond Counsel in Ridgeland, Mississippi, on such date or such other date 

corresponding with the payment for and delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds, and 

contemporaneously with such payment and delivery.  

8. Closing Conditions. The Underwriter has entered into this Bond Purchase 

Agreement in reliance upon the representations, warranties and agreements of the Bank and the 

City contained herein and to be contained in the documents and instruments to be delivered at the 

Closing and upon the performance by the Bank and the City of their obligations hereunder, both 

as of the date hereof and as of the date of Closing.  Accordingly, the Underwriter's obligations 

under this Bond Purchase Agreement to purchase and pay for the Series 2023 Bonds shall be 

subject to the performance by the Bank and the City of their obligations to be performed 

hereunder and under such documents and instruments at or prior to the Closing, and shall also be 

subject to the following conditions: 

(a) The representations and warranties of the Bank and the City contained 

herein shall be true, complete and correct as of the date hereof, and on and as of the date 

of Closing with the same effect as if made on the date of Closing. 

- 170 -

Item # 11.



13 
 

(b) At the time of the Closing, the Indenture and the Bond Resolutions shall 

be in full force and effect, and shall not have been amended, modified, or supplemented, 

and the Official Statement shall not have been amended, modified, or supplemented, 

except as may have been agreed to by the Underwriter. 

(c) At the time of Closing, all official action of the Bank and the City relating 

to this Bond Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, the Series 2023 Bonds, the Bond 

Resolutions, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, the City Bond, and the Preliminary 

Official Statement shall be in full force and effect and shall not have been amended, 

modified or supplemented, except as may have been agreed to by the Underwriter. 

(d) The Bank and the City shall not have, subsequent to the date hereof and 

prior to Closing, failed to pay principal or interest when due on any of their obligations 

for money borrowed wherein such failure, if any, would have a material adverse impact 

on their ability to perform in accordance with this Bond Purchase Agreement, the 

Indenture, the Series 2023 Bonds, the Bond Resolutions or the City Bond except as set 

forth in the Official Statement. 

(e) The Underwriter shall have the right to terminate its obligations under this 

Bond Purchase Agreement to purchase and pay for the Series 2023 Bonds by notifying 

the Bank and the City of its election to do so if, after the execution hereof and prior to the 

Closing: (i) legislation shall have been introduced in or enacted by the Congress of the 

United States of America or enacted by the State, or legislation pending in the Congress 

of the United States of America shall have been amended, or a decision shall have been 

rendered by a court of the United States of America or the State, including the Tax Court 

of the United States of America or a ruling shall have been made or a regulation shall 

have been proposed or made or a press release or other form of notice shall have been 

issued by the Treasury Department of the United States of America or the Internal 

Revenue Service or other federal or State authority, with respect to federal or State 

taxation upon revenues or other income of the general character to be derived by the State 

or by a similar body, or upon interest on the Series 2023 Bonds or the City Bond or 

obligations of the general character of the Series 2023 Bonds or the City Bond which 

may have the purpose or effect, directly or indirectly, of affecting the tax status of the 

Bank and the City, the Bank's property or income, its securities (including the Series 

2023 Bonds) or the interest thereon, or any tax exemption granted or authorized by the 

Act, in the sole reasonable opinion of the Underwriter, affects materially and adversely 

the market for the Series 2023 Bonds, or the market price generally of obligations of the 

general character of the Series 2023 Bonds or the City Bond; (ii) the outbreak or 

escalation of hostilities involving the United States of America or the declaration by the 

United States of America of a national emergency or war, if the effect of any such event 

specified in this clause (ii) in the reasonable judgment of the Underwriter makes it 

impracticable or inadvisable to proceed with the public offering or the delivery of the 

Series 2023 Bonds on the terms and in the manner contemplated by the Official 

Statement; (iii) there shall have occurred a general suspension of trading on the New 

York Stock Exchange or the declaration of a general banking moratorium by the United 

States of America, New York State or State authorities; (iv) there shall have been issued a 

stop order, ruling, or regulation affecting the validity or tax exempt status of the Series 

- 171 -

Item # 11.



14 
 

2023 Bonds or the City Bond by the Securities and Exchange Commission; (v) an event 

described in subsection (d) of Paragraph 6 hereof occurs which, in the reasonable opinion 

of the Underwriter, requires or has required the preparation and distribution of a 

supplement or amendment to the Official Statement and which in the reasonable opinion 

of the Underwriter affects materially and adversely the market for the Series 2023 Bonds; 

(vi) the marketability of the Series 2023 Bonds or the market price thereof, in the opinion 

of the underwriter, has been materially and adversely affected by disruptive events, 

occurrences or conditions in the securities or debt markets; or (vii) there shall have 

occurred or any notice shall have been given of any intended downgrading, suspension, 

withdrawal or negative change in credit watch status by any national rating service to any 

of the City's obligations. 

(f) At or prior to the Closing, the Underwriter shall have received each of the 

following documents: 

(i) The Official Statement, together with any supplements or amendments to 

the Official Statement in the event that the Official Statement has been supplemented or 

amended, executed on behalf of the Bank by the Executive Director of the Bank; 

(ii) A copy of the Bank Resolution certified as of the date of the Closing by 

the Secretary or the Assistant Secretary of the Bank as having been duly adopted by the 

Board and as being in effect, with such amendments, modifications and supplements as 

may have been agreed to by the Underwriter; 

(iii) A copy of the City Bond Resolution certified as of the date of the Closing 

by the Clerk as having been duly adopted by the Governing Body and as being in effect, 

with such amendments, modifications and supplements as may have been agreed to by 

the Underwriter; 

(iv) Executed copies of the Indenture, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, the 

Continuing Disclosure Certificate and the City Bond, with such amendments, 

modifications and supplements as may have been agreed to by the Underwriter; 

(v) The unqualified opinion, dated the date of the Closing, of Bond Counsel in 

substantially the form attached to the Preliminary Official Statement and incorporated 

herein by this reference thereto, and a letter from such Bond Counsel, dated the date of 

the Closing and addressed to the Underwriter, to the effect that such opinion may be 

relied upon by the Underwriter to the same extent as if such opinion were addressed to 

the Underwriter; 

(vi) An opinion, dated the date of the Closing and addressed to the 

Underwriter, of Counsel to the Bank (the "Bank Counsel"), to the effect that (A) the 

Bank and the Board are duly organized and existing under the laws of the State, including 

the Bank Act; (B) the Bank Resolution has been duly adopted by the Board on behalf of 

the Bank which has full power and authority to perform its obligations thereunder and has 

not been amended; (C) this Bond Purchase Agreement, the Series 2023 Bonds, the City 

Bond Purchase Agreement and the Indenture have been duly authorized, executed and 

- 172 -

Item # 11.



15 
 

delivered, or accepted, by the Board on behalf of the Bank; (D) the Bank Resolution, the 

Series 2023 Bonds, the City Bond Purchase Agreement and the Indenture constitute, 

assuming the valid authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties thereto, 

legal and binding obligations of the Bank, enforceable in accordance with their respective 

terms, subject to (1) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar laws of the State 

or federal government affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally, and (2) the 

fact that specific performance and other equitable remedies are granted only in the 

discretion of a court; (E) neither the execution, delivery or performance by the Bank of 

this Bond Purchase Agreement, the Series 2023 Bonds, the City Bond Purchase 

Agreement or the Indenture conflicts with or results in a breach of the terms or provisions 

of the Constitution of the State or any State law including the Act; (F) all consents, 

approvals and other action required by any governmental authority or agency in 

connection with the execution, delivery and performance, or acceptance of, by the Bank 

of this Bond Purchase Agreement, the Series 2023 Bonds, the City Bond Purchase 

Agreement and the Indenture have been obtained or accomplished; (G) the Board on 

behalf of the Bank has duly approved the form of and authorized the use by the 

Underwriter of the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement in 

connection with the offering and sale of the Series 2023 Bonds by the Underwriter; 

(H) the Series 2023 Bonds, the Indenture, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, and the 

Bank Resolution conform as to form and tenor with the terms and provisions thereof as 

summarized and set out in the Official Statement; and (I) without having undertaken to 

determine independently the accuracy or completeness of the statements contained in the 

Official Statement, such counsel has no reason to believe that, as of the date of the 

Closing, the Official Statement (except for financial statements and other financial and 

statistical data and "TAX MATTERS" or Appendices A and B, included therein, as to 

which no view need be expressed) contains any untrue statement of a material fact or 

omits to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the 

statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 

misleading, or that the Official Statement, as the same may have been amended or 

supplemented to the date of the Closing pursuant to subsection (d) of Paragraph 6 hereof 

(except as aforesaid), as of the date of the Closing contains any untrue statement of a 

material fact or omits to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to 

make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were 

made, not misleading; 

(vii) An opinion, dated the date of the Closing and addressed to the 

Underwriter of Ben Logan, Esquire, Tupelo, Mississippi, as counsel to the City (the "City 

Counsel"), to the effect that (A) the City and the Governing Body are duly organized and 

existing under the laws of the State; (B) the City Bond Resolution has been duly adopted 

by the Governing Body on behalf of the City which has full power and authority to 

perform its obligations thereunder and has not been amended; (C) this Bond Purchase 

Agreement, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, 

and the City Bond have been duly authorized, executed and delivered, or approved, by 

the Governing Body on behalf of the City; (D) the City Bond Purchase Agreement, the 

City Bond, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, and the City Bond Resolution 

constitute, assuming the valid authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties 

thereto, if any, legal and binding obligations of the City, enforceable in accordance with 

- 173 -

Item # 11.



16 
 

their respective terms, subject to (1) applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar 

laws of the State or federal government affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights 

generally, and (2) the fact that specific performance and other equitable remedies are 

granted only in the discretion of a court; (E) neither the execution, delivery nor 

performance by the City of this Bond Purchase Agreement, the City Bond Purchase 

Agreement, the City Bond, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, or the City Bond 

Resolution conflicts with or results in a breach of the terms or provisions of the 

Constitution of the State or any State law; (F) all consents, approvals, and other action 

required by any governmental authority or agency in connection with the execution, 

delivery, and performance by the City of this Bond Purchase Agreement, the City Bond 

Resolution, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, 

and the City Bond have been obtained or accomplished; (G) the City Bond Purchase 

Agreement, the City Bond, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate and the City Bond 

Resolution conform as to form and tenor with the terms and provisions thereof as 

summarized and set out in the Official Statement; and (H) without having undertaken to 

determine independently the accuracy or completeness of the statements contained in the 

Official Statement, he has no reason to believe that, as of the date of the Closing, the 

Official Statement contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any 

material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein in 

connection with the City, the City Bond Resolution, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, 

the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, and the City Bond, in the light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or that the Official 

Statement, as the same may have been amended or supplemented to the date of the 

Closing pursuant to subsection (d) of Paragraph 6 hereof (except as aforesaid), as of the 

date of the Closing contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a 

material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein in 

connection with the City, the City Bond Resolution, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, 

the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, and the City Bond, in the light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; 

(viii) The supplemental opinion of Bond Counsel addressed to the Underwriter, 

in form and substance satisfactory to the Underwriter; 

(ix) A certificate, dated the date of the Closing and signed by the Executive 

Director and Secretary of the Bank to the effect that (A) the representations and 

warranties of the Bank contained herein are true and correct in all material respects on 

and as of the date of the Closing with the same effect as if made on the date of the 

Closing; (B) no summons or complaint or any other notice or document has been served 

upon or delivered to the Bank or any of their officers or employees relating to any 

litigation, and there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in 

equity, before or by any court, public board or body, pending or, to the best of their 

knowledge, threatened against the Bank or the Board, affecting the existence of the Bank 

or the Board, or the titles of their officers to their respective offices, or seeking to 

prohibit, restrain or enjoin the sale, issuance or delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds, or in 

any way contesting or affecting  the tax exempt status of the interest on the Series 2023 

Bonds or the validity or enforceability of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Bank Resolution, the 

City Bond Purchase Agreement, the Indenture, or this Bond Purchase Agreement, or 

- 174 -

Item # 11.



17 
 

contesting in any way the completeness or accuracy of the Official Statement, or 

contesting the powers of the Bank, the Board or any authority for the issuance of the 

Series 2023 Bonds, the adoption of the Bank Resolution or the execution or acceptance of 

this Bond Purchase Agreement, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, and the Indenture, 

nor is there any controversy or litigation pending or, to the best of their knowledge, 

threatened, nor to the best of their knowledge is there any basis therefor, wherein any 

unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would materially adversely affect the tax exempt 

status of the interest on the Series 2023 Bonds or the validity or enforceability of the 

Series 2023 Bonds, the Bank Resolution, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, the 

Indenture, or this Bond Purchase Agreement (but in lieu of or in conjunction with such 

certificate the Underwriter may, in its sole discretion, accept certificates or opinions of 

the Bank Counsel, that in its opinion the issues raised in any such pending or threatened 

litigation are without substance or that the contentions of all plaintiffs therein are without 

merit); (C) to the best of their knowledge, no event affecting the Bank or Board has 

occurred since the date of the Official Statement that should be disclosed in the Official 

Statement, as the same may be supplemented or amended, in order that the Official 

Statement shall not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 

material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in 

the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (D) the 

Bank and the Board have complied with all the agreements and satisfied all the 

conditions on their respective parts to be performed or satisfied at or prior to the Closing; 

(x) A certificate, dated the date of the Closing and signed by the Mayor and 

the Clerk to the effect that (A) the representations and warranties of the City contained 

herein are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the date of the Closing 

with the same effect as if made on the date of the Closing; (B) no summons or complaint 

or any other notice or document has been served upon or delivered to the City or any of 

their officers or employees relating to any litigation, and there is no action, suit, 

proceeding, inquiry or investigation, at law or in equity, before or by any court, public 

board or body, pending or, to the best of their knowledge, threatened against the City or 

the Governing Body, affecting the existence of the City or the Governing Body, or the 

titles of their officers to their respective offices, or seeking to prohibit, restrain or enjoin 

the execution or delivery of the City Bond, or in any way contesting or affecting the tax 

exempt status of the interest on the Series 2023 Bonds or the City Bond, or the validity or 

enforceability of the City Bond, the City Bond Resolution, the City Bond Purchase 

Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate or this Bond Purchase Agreement, or 

contesting in any way the completeness or accuracy of the Official Statement, or 

contesting the powers of the City, the Governing Body, or any authority for the issuance 

of the City Bond, the adoption of the City Bond Resolution, or the execution or approval 

of this Bond Purchase Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, and the City 

Bond Purchase Agreement, nor is any controversy or litigation pending or, to the best of 

their knowledge, threatened, nor to the best of their knowledge is there any basis therefor 

wherein any unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would materially adversely affect the 

validity or enforceability of the City Bond, the tax exempt status of the interest on the 

City Bond, the City Bond Resolution, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, the Continuing 

Disclosure Certificate, or this Bond Purchase Agreement (but in lieu of or in conjunction 

with such certificate the Underwriter may, in its sole discretion, accept certificates or 

- 175 -

Item # 11.



18 
 

opinions of the City Counsel, that in its opinion the issues raised in any such pending or 

threatened litigation are without substance or that the contentions of all plaintiffs therein 

are without merit); (C) to the best of their knowledge, no event affecting the City or 

Governing Body has occurred since the date of the Official Statement that should be 

disclosed in the Official Statement, as the same may be supplemented or amended, in 

order that the Official Statement shall not contain any untrue statement of a material fact 

or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the 

statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 

misleading; and (D) the City and the Governing Body have complied with all the 

agreements and satisfied all the conditions on their respective parts to be performed or 

satisfied at or prior to the Closing; 

(xi) A certificate or agreement, dated the date of Closing, signed by the 

Executive Director of the Bank, in a form acceptable to Bond Counsel and the 

Underwriter with respect to the compliance by the Bank with applicable arbitrage and 

other applicable requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the 

Treasury Regulations thereunder (hereinafter called the "Code"), to support the 

conclusion that the Series 2023 Bonds will not be "arbitrage bonds" under the Code; 

(xii) A certificate or agreement, dated the date of Closing, signed by the Mayor, 

in a form acceptable to Bond Counsel and the Underwriter with respect to the compliance 

by the City with applicable arbitrage and other applicable requirements of the Code to 

support the conclusion that the Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond will not be 

"arbitrage bonds" under the Code; 

(xiii) The unqualified final decree of the Chancery Court of the First Judicial 

District of Hinds County, Mississippi validating the Series 2023 Bonds, in customary 

form, and the unqualified final decree of the Chancery Court of Lee County, Mississippi 

validating the City Bond, in customary form; 

(xiv) A certified copy of a transcript of all proceedings taken by the Bank 

relating to the authorization and issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds and the execution and 

delivery of the Indenture, this Bond Purchase Agreement, and the City Bond Purchase 

Agreement; 

(xv) A certified copy of a transcript of all proceedings taken by the City and 

relating to the authorization and issuance of the City Bond and the execution and delivery 

of this Bond Purchase Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, and the City 

Bond Purchase Agreement;  

(xvi) The Underwriter shall have received a certificate, dated the date of 

Closing and signed by an authorized officer of the Trustee, to the effect that (A) such 

officer is an authorized officer of the Trustee, (B) the Indenture and the Continuing 

Disclosure Certificate have been duly executed and delivered by the Trustee, (C) the 

Trustee has all necessary corporate and trust powers required to carry out the trust created 

by the Indenture, (D) to the best of such officer's knowledge, the acceptance by the 

Trustee of the duties and obligations of the Trustee under the Indenture and compliance 

- 176 -

Item # 11.



19 
 

with the provisions thereof will not conflict with or constitute a breach of or default under 

any law, administrative regulation, consent decree or any agreement or other instrument 

to which the Trustee is subject or by which the Trustee is bound, and (E) the Trustee has 

duly authenticated the Series 2023 Bonds, and the person signing the certificate of 

authentication on each Bond has been duly authorized to do so; 

(xvii) A certificate, dated the date of the Closing, signed by the Executive 

Director or the President of the Bank and the Secretary or the Assistant Secretary of the 

Bank, certifying that on the date of the execution of the certificate (A) they are the duly 

chosen, qualified and acting officers of the Bank occupying the offices indicated opposite 

their names, (B) the members of the Governing Body at all times relevant to the sale and 

issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds are as set forth therein, (C) the Executive Director or 

the President and the Secretary or the Assistant Secretary of the Bank have executed the 

Series 2023 Bonds by causing their signatures to be affixed to each Bond, (D) they do 

thereby recognize the said signatures as their true and lawful signatures, and (E) further 

certifying that the seal, which is imprinted on each of said Series 2023 Bonds and on such 

certificate is the official seal of the Bank; 

(xviii) A certificate, dated the date of the Closing, signed by the Mayor and the 

Clerk, certifying that on the date of the execution of the certificate (A) they are the duly 

chosen, qualified and acting officers of the City occupying the offices indicated opposite 

their names, (B) the members of the Governing Body at all times relevant to the adoption 

of the City Bond Resolution, the execution and delivery of the City Bond Purchase 

Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, and the City Bond and the issuance 

thereof, are as set forth therein, (C) the Mayor and the Clerk have executed the City Bond 

Purchase Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, this Bond Purchase 

Agreement and the City Bond by causing their signatures to be affixed to the City Bond 

Purchase Agreement, this Bond Purchase Agreement, and the City Bond, (D) they do 

thereby recognize the said signatures as their true and lawful signatures, and (E) further 

certifying that the seal which is imprinted on the City Bond Purchase Agreement, the 

Continuing Disclosure Certificate, the City Bond, and on such certificate, is the official 

seal of the City; 

(xix) A certificate, dated the date of the Closing, signed by the Executive 

Director or the President of the Bank and the Secretary or the Assistant Secretary of the 

Bank, to the effect that nothing has come to their attention which would lead them to 

believe that the Official Statement, as of its date and as of the date of the Closing, 

contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact which 

should be included therein for the purpose for which the Official Statement is to be used, 

or which is necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under 

which they were made, not misleading and in providing such certificate, the Executive 

Director or the President of the Bank and the Secretary or the Assistant Secretary of the 

Bank may state that they have not undertaken to independently verify information 

outlined or derived from the various publications or other similar sources as presented 

therein; 

- 177 -

Item # 11.



20 
 

(xx) A certificate, dated the date of the Closing, signed by the Mayor and the 

Clerk, to the effect that nothing has come to their attention that would lead them to 

believe that the Official Statement, as of its date and as of the date of the Closing, 

contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact that 

should be included therein for the purpose for which the Official Statement is to be used, 

or which is necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under 

which they were made, not misleading and in providing such certificate, the Mayor and 

the Clerk may state that they have not undertaken to independently verify information 

outlined or derived from the various publications or other similar sources as presented 

therein; 

(xxi) A certificate of the Trustee, as paying agent for the City Bond, in form and 

substance acceptable to the Underwriter and Bond Counsel; 

(xxii) A copy of the Letter of Representation to DTC from the Bank; 

(xxiii) To the extent not otherwise included herein, a copy of each of the 

documents described in Section 2.4 of the Indenture; and 

(xxiv) Such additional legal opinions, certificates, instruments and other 

documents as the Underwriter or bond counsel may reasonably request to evidence the 

truth and accuracy, as of the date hereof and as of the date of the Closing, of the 

representations and warranties contained herein and of the statements and information of 

the Bank and the City contained in the Official Statement and the due performance or 

satisfaction by the Bank and the City at or prior to the date of the Closing of all 

agreements then to be performed and all the conditions then to be satisfied by the Bank 

and the City. 

All the opinions, letters, certificates, instruments and other documents mentioned above 

or elsewhere in this Bond Purchase Agreement shall be deemed to be in compliance with the 

provisions hereof but only if they are delivered to the Underwriter in form and substance 

satisfactory to the Underwriter. 

If the Bank and the City, in good faith, shall be unable to satisfy the conditions to the 

obligations of the Underwriter contained in this Bond Purchase Agreement (unless the 

Underwriter waives and/or consents to the inability to satisfy such conditions), or if such 

obligations of the Underwriter shall be terminated for any reason permitted by this Bond 

Purchase Agreement, this Bond Purchase Agreement shall terminate and neither the Underwriter, 

nor the Bank and the City shall be under further obligation hereunder. 

9. Expenses. Expenses incident to the performance of the obligations of the Bank 

and the City hereunder including but not limited to: (a) the cost of the preparation of the 

Indenture, the City Bond Purchase Agreement, the City Bond, the Bond Resolutions, the 

Preliminary Official Statement, and the Official Statement; (b) the cost of the preparation and 

printing of the definitive Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond; (c) the fees and disbursements of 

Bond Counsel, City Counsel and any other legal fees, including the State Bond Attorney fee; (d) 

the fees and disbursements of the Bank Counsel (as defined herein) and experts, financial 

- 178 -

Item # 11.



21 
 

advisors, or consultants retained by the Bank or the City; (e) fees for bond ratings; (f) the cost of 

preparation and printing of the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official Statement in 

sufficient quantity (but not to exceed 50 copies) to permit the Underwriter to comply with the 

requirements of Rule 15c2-12; and (g) the cost of the preparation of this Bond Purchase 

Agreement, shall be paid from the proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds.  Neither the Bank nor the 

City shall be required to pay any such costs or to reimburse any party for any such expenses 

other than from the proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds.  Except as provided in this Paragraph 9, 

the Underwriter shall pay: (x) all advertising expenses in connection with the public offering of 

the Series 2023 Bonds; (y) the cost of any copies of the Official Statement in excess of said copy 

limitations; and (z) all other expenses incurred by it in connection with its public offering and 

distribution of the Series 2023 Bonds.  The City shall pay for expenses (included in the expense 

component of the spread) incurred on behalf of City's employees which are incidental to 

implementing this Bond Purchase Agreement, including, but not limited to, meals, 

transportation, lodging and entertainment of those employees. 

The Bank and the City acknowledge and agree that: (i) the primary role of the 

Underwriter is to purchase bonds for resale to investors in an arms-length commercial 

transaction between the Bank, the City and the Underwriter, and that the Underwriter has 

financial and other interests that differ from those of the Bank and the City, (ii) the Underwriter 

is not acting as a municipal advisor, financial advisor or fiduciary to the Bank or the City or any 

other person or entity and has not assumed any advisory or fiduciary responsibility to the Bank 

or the City with respect to the transaction contemplated hereby and the discussions, undertakings 

and proceedings leading thereto (irrespective of whether the Underwriter has provided other 

services or is currently providing other services to the Bank or the City on other matters), (iii) the 

only obligations the Underwriter has to the Bank and the City with respect to the transaction 

contemplated hereby expressly are set forth in this Bond Purchase Agreement, and (iv) the Bank 

and the City have consulted their own legal, accounting, tax, financial and other advisors, as 

applicable, to the extent they have deemed appropriate in connection with the transaction 

contemplated herein.  The City has hired Government Consultants, Inc. as its municipal advisor 

in connection with this transaction. 

11. Notices. Any notice or other communication to be given to the Bank and the City 

under this Bond Purchase Agreement may be given by delivering the same in writing at the 

addresses set forth above and any notice or other communication to be given to the Underwriter 

under this Bond Purchase Agreement may be given by delivering the same in writing to 

Raymond James & Associates, Inc., 1100 Ridgeway Loop, 3rd Floor, Memphis, Tennessee 38120 

Attention: Municipal Finance. 

12. Parties in Interest. This Bond Purchase Agreement is made solely for the benefit 

of the Bank, the City and the Underwriter (including the successors or assigns of the 

Underwriter), and no other person shall acquire or have any right hereunder or by virtue hereof.  

All the representations, warranties and agreements of the Bank, the City, and the Underwriter 

contained in this Bond Purchase Agreement shall remain operative and in full force and effect, 

regardless of (a) any investigation made by or on behalf of the Underwriter, the Bank and the 

City; (b) delivery of any payment for the Series 2023 Bonds hereunder; and (c) any termination 

of this Bond Purchase Agreement. 

- 179 -

Item # 11.



22 
 

13. Governing Law. This Bond Purchase Agreement shall be governed by, and 

construed in accordance with, the laws of the State.  This Bond Purchase Agreement shall 

become effective upon the execution of the acceptance hereof by duly authorized officers of the 

Bank and the City and shall be valid and enforceable as of the time of such acceptance. 

14. Counterparts. This Bond Purchase Agreement may be executed in several 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute 

one and the same instrument. 

15. Entire Agreement. This Bond Purchase Agreement, when accepted by the Bank 

and the City in writing as heretofore specified, shall constitute the entire agreement among the 

parties hereto with respect to the offer and sale of the Series 2023 Bonds and the transactions 

related thereto, as set forth herein. 

16. Underwriter has No Advisory or Fiduciary Role. The Bank and the City 

acknowledge and agree that: 

(a) The primary role of the Underwriter is to purchase securities, for resale to 

investors, in an arm's length commercial transaction between the Bank and the 

Underwriter and that the Underwriter has financial and other interests that differ from 

those of the Bank and the City; 

(b) The Underwriter is not acting as a municipal advisor, financial advisor, or 

fiduciary to the Bank or the City and has not assumed any advisory or fiduciary 

responsibility to the Bank or the City with respect to the transaction contemplated by this 

Bond Purchase Agreement and the discussions, undertakings and procedures leading 

thereto (irrespective of whether the Underwriter has provided other services or is 

currently providing other services to the Bank or the City on other matters); 

(c) The only obligations the Underwriter has to the Bank and the City with 

respect to the transaction contemplated hereby are expressly set for in this Bond Purchase 

Agreement; and 

(d) The Bank and the City have consulted their own financial and/or 

municipal, legal, accounting, tax and other advisors, as applicable, to the extent they 

deem appropriate.  If the Bank would like a municipal advisor in this transaction that has 

legal fiduciary duties to the Bank, then the Bank is free to engage a municipal advisor to 

serve in that capacity.  The City has employed Government Consultants, Inc. as its 

financial advisor. 

[Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

- 180 -

Item # 11.



23 
 

If you agree with the foregoing, please sign this Bond Purchase Agreement in the space 

provided below and return one copy so executed to each of the Underwriter, the Bank and the 

City, whereby this Bond Purchase Agreement shall then become a binding agreement among the 

Underwriter, the Bank and the City. 

Very truly yours, 

 

RAYMOND JAMES & ASSOCIATES, INC., as 

Underwriter 

 

___________________________________ 

Lindsey Rea, Managing Director 

 

ACCEPTED: 

This ___ day of ____ 2023. 

MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

 

By   

       Executive Director 

 

ACCEPTED: 

CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI 

 

By   

       Mayor 

 

 

- 181 -

Item # 11.



 

A-1 
 

EXHIBIT A 

 

MATURITY SCHEDULE 

Date of 

Maturity 

(March 1) 

 

Principal 

Amount 

 

Interest 

Rate 

 

 

Yield 

 

 

Price 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

 

$,000 @ .00% due March 1, 20, Priced to Yield @ % @ % 

$,000 @ .00% due March 1, 20, Priced to Yield @ % @ % 

$,000 @ .00% due March 1, 20, Priced to Yield @ % @ % 

 

*Term Series 2023 Bonds.  Priced to the par call date of March 1, 20. 

- 182 -

Item # 11.



 

B-1 
 

EXHIBIT B 

REDEMPTION PROVISIONS 

If the City directs the Bank to redeem the Series 2023 Bonds in accordance with the City Bond 

Resolution, the Bank has agreed under the Indenture to accept redemption and to redeem the Series 2023 

Bonds in accordance with the Indenture. 

Optional Redemption. The Series 2023 Bonds (or any portions thereof in integral multiples of $5,000 

each) which mature on or after March 1, 20___, are subject to optional redemption prior to their stated date of 

maturity in whole or in part, in principal amounts and maturities as selected by the Bank on any date on or 

after March 1, 20__, at par, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption thereof.  Under the Indenture, 

selection of the Series 2023 Bonds to be redeemed within a maturity will be made by lot by the Trustee. 

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  The Series 2023 Bonds maturing March 1, 20__ in the 

principal amount of $____,000 are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption, in part, by lot, on March 1, 

in each of the years set forth below, at one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount so redeemed or 

paid, plus accrued interest as set forth below: 

$____,000 Term Series 2023 Bonds 

Maturing March 1, 20___ 

__.00% 

 

Year Principal Amount 

20 $,000 

20* $,000 

 * Final Maturity 

The Series 2023 Bonds maturing March 1, 20__ in the principal amount of $____,000 are subject to 

mandatory sinking fund redemption, in part, by lot, on March 1, in each of the years set forth below, at one 

hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount so redeemed or paid, plus accrued interest as set forth below: 

$____,000 Term Series 2023 Bonds 

Maturing March 1, 20___ 

__.00% 

 

Year Principal Amount 

20 $,000 

20* $,000 

 * Final Maturity 

- 183 -

Item # 11.



 

C-1 
 

EXHIBIT C 

DEEMED FINAL CERTIFICATE 

$___,000,000 

MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

SPECIAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2023 

(CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT GENERAL 

OBLIGATION BOND PROJECT) 

Rule 15c2-12 Certificate of the Bank and the City 

The undersigned hereby certify to Raymond James & Associates, Inc. (the 

"Underwriter"), that they are authorized to execute and deliver this Certificate and further 

certify on behalf of the Mississippi Development Bank (the "Bank") and the City of Tupelo, 

Mississippi (the "City"): 

(a) This Certificate is delivered to enable the Underwriter to comply with Securities 

and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12, as amended, under the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934 (the "Rule") in connection with the offering and sale of the Bank's $___,000,000 Special 

Obligation, Series 2023 (City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement General Obligation 

Bond Project), dated the date of delivery thereof (the "Series 2023 Bonds"). 

(b) In connection with the offering and sale of the Series 2023 Bonds, there has been 

prepared a Preliminary Official Statement, dated _____, 2023, setting forth information 

concerning the Series 2023 Bonds, the Bank and the City and certain other matters (the 

"Preliminary Official Statement"). 

(c) As used herein, "Permitted Omissions" shall mean the offering price(s), interest 

rate(s), selling compensation, aggregate principal amount, principal amount per maturity, 

delivery date, ratings and other terms of the Series 2023 Bonds depending on such matters, all 

with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds. 

(d) The information contained in the Preliminary Official Statement is final within 

the meaning of the Rule as of its date except for the Permitted Omissions. 

(e) To the best of the knowledge of the Bank and the City, the information contained 

in the Preliminary Official Statement pertaining to the Bank and the City does not contain any 

untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the 

statements made in the Preliminary Official Statement, in the light of the circumstances under 

which they were made, not misleading. 

If, at any time before the earlier of (1) receipt of notice from the Underwriter that Final 

Official Statements (as defined in the Rule) with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds are no longer 

required to be delivered under the Rule or (2) 90 days after the underwriting period of the Series 

2023 Bonds by the Underwriter, any event occurs as a result of which the information contained 

in the Final Official Statement would no longer be true and correct or would no longer be the 

most recently available information, the Bank or the City shall promptly notify the Underwriter 

of such event or shall update such information so that it is the most recent available and provide 

such updated information to the Underwriter. 

- 184 -

Item # 11.



 

C-2 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunto set our hands to be effective this ____ 

day of __________, 2023.  

MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

 

By _________________________________ 

       Executive Director 

CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI 

 

By _________________________________ 

       Mayor 

- 185 -

Item # 11.



 

D-1 
 

EXHIBIT D 

$___,000,000 

MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

SPECIAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2023 

(CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT GENERAL 

OBLIGATION BOND PROJECT) 

 

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 

The undersigned, on behalf of Raymond James & Associates, Inc. (the "Underwriter" 

and/or "RJ"), hereby certifies as set forth below with respect to the sale and issuance of the 

above-captioned obligations (the "Series 2023 Bonds"). 

1. Sale of the General Rule Maturities.  As of the date of this certificate, for each 

Maturity of the General Rule Maturities, the first price at which at least 10% of such Maturity 

was sold to the Public is the respective price listed in Schedule A. 

2. Initial Offering Price of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities. 

(a) The Underwriter offered the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities to the Public for 

purchase at the respective initial offering prices listed in Schedule A (the "Initial Offering 

Prices") on or before the Sale Date. A copy of the pricing wire or equivalent communication for 

the Series 2023 Bonds is attached to this certificate as Schedule B. 

(b) As set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Underwriter have agreed in 

writing that, (i) for each Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities, it would neither 

offer nor sell any of the Series 2023 Bonds of such Maturity to any person at a price that is 

higher than the Initial Offering Price for such Maturity during the Holding Period for such 

Maturity (the "hold-the-offering-price rule"), and (ii) any selling group agreement shall contain 

the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling group, and any retail distribution 

agreement shall contain the agreement of each broker-dealer who is a party to the retail 

distribution agreement, to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule.  Pursuant to such 

agreement, no underwriter (as defined below) has offered or sold any Maturity of the Hold-the-

Offering-Price Maturities at a price that is higher than the respective Initial Offering Price for 

that Maturity of the Series 2023 Bonds during the Holding Period. 

3. Defined Terms. 

(a) General Rule Maturities means those Maturities of the Series 2023 Bonds listed 

in Schedule A hereto as the "General Rule Maturities." 

(b) Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities means those Maturities of the Series 2023 

Bonds listed in Schedule A hereto as the "Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities." 

(c) Holding Period means, with respect to a Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity, the 

period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of (i) the close of the fifth business day 

after the Sale Date (_____, 2023), or (ii) the date on which the Underwriter have sold at least 

- 186 -

Item # 11.



 

D-2 
 

10% of such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity to the Public at prices that are no higher than the 

Initial Offering Price for such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity. 

(d) Issuer means the Mississippi Development Bank. 

(e) Maturity means Series 2023 Bonds with the same credit and payment terms. 

Series 2023 Bonds with different maturity dates, or Series 2023 Bonds with the same maturity 

date but different stated interest rates, are treated as separate maturities. 

(f) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, 

association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related party to an 

Underwriter. The term "related party" for purposes of this certificate generally means any two or 

more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly. 

(g) Sale Date means the first day on which there is a binding contract in writing for 

the sale of a Maturity of the Series 2023 Bonds. The Sale Date of the Series 2023 Bonds is 

_____, 2023. 

(h) Underwriter means (i) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with 

the Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the 

initial sale of the Series 2023 Bonds to the Public, and (ii) any person that agrees pursuant to a 

written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this paragraph to 

participate in the initial sale of the Series 2023 Bonds to the Public (including a member of a 

selling group or a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the 

Series 2023 Bonds to the Public). 

4. Yield. 

The yield on the Series 2023 Bonds has been calculated to be not less than _____%.  The 

20___ through 20___ maturities were treated as having been redeemed on the optional 

redemption dates that produces the lowest yield on such maturities. 

5. Weighted Average Maturity. 

The weighted average maturity of the Series 2023 Bonds has been calculated to be _____ 

years. 

The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only. Nothing 

in this certificate represents the Underwriter' interpretation of any laws, including specifically 

Sections 103 and 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury 

Regulations thereunder. The undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be 

relied upon by the Issuer and City of Tupelo, Mississippi (the "City") with respect to certain of 

the representations set forth in the Arbitrage Certificate of the Issuer and the City and with 

respect to compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting the Series 2023 Bonds, and by 

Butler Snow LLP in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest on the Series 2023 

Bonds is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the 

Internal Revenue Service Form 8038, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the 

Issuer and the City from time to time relating to the Series 2023 Bonds. 

- 187 -

Item # 11.



 

D-3 
 

Except as expressly set forth above, the certifications set forth herein may not be relied 

upon or used by any third party or for any other purpose. 

RAYMOND JAMES & ASSOCIATES, INC. 

 

 

 

By:   

[Name & Title] 

 

Dated: ________, 2023 

 

- 188 -

Item # 11.



 

SCHEDULE A 
 

SCHEDULE A 

 

SALE PRICES OF THE GENERAL RULE MATURITIES AND 

INITIAL OFFERING PRICES OF THE HOLD-THE-OFFERING-PRICE MATURITIES 

General Rule Maturities 

MATURITY 

(March 1) 

PRINCIPAL 

AMOUNT 

INTEREST 

RATE 

 

YIELD 

REOFFERING 

PRICE 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

Hold the Price Maturities 
MATURITY 

(March 1) 

PRINCIPAL 

AMOUNT 

INTEREST 

RATE 

 

YIELD 

REOFFERING 

PRICE 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

 

- 189 -

Item # 11.



 

SCHEDULE B 
81935212.v1 

SCHEDULE B 

 

PRICING WIRE OR EQUIVALENT COMMUNICATION 

 

- 190 -

Item # 11.



 

 

Th
is

 P
re

lim
in

ar
y 

O
ff

ic
ia

l 
St

at
e

m
en

t 
an

d
 c

er
ta

in
 o

f 
th

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n
 c

o
n

ta
in

ed
 h

er
ei

n
 i

s 
in

 a
 f

o
rm

 d
ee

m
ed

 f
in

al
 f

o
r 

p
u

rp
o

se
s 

o
f 

R
u

le
 1

5c
2

-1
2 

u
n

d
er

 t
h

e 
Se

cu
ri

ti
es

 E
xc

h
an

ge
 A

ct
 o

f 
1

`9
3

4
, 

as
 a

m
en

d
ed

 (
ex

ce
p

t 
fo

r 
th

e 
o

m
is

si
o

n
 o

f 
ce

rt
ai

n
 i

n
fo

rm
at

io
n

 
p

er
m

it
te

d
 t

o
 b

e 
o

m
it

te
d

 u
n

d
er

 R
u

le
 1

5
c2

-1
2

(b
)(

1)
).

  
 T

h
is

 P
re

lim
in

ar
y 

O
ff

ic
ia

l S
ta

te
m

en
t 

an
d

 t
h

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n
 c

o
n

ta
in

ed
 h

er
e

in
 a

re
 s

u
b

je
ct

 t
o

 c
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

 o
r 

am
en

d
m

en
t.

  
Th

es
e 

se
cu

ri
ti

es
 m

ay
 n

o
t 

b
e 

so
ld

 n
o

r 
m

ay
 o

ff
er

s 
to

 b
u

y 
b

e
 a

cc
ep

te
d

 p
ri

o
r 

to
 

th
e 

ti
m

e 
th

e 
O

ff
ic

ia
l S

ta
te

m
en

t 
is

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 in

 f
in

al
 f

o
rm

.  
U

n
d

er
 n

o
 c

ir
cu

m
st

an
ce

s 
sh

al
l t

h
is

 P
re

lim
in

ar
y 

O
ff

ic
ia

l S
ta

te
m

en
t 

co
n

st
it

u
te

 a
n

 o
ff

er
 t

o
 s

el
l o

r 
a 

so
lic

it
at

io
n

 o
f 

an
 o

ff
er

 t
o

 b
u

y 
n

o
r 

sh
al

l t
h

er
e 

b
e 

an
y 

sa
le

 o
f 

th
es

e 
se

cu
ri

ti
es

 in
 a

n
y 

ju
ri

sd
ic

ti
o

n
 in

 
w

h
ic

h
 s

u
ch

 o
ff

er
, s

o
lic

it
at

io
n

 o
r 

sa
le

 w
o

u
ld

 b
e 

u
n

la
w

fu
l p

ri
o

r 
to

 r
eg

is
tr

at
io

n
 o

r 
q

u
al

if
ic

at
io

n
 u

n
d

er
 t

h
e 

se
cu

ri
ti

es
 la

w
s 

o
f 

an
y 

su
ch

 ju
ri

sd
ic

ti
o

n
. 

 

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT  

DATED ______, 2023 
 

NEW ISSUE-BOOK-ENTRY ONLY UNDERLYING RATING – Moody's: "___" 

 (See "RATING" herein) 

 

In the opinion of Butler Snow LLP, Ridgeland, Mississippi, Bond Counsel, under existing laws, regulations, rulings and judicial 

decisions and assuming the accuracy of certain representations and continuous compliance with certain covenants described herein, 

interest on the Series 2023 Bonds (as defined herein) is excludable from gross income for federal tax purposes pursuant to Section 103 of 

the Code (as defined herein), and such interest is not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax; 

however such interest is taken into account in determining the annual adjusted financial statement income of applicable corporations (as 

defined in Section 59(k) of the Code) for purposes of computing the alternate minimum tax imposed on corporations.  Such exclusion is 

conditioned on continuing compliance with certain tax covenants of the Issuer (as defined below) and the City (as defined below).  In the 

opinion of Bond Counsel under existing laws, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions, interest on the Series 2023 Bonds is exempt from 

all income taxation in the State of Mississippi.  See "TAX MATTERS" herein and APPENDIX D - FORM OF OPINION OF BOND 

COUNSEL hereto. 

 

$____,000* 

MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

SPECIAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2023 

(TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND PROJECT) 
 
Dated: Date of Delivery DUE March 1, as shown on inside front cover 

 

The Mississippi Development Bank Special Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement General Obligation 

Bond Project) (the "Series 2023 Bonds"), are being issued by the Mississippi Development Bank (the "Issuer"), will be dated the date of delivery 

thereof and will bear interest from that date to their respective maturities in the amounts and at the rates set forth on the inside cover. The Series 

2023 Bonds will be dated the date of delivery and will bear interest from that date to their respective maturities in the amounts and at the rates set forth 

below.  The Series 2023 Bonds are issuable only as fully registered bonds and, when issued, will be registered in the name of CEDE & CO., as nominee for 

The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York ("DTC").  Purchases of beneficial interests in the Series 2023 Bonds will be made in book-entry-
only form, in the denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.  Purchasers of beneficial interests in the Series 2023 Bonds will not receive 

physical delivery of certificates representing their interests in the Series 2023 Bonds.  Interest on the Series 2023 Bonds is payable on March 1 and 

September 1 of each year, commencing September 1, 2024*.  So long as DTC or its nominee is the Registered Owner of the Series 2023 Bonds, interest, 
together with the principal of and redemption premium, if any, on the Series 2023 Bonds will be paid directly to DTC by The Peoples Bank, Biloxi, 

Mississippi, as Trustee under the Indenture, all as defined and more fully described herein under the caption, "DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2023 

BONDS -- Book-Entry-Only System." 

The Series 2023 Bonds are issued by the Issuer for the principal purpose of providing funds for the purchase of the City Bond (as defined herein) 

being issued by the City of Tupelo, Mississippi (the "City"), as more fully described in this Official Statement. 

The Series 2023 Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity as more fully described herein. See "DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 

2023 BONDS -- Redemption." 

THE SERIES 2023 BONDS ARE LIMITED AND SPECIAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE ISSUER AND ARE PAYABLE SOLELY OUT 

OF THE TRUST ESTATE OF THE ISSUER PLEDGED THEREFOR UNDER THE INDENTURE, INCLUDING THE CITY BOND AND 

PAYMENTS DERIVED THEREFROM, AS MORE FULLY DESCRIBED HEREIN.  THE SERIES 2023 BONDS DO NOT CONSTITUTE A 

DEBT, LIABILITY OR LOAN OF THE CREDIT OF THE ISSUER, THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION 

THEREOF UNDER THE CONSTITUTION AND LAWS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, OR A PLEDGE OF THE FULL FAITH AND 

CREDIT, TAXING POWER OR MORAL OBLIGATION OF THE ISSUER, THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI OR ANY POLITICAL 

SUBDIVISION THEREOF; PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT THE CITY BOND IS SECURED BY THE FULL FAITH AND CREDIT AND 

TAXING POWER OF THE CITY.  THE SOURCES OF PAYMENT OF, AND SECURITY FOR, THE SERIES 2023 BONDS ARE MORE 

FULLY DESCRIBED HEREIN. THE ISSUER HAS NO TAXING POWER. 

THIS COVER PAGE CONTAINS CERTAIN INFORMATION FOR QUICK REFERENCE ONLY.  IT IS NOT A SUMMARY OF 

THIS ISSUE.  PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS MUST READ THE ENTIRE OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO OBTAIN INFORMATION 

ESSENTIAL TO THE MAKING OF AN INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION. 

The Series 2023 Bonds are offered subject to the final approval of the legality thereof by Butler Snow LLP, Ridgeland, Mississippi, Bond 

Counsel.  Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Issuer by Balch & Bingham LLP, Jackson, Mississippi, its counsel, and for the City by Ben 

Logan, Esquire, Tupelo, Mississippi.  Government Consultants, Inc., Madison, Mississippi, serves as the Municipal Advisor to the Issuer in connection with 
the sale and issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds.  The Series 2023 Bonds are expected to be available in definitive form for delivery on or about _______, 

2023* 

Raymond James 

The date of this Official Statement is _________, 2023. 

*Preliminary, subject to change. 

- 191 -

Item # 11.



 

 

SERIES 2023 BONDS 

 

MATURITY SCHEDULE1 

Year of 

Maturity 

Principal 

 Amount1 

Interest 

Rate 

 

Yield 

 

CUSIP* 

     

2025     

2026     

2027     

2028     

2029     

2030     

2031     

2032     

2033     

2034     

2035     

2036     

2037     

2038     

2039     

2040     

 

 

 

 __________________________________  

*   The CUSIP numbers listed above are being provided solely for the convenience of the holders of the Series 2023 Bonds only, and the Issuer, 
the City and the Underwriter does not make any representation with respect to such CUSIP numbers or undertake any responsibility for their 

accuracy.  The CUSIP numbers are subject to being changed after the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions, 
including but not limited to a refunding in whole or in part of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

                                                           

1 Preliminary, subject to change. 

- 192 -

Item # 11.



 

 

 

THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFERING OF ANY SECURITY 

OTHER THAN THE ORIGINAL OFFERING OF THE SERIES 2023 BONDS IDENTIFIED ON THE 

COVER HEREOF.  NO PERSON HAS BEEN AUTHORIZED TO GIVE ANY INFORMATION OR TO 

MAKE ANY REPRESENTATION OTHER THAN THAT CONTAINED IN THIS OFFICIAL 

STATEMENT, AND IF GIVEN OR MADE SUCH OTHER INFORMATION OR REPRESENTATION 

MUST NOT BE RELIED UPON AS HAVING BEEN AUTHORIZED.  THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFER TO SELL OR THE SOLICITATION OF AN OFFER TO BUY, 

AND THERE SHALL NOT BE ANY SALE OF THE SERIES 2023 BONDS BY ANY PERSON, IN ANY 

JURISDICTION IN WHICH IT IS UNLAWFUL TO MAKE SUCH OFFER, SOLICITATION OR SALE.  

THE INFORMATION AND EXPRESSION OF OPINIONS HEREIN ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE 

WITHOUT NOTICE AND NEITHER THE DELIVERY OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT NOR THE 

SALE OF ANY OF THE SERIES 2023 BONDS SHALL, UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES, CREATE ANY 

IMPLICATION THAT THE INFORMATION HEREIN IS CORRECT AS OF ANY TIME SUBSEQUENT 

TO THE DATE HEREOF.  

THE UNDERWRITER HAS PROVIDED THE FOLLOWING SENTENCE FOR INCLUSION IN 

THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT. THE UNDERWRITER HAVE REVIEWED THE INFORMATION IN 

THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH, AND AS A PART OF, ITS 

RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS AS APPLIED TO THE FACTS AND 

CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS TRANSACTION, BUT THE UNDERWRITER DOES NOT GUARANTEE 

THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF SUCH INFORMATION.  INFORMATION HEREIN HAS 

BEEN OBTAINED FROM THE ISSUER, THE CITY, DTC AND OTHER SOURCES BELIEVED TO BE 

RELIABLE, BUT THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF SUCH INFORMATION IS NOT 

GUARANTEED BY THE UNDERWRITER. 

UPON ISSUANCE, THE SERIES 2023 BONDS WILL NOT BE REGISTERED BY THE ISSUER 

UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAW, AND 

WILL NOT BE LISTED ON ANY STOCK OR OTHER SECURITIES EXCHANGE.  NEITHER THE 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION NOR ANY OTHER FEDERAL, STATE OR OTHER 

GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY OR AGENCY, OTHER THAN THE ISSUER (TO THE EXTENT 

DESCRIBED HEREIN), WILL HAVE PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT OR APPROVED THE SERIES 2023 BONDS FOR SALE.  

THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT IS NOT TO BE CONSTRUED AS A CONTRACT OR 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE ISSUER AND THE PURCHASERS OR HOLDERS OF THE SERIES 

2023 BONDS.  ALL ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS CONTAINED HEREIN ARE BELIEVED TO BE 

REASONABLE, BUT NO REPRESENTATION IS MADE THAT SUCH ESTIMATES OR ASSUMPTIONS 

ARE CORRECT OR WILL BE REALIZED. 

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVER-ALLOT OR 

EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE SERIES 

2023 BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN 

MARKET.  SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. 

THE PRICES AT WHICH THE SERIES 2023 BONDS ARE OFFERED TO THE PUBLIC BY THE 

UNDERWRITER (AND THE YIELDS RESULTING THEREFROM) MAY VARY FROM THE INITIAL 

PUBLIC OFFERING PRICES OR YIELDS APPEARING ON THE INSIDE COVER PAGE HEREOF. IN 

ADDITION, THE UNDERWRITER MAY ALLOW CONCESSIONS OR DISCOUNTS FROM SUCH 

INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING PRICES TO DEALERS AND OTHERS.  

THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT CONTAINS FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS AND ESTIMATES 

THAT ARE BASED ON EXPECTATIONS AND ASSUMPTIONS WHICH EXISTED AT THE TIME 

SUCH FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS AND ESTIMATES WERE PREPARED.  IN LIGHT OF THE 

IMPORTANT FACTORS THAT MAY MATERIALLY AFFECT ECONOMIC CONDITIONS OF THE 

STATE, THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, AND THE CITY THE INCLUSION IN THIS OFFICIAL 

- 193 -

Item # 11.



 

 

 

STATEMENT OF SUCH FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS AND ESTIMATES SHOULD NOT BE 

REGARDED AS A REPRESENTATION BY THE ISSUER, THE CITY OR THE UNDERWRITER THAT 

SUCH FORECASTS, PROJECTIONS AND ESTIMATES WILL OCCUR. SUCH FORECASTS, 

PROJECTIONS AND ESTIMATES ARE NOT INTENDED AS REPRESENTATIONS OF FACT OR 

GUARANTEES OF RESULTS. 

IF AND WHEN INCLUDED IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT, THE WORDS "EXPECTS," 

"FORECASTS," "PROJECTS," "INTENDS," "ANTICIPATES, "ESTIMATES" AND ANALOGOUS 

EXPRESSIONS ARE INTENDED TO IDENTIFY FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND ANY 

SUCH STATEMENTS INHERENTLY ARE SUBJECT TO A VARIETY OF RISKS AND 

UNCERTAINTIES THAT COULD CAUSE ACTUAL RESULTS TO DIFFER MATERIALLY FROM 

THOSE PROJECTED.  SUCH RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES INCLUDE, AMONG OTHERS, GENERAL 

ECONOMIC AND BUSINESS CONDITIONS, CHANGES IN POLITICAL, SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC 

CONDITIONS, REGULATORY INITIATIVES AND COMPLIANCE WITH GOVERNMENTAL 

REGULATIONS, LITIGATION AND VARIOUS OTHER EVENTS, CONDITIONS AND 

CIRCUMSTANCES, MANY OF WHICH ARE BEYOND THE CONTROL OF THE ISSUER AND THE 

CITY.  THESE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS SPEAK ONLY AS OF THE DATE OF THIS 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT. THE ISSUER DISCLAIMS ANY OBLIGATION OR UNDERTAKING TO 

RELEASE PUBLICLY ANY UPDATES OR REVISIONS TO ANY FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT 

CONTAINED HEREIN TO REFLECT ANY CHANGE IN THE ISSUER'S EXPECTATIONS WITH 

REGARD THERETO OR ANY CHANGE IN EVENTS, CONDITIONS OR CIRCUMSTANCES ON 

WHICH ANY SUCH STATEMENT IS BASED. 

THE ORDER AND PLACEMENT OF MATERIALS IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT, 

INCLUDING THE APPENDICES, ARE NOT TO BE DEEMED A DETERMINATION OF RELEVANCE, 

MATERIALITY OR IMPORTANCE, AND THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT, INCLUDING THE 

APPENDICES, MUST BE CONSIDERED IN ITS ENTIRETY.  THE CAPTIONS AND HEADINGS IN 

THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT ARE FOR CONVENIENCE OF REFERENCE ONLY, AND IN NO WAY 

DEFINE, LIMIT OR DESCRIBE THE SCOPE OR INTENT, OR AFFECT THE MEANING OR 

CONSTRUCTION, OF ANY PROVISION OR SECTIONS OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT.  THE 

OFFERING OF THE SERIES 2023 BONDS IS MADE ONLY BY MEANS OF THIS OFFICIAL 

STATEMENT. 

 

 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

- 194 -

Item # 11.



 

i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

Page 

INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................................... 1 

The Issuer ................................................................................................................................................ 1 
Sources of Payment and Security for the Series 2023 Bonds ................................................................ 1 
Purpose of the Series 2023 Bonds .......................................................................................................... 2 
Authority for Issuance ............................................................................................................................ 2 
Description of the Series 2023 Bonds .................................................................................................... 3 
Tax Matters ............................................................................................................................................. 3 
Professionals Involved in the Offering ................................................................................................... 3 
Offering and Delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds ................................................................................... 3 
Risks to the Owners of the Series 2023 Bonds ...................................................................................... 4 
Other Information ................................................................................................................................... 4 
Format of Official Statement .................................................................................................................. 5 

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2023 Bonds ............................................. 5 

General  ................................................................................................................................................... 5 
The City and the City Bond .................................................................................................................... 5 
Provisions for Payment of the City Bond ............................................................................................... 5 

RISKS TO THE OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2023 Bonds ............................................................................... 7 

General  ................................................................................................................................................... 7 
City Bond ................................................................................................................................................ 7 
Tax Covenants ........................................................................................................................................ 7 
Remedies ................................................................................................................................................. 7 
Failure to Compel the Levy of Taxes on the City Bond ........................................................................ 9 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2023 Bonds ................................................................................................ 10 

General Description .............................................................................................................................. 10 
Book-Entry-Only System ..................................................................................................................... 11 
Redemption ........................................................................................................................................... 13 

APPLICATION OF THE PROCEEDS OF THE SERIES 2023 Bonds........................................................... 14 

THE MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK ................................................................................................. 14 

General  ................................................................................................................................................. 14 
Organization and Membership of the Issuer ........................................................................................ 15 
Prior Bonds of Issuer ............................................................................................................................ 15 

REVENUES, FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS ....................................................................................................... 15 

- 195 -

Item # 11.



 

ii 

Creation of Funds and Accounts .......................................................................................................... 16 
Deposit of Net Proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds, Revenues and Other Receipts ............................ 16 

OPERATION OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS ................................................................................................ 16 

General Fund ........................................................................................................................................ 16 
Rebate Fund .......................................................................................................................................... 17 
Amounts Remaining in Funds .............................................................................................................. 18 
Investment of Funds ............................................................................................................................. 18 

THE SERIES 2023 Bonds AS LEGAL INVESTMENTS ............................................................................... 18 

LITIGATION ..................................................................................................................................................... 19 

TAX MATTERS ................................................................................................................................................ 19 

LEGAL MATTERS ........................................................................................................................................... 22 

RATING ............................................................................................................................................................. 22 

Pension Plan ....................................................................................................................................................... 22 

POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS................................................................... 23 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS .......................................................................................................................... 23 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE......................................................................................................................... 23 

MUNICIPAL ADVISOR................................................................................................................................... 24 

UNDERWRITING............................................................................................................................................. 24 

VALIDATION ................................................................................................................................................... 24 

MISCELLANEOUS .......................................................................................................................................... 25 

APPENDIX A - .................................................................................................................................................... 1 

ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION .................................................................................. 1 

APPENDIX A -  INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CITY 

APPENDIX B -  FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE CITY 

APPENDIX C -  FORM OF THE CITY BOND RESOLUTION AND THE CITY BOND 

APPENDIX D -  FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION 

APPENDIX E -  CERTAIN DEFINITIONS 

APPENDIX F -  FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE 

- 196 -

Item # 11.



 

 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

 

$____,000* 

MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

SPECIAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2023 

(TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND 

PROJECT) 

 

INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this Official Statement, including its APPENDICES, is to set forth certain 

information concerning the sale and issuance by the Mississippi Development Bank (the "Issuer") of its 

Mississippi Development Bank Special Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Tupelo, Mississippi Public 

Improvement General Obligation Bond Project) (the "Series 2023 Bonds"), issued in the aggregate 

principal amount of $____,000*.  

This introduction is not a summary of this Official Statement.  It is only a brief description of and 

guide to, and is qualified by, more complete and detailed information contained in the entire Official 

Statement, including the cover page and all APPENDICES hereto, and the documents summarized or 

described herein.  A full review should be made of the entire Official Statement.  The offering of the 

Series 2023 Bonds to potential investors is made only by means of the entire Official Statement. 

The Issuer 

The Issuer was established in 1986 as a separate body corporate and politic of the State of 

Mississippi (the "State") for the public purposes set forth under the provisions of Sections 31-25-1 et seq., 

Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended (the "Issuer Act").  The Issuer is not an agency of the State, is 

separate from the State in its corporate and sovereign capacity and has no taxing power. The Issuer is 

governed by a Board of Directors composed of nine (9) members. 

Pursuant to the Issuer Act, the purpose of the Issuer is to assist "local governmental units," as 

defined in the Issuer Act to be (i) any county, municipality, utility district, regional solid waste authority, 

county cooperative service district or political subdivision of the State of Mississippi, (ii) the State of 

Mississippi or any agency thereof, (iii) the institutions of higher learning of the State of Mississippi, (iv) 

any education building corporation established for institutions of higher learning, or (v) any other 

governmental unit created under state law, such as the City, through programs of purchasing the bonds, 

notes or evidences of indebtedness of such local governmental units under agreements between such local 

governmental units and the Issuer.  The entity described in APPENDIX A (the "City") is such a local 

governmental unit. 

Sources of Payment and Security for the Series 2023 Bonds 

The Series 2023 Bonds will be issued by and under and secured by an Indenture of Trust, dated 

the date of delivery (the "Indenture"), by and between the Issuer and The Peoples Bank, in Biloxi, 

Mississippi, as Trustee (the "Trustee").  The principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on 

any and all of the Series 2023 Bonds, together with any additional bonds or refunding bonds (the 

"Refunding Bonds") that may be authorized and issued by the Issuer under the Indenture on a parity with 

                                                           

* Preliminary, subject to change. 

- 197 -

Item # 11.



 

2 

the Series 2023 Bonds (collectively, the "Bonds"), are payable from those revenues and funds of the 

Issuer which, together with the general obligation bond issued by the City (the "City Bond"), as defined 

and described herein, pursuant to Sections 21-33-301 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended (the 

"City Bond Act" and together with the Issuer Act, the "Act"), are pledged pursuant to the Indenture for 

the benefit of the owners of the Series 2023 Bonds without priority.  The full faith and credit and taxing 

power of the State are not pledged to the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on any 

of the Series 2023 Bonds.  The Series 2023 Bonds are not a debt, liability, loan of the credit or pledge of 

the full faith and credit, moral obligation of the State or of any political subdivision; provided, however, 

that the City Bond is secured by the full faith and credit and taxing power of the City.  The Issuer has no 

taxing power and has only those powers and sources of revenue set forth in the Issuer Act.  The Series 

2023 Bonds are issued and secured separately from any other obligations issued by the Issuer. 

The Series 2023 Bonds are secured by the pledge of the Trust Estate established under the 

Indenture (the "Trust Estate"), defined to be (i) cash and securities in the funds and accounts established 

by the Indenture (except the Rebate Fund, as described herein) (the "Funds" and "Accounts") and the 

investment earnings thereon and all proceeds thereof, (ii) the City Bond and the earnings thereon and the 

proceeds thereof, and (iii) all funds, accounts and moneys hereinafter pledged to the Trustee as security 

by the Issuer.  All Series 2023 Bonds will be secured equally and ratably by all of the foregoing.  The 

sources of payment for the Series 2023 Bonds are further described under the caption "SECURITY AND 

SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2023 BONDS," and "APPENDIX C." 

The principal of and interest on the City Bond are payable out of certain revenues as hereinafter 

defined.  The following City Bond is scheduled to be purchased with proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds: 

$____,000 City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement General Obligation Bond, Series 2023 (the 

"City Bond").  The sources of payment on the City Bond are further described under the caption 

"SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2023 BONDS" and "APPENDIX C." 

Purpose of the Series 2023 Bonds 

The Series 2023 Bonds are being issued pursuant to the Act to purchase the City Bond to provide 

funds for (i) constructing, improving or paving streets, sidewalks, driveways, parkways, walkways or 

public parking facilities, and purchasing land therefor; (ii) erecting, repairing, improving, adorning and 

equipping municipal buildings and purchasing buildings and land therefor; (iii) purchasing land for parks, 

cemeteries and public playgrounds, and improving, equipping and adorning the same, including the 

constructing, repairing and equipping of swimming pools and other recreational facilities; (iv) purchasing 

fire-fighting equipment and apparatus, and providing housing for same, and purchasing land therefor; (v) 

erecting or purchasing waterworks, gas, electric and other public utility plants or distribution systems or 

franchises, and repairing, improving and extending the same; (vi) establishing sanitary, storm, drainage or 

sewerage systems, and repairing, improving and extending the same; (vii) protecting a municipality, its 

streets and sidewalks from overflow, caving banks and other like dangers; (viii) constructing bridges and 

culverts; (ix) purchasing machinery and equipment, including motor vehicles weighing not less than 

twelve thousand (12,000) pounds, which have an expected useful life in excess of ten (10) years which 

expected useful life shall exceed the life of the bonds financing such purchase; and (x) for other 

authorized purposes under the City Bond Act (the "Construction Project"), and paying the costs of 

issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond (together, the "Project").  

Authority for Issuance 

The Series 2023 Bonds are issued pursuant to the provisions of the Act and the Indenture. 

 

- 198 -

Item # 11.



 

3 

Description of the Series 2023 Bonds 

Redemption.  The Series 2023 Bonds are subject to redemption as set forth hereinafter under the 

caption "DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2023 BONDS -- Redemption." 

Denominations.  The Series 2023 Bonds will be issued in denominations of $5,000 or any integral 

multiple thereof. 

Registration, Transfers, and Exchanges.  The Series 2023 Bonds will be issued only as fully 

registered bonds and, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC.  

Purchases of beneficial interests in the Series 2023 Bonds will be made in book entry only form.  

Purchasers of beneficial interests in the Series 2023 Bonds will not receive physical delivery of 

certificates representing their respective interests in the Series 2023 Bonds. 

Payments.  Interest on the Series 2023 Bonds is payable on March 1 and September 1 of each 

year, and, so long as DTC or its nominee is the Registered Owner of the Series 2023 Bonds, such interest, 

together with the principal of and redemption premium, if any, on the Series 2023 Bonds will be paid 

directly to DTC by the Trustee under the Indenture.  The final disbursement of such payments to the 

Beneficial Owners of the Series 2023 Bonds will be the responsibility of the DTC Participants and the 

Indirect Participants, all as more fully defined and described herein under the caption "DESCRIPTION 

OF THE SERIES 2023 BONDS -- Book-Entry-Only System." 

For a more complete description of the Series 2023 Bonds and the basic documentation 

pursuant to which the Series 2023 Bonds are being issued, see the captions "DESCRIPTION OF 

THE SERIES 2023 BONDS," "REVENUES, FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS," and "OPERATION OF 

FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS," in this Official Statement. 

Tax Matters 

In the opinion of Butler Snow LLP, Ridgeland, Mississippi ("Bond Counsel"), under existing 

laws, regulations, rulings, and judicial decisions, interest on the Series 2023 Bonds is excludable from 

gross income for federal tax purposes, with such exclusion conditioned upon continuing compliance with 

certain tax covenants of the Issuer and the City, and under existing laws, regulations, rulings, and judicial 

decisions, interest on the Series 2023 Bonds is exempt from all income taxation in the State.  Interest on 

the Series 2023 Bonds is not a specific preference item for purposes of federal alternative minimum taxes.  

For a more complete description of such opinion and certain other tax consequences incident to the 

ownership of the Series 2023 Bonds, see the captions "TAX MATTERS" herein.  Also, see "APPENDIX 

D" for the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel. 

Professionals Involved in the Offering 

The Peoples Bank, Biloxi, Mississippi will act as Trustee under the Indenture for the Series 2023 

Bonds.  Government Consultants, Inc., Madison, Mississippi, is employed as Municipal Advisor to the 

Issuer (the "Municipal Advisor") with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds.  Certain proceedings in 

connection with the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds are subject to the approval of Bond Counsel.  

Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Issuer by Balch & Bingham LLP, Jackson, Mississippi 

and for the City by Ben Logan, Esquire, Tupelo, Mississippi.  See the caption "LEGAL MATTERS" and 

"MISCELLANEOUS" in this Official Statement. 

Offering and Delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds 

- 199 -

Item # 11.



 

4 

Subject to the final approval of the legality thereof by Bond Counsel, the Series 2023 Bonds are 

expected to be available in definitive form for delivery on or about _____, 2023*. 

Risks to the Owners of the Series 2023 Bonds 

There are certain risks involved in the ownership of the Series 2023 Bonds which should be 

considered by prospective purchasers.  The ability of the Issuer to pay principal of, redemption premium, 

if any, and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds depends primarily upon the receipt by the Issuer of City 

Bond payments (the "City Bond Payments") from the City participating in the program (the "Program") 

which is obligated to make such payments to the Issuer, together with investment earnings on certain 

amounts in the Funds and Accounts defined in and established under the Indenture.  There can be no 

representation or assurance that the City will realize sufficient Revenues to make the required City Bond 

Payments.  See the caption, "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT."  Failure of the Issuer and/or 

the City to comply with certain tax covenants may also adversely affect the exempt status of the interest 

on all of the Series 2023 Bonds.  See the caption "RISKS TO THE OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2023 

BONDS" in this Official Statement. 

Other Information 

This Official Statement speaks only as of its date, and certain information contained herein is 

subject to change. 

Copies of other documents and information are available, upon request, and upon payment to the 

Issuer of a charge for copying, mailing, and handling, from Larry W. Mobley, Executive Director, 

Mississippi Development Bank, 735 Riverside Drive, Suite 300, Jackson, Mississippi 39202, 

telephone (601) 355-6232. 

NO DEALER, BROKER, SALESMAN OR OTHER REPRESENTATIVE OF THE 

UNDERWRITER OR OTHER PERSON HAS BEEN AUTHORIZED TO GIVE ANY INFORMATION 

OR TO MAKE ANY REPRESENTATIONS OTHER THAN THOSE CONTAINED IN THIS 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT, AND, IF GIVEN OR MADE, SUCH OTHER INFORMATION OR 

REPRESENTATIONS MUST NOT BE RELIED UPON.  THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT DOES NOT 

CONSTITUTE AN OFFER TO SELL OR THE SOLICITATION OF AN OFFER TO BUY, AND 

THERE SHALL NOT BE ANY SALE OF THE SERIES 2023 BONDS BY ANY PERSON IN ANY 

JURISDICTION IN WHICH IT IS UNLAWFUL FOR SUCH PERSON TO MAKE SUCH OFFER, 

SOLICITATION OR SALE.  THE INFORMATION SET FORTH HEREIN HAS BEEN OBTAINED 

FROM THE ISSUER, THE CITY, DTC AND OTHER SOURCES WHICH ARE BELIEVED TO BE 

RELIABLE, BUT IT IS NOT GUARANTEED AS TO ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS.  THE 

INFORMATION AND EXPRESSIONS OF OPINION HEREIN ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE 

WITHOUT NOTICE, AND NEITHER THE DELIVERY OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT NOR 

ANY SALE MADE HEREUNDER SHALL, UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES, CREATE ANY 

IMPLICATION THAT THERE HAS BEEN NO CHANGE IN THE AFFAIRS OF THE ISSUER SINCE 

THE DATE HEREOF. 

THE SERIES 2023 BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED WITH THE SECURITIES 

AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED. 

                                                           

* Preliminary, subject to change. 

- 200 -

Item # 11.



 

5 

Format of Official Statement 

There follows in this Official Statement a description of the security and sources of payment for 

the Series 2023 Bonds, the purposes and operation of the Issuer's program to be financed out of the 

proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Issuer, and summaries of certain provisions of the Series 2023 

Bonds, the Indenture and certain provisions of the Act.  All discussions of the Act and the Indenture are 

qualified in their entirety by reference to the Act, copies of which are available from the Issuer, and all 

discussions of the Series 2023 Bonds are qualified in their entirety by reference to the definitive form and 

the information with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds contained in the Indenture.  Certain information 

relating to the City is set forth in "APPENDIX A - INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CITY," 

certain financial information on the City is included in "APPENDIX B - FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

OF THE CITY," the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds is 

set forth in "APPENDIX D - FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION", and the form of the continuing 

disclosure certificate of the City is set forth in "APPENDIX F - FORM OF CONTINUING 

DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE," and certain definitions used herein are set forth in APPENDIX E".  

Each of the APPENDICES to this Official Statement is an integral part of this Official Statement and 

should be read in its entirety by any and all owners or prospective owners of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the definitions set forth in "APPENDIX E - 

CERTAIN DEFINITIONS." 

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF 

PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2023 BONDS 

General 

The Series 2023 Bonds are payable only out of the Trust Estate.  The Indenture creates a 

continuing pledge of and lien upon the Trust Estate to secure the full and final payment of the principal 

of, premium, if any, and interest on all of the Series 2023 Bonds.  The Series 2023 Bonds do not 

constitute a debt, liability or loan of the credit of the State or any political subdivision thereof under the 

constitution of the State or a pledge of the full faith and credit and taxing power or moral obligation of the 

State or any political subdivision thereof; provided, however, that the City Bond is a general obligation of 

the City.  The Issuer has no taxing power.  The sources of payment of, and security for, the Series 2023 

Bonds are more fully described below. 

Under the Indenture, the Series 2023 Bonds are secured by a pledge to the Trustee of the City 

Bond and all City Bond Payments, as described herein.  In addition, the Indenture pledges to the payment 

of the Series 2023 Bonds all proceeds of the Trust Estate, including without limitation all cash and 

securities held in the Funds and Accounts created by the Indenture, except for the Rebate Fund, together 

with investment earnings thereon and proceeds thereof (except to the extent transferred to the Rebate 

Fund or from such Funds and Accounts under the Indenture), and all other funds, accounts and moneys to 

be pledged by the Issuer to the Trustee as security under the Indenture, to the extent of any such pledge. 

The City and the City Bond 

From the proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds, the Issuer intends to purchase and, upon purchase, 

will pledge to the Trustee the City Bond of the City, as described in "APPENDIX C." 

Provisions for Payment of the City Bond 

- 201 -

Item # 11.



 

6 

The City Bond will be a general obligation of the City.  The City Bond Resolution provides that 

the City is unconditionally obligated to make payments secured by the full faith and credit of the City in 

an aggregate amount sufficient, with any other funds available therefor, for the payment in full of the 

principal of, premium, if any, and interest on all Series 2023 Bonds issued and Outstanding under the 

Indenture, to the date of payment thereof, and certain costs, expenses and charges of the Issuer and the 

Trustee.   

In the City Bond Resolution, the City covenants to levy a direct, continuing special tax upon all 

of the taxable property within the geographical limits of the City, adequate and sufficient, after allowance 

shall have been made for the expenses of collection and delinquencies in the payment of taxes, to produce 

sums required for the payment of the principal of premium, if any, and the interest on the City Bond and 

any additional obligations of the City under the City Bond Resolution; provided, however, that such tax 

levy for any year shall be abated pro tanto to the extent the City on or prior to September 1 of that year 

has transferred money to the 2023 Bond Fund of the City Bond, or has made other provisions for funds, to 

be applied toward the payment of the principal of and interest on the City Bond due during the ensuing 

fiscal year of the City, in accordance with the provisions of the City Bond Resolution.  Said tax shall be 

extended upon the tax rolls and collected in the same manner and at the same time as other taxes of the 

City are collected, and the rate of tax which shall be so extended shall be sufficient in each year fully to 

produce the sums required as aforesaid, without limitation as to time, rate or amount.  The avails of said 

tax are irrevocably pledged in the City Bond Resolution for the payment of the principal of, premium, if 

any, and interest on the City Bond and any additional obligations of the City as aforesaid as the same 

shall respectively mature and accrue. 

The City Bond will never, within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory limitation, 

be a debt, liability, or obligation of the State or any political subdivision of the State other than the 

City, and neither the full faith and credit nor taxing power or moral obligation of the State or any 

political subdivision thereof is pledged to the payment of the principal, premium, if any, and 

interest on the City Bond; provided, however, that the City Bond is a general obligation of the City.  

The City Bond initially issued under the City Bond Resolution shall be issued for the purposes of 

providing funds to finance costs of the (i) Construction Project; and (ii) payment of costs of issuance of 

the Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond. 

The issuance of the City Bond shall be authorized by resolution of the Mayor and City Council of 

the City (the "Governing Body") adopted pursuant to the Act.  See "APPENDIX C" for further 

description of the City Bond. 

- 202 -

Item # 11.



 

7 

RISKS TO THE OWNERS OF THE SERIES 2023 BONDS 

General 

The Series 2023 Bonds will be payable solely from the payments to be made by the Issuer under 

the Indenture.  Pursuant to the Indenture, such payments are limited to City Bond Payments payable by 

the City on the City Bond pursuant to the City Bond Resolution.  No reserve fund has been established for 

the payment of debt service on the Series 2023 Bonds or the City Bond.  Purchasers of the Series 2023 

Bonds are advised of certain risk factors with respect to the City Bond. 

In addition, purchasers of the Series 2023 Bonds are advised of certain additional information in 

connection with the City as set forth in "APPENDIX A" and "APPENDIX B." 

City Bond 

The ability of the Issuer to pay principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the 

Series 2023 Bonds depends primarily upon the receipt by the Issuer of City Bond Payments from the City 

which is obligated under the City Bond Resolution to make such payments to the Issuer, together with 

earnings on the amounts in the Funds and Accounts created under the Indenture sufficient to make such 

payments.  There is no Indenture Fund or Account which is required to contain amounts to make up for 

any deficiencies in the event of one or more defaults by the City in making such City Bond Payments, and 

there is no source from which the General Fund will be replenished except the City Bond Payments and 

investment income on moneys in the Funds and Accounts; and further, no reserve fund is created in the 

Indenture or the City Bond Resolution to pay debt service on the Series 2023 Bonds or the City Bond.  

Tax Covenants 

The Issuer has covenanted under the Indenture that it will comply with certain requirements under 

the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") to ensure the continuing excludability from 

gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Series 2023 Bonds.  Failure by the Issuer 

to comply with such covenants could cause the interest on the Series 2023 Bonds to be taxable retroactive 

to the date of issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds.  Further, the City has covenanted in the City Bond 

Resolution that it will comply with certain requirements under the Code to ensure the continuing 

excludability from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Series 2023 Bonds.  

Failure by the City to comply with such requirements could cause the interest on the Series 2023 Bonds to 

be taxable retroactive to the date of issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds.  See also "TAX MATTERS" 

herein. 

Remedies 

The remedies available to the Trustee, to the Issuer or to the owners of the Series 2023 Bonds 

upon an "event of default" under the Indenture or under the terms of the City Bond purchased by the 

Issuer are in many respects dependent upon judicial actions which are often subject to discretion and 

delay.   

The pledge of the full faith and credit and taxing power of the City for payment of the City Bond 

granted by the Governing Body in the City Bond Resolution may be limited by a number of factors, 

including the ability to collect levied taxes.  Under current law, such a pledge and assignment as 

attempted to be effected by the City Bond Resolution may be further limited by the following:  (a) 

statutory liens; (b) rights arising in favor of the United States of America or any agency thereof; (c) 

prohibitions against assignment set forth in federal statutes; (d) constructive trusts, equitable liens or other 

- 203 -

Item # 11.



 

8 

rights which might be impressed or conferred by any state or federal court in the exercise of equitable 

jurisdiction; (e) the Bankruptcy Code (as hereinafter defined) affecting taxes and other revenues of the 

City received within 90 days preceding and after any effectual institution of bankruptcy, liquidation or 

reorganization proceedings by or against the City; (f) rights of third parties in revenues converted to cash 

and not in the possession of the Trustee; and (g) sales, liens and/or pledges made by the City.  If an "event 

of default" does occur, it is uncertain that the Trustee could successfully obtain an adequate remedy at law 

or in equity. 

The City is a "Municipality" as that term is defined in Title 11 of the United States Code (the 

"Bankruptcy Code").  Section 109(c) of the Bankruptcy Code prescribes the conditions and 

circumstances under which a Municipality may file a petition for relief under the Bankruptcy Code.  As a 

debtor, a Municipality may only file for relief pursuant to Chapter 9 of the Bankruptcy Code ("Chapter 

9").  Pursuant to Section 303(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, no creditor or judgment holder of a Municipality 

may file a Chapter 9 petition on behalf of a Municipality. 

Pursuant to Section 109(c)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code, before a Municipality may file a petition 

under Chapter 9 of the Bankruptcy Code, a Municipality must be specifically authorized by (a) state law 

or (b) a governmental officer or organization empowered to authorize such a filing.  Accordingly, before a 

Municipality in the State may file for Chapter 9 protection, it must have specific authority granted to it.  

Currently, there is no State statute that prescribes, authorizes or otherwise contains authorization for any 

Municipality to file for Chapter 9 protection, or delegates such authority to a governmental officer or 

organization.  As such, in order for a Municipality of the State, including the City, to file for Chapter 9 

relief, the Municipality must obtain specific authority from the State Legislature.   

The State Legislature is comprised of the Senate and the House of Representatives.  The Senate is 

composed of 52 members, and the House of Representatives consists of 122 members.  Each member of 

each chamber is elected to a four-year term.  In the State, the Legislature convenes annually on the first 

Tuesday after the first Monday each January.  Regular sessions of the State Legislature last 90 days in all 

years of an administration except for the first session after a new governor has been elected, when a 125-

day session is held.    

In order to obtain specific authority from the State Legislature to file for relief pursuant to 

Chapter 9, a Municipality would have to request both houses of the State Legislature during the annual 

session of the State Legislature or a special session of the State Legislature called for such purpose to 

approve a bill authorizing the Municipality to file for relief pursuant to Chapter 9 and such bill would 

have to be signed into law by the Governor of the State.  There is no appeal process or any other 

proceeding under current State law that the Municipality may pursue if such requested specific authority 

is not granted by the State Legislature. 

In the event the City were to become a debtor under the United States Bankruptcy Code, 

payments under the City Bond may be stayed or under certain circumstances may be subject to avoidance 

or disgorgement and the interest of the Trustee in such payments may not extend to payments required 

after the commencement of such bankruptcy case or within 90 days prior thereto.  Under existing 

constitutional and statutory law and judicial decisions, including the United States Bankruptcy Code, the 

remedies provided in the Indenture and the City Bond Resolution may not be readily available or may be 

limited.  The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Series 2023 

Bonds will be qualified as to the enforceability of the various legal instruments by limitations imposed by 

bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally 

(regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or in law), by general 

principles of equity (regardless of whether such proceeding is considered in a proceeding in equity or at 

law) and by the valid exercise of the constitutional powers of the State and the United States of America. 

- 204 -

Item # 11.



 

9 

Furthermore, if a bankruptcy court concludes that the Trustee has "adequate protection," it may 

enter orders affecting the security of the Trustee, including orders providing for the substitution, 

subordination and sale of the security of the Trustee.  In addition, a reorganization plan may be adopted 

even though it has not been accepted by the Trustee if the Trustee is provided with the benefit of its 

original lien or the "indubitable equivalent."  Thus, in the event of the bankruptcy of the City, the amount 

realized by the Trustee may depend on the bankruptcy court's interpretation of "indubitable equivalent" 

and "adequate protection" under the then existing circumstances.  The bankruptcy court may also have the 

power to invalidate certain provisions of the City Bond Resolution, the City Bond or related documents 

that make bankruptcy and related proceedings by the City an "event of default" thereunder.  All of these 

events would adversely affect the payment of debt service on the Series 2023 Bonds. 

Failure to Compel the Levy of Taxes on the City Bond 

The City Bond will be a general obligation of the City payable as to principal and interest out of 

and secured by an irrevocable pledge of the avails of a direct and continuing tax to be levied annually 

without limitation as to rate or amount upon the taxable property within the geographical limits of the 

City; provided, however, that such tax levy for any year shall be abated pro tanto to the extent the City on 

or prior to September 1 of that year has transferred money to the 2023 Bond Fund of the City Bond, or 

has made other provisions for funds, to be applied toward the payment of the principal of and interest on 

the City Bond due during the ensuing fiscal year of the City, in accordance with the provisions of the City 

Bond Resolution.  The City, when necessary, will levy annually a special tax upon all taxable property 

within the geographical limits of the City adequate and sufficient to provide for the payment of the 

principal of and the interest of the City Bond as the same falls due.  

The qualified electors of the State of Mississippi voted in a general election held on November 7, 

1995, to amend the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 (the "Constitution") to add the following new 

Section 172A (the "Amendment"): 

SECTION 172A.  Neither the Supreme Court nor any inferior court of this state 

shall have the power to instruct or order the state or any political subdivision 

thereof, or an official of the state or any political subdivision, to levy or increase 

taxes.   

The Amendment does not affect the underlying obligation to pay the principal of and interest on 

the City Bond as it matures and becomes due, nor does it affect the obligation to levy a tax sufficient to 

accomplish that purpose.  However, even though it appears that the Amendment was not intended to 

affect remedies of a holder of the City Bond in the event of a payment default, it potentially prevents such 

holder from obtaining a writ of mandamus to compel the levying of taxes to pay the principal of and 

interest on the City Bond in a Court of the State of Mississippi.  It is not certain whether the Amendment 

would affect the right of a Federal Court to direct the levy of a tax to satisfy a contractual obligation.  

Other effective remedies are available to the holder of the City Bond in the event of a payment default 

with respect to the City Bond.  For example, such holder can seek a writ of mandamus to compel the City 

to use any legally available moneys to pay the debt service on the City Bond, and if such writ of 

mandamus is issued and public officials fail to comply with such writ, then such public officials may be 

held in contempt of court.  In addition, pursuant to Mississippi Constitution §175, all public officials who 

are guilty of willful neglect of duty may be removed from office.   

Certain information relating to the City is set forth in “APPENDIX A - INFORMATION ON 

THE CITY” and certain financial information on the City is included in “APPENDIX B – BUDGET” and 

in “APPENDIX C - AUDIT.” 

- 205 -

Item # 11.



 

10 

Cyber Security Management 

The City, like many other public and private entities, relies on a large and complex technology 

environment to conduct its operations and faces multiple cyber security threats including, but not limited 

to, hacking, phishing, viruses, malware and other attacks on its computing and other digital networks and 

systems (collectively, "Systems Technology"). As a recipient and provider of sensitive information, the 

City may be the target of cyber security incidents that could result in adverse consequences to the City 

and its Systems Technology, requiring a response action to mitigate the consequences. The City has in 

place daily backup processes to help mitigate the eventuality of these risks. The City has structured their 

"technology" environment based upon best practice Zero Trust standards to mitigate these risks. 

Cyber security incidents could result from unintentional events or from deliberate attacks by 

unauthorized entities or individuals attempting to gain access to the City’s Systems Technology for the 

purposes of misappropriating assets or information or causing operational disruption and damage. The 

City has implemented certain controls, including data and network security measures, malware protection, 

security configuration, website filtering and protection, and user training, to mitigate the risk of cyber 

security breaches from internal sources or activities. The City has personnel policies in place for the 

City’s computer systems and networks detailing the security of the systems by only designated personnel 

and password securities in place by user. 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2023 BONDS 

General Description 

The Series 2023 Bonds are issuable under the Indenture as fully registered bonds.  When issued, 

the Series 2023 Bonds will be registered in the name of and held by Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC.  

Purchases of beneficial interests from DTC in the Series 2023 Bonds will be made in book-entry-only 

form (without certificates) in the denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof (see the 

heading, "Book-Entry-Only System" under this caption). 

The Series 2023 Bonds will mature in the amounts and on the dates, and bear interest at the rates 

per annum, set forth on the cover page of this Official Statement.  Interest on the Series 2023 Bonds will 

be payable semiannually on March 1 and September 1 of each year, commencing September 1, 2024.  

Interest will be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve thirty-day months. 

Each Series 2023 Bond will be dated the day of delivery.  If any Series 2023 Bond is 

authenticated on or prior to the day of delivery, it will bear interest from such date.  Each Series 2023 

Bond authenticated after the day of delivery, will bear interest from the most recent date on which interest 

was payable (the "Interest Payment Date") and has been paid on or prior to the date of authentication of 

such Series 2023 Bond, unless such Series 2023 Bond is authenticated after the fifteenth day of the 

calendar month preceding an Interest Payment Date (the "Record Date") and on or prior to the next 

following Interest Payment Date, in which case such Series 2023 Bond will bear interest from such 

following Interest Payment Date. 

So long as DTC or its nominee is the Registered Owner of the Series 2023 Bonds, payments of 

the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds will be made directly 

by the Trustee by wire transfer of funds to Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC.  Disbursement of such 

payments to the participants of DTC (the "DTC Participants") will be the sole responsibility of DTC, 

and the ultimate disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners, as defined herein, of the Series 

2023 Bonds will be the responsibility of the DTC Participants and the Indirect Participants, as defined 

herein.  See the heading, "Book-Entry-Only System" under this caption. 

- 206 -

Item # 11.



 

11 

If the Series 2023 Bonds are no longer in a book-entry-only system, the principal of the Series 

2023 Bonds will be payable upon maturity or redemption at the principal corporate trust office of the 

Trustee in Biloxi, Mississippi, and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds will be paid by check of the Trustee 

dated the due date and mailed or delivered on or before the Business Day prior to each Interest Payment 

Date to the Registered Owners of record as of the close of business on the most recent Record Date or, at 

the written election of the Registered Owner of $1,000,000 or more in aggregate principal amount of 

Series 2023 Bonds delivered to the Trustee at least one Business Day prior to the Record Date for which 

such election will be effective, by wire transfer to the Registered Owner or by deposit into the account of 

the Registered Owner if such account is maintained by the Trustee. 

Book-Entry-Only System 

Unless and until the book-entry-only system has been discontinued, the Series 2023 Bonds will 

be available only in book-entry form in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.  

DTC will initially act as securities depository for the Series 2023 Bonds.  The Series 2023 Bonds will be 

initially issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership 

nominee). One fully-registered Series 2023 Bond will be issued for each maturity of the Series 2023 

Bonds and will be deposited with DTC or pursuant to DTC's FAST registration procedures. 

The information provided under this caption has been provided by DTC.  No representation has 

been made by the Issuer, the City or the Original Purchasers as to the accuracy or adequacy of such 

information, or as to the absence of material adverse changes in such information subsequent to the date 

hereof. 

DTC, the world's largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized 

under the New York Banking Law, a "banking organization" within the meaning of the New York 

Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of 

the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to the provisions 

of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 

3.5 million issues of U.S. and non–U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money 

market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC's participants ("Direct Participants") deposit 

with DTC.  DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other 

securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and 

pledges between Direct Participants' accounts.  This eliminates the need for physical movement of 

securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 

banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation ("DTCC").  DTCC is the holding company 

for DTC, the National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of 

which are registered clearing agencies.  DTC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries.  Access 

to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and 

dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial 

relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants"). DTC has a 

Standard & Poor's rating of AA+.  The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission.  More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of Series 2023 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct 

Participants, which will receive a credit for such Series 2023 Bonds on DTC's records.  The ownership 

interest of each actual purchaser of each Series 2023 Bond ("Beneficial Owner") is in turn to be recorded 

on the Direct and Indirect Participants' records.  Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation 

from DTC of their purchase.  Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations 

providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or 

- 207 -

Item # 11.



 

12 

Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of 

ownership interests in the Series 2023 Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of 

Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not 

receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Series 2023 Bonds, except in the event that 

use of the book-entry system for the Series 2023 Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2023 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with 

DTC are registered in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may 

be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of Series 2023 Bonds with DTC and 

their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not affect any change in 

beneficial ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2023 Bonds; 

DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts the Series 2023 Bonds 

are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will 

remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 

Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial 

Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory 

requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial Owners of the Series 2023 Bonds may 

wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect 

to the Series 2023 Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults and proposed amendments to the Bond 

Documents.  For example, Beneficial Owners of the Series 2023 Bonds may wish to ascertain that the 

nominee holding the Series 2023 Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to 

Beneficial Owners.  In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses 

to the Bond Registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them. 

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Series 2023 Bonds are being 

redeemed, DTC's practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in 

such Series 2023 Bonds to be redeemed. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co., (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 

the Series 2023 Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's MMI 

Procedures.  Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an "Omnibus Proxy" to the Trustee as soon as 

possible after the record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to 

those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Series 2023 Bonds are credited on the record date 

(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

Redemption proceeds, principal payments and interest payments on the Series 2023 Bonds will be 

made to Cede & Co. or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. 

DTC's practice is to credit Direct Participants' accounts upon DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding 

detailed information from the Issuer or the Trustee, on the payable date in accordance with their 

respective holdings shown on DTC's records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be 

governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the 

accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name", and will be the responsibility of such 

Participant and not of DTC, the Trustee, or the Issuer subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements 

as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds, principal payments and interest 

payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of 

DTC) is the responsibility of the Issuer or the Trustee, disbursement of such payments to Direct 

Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial 

Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

- 208 -

Item # 11.



 

13 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds 

at any time by giving reasonable notice to the Issuer or the Trustee.  Under such circumstances, in the 

event that a successor depository is not obtained, Series 2023 Bond certificates are required to be printed 

and delivered. 

The Issuer may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC 

(or a successor securities depository).  In that event, Series 2023 Bond certificates in definitive form will 

be printed and delivered to DTC. 

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained 

from sources that the Issuer, the City and the Original Purchaser believe to be reliable, but neither the 

Issuer, the City nor the Original Purchaser take any responsibility for the accuracy thereof. 

So long as Cede & Co. is the registered holder of the Series 2023 Bonds as nominee of DTC, 

references herein to the Holders, holders, owners or Registered Owners of the Series 2023 Bonds mean 

Cede & Co. and not the Beneficial Owners of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

THE ISSUER, THE TRUSTEE, THE CITY AND THE UNDERWRITER CANNOT AND 

DO NOT GIVE ANY ASSURANCES THAT THE DIRECT PARTICIPANTS OR THE 

INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS WILL DISTRIBUTE TO THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF THE 

SERIES 2023 BONDS (A) PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL OF, REDEMPTION PRICE OF OR 

INTEREST ON THE SERIES 2023 BONDS; (B) CERTIFICATES REPRESENTING AN 

OWNERSHIP INTEREST OR OTHER CONFIRMATION OF BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP 

INTERESTS IN SERIES 2023 BONDS; OR (C) REDEMPTION OR OTHER NOTICES SENT TO 

DTC OR CEDE & CO., ITS NOMINEE, AS THE REGISTERED OWNERS OF THE SERIES 

2023 BONDS, OR THAT THEY WILL DO SO ON A TIMELY BASIS OR THAT DTC OR 

DIRECT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS WILL SERVE AND ACT IN THE MANNER 

DESCRIBED IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT.  THE CURRENT "RULES" APPLICABLE 

TO DTC ARE ON FILE WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION AND THE 

CURRENT "PROCEDURES" OF DTC TO BE FOLLOWED IN DEALING WITH DTC 

PARTICIPANTS ARE ON FILE WITH DTC.  

NEITHER THE ISSUER, THE CITY, THE TRUSTEE NOR THE UNDERWRITER 

WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATIONS TO SUCH DTC PARTICIPANTS 

OR THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS WITH RESPECT TO (A) THE ACCURACY OF ANY 

RECORDS MAINTAINED BY DTC OR ANY DTC PARTICIPANT; (B) THE PAYMENT BY 

ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OF ANY AMOUNT DUE TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER IN 

RESPECT OF THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF, REDEMPTION PRICE OF, OR INTEREST ON 

THE SERIES 2023 BONDS; (C) THE DELIVERY BY ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OF ANY 

NOTICE TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER WHICH IS REQUIRED OR PERMITTED UNDER 

THE TERMS OF THE INDENTURE TO BE GIVEN TO BONDHOLDERS; (D) THE 

SELECTION OF THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS TO RECEIVE PAYMENT IN THE EVENT OF 

ANY PARTIAL REDEMPTION OF THE SERIES 2023 BONDS; OR (E) ANY CONSENT GIVEN 

OR OTHER ACTION TAKEN BY DTC AS BONDHOLDER. 

Redemption 

Optional Redemption.  The Series 2023 Bonds (or any portions thereof in integral multiples of 

$5,000 each) maturing on or after March 1, 20___, are subject to redemption in whole or in part, in 

principal amounts and maturities selected by the Issuer on any date on or after March 1, 20___, at par, 

plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.  Under the Indenture, selection of Series 2023 Bonds to be 

- 209 -

Item # 11.



 

14 

redeemed within a maturity will be made by lot by the Trustee.  In accordance with DTC's standard 

practices and its agreement with the Issuer, DTC and the DTC Participants will make this selection so 

long as the Series 2023 Bonds are in book-entry form. 

Notice of Redemption.  Notice of the call for any redemption, identifying the Series 2023 Bonds 

(or any portions thereof in integral multiples of $5,000 each) to be redeemed (which may be a conditional 

notice of redemption), will be given by the Trustee at least 30 days but not more than 45 days prior to the 

date fixed for redemption by mailing a copy of the redemption notice by registered or certified mail to the 

Registered Owner of each Series 2023 Bond to be redeemed at the address shown on the registration 

records.  Failure to mail such notice to any particular owner of Series 2023 Bonds, or any defect in the 

notice mailed to any such owner of Series 2023 Bonds, will not affect the validity of the call for the 

redemption of any other Series 2023 Bonds.  So long as DTC or its nominee is the Registered Owner of 

the Series 2023 Bonds, notice of the call for any redemption will be given to DTC, and not directly to 

Beneficial Owners.  See the caption, "DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2023 BOND -- Book-Entry-

Only System." 

Redemption Payments.  The Trustee will apply funds deposited with the Trustee by the Issuer in 

an amount sufficient to pay the Redemption Price of the Series 2023 Bonds, or portions thereof called, 

together with accrued interest thereon to the redemption date.  After the redemption date, if proper notice 

of redemption by mailing has been given and sufficient funds have been deposited with the Trustee, 

interest will cease to accrue on the Series 2023 Bonds that have been called. 

APPLICATION OF THE PROCEEDS 

OF THE SERIES 2023 BONDS 

The proceeds of sale of the Series 2023 Bonds which is equal to $____,000 will be applied as 

follows: 

Sources of Funds 

Series 2023 Bond Proceeds $ 

Original Issue Premium $ 

Total Sources of Funds $ 

 

Uses of Funds 

Deposit to General Fund, Purchase Account for Purchase  

of the City Bond $ 

Deposit to the General Fund, Bond Issuance Expense Account   

   

Total Uses of Funds  $ 

 

THE MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

General 

The Issuer was created in 1986 and is organized and existing under and by virtue of the Issuer Act 

as a separate body corporate and politic for the public purposes set forth in the Issuer Act.  The Issuer is 

not an agency of the State, is separate from the State in its corporate and sovereign capacity and has no 

taxing power. 

The Issuer is granted under the Issuer Act the power to borrow money and issue its bonds in such 

principal amounts as it shall deem necessary to provide funds to accomplish a public purpose or purposes 

- 210 -

Item # 11.



 

15 

of the State provided for under the Issuer Act, including purchasing bonds, notes or evidences of 

indebtedness, such as the City Bond, from local governmental units, such as the City. 

Organization and Membership of the Issuer 

The Issuer is governed by a nine-member Board of Directors.  The members of the Board of 

Directors are elected by the members of the Mississippi Business Finance Corporation ("MBFC") at the 

time and place fixed by MBFC's bylaws.  Appointments are for terms of one year. The members of the 

Board of Directors are as follows: 

NAME OCCUPATION TERM* 

Michael Boerner Architect 08/01/23 – 07/31/24 

Carolyn Boteler Owner, TempStaff 08/01/23 – 07/31/24 

Noel Daniels Owner, Noel Daniels Motor Company 08/01/23 – 07/31/24 

Merle Flowers Real Estate 08/01/23 – 07/31/24 

William L. Freeman, Jr. Retired Bank President 08/01/23 – 07/31/24 

Bobby James Operations Manager, Atmos Energy 08/01/23 – 07/31/24 

Colby Jordan Director of Public Relations, The Cirlot 

Agency 

08/01/23 – 07/31/24 

William D. Sones Bank Chairman 08/01/23 – 07/31/24 

Mark Wiggins Retired Business Owner 08/01/23 – 07/31/24 

 _________________________  

* Members of the Board of Directors of the Issuer serve until reappointed or new directors are appointed 

and approved.   

The operations of the Issuer are administered by Larry W. Mobley, EDFP, Executive Director 

and Treasurer.  Mr. Mobley is a graduate of California State University, Chico, California with a Bachelor 

of Science in Industrial Engineering Technology and the University of Southern Mississippi, Hattiesburg, 

Mississippi with a Master of Science in Business and Economic Development. 

Prior Bonds of Issuer 

The purpose of the Issuer is to foster and promote, in accordance with the Issuer Act, the 

provision of adequate markets and facilities for the borrowing of funds for public purposes by any Local 

Governmental Units.  As of August 1, 2023, the Issuer has previously issued bonds for various purposes 

totaling in principal approximately $9,854,524,402.00.  Of such amount, approximately 

$2,927,064,822.60 was outstanding as of August 1, 2023. 

The full faith and credit and taxing power of the State and the Issuer are not pledged to the 

payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on any of the bonds issued or planned for 

issuance by the Issuer; and all such bonds are not a debt, liability, loan of the credit or pledge of the full 

faith and credit and taxing power of the State or the Issuer. 

The Issuer is presently considering the issuance under the Issuer Act of additional special 

obligation bonds for other purposes authorized under the Issuer Act. 

REVENUES, FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS 

- 211 -

Item # 11.



 

16 

Creation of Funds and Accounts 

The Indenture establishes the following special Funds and Accounts to be held by the Trustee: 

1. General Fund - comprised of the following: 

(a) General Account 

(b) Purchase Account 

(c) Redemption Account 

(d) Bond Issuance Expense Account 

2. Rebate Fund 

Deposit of Net Proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds, Revenues and Other Receipts 

The Trustee will deposit the net proceeds from the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds as follows: 

(a) To the Bond Issuance Expense Account of the General Fund, the amount of 

$______ to pay a portion of the costs of issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond;  

(b) To the Purchase Account of the General Fund, the sum of $___,000 to be used to 

purchase the City Bond, and 

The Trustee will deposit Revenues and other receipts (except the proceeds of the Series 2023 

Bonds, interest earnings on any amounts in the Rebate Fund and moneys received by the Issuer from the 

sale or redemption prior to maturity of the City Bond) into the General Account of the General Fund 

based on the amount due under the City Bond Resolution for the City Bond, and will deposit any moneys 

received from the sale or redemption prior to maturity of City Bond in to the Redemption Account of the 

General Fund.  

OPERATION OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS 

General Fund 

The Trustee will disburse the amounts held in the General Account for the following purposes, 

and, in the event of insufficient funds to make all of such required disbursements, in the following order 

of priority: 

(a) On or before four (4) Business Days prior to any Interest Payment Date, to the 

Trustee such amounts as may be necessary to pay the principal and interest coming due on the 

Series 2023 Bonds on such Interest Payment Date. 

(b) As necessary and in accordance with the Indenture, such amounts as may be 

necessary to pay any Program Expenses of the Issuer for the Series 2023 Bonds. 

(c) The amounts to be transferred to the Rebate Fund as provided in the Arbitrage 

Rebate Agreement and Section 6.11 of the Indenture. 

(d) After making all required payments under subparagraphs (a) through (c) above, 

the Trustee shall make a determination of the amounts reasonably expected to be received in the 

form of City Bond Payments in the succeeding twelve (12) months and shall transfer all monies 

in the General Account, which, together with such expected receipts for the succeeding 12 

- 212 -

Item # 11.



 

17 

months are in excess of the amounts needed to pay principal and interest on the Series 2023 

Bonds within the immediately succeeding twelve month period, to the City at the request of the 

City with the prior written approval of the Issuer. 

Bond Issuance Expense Account.  Upon receipt of invoices or requisitions acceptable to the 

Trustee, the Trustee will disburse the amounts held in the Bond Issuance Expense Account for the 

payment or reimbursement of the costs related to the authorization, sale, validation and issuance of the 

Series 2023 Bonds and the purchase and validation of the City Bond, which items of expense shall 

include, but not be limited to, printing costs, costs of reproducing documents, filing and recording fees, 

initial fees and charges of the Trustee, legal fees and charges, professional consultants' fees, municipal 

advisory fees and expenses, costs of credit ratings, fees and charges for execution, transportation and 

safekeeping of the Series 2023 Bonds, credit enhancements or liquidity facility fees, and other costs, 

charges and fees in connection with the foregoing.  On the date which is thirty (30) days after the date of 

issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, any amounts remaining in the Bond Issuance Expense Account will be 

transferred to the General Account. 

Purchase Account.  Upon submission of duly authorized written requisitions of an authorized 

officer of the Issuer stating that all requirements for purchases under the Act and the Indenture have been 

or will be met, the Trustee will disburse the amounts held in the Purchase Account for the purchase of the 

City Bond with said moneys to be applied to the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds as more fully 

described under the heading "Deposit of Net Proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds, Revenues and Other 

Receipts". 

Redemption Account.  The Trustee will deposit in the Redemption Account all moneys received 

upon the sale or redemption prior to maturity of the City Bond and will disburse the funds in the 

Redemption Account to redeem Series 2023 Bonds of such maturity or maturities as directed by an 

Authorized Officer if such Series 2023 Bonds are then subject to redemption. 

Rebate Fund 

Upon the direction of the Issuer and in accordance with the arbitrage rebate agreement or similar 

document regarding the expenditures and investments of the proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds provided 

by the Issuer under the Indenture (the "Arbitrage Rebate Agreement"), the Trustee will deposit amounts 

for the benefit of the Issuer from the General Account in the General Fund into the Rebate Fund and will 

deposit into the Rebate Fund all income from investments in the Rebate Fund.  In the event and to the 

extent that amounts in the Rebate Fund exceed the amounts required to be rebated to the United States of 

America, the Trustee will transfer such excess amounts to the General Account in the General Fund upon 

the direction of the Issuer in accordance with the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement. 

Not later than 60 days after five years following the date of delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds, 

and at intervals of every five years thereafter, the Trustee shall, upon the written request of the Issuer in 

accordance with the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement, pay to the United States of America one hundred 

percent (100%) of the amount required to be paid to the United States of America as of such payment 

date.  Not later than 60 days following the retirement of all of the Series 2023 Bonds, upon the written 

request of the Issuer the Trustee will pay to the United States of America one hundred percent (100%) the 

amount to be paid to the United States of America.  Each payment to the United States of America will be 

accompanied by a statement of the Issuer summarizing the determination of the amount of such payment, 

together with copies of any reports originally filed with the Internal Revenue Service with respect to the 

Series 2023 Bonds. 

- 213 -

Item # 11.



 

18 

With respect to the Rebate Fund, the Issuer may direct the Trustee to proceed other than as set 

forth in the Indenture and described above by delivering to the Trustee a new Arbitrage Rebate 

Agreement accompanied by an Opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that compliance with such 

memorandum will not adversely affect the excludability from gross income for federal income tax 

purposes of the interest on the Series 2023 Bonds. 

Amounts Remaining in Funds 

Any amounts remaining in any Fund or Account after full payment of all of the Series 2023 

Bonds outstanding under the Indenture, all required rebates to the United States of America and the fees, 

charges and expenses of the Trustee will be distributed to the City, except as required by the Indenture 

regarding payment to holders of non-presented Series 2023 Bonds. 

Investment of Funds 

Any moneys held as part of any Fund or Account created under or pursuant to the Indenture and 

the Rebate Fund shall be invested or reinvested by the Trustee as continuously as reasonably possible in 

such Investment Securities as may be directed in writing by the City.  All such investments shall at all 

times be a part of the Fund or Account in which the moneys used to acquire such investments had been 

deposited and, except as provided in the Indenture, all income and profits on such investments, other than 

from moneys on deposit in the Rebate Fund or any Account created thereunder, shall be deposited as 

received in the General Account.  The Trustee may make any and all such investments through its bond 

department or through the bond department of any financial institution which is an affiliate of the Trustee 

and may trade with itself or any of its affiliates in doing so.  Moneys in separate Funds and Accounts may 

not be commingled for the purpose of investment or deposit.  The Trustee and the Issuer agree that all 

investments, and all instructions of the Issuer to the Trustee with respect thereto shall be made in 

accordance with prudent investment standards reasonably expected to produce the greatest investment 

yields while seeking to preserve principal without causing any of the Series 2023 Bonds to be arbitrage 

bonds as defined in Section 148 of the Code.  Any investment losses shall be charged to the Fund or 

Account in which moneys used to purchase such investment had been deposited.  For so long as the 

Trustee is in compliance with the provisions of Section 8.1 of the Indenture, the Trustee shall not be liable 

for any investment losses.  Moneys in any Fund or Account shall be invested in Investment Securities 

with a maturity date, or a redemption date which shall coincide as nearly as practicable with times at 

which moneys in such Funds or Accounts will be required for the purposes thereof.  The Trustee shall sell 

and reduce to cash a sufficient amount of such investments in the respective Fund or Account whenever 

the cash balance therein is insufficient to pay the amounts contemplated to be paid therefrom at the time 

those amounts are to be paid.  All investment income from the assets held in any Fund or Account, except 

for the Rebate Fund and any Accounts created thereunder, will be added to the General Account. 

The Issuer has certified in the Indenture to the owners of the Series 2023 Bonds from time to time 

Outstanding that moneys on deposit in any Fund or Account in connection with the Series 2023 Bonds, 

whether or not such moneys were derived from the proceeds of the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds or from 

any other sources, are not intended to be used in a manner which will cause the interest on the Series 2023 

Bonds to lose the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

THE SERIES 2023 BONDS AS LEGAL INVESTMENTS 

The Series 2023 Bonds shall be legal investments in which all public officers and public bodies of 

this State, its political subdivisions, all municipalities and municipal subdivisions, all insurance 

companies and associations, trust companies, savings banks and savings associations, investment 

companies and other persons carrying on a banking business, all administrators, guardians, executors, 

- 214 -

Item # 11.



 

19 

trustees and other fiduciaries, and all other persons whatsoever who are now or may hereafter be 

authorized to invest funds, including capital, in their control or belonging to them.  The Series 2023 

Bonds are also hereby made securities which may properly and legally be deposited with and received by 

all public officers and bodies of the State or any agency or political subdivisions of the state and all 

municipalities and public corporations for any purpose for which the deposit of bonds or other obligations 

of the State is now or may hereafter be authorized by law. 

LITIGATION 

There is not now pending or, to the Issuer's knowledge, threatened any litigation restraining or 

enjoining the issuance, sale, execution or delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds or prohibiting the Issuer from 

purchasing the City Bond with the proceeds of such Series 2023 Bonds or in any way contesting or 

affecting the validity of the Series 2023 Bonds, any proceedings of the Issuer taken with respect to the 

sale or issuance thereof or the pledge or application of any moneys or security provided for the payment 

of the Series 2023 Bonds.  Neither the creation, organization nor existence of the Issuer nor the title of 

any of the present Directors nor other officers of the Issuer to their respective offices is being contested. 

There is not now pending or, to the knowledge of the City, threatened any litigation restraining or 

enjoining the sale, issuance, execution or delivery of the City Bond or prohibiting the City from selling 

the City Bond to the Issuer or in any way contesting or affecting the validity of the City Bond, any 

proceedings of  the City taken with respect to the sale or issuance thereof or the pledge or application of 

any moneys or security provided for the payment of the City Bond. 

TAX MATTERS 

General 

In the opinion of Butler Snow LLP, Ridgeland, Mississippi, interest on the Series 2023 Bonds is 

excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes, pursuant to Section 103 of the Code and is 

not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax; however such interest 

is taken into account in determining the annual adjusted financial statement income of applicable 

corporations (as defined in Section 59(k) of the Code) for purposes of computing the alternate minimum 

tax imposed on corporations.  The opinion of Bond Counsel is based on certain certifications, covenants 

and representations of the Issuer and the City and is conditioned on continuing compliance therewith. 

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Series 2023 Bonds is exempt from all income 

taxation in the State of Mississippi under existing laws, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions.  The 

opinion addresses only the exemption of interest on the Series 2023 Bonds under the income tax laws of 

the State of Mississippi and does not address the tax treatment of the Series 2023 Bonds in any other state 

or jurisdiction.   

The Code imposes certain requirements which must be met subsequent to the issuance of the 

Series 2023 Bonds as a condition to the excludability from gross income of interest on the Series 2023 

Bonds for federal tax purposes.  Non-compliance with such requirements by the Issuer or the City may 

cause interest on the Series 2023 Bonds to be includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes 

retroactive to their date of issue irrespective of the date on which such noncompliance occurs.  Should the 

Series 2023 Bonds bear interest that is not excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes, 

the market value of the Series 2023 Bonds would be materially and adversely affected. 

The Indenture and the City Bond Resolution include covenants that (a) the Issuer and the City 

will not take or fail to take any action with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds if such action or omission 

- 215 -

Item # 11.



 

20 

would result in the loss of the excludability from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest 

on the Series 2023 Bonds, under Section 103 of the Code, and neither the Issuer nor the City will act in 

any manner which would adversely affect such excludability; (b) the Issuer and the City will not make 

any investment or do any other act or thing during the period that the Series 2023 Bonds are Outstanding 

which would cause the Series 2023 Bonds  to be "arbitrage bonds" within the meaning of Section 148 of 

the Code; and (c) if required by the Code, the Issuer and the City will rebate any necessary amounts to the 

United States of America.  It is not an "event of default" under the Indenture if interest on the Series 2023 

Bonds is not excludable from gross income for federal tax purposes or otherwise pursuant to any 

provision of the Code. 

Although Bond Counsel has rendered an opinion that interest on the Series 2023 Bonds is 

excludable from federal gross income and that the Series 2023 Bonds are exempt from all State of 

Mississippi income tax, the accrual or receipt of interest on the Series 2023 Bonds may otherwise affect a 

bondholder's federal income tax, Mississippi or other state tax liability.  The nature and extent of these 

other tax consequences will depend upon the bondholder's particular tax status and a bondholder's other 

items of income or deduction.  Taxpayers who may be affected by such other tax consequences include, 

without limitation, financial institutions, certain insurance companies, S corporations, certain foreign 

corporations, individual recipients of Social Security or railroad retirement benefits and taxpayers who 

may be deemed to have incurred (or continued) indebtedness to purchase or carry the Series 2023 Bonds.  

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other such federal or state tax consequences.  

Prospective purchasers of the Series 2023 Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with regard to the 

other tax consequences of owning the Series 2023 Bonds. 

Original Issue Premium Bonds 

The Series 2023 Bonds that have an original yield below their respective interest rates, as shown 

on the inside cover of this Official Statement (collectively, the "Premium Bonds"), are being sold at a 

premium.  An amount equal to the excess of the issue price of a Premium Bond over its stated redemption 

price at maturity constitutes premium on such Premium Bond.  A purchaser of a Premium Bond must 

amortize any premium over such Premium Bond's term using constant yield principles, based on the 

purchaser's yield to maturity (or, in the case of Premium Bonds callable prior to their maturity, generally 

by amortizing the premium to the call date, based on the purchaser's yield to the call date and giving 

effect to any call premium).  As premium is amortized, the amount of the amortization offsets a 

corresponding amount of interest for the period, and the purchaser's basis in such Premium Bond is 

reduced by a corresponding amount resulting in an increase in the gain (or decrease in the loss) to be 

recognized for federal income tax purposes upon a sale or disposition of such Premium Bond prior to its 

maturity.  Even though the purchaser's basis may be reduced, no federal income tax deduction is allowed.  

Purchasers of the Premium Bonds should consult their tax advisors with respect to the determination and 

treatment of premium for federal income tax purposes and with respect to the state and local tax 

consequences of owning a Premium Bond. 

Original Issue Discount Bonds 

The Series 2023 Bonds that have an original yield above their respective interest rates, as shown 

on the inside cover of this Official Statement (collectively, the "Discount Bonds"), are being sold at an 

original issue discount.  The difference between the initial public offering prices of such Discount Bonds 

and their stated amounts to be paid at maturity constitutes original issue discount treated in the same 

manner for federal income tax purposes as interest, as described above. 

The amount of original issue discount that is treated as having accrued with respect to a Discount Bond or 

is otherwise required to be recognized in gross income is added to the cost basis of the owner of the bond 

- 216 -

Item # 11.



 

21 

in determining, for federal income tax purposes, gain or loss upon disposition of such Discount Bond 

(including its sale, redemption or payment at maturity).  Amounts received on disposition of such 

Discount Bond that are attributable to accrued or otherwise recognized original issue discount will be 

treated as federally tax-exempt interest, rather than as taxable gain, for federal income tax purposes. 

Original issue discount is treated as compounding semiannually, at a rate determined by reference to the 

yield to maturity of each individual Discount Bond, on days that are determined by reference to the 

maturity date of such Discount Bond.  The amount treated as original issue discount on such Discount 

Bond for a particular semiannual accrual period is equal to (a) the product of (i) the yield to maturity for 

such Discount Bond (determined by compounding at the close of each accrual period) and (ii) the amount 

that would have been the tax basis of such Discount Bond at the beginning of the particular accrual period 

if held by the original purchaser, less (b) the amount of any interest payable for such Discount Bond 

during the accrual period.  The tax basis for purposes of the preceding sentence is determined by adding 

to the initial public offering price on such Discount Bond the sum of the amounts that have been treated 

as original issue discount for such purposes during all prior periods.  If such Discount Bond is sold 

between semiannual compounding dates, original issue discount that would have been accrued for that 

semiannual compounding period for federal income tax purposes is to be apportioned in equal amounts 

among the days in such compounding period.   

Owners of Discount Bonds should consult their tax advisors with respect to the determination and 

treatment of original issue discount accrued as of any date, with respect to when such original issue 

discount must be recognized as an item of gross income and with respect to the state and local tax 

consequences of owning a Discount Bond.  Subsequent purchasers of Discount Bonds that purchase such 

Discount Bonds for a price that is higher or lower than the "adjusted issue price" of the Discount Bonds at 

the time of purchase should consult their tax advisors as to the effect on the accrual of original issue 

discount. 

Backup Withholding 

As a result of the enactment of the Tax Increase Prevention and Reconciliation Act of 2005, 

interest on federally tax-exempt obligations such as the Series 2023 Bonds is subject to information 

reporting in a manner similar to interest paid on taxable obligations.  Backup withholding may be 

imposed on payments to any owner of the Series 2023 Bonds that fail to provide certain required 

information including an accurate taxpayer identification number to any person required to collect such 

information pursuant to Section 6049 of the Code.  The reporting requirement does not in and of itself 

affect or alter the excludability of interest on the Series 2023 Bonds from gross income for federal income 

tax purposes or any other federal tax consequence of purchasing, holding or selling federally tax-exempt 

obligations. 

Changes in Federal and State Tax Law 

From time to time, there are legislative proposals in the Congress and in the states that, if enacted, 

could alter or amend the federal and state tax matters referred to under this heading "TAX MATTERS" or 

adversely affect the market value of the Series 2023 Bonds.  It cannot be predicted whether or in what 

form any such proposal might be enacted or whether if enacted it would apply to bonds issued prior to 

enactment.  In addition, regulatory actions are from time to time announced or proposed and litigation is 

threatened or commenced which, if implemented or concluded in a particular manner, could adversely 

affect the market value of the Series 2023 Bonds.  It cannot be predicted whether any such regulatory 

action will be implemented, how any particular litigation or judicial action will be resolved, or whether 

the Series 2023 Bonds or the market value thereof would be impacted thereby.  Purchasers of the Series 

2023 Bonds should consult their tax advisors regarding any pending or proposed legislation, regulatory 

- 217 -

Item # 11.



 

22 

initiatives or litigation.  The opinions expressed by Bond Counsel are based on existing legislation and 

regulations as interpreted by relevant judicial and regulatory authorities as of the date of issuance and 

delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds, and Bond Counsel has expressed no opinion as of any date subsequent 

thereto or with respect to any pending legislation, regulatory initiatives or litigation. 

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF THE SERIES 2023 BONDS ARE ADVISED TO CONSULT 

THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS PRIOR TO ANY PURCHASE OF THE SERIES 2023 BONDS AS 

TO THE IMPACT OF THE CODE UPON THEIR ACQUISITION, HOLDING OR 

DISPOSITION OF THE SERIES 2023 BONDS. 

LEGAL MATTERS 

Certain legal matters incident to the authorization and issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds by the 

Issuer are subject to the approval of Bond Counsel whose approving opinion will be delivered 

concurrently with the delivery of Series 2023 Bonds.  Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the 

Issuer by its counsel, Balch & Bingham LLP, Jackson, Mississippi and for the City by its counsel, Ben 

Logan, Esquire, Tupelo, Mississippi. 

Butler Snow LLP, Ridgeland, Mississippi, is also serving as bond counsel for the City in 

connection with the issuance and sale of the City Bond. 

The remedies available to the Trustee, to the Issuer or to the owners of the Series 2023 Bonds 

upon an Event of Default under the Indenture or under the terms of the City Bond purchased by the Issuer 

are in many respects dependent upon judicial actions which are often subject to discretion and delay.  

Under existing constitutional and statutory law and judicial decisions, including specifically the 

Bankruptcy Code, the remedies provided in the Indenture and under the City Bond may not be readily 

available or may be limited.  The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of 

the Series 2023 Bonds will be qualified as to the enforceability of the various legal instruments by 

limitations imposed by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or other similar laws affecting the rights of 

creditors generally (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or in 

law), by general principles of equity (regardless of whether such proceeding is considered in a proceeding 

in equity or at law) and by the valid exercise of the constitutional powers of the State and the United 

States of America. 

RATING 

Moody’s Investors Services, Inc. (“Moody’s”) has assigned an underlying rating of “_____” to 

the Series 2023 Bonds.  Information on the rating may be obtained from the Executive Director of the 

Issuer or the City Clerk of the City.  Such rating reflects only the view of such organization, and an 

explanation of the significance of the rating may be obtained only from said rating agency.  The rating 

may be changed, suspended or withdrawn as a result of changes in, or unavailability of, information.  Any 

downward revision, suspension or withdrawal of such rating may have an adverse effect on the market 

price of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

PENSION PLAN 

The City has no pension plan or retirement plan for employees.  City employees are members of 

and contribute to the Mississippi Public Employees' Retirement System (PERS), a cost-sharing, multiple 

employer retirement system administered by the State for the benefit of its local governments and State 

personnel.  Benefit provisions are established by State statute and may be amended from time to time only 

by the State Legislature.   

- 218 -

Item # 11.



 

23 

In June 2012, the Government Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 68, Accounting 

and Financial Reporting for Pensions ("GASB-68"). The objective of GASB-68 is to improve accounting 

and financial reporting of government pensions. Also, GASB-68 improves information provided by 

government employers about financial support for pensions that is provided by other entities. 

Requirements of GASB-68 are effective for financial statements whose fiscal year begins after June 15, 

2014 (Fiscal Year 2015 for the City). 

PERS members are required to contribute 9.00% of their annual covered salary, and the City is 

required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate.  The rate at September 30, 2018 was 15.75% of 

annual covered payroll.  On June 26, 2018, the PERS Board of Trustees voted to increase the employer 

contribution rate from 15.75 to 17.40 percent, effective July 1, 2019.  The City contributions (employer 

share only) to PERS for the years ending September 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020 were $4,097,240, 

$3,841,862 and $3,902,673, respectively, which equaled the required contributions for each year.  

At September 30, 2022, the City reported a liability of $53,329,121 for its proportionate share of 

the net pension liability. See Note 12 in the City's 2022 Audited Financial Statements included in 

"APPENDIX B - Financial Information Concerning the City. 

POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS 

Effective with the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 audit, the City will be required to apply 

GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other than 

Pension ("GASB 75"), to its audited financial statements. GASB 75 changes accounting and financial 

reporting for OPEB. Fund level statements, including the General Fund statements, will not be impacted 

by the GASB 75 reporting. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

The audited financial statements of the City for the year ended September 30, 2022 included in 

this Official Statement as APPENDIX B, have been audited by Jarrell Group, PLLC Certified Public 

Accountants, Tupelo, Mississippi ("JG"), as stated in the report appearing therein (the "audit report"). 

The City has not requested and will not obtain a consent letter from its auditor for the inclusion of 

the audit report in this Official Statement. JG, the City's independent auditor, has not been engaged to 

perform, and has not performed, since the date of its report included herein, any procedures on the 

financial statements addressed in that report.  JG, also has not performed any procedures relating to this 

Official Statement.  

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

The City will execute a continuing disclosure agreement (the "Disclosure Certificate") at the 

time of the closing for the Bonds. The Disclosure Certificate will be executed for the benefit of the 

beneficial owners of the Bonds and the City has covenanted in the Bond Resolution to comply with its 

terms. The Disclosure Certificate will provide that so long as the Bonds remain outstanding, the City will 

provide the following information to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, acting through its 

Electronic Municipal Market Access ("EMMA") system: (i) annually, certain financial information and 

operating data, as described in the Disclosure Certificate; and (ii) timely notice of the occurrence of 

certain listed events; all as specified in the Disclosure Certificate. The form of the Disclosure Certificate 

is attached hereto as APPENDIX F.  

- 219 -

Item # 11.



 

24 

The City has previously entered into continuing disclosure undertakings with respect to bonds it 

has issued or for which it is the "obligated person" within the meaning of Securities and Exchange 

Commission Rule15c2-12(b)(5) (the "Rule"). The City has reviewed the last five years of filings and 

continuing disclosure undertakings with respect to any outstanding bonds within the meaning of the Rule   

Without a determination as to materiality, the City’s audited financial statements for fiscal year 

September 30, 2019 were filed three days late on March 31, 2019 due to unavailability at the time of 

filing, however, notice of failure to file the audited financial statements for fiscal year September 30, 

2019 was timely filed. In addition, there may have been instances in which some tables included in the 

City's prior continuing disclosure undertakings were not included in every filing on EMMA. In addition, 

some of the past filings required of the City may not have been filed under all outstanding CUSIPs and 

may have been misfiled under the wrong CUSIP or under the wrong heading within the CUSIP. 

The City adopted policies and procedures on November 4, 2014 (the "Policy") to ensure timely 

filing of its Annual Report, together with any required Accompanying Information.  The City has hired a 

dissemination agent to file the City's required Annual Report, together with any required Accompanying 

Information. 

For a summary of the City's undertaking, see APPENDIX F - FORM OF CONTINUING 

DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE attached hereto. 

MUNICIPAL ADVISOR 

The Issuer has retained the firm of Government Consultants, Inc. as Municipal Advisor to the 

Issuer in connection with the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds.  In such capacity the Municipal Advisor 

has provided recommendations and other financial guidance to the Issuer and the City with respect to the 

preparation of documents, the preparation for the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds and the time of the sale, 

market conditions and other factors related to the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

Although the Municipal Advisor performed an active role in the drafting of this Official 

Statement, it has not independently verified any of the information set forth herein.  The information 

contained in this Official Statement has been obtained primarily from the Issuer and the City's records and 

from other sources which are believed to be reliable, including financial records of the City and other 

entities, which records may be subject to interpretation.  No guarantee is made as to the accuracy or 

completeness of any information obtained from sources other than the Issuer and the City.  Any 

summaries or excerpts of statutes, ordinances, resolutions or other documents do not purport to be 

complete statements of the same and reference is made to such original sources in all respects. 

 

UNDERWRITING 

The Series 2023 Bonds are being purchased by Raymond James & Associations, Inc. (the 

"Underwriter").  The Underwriter has agreed, subject to certain conditions, to purchase all of the Series 

2023 Bonds from the Issuer at a purchase price of $________, which is equal to the principal amount 

thereof plus an original issue premium of $_________ and minus the Underwriter’s discount of 

$_________.  The Underwriter is obligated to purchase all the Series 2023 Bonds, if any are purchased, 

the obligation to make such purchases being subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in the Bond 

Purchase Agreement with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds, the approval of certain legal matters by 

counsel and certain other conditions. 

VALIDATION 

- 220 -

Item # 11.



 

25 

Prior to issuance, the Series 2023 Bonds will be validated before the Chancery Court of the First 

Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, as provided by Sections 31-13-1 to 31-13-11, Mississippi 

Code of 1972, as amended.  Prior to issuance, the City Bond will be validated before the Chancery Court 

of Lee County, Mississippi, as provided by Sections 31-13-1 to 31-13-11, Mississippi Code of 1972, as 

amended.  

MISCELLANEOUS 

The Issuer's offices are located at 735 Riverside Drive, Suite 300, Jackson, Mississippi 39202, 

telephone (601) 355-6232. 

All quotations from, and summaries and explanations of, the Act, the Indenture and the City Bond 

Resolution contained in this Official Statement do not purport to be complete, and reference is made to 

each such document or instrument for full and complete statements of its provisions.  The attached 

APPENDICES are an integral part of this Official Statement and must be read together with all of the 

foregoing statements.  Copies in reasonable quantity of the Act, the Indenture, the City Bond Resolution 

and the supplemental materials furnished to the Issuer by the City may be obtained upon written request 

to the Issuer. 

Neither any advertisement of the Series 2023 Bonds nor this Official Statement is to be construed 

as constituting an agreement with the purchasers of the Series 2023 Bonds.  So far as any statements are 

made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, they are 

intended merely as such and not as representations of fact. 

- 221 -

Item # 11.



 

26 

This Official Statement has been duly approved, executed and delivered by the Issuer.  The Issuer 

will provide copies of this Official Statement to be distributed to the purchasers of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

 

By:   ________________                    

         Executive Director 

- 222 -

Item # 11.



 

 

[THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY] 

- 223 -

Item # 11.



 

 

APPENDIX A 

INFORMATION ON THE CITY

- 224 -

Item # 11.



 

A-1 

 

APPENDIX A -   

ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION 

CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI  

General Description 

The City of Tupelo (the “City”), the county seat of Lee County, Mississippi (the "County"), was 

incorporated on July 20, 1870, and occupies an area of approximately 23 square miles in the central section of the 

County in the prairie soil area of the northeastern portion of the State of Mississippi (the "State").  The City lies 104 

miles southeast of Memphis, Tennessee, 142 miles northwest of Birmingham, Alabama, 170 miles northeast of 

Jackson, the capital city of the State, 274 miles northwest of Mobile, Alabama, and 340 miles northeast of New 

Orleans, Louisiana. 

 

Population 

 The population of the City has been recorded as follows: 

1990 2000 2010 2020 2022 Estimate 

30,985 34,211 34,546 37,923 37,748 

 SOURCE: Census data at website: www.census.gov; August 2023. 

Government 

 

The City, which operates under the Mayor-City Council form of government, is divided into seven wards 

or voting precincts, with one City Council member elected from each ward, and the Mayor and two additional City 

Council members elected from the City at large.  The Mayor and City Council members are elected for concurrent 

four-year terms, set to expire next in July 2025. The current Mayor and members of the City Council are as follows: 

 

Name Position Position Held Since 

Todd Jordan Mayor July 2021 

Chad Mims Ward 1 Council Member July 2021 

Lynn Bryan Ward 2 Council Member July 2013 

Travis Beard Ward 3 Council Member July 2014 

Nettie Y. Davis Ward 4 Council Member July 2001 

Buddy Palmer Ward 5 Council Member July 2013 

Janet Gaston Ward 6 Council Member July 2021 

Rosie Jones Ward 7 Council Member July 2021 

- 225 -

Item # 11.



 

A-2 

 

Transportation 

 

The City is served by U.S. Highway 45, running north and south through the eastern portion of the City, 

which connects the City to Columbus, Mississippi, Meridian, Mississippi, and Mobile, Alabama to the south and 

Corinth, Mississippi and western Tennessee to the north.  U.S. Highway 78, running northwest and southeast 

through the northern portion of the City, connects the City with Memphis, Tennessee and Birmingham, Alabama.  

State Highway 6 connects the City with Oxford, Mississippi, the site of the University of Mississippi, and Interstate 

Highway 55 to the West. 

 

The Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railroad Company, running northwest and southeast through the center 

of the City, connects the City with Memphis, Tennessee and Birmingham, Alabama.  The Kansas City Southern 

Railroad Company runs north and south through the center of the City and connects the City to Meridian, 

Mississippi to the south and Corinth, Mississippi to the north. 

 

Tupelo Regional Airport (C.D. Lemons Field) is a federally certified, fully instrumental; all-weather 

commercial service airport located three miles west of the center of the City.  The municipal airport provides a full 

range of general aviation flight and aircraft services.  The airport also serves as a base for a major Army National 

Guard Aviation Company, which employs several hundred personnel. 

 

The City is located 18 miles from the Port of Fulton on the Tennessee-Tombigbee Waterway (the 

"Waterway").  The Waterway was constructed at a cost of $1.4 billion to connect the Tombigbee River with the 

Tennessee River, reducing the water distance from the Gulf of Mexico to many inland ports by as much as 819 

miles.  The Waterway provides low cost water transportation to much of northeast Mississippi. 

 

Approximately twenty motor freight carriers have terminal facilities in the City. Convenient parcel delivery 

service is provided to residents of the area by six commercial carriers.  Parcels may also be shipped on the bus lines 

serving the City, and local taxi companies provide additional local delivery services. 

 

Per Capita Income 

 

The following represents per capita income annually for the County, for State of Mississippi, and for the 

United States of America: 

 

 

 

Year 

 

 

County 

 

 

Mississippi 

 

 

United States 

 

County as % 

Of U.S. 

2021 51,703 45,881 64,143 81% 

2020 48,080 42,716 59,765 80% 

2019 44,363 39,445 56,250 79% 

2018 41,276 37,822 54,098 76% 

2017 40,579 36,817 51,811 78% 

 
 
SOURCE: Bureau of Economic Analysis, Regional Economic Accounts – Per Capita Personal Income, (data last updated 

November 2022). August 2023. 

 

- 226 -

Item # 11.



 

A-3 

 

Retail Sales for the City 

 

 

State Fiscal Year 

Ended June 30 

 

Amount 

2022 2,119,559,837 

2021 2,076,409,480 

2020 1,811,415,732 

2019 1,802,579,796 

2018 1,853,472,455 

 
SOURCE: Annual Reports for years indicated, Mississippi Department of Revenue's website: www.dor.ms.gov; information 

available as of August 2023. 

 

 

 

Major Employers 

 

The following is a listing of the City's major employers, their products or services and their approximate 

number of employees: 

 

Employer Employees Product/Service 

North Mississippi Health Services 7,100 Healthcare  

Cooper Tire & Rubber Company 1,720 Manufacturing  

Tupelo Public School District 1,200 Education 

MTD Products 1,050 Manufacturing 

JESCO, Inc. 1,000 Construction 

Lee County School District 1,000 Education 

BancorpSouth, Inc. 800 Financial Services 

 

 

SOURCE: Community Development Corporation website www.cdfms.org, information available as of 

August 2023. 

- 227 -

Item # 11.



 

A-4 

 

Banking Institutions 

 

 

Institutions 

 

Total Assets 

Regions Bank4 154,203,000,000 

 

Cadence Bank5   48,668,073,000 

Trustmark National Bank6 18,013,146,000 

Renasant Bank7 16,995,485,000 

Community Bank of Mississippi8 4,608,467,000 

Bank Plus9 7,028,113,000 

FNB Oxford Bank10 607,298,000 

First American National Bank11 373,893,000 

 

SOURCE: Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation BankFind database at www.fdic.gov. All assets are stated as of 

December 31, 2022; August 2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           

4 Headquarters located in Birmingham, Alabama.   
5  Headquartered in Tupelo, Mississippi. Formerly known as BancorpSouth Bank.  
6 Headquarters located in Jackson, Mississippi. 
7 Headquarters located in Tupelo, Mississippi.  
8 Headquarters located in Forrest, Mississippi.  
9 Headquarters located in Belzoni, Mississippi. 
10 Headquarters located in Oxford, Mississippi.   
11 Headquarters located in Iuka, Mississippi.   

- 228 -

Item # 11.



 

A-5 

 

Unemployment Statistics of the County 

 

Year Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May Jun. Jul. Aug. Sep. Oct. Nov. Dec. 

Annual 

Averages 

2018 3.8 4.0 3.5 3.6 3.9 4.8 4.6 4.2 3.8 3.7 3.7 4.1 4.0 

2019 4.4 4.2 4.1 4.0 4.0 5.2 5.5 4.9 4.5 4.2 4.2 3.9 4.4 

2020 4.3 4.3 6.0 21.6 12.8 10.7 9.4 6.4 6.5 5.4 5.3 5.2 8.0 

2021 5.6 5.4 5.6 4.7 4.9 5.6 5.1 4.6 3.9 3.3 2.9 2.8 4.5 

2022 3.8 3.4 2.9 2.9 3.1 3.9 4.0 3.5 3.4 3.1 3.0 3.0 3.3 

2023 3.1 2.8 2.6 2.4 2.6 3.4 -- -- -- -- -- -- -- 

 

SOURCE: Mississippi Department of Employment Security: Labor Market Data at website:  www.mdes.ms.gov; information 

available as of August 2023. 

- 229 -

Item # 11.



 

A-6 

 

 

Employment Statistics of the County 

 

 

 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

RESIDENCE BASED EMPLOYMENT       

 I.  Civilian Labor Force 41,080 40,740 41,540 40,930 41,390 40,770 

 II. Unemployed 1,690 1,630 1,850 3,290 1,880 1,360 

   Rate  4.1 4.0 4.5 8.0 4.5 3.3 

 III.  Employed 39,390 39,110 39,690 37,640 39,510 39,410 

ESTABLISHMENT BASED EMPLOYMENT       

 I. Manufacturing  10,730 10,570 10,770    

 II. Non-manufacturing 45,130 45,090 45,830    

  A. Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing & 

Hunting 0 0 0    

  B. Mining 0 0 0    

  C. Utilities 170 180 180    

  D. Construction 1,410 1,490 1,490    

  E. Wholesale Trade 1,900 2,040 2,140    

  F. Retail Trade 7,020 6,970 6,860    

  G. Transportation & Warehousing 1,540 1,680 1,830    

  H. Information 1,160 1,150 1,100    

  I. Finance & Insurance 1,470 1,560 1,660    

  J. Real Estate, Rental & Leasing 530 510 540    

  K. Prof., Scientific & Technical Service 1,700 1,760 1,890    

  L. Management of Companies & 

Entertainment 900 900 900    

  M. Administrative Support & Waste 

Management 5,850 6,030 6,450    

  N. Educational Services 130 140 130    

  O. Health Care & Social Assistance 9,660 9,210 9,220    

  P. Arts, Entertainment & Recreation 400 370 400    

  Q. Accommodation & Food Service 4,830 4,680 4,590    

  R. Other Services (except Public 

Administration) 1,050 1,060 1,050    

  S. Government    5,410 5,360 5,400    

             Education 2,680 2,650 2,650    

 III. Total Nonagricultural Employment 

 

55,860 

 

55,660 

 

56,600    

 

SOURCE: Mississippi Department of Employment Security (“MDES”): Annual Averages: Labor Force and 

Establishment Based Employment 2011-2019, Labor Market Information Department at website: www.mdes.ms.gov; Last 

revision date of information May 2022.  Annual Averages 2020 Forward, released April 2023, are limited to “Residence Based 

Employment” and MDES no longer provides “Establishment Based Employment” data. Information available as of August 2023.  

- 230 -

Item # 11.



 

A-7 

 

 

Educational Facilities 

 

The Tupelo Public School District (the "District") serves the entire City and a large rural area west of the 

City.  The District currently operates one early childhood center, nine elementary schools, one middle school, one 

career center, one discipline center, and one high school, and employs approximately 584 certified teachers and/or 

certified personnel and approximately 531 support personnel. 

 

Enrollment figures for the District for the current scholastic year and for the four preceding years are as 

follows: 

 

 

Scholastic Year 

 

Enrollment 

2022-23 7,132 

2021-22 7,151 

2020-21 7,005 

2019-20 7,002 

2018-19 6,994 

 
SOURCE: Office of Research and Statistics, Mississippi Department of Education; August 2023. 

 

- 231 -

Item # 11.



 

A-8 

 

TAX INFORMATION 

Assessed Valuation12 

 

 

Assessment 

Year 

 

 

Real Property 

 

Personal 

Property 

 

 

Automobiles 

 

Public Utility 

 Property 

 

 

Total 

2022 414,644,736 107,936,199 62,270,198 7,372,664 591,219,853 

2021 409,140,242 96,334,235 63,739,836 5,665,764 574,880,077 

2020 407,562,279 94,400,740 58,199,758 5,665,764 565,828,541 

2019 377,171,673 93,132,978 57,958,426 6,665,605 534,928,682 

2018 372,258,284 85,673,763 55,680,013 6,665,605 520,277,665 

 

SOURCE: Office of the City Clerk; August 2023. 

 

Assessed valuations are based upon the following assessment ratios: 

 

(a) Real and personal property (excluding single-family owner-occupied residential real property and motor 

vehicles, respectively), fifteen percent (15%) of true value; 

 

(b) Single-family owner-occupied residential real property, ten percent (10%) of true value; 

 

(c) Motor vehicles and public utility property, thirty percent (30%) of true value. 

 

The 1986 Session of the Mississippi Legislature adopted House Concurrent Resolution No. 41 (the 

"Resolution"), pursuant to which there was proposed an amendment to the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 (the 

"Amendment").  The Amendment provided, inter alia, that the assessment ratio of any one class of property shall not 

be more than three times the assessment ratio on any other class of property. 

 

The Amendment set forth five classes of property and the assessment ratios which would be applicable 

thereto upon the adoption of the Amendment.  The assessment ratios set forth in the Amendment are identical to 

those established by Section 27-35-4, Mississippi Code of 1972, as it existed prior to the Amendment, except that 

the assessment ratio for single-family owner-occupied residential real property under the Amendment is set at ten 

percent (10%) of true value as opposed to fifteen percent (15%) of true value under previously existing law. 

 

The assessed valuation figures above do include property exempt from all municipal ad valorem tax for 

periods of up to ten years, primarily for new or expanded manufacturing facilities.   

 

Procedure for Property Assessments 

 

The Tax Assessor of Lee County assesses all real and personal property subject to taxation in the County, 

including property in the City, except motor vehicles and property owned by public service corporations, both of 

which are required by law to be assessed by the Mississippi Department of Revenue. 

 

                                                           

12 The total assessed valuation is approved in the September preceding the beginning of the fiscal year of the City and represents the value of real 

property, personal property and public utility property for the year indicated on which taxes are assessed for the following fiscal year’s budget.  
For example, the taxes for the assessed valuation figures for 2022 are collected starting in January 2023 for the 2022-23 fiscal year budget of the 

City. 

- 232 -

Item # 11.



 

A-9 

 

Section 21-33-9, Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, provides that the governing authorities of a 

municipality which is located within a county having completed a county-wide reappraisal approved by the 

Mississippi Department of Revenue and which has been furnished a true copy of that part of the County assessment 

roll containing the property located within a municipality as provided in Section 27-35-167, Mississippi Code of 

1972, as amended, shall adopt such assessment rolls for its assessment purposes.  The City is utilizing the 

assessment rolls of the County. 

 

The City may not correct or revise such assessment rolls except for the purpose of conforming the 

municipal assessment roll to corrections or revisions made to the County assessment roll.  All objections to the 

municipal assessment roll may be heard by the Board of Supervisors of the County at the time and in the manner 

that objections to the County assessment roll are heard.  The Board of Supervisors shall notify, in writing, the 

Governing Body and the Tax Assessor of the City of any corrections or revisions made by it to the part of the 

County assessment roll adopted as the municipal assessment roll. 

 

Tax Levy per $1,000 Valuation13 

  

 2022-23 2021-22 2020-21 2019-20 2018-19 

 GENERAL PURPOSES      

 Special Levy for Street Improvements 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 

 General Fund 11.79 11.73 12.97 12.94 12.94 

 Firemen & Policemen Retirement Fund 1.61 1.61 1.61 1.61 1.61 

 Municipal Bond & Interest Fund 8.20 8.20 6.95 6.95 6.95 

 Library Fund .87 .93 0.94 0.97 0.97 

   SUBTOTAL 32.47 32.47 32.47 32.47 32.47 

 SCHOOL PURPOSES      

 School Maintenance Fund 55.00 55.00 55.00 55.00 55.00 

 School Bond & Interest Fund 6.10 6.10 6.10 6.10 6.10 

 School Notes Payable Fund 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

 Tupelo/Lee County Vo-Tech Fund 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Shortfall Note 2008 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Short Term Debt 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 

   SUBTOTAL 64.10 64.10 64.10 64.10 64.10 

TOTAL TAX LEVY 98.57 96.57 96.57 96.57 96.57 

SOURCE: Office of the City Clerk; August 2023. 

                                                           

13 Tax levy is given in mills.  

 

- 233 -

Item # 11.



 

A-10 

 

Ad Valorem Tax Collection 

 

 

Fiscal Year Ended 

September 30 

 

 

Amount Budgeted 

 

 

Amount Collected 

 

Difference 

Over (Under) 

2022 $17,114,091 $17,390,783 $276,692 

2021 16,828,529 17,212,489 383,960 

2020 15,995,659 16,435,136 439,477 

2019 15,551,126 15,956,167.84 405,038.84 

2018 15,346,505 15,618,946 272,441 

 

SOURCE:  Office of the City Clerk; August 2023. 

 

Procedure for Tax Collections 

 

The Governing Body is required to levy a special tax upon all of the taxable property within the 

geographical limits of the City each year sufficient to provide for the payment of the principal of and interest on the 

City's general obligation bonds.  If any taxpayer neglects or refuses to pay his taxes on the due date thereof, the 

unpaid taxes bear interest at the rate of one percent (1%) per month or fractional part thereof from the delinquent 

date to the date of payment of such taxes.  When enforcement officers take action to collect delinquent taxes, other 

fees, penalties and costs may accrue.  Both real property and personal property are subject to public tax sale. 

 

Section 21-33-63, Mississippi Code of 1972, as may be amended from time to time, and related statutes 

provide that after the 15th day of December and after the 15th day of August in each year, the tax collector for each 

municipality shall advertise all lands in such municipality on which all the taxes due and in arrears have not been 

paid, as well as all land liable for sale on the first Monday of April or the third Monday of September following, as 

the case may be. 

 

Reappraisal of Property and Limitation on Ad Valorem Levies 

 

Senate Bill No. 2672, General Laws of Mississippi, Regular Session 1980, codified in part as Sections 27-

35-49 and 27-35-50, Mississippi Code of 1972 (the "Reappraisal Act"), provides that all real and personal property 

in the State shall be appraised at true value and assessed in proportion to true value.  To ensure that property taxes 

do not increase dramatically as the counties complete reappraisals, the Reappraisal Act provides for the limit on 

increase in tax revenues discussed below. 

 

The statute limits ad valorem tax levies by the City subsequent to October 1, 1980, to a rate which will 

result in an increase in total receipts of not greater than ten percent (10%) over the previous year's receipts, 

excluding revenue from ad valorem taxes on any newly constructed properties, any existing properties added to the 

tax rolls or any properties previously exempt which were not assessed in the next preceding year.  This limitation 

does not apply to levies for the payment of the principal of and the interest on general obligation bonds issued by the 

City or to certain other specified levies.  The limitation may be increased only if the proposed increase is approved 

by a majority of those voting in an election held on such question. 

 

On August 20, 1980, the Mississippi Supreme Court rendered its decision in State Tax Commission v. 

Fondren, 387 So.2d 712, affirming the decree of the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, 

Mississippi, wherein the Mississippi Department of Revenue (formerly the State Tax Commission) was enjoined 

from accepting and approving assessment rolls from any county in the State for the tax year 1983 unless the 

Mississippi Department of Revenue equalized the assessment rolls of all of the counties.  Due to the intervening 

passage of the Reappraisal Act, the Supreme Court reversed that part of the lower court's decree ordering the 

assessment of property at true value (although it must still be appraised at true value), holding instead that assessed 

- 234 -

Item # 11.



 

A-11 

 

value may be expressed as a percentage of true value.  Pursuant to the Supreme Court modification of the 

Chancellor's decree, on November 15, 1980, the Mississippi Department of Revenue filed a master plan to assist 

counties in determining true value.  On December 7, 1983, the Chancery Court granted an extension until July 1, 

1984, of its previous deadline past which the Mississippi Department of Revenue could not accept and approve tax 

rolls from counties which had not yet reappraised.  The City has completed reappraisal. 

 

Homestead Exemption 

 

The Mississippi Homestead Exemption Law of 1946 reduces the local tax burden on homes qualifying by 

law and substitutes revenues from other sources of taxation on the State level as a reimbursement to the local taxing 

units for such tax loss.  Provisions of the homestead exemption law determine qualification, define ownership and 

limit the amount of property that may come within the exemption.  The exemption is not applicable to taxes levied 

for the payment of the Bonds, except as hereinafter noted. 

 

Those homeowners who qualify for the homestead exemption and who have reached the age of sixty-five 

(65) years on or before January 1 of the year for which the exemption is claimed, service-connected, totally disabled 

American veterans who were honorably discharged from military service and those qualified as disabled under the 

federal Social Security Act are exempt from any and all ad valorem taxes on qualifying homesteads not in excess of 

$7,500 of assessed value thereof.   

 

The tax loss resulting to local taxing units from properly qualified homestead exemptions is reimbursed by 

the Mississippi Department of Revenue.  Beginning with the 1984 supplemental ad valorem tax roll and for each roll 

thereafter, no taxing unit shall be reimbursed an amount in excess of one hundred six percent (106%) of the total net 

reimbursement made to such taxing unit in the next proceeding year. 

- 235 -

Item # 11.



 

A-12 

 

Ten Largest Taxpayers 

 

The ten largest taxpayers in the City for assessment year 2022 are as follows: 

 

 

Taxpayer 

 

Assessed Valuation 

 

Taxes Collected14 

COOPER TIRE & RUBBER COMPANY         22,102,191.00        2,958,157.24  

TUP 130 LLC           6,865,049.00            968,593.63  

RENASANT BANK           3,901,972.00            523,608.96  

NS RETAIL HOLDINGS LLC           3,727,474.00            509,621.00  

COOPER TIRE & RUBBER CO           5,174,688.00            506,674.32  

SUNSHINE MILLS INC           3,629,399.00            485,758.77  

FUTURE FOAM INC           3,784,147.00            484,565.49  

CLEVELAND PROPERTIES LLC           3,494,280.00            474,934.19  

SUPER SAGLESS #4201           3,242,784.00            330,933.12  

BANCORPSOUTH BANK           2,245,668.00            300,560.20  

Totals 58,167,652.00 7,543,406.92 

 

SOURCE: Office of the City Clerk; August 2023. 

                                                           

14 City taxes only, does not include school taxes. 

- 236 -

Item # 11.



 

A-13 

 

DEBT INFORMATION 

Legal Debt Limit Statement 

(As of September 1, 2023) 

 

 

 

 

15% Limit 

 

20% Limit 

Authorized Debt Limit (Last Completed Assessment 

for Taxation - $591,219,853) $88,682,978 $118,243,971 

Present Debt Subject to Debt Limits15 39,380,000 44,970,000 

Margin for Further Debt Under Debt Limits $49,302,978 $73,273,971 

Less the Series 2023 Bonds   

Margin for Further Debt Under Debt Limits   

 

Statutory Debt Limits 

 

The City is subject to a general statutory debt limitation under which no municipality in the State may incur 

general obligation bonded indebtedness in an amount which will exceed 15 percent of the assessed value of the 

taxable property within such municipality according to the last completed assessment for taxation. 

 

In computing general obligation bonded indebtedness for purposes of such 15 percent limitation, there may 

be deducted all bonds or other evidences of indebtedness issued for school, water and sewerage systems, gas and 

light and power purposes and for the construction of special improvements primarily chargeable to the property 

benefited, or for the purpose of paying a municipality's proportion of any betterment program, a portion of which is 

primarily chargeable to the property benefited. However, in no case may a municipality contract any indebtedness 

payable in whole or in part from proceeds of ad valorem taxes which, when added to all of its outstanding general 

obligation indebtedness, both bonded and floating, exceeds 20 percent of the assessed value of the taxable property 

within such municipality. 

 

In arriving at the limitations set forth above, bonds issued for school purposes, bonds payable exclusively 

from the revenues of any municipally-owned utility, the Series 2008 Bonds, general obligation industrial bonds 

issued under the provisions of Sections 57-1-1 to 57-1-51, Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, and special 

assessment improvement bonds issued under the provisions of Sections 21-41-1 to 21-41-53, Mississippi Code of 

1972, as amended, are not included. Also excluded from both limitations are contract obligations subject to annual 

appropriations. 

                                                           

15 The City’s General Obligation Water Bonds, dated 12/17/2008 and the City’s General Obligation Water 

Refunding Bonds, dated May 31, 2019, are not subject to the 15% debt limitation as such debt is paid by a 

Special Sales Tax and revenues of System and shall not be considered when computing any limitation of 

indebtedness of the City subject to the 15% debt limitation. 

- 237 -

Item # 11.



 

A-14 

 

Outstanding General Obligation Bonded Debt Subject to Debt Limits 

 

(As of September 1, 2023)16 

 

 

Issue 

 

Date of Issue 

 

Outstanding Principal 

General Obligation Water Bonds 12/17/08 675,00017 

General Obligation Bonds 12/01/11 2,425,000 

General Obligation Bonds 11/01/12 4,140,000 

General Obligation Bonds 04/01/13 4,140,000 

General Obligation Bonds 09/01/13 1,160,000 

General Obligation Bonds (MDB) 07/28/15 1,900,000 

General Obligation Bond (MDB) 05/12/16 5,100,000 

General Obligation Refunding Bonds 08/04/16 915,000 

General Obligation Bonds (MDB) 11/14/17 9,600,000 

General Obligation Water Refunding Bonds18 5/31/19 4,915,000 

General Obligation Bonds (MDB) 5/07/20 10,000,000 

Total  $44,970,000 

 

                                                           

16 Any September 1 maturities have been subtracted from the applicable principal balances. 

17 Reflects the principal amount of the December 1, 2033 maturity.  The 2019 through 2032 maturities were 

refunded on June 1, 2019 with the proceeds of the Series 2019 Bonds. Not subject to the 15% debt 

limitation as such debt is paid by a Special Sales Tax and revenues of the System and shall not be 

considered when computing any limitation of indebtedness of the City subject to the 15% debt limitation.  

18 Not subject to the 15% debt limitation as such debt is paid by a Special Sales Tax and revenues of the 

System and shall not be considered when computing any limitation of indebtedness of the City subject to 

the 15% debt limitation. 

- 238 -

Item # 11.



 

A-15 

 

 

Tax Increment Bonds19 

(As of September 1, 2023) 

 

 

 

 

Issue 

 

 

Date of Issue 

 

Outstanding 

Principal 

Tax Increment Limited Obligation Bonds 05/13/09 60,000 

Tax Increment Limited Obligation Bonds 6/15/21 544,000 

Total  $604,000 

 

 

 

Other Outstanding Long-Term Debt 

 

(As of September 1, 2023) 

 

 

 

 

Issue 

 

 

Date of Issue 

 

Outstanding 

Principal 

Promissory Note (Tupelo, Mississippi Revenue Project) 4/12/18 10,780,000 

Promissory Note (Tupelo, Mississippi Revenue Project) 7/18/19 15,000,000 

Total  $25,780,000 

 

SOURCE: Office of the City Clerk; August 2023. 

 

 

                                                           

19 These bonds are payable as to principal and interest solely from the avails of a tax increment resulting 

from the taxation by the City of the "captured assessed value" of the project, and the property on which it is 

located, for which the improvements financed with the proceeds from these bonds benefited.   

- 239 -

Item # 11.



 

A-16 

 

 

Annual Debt Service Requirements 

 

FY Ending 

September 30 

General Obligation Debt 

 

Principal 

 

Interest 

 

Total 

2023 2,605,000.00 1,523,125.02 4,128,125.02 

2024 3,005,000.00 1,439,125.02 4,444,125.02 

2025 3,420,000.00 1,345,303.77 4,765,303.77 

2026 3,535,000.00 1,237,012.52 4,772,012.52 

2027 3,300,000.00 1,124,507.52 4,424,507.52 

2028 3,435,000.00 1,018,120.02 4,453,120.02 

2029 3,435,000.00 898,856.27 4,333,856.27 

2030 3,280,000.00 780,988.77 4,060,988.77 

2031 3,435,000.00 665,528.77 4,100,528.77 

2032 3,250,000.00 562,841.26 3,812,841.26 

2033 3,400,000.00 462,563.13 3,862,563.13 

2034 2,575,000.00 387,766.25 2,962,766.25 

2035 2,000,000.00 309,360.00 2,309,360.00 

2036 2,100,000.00 237,310.00 2,337,310.00 

2037 1,500,000.00 170,525.00 1,670,525.00 

2038 1,500,000.00 130,175.00 1,630,175.00 

2039 900,000.00 90,000.00 990,000.00 

2040 900,000.00 45,000.00 945,000.00 

Totals $47,105,000.00 $12,428,108.32 $59,533,108.32 

- 240 -

Item # 11.



 

A-17 

 

General Obligation Bonded Debt 

 

 
Fiscal Year Ended September 30 

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 

G.O. Water Bonds (12/17/08)  675,00020  675,000  675,000  675,000 7,690,000 

G.O. Fairgrounds Project Refunding Bonds, Series A 

(6/21/11) -0- -0- -0- -0- 820,000 

G.O. Taxable Fairgrounds Project Refunding Bonds, 

Series B (6/21/11) -0- -0- -0-21 2,225,000 2,725,000 

G.O. Bonds, Series 2011 (12/01/11) 2,685,000 2,850,000 3,015,000 3,175,000 3,335,000 

G.O. Bonds, Series 2012 (12/04/12) 4,140,000 4,670,000 4,920,000 5,160,000 5,400,000 

G.O. Bonds, Series 2013 (4/01/13) 4,410,000 4,670,000 4,920,000 5,160,000 5,400,000 

G.O. Bonds, Series 2013 (9/01/13) 1,370,000 1,575,000 1,775,000 1,965,000 2,150,000 

G. O. Bonds (MDB), Series 2015 (7/28/15) 2,300,000 2,700,000 3,100,000 3,500,000 3,700,000 

G. O. Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 (1/28/16) -0- 715,000 1,525,000 2,315,000 3,030,000 

G. O. Bonds (MDB), Series 2016 (5/12/16) 5,400,000 5,500,000 5,600,000 5,700,000 5,800,000 

G. O. Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 (8/04/16) 1,215,000 2,685,000 4,085,000 5,430,000 6,725,000 

G. O. Bonds (MDB), Series 2017 (11/14/17) 9,600,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 

G.O. Water Refunding Bonds, Series 2019 (5/31/19) 5,310,000 5,685,000 6,045,000 6,385,000 -0- 

G. O. Bonds (MDB) Series 2020 (5/07/20) 10,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 -0- -0- 

Totals $47,105,000 $51,725,000 $55,560,000 $51,690,000 $56,775,000 

                                                           

20 Reflects the principal amount of the December 1, 2033 maturity.  The 2019 through 2032 maturities were refunded on June 1, 2019 with the proceeds of the 

Series 2019 Bonds. 
21 The 2021 through 2023 Maturities were called for redemption on January 1, 2020. 

- 241 -

Item # 11.



 

  

 

Debt Ratios 

 

 

FY Ended 

September 30 

 

General Obligation 

Debt 

 

General Obligation 

Debt to Assessed Value 

2022 $47,105,000 7.97% 

2021 51,725,000 8.99 

2020 55,560,000 9.82 

2019 51,690,000 9.66 

2018 56,775,000 10.91 

 

 

Overlapping/Underlying General Obligation Indebtedness 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2022 

Population 

Estimate 

 

General 

Obligation 

Bonded Debt 

 

General Obligation 

Bonded Debt Per Capita 

 

Lee County 

 

82,959 $9,955,00022 $119.99 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Total General Obligation 

Bonded Debt 

 

Tupelo Public School District $22,565,00023 

 

                                                           

22 Source: Office of the Lee County, MS Chancery Clerk, March 2023. 
23 Source: 2022 Audited Financial Statement of the District. Balance at fiscal year ending June 30, 2022. 

- 242 -

Item # 11.



 

  

 

APPENDIX B 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE CITY

- 243 -

Item # 11.



  

  

 

[THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY] 

- 244 -

Item # 11.



 

 

 9 

FINANCIAL STATEMENT FOR FISCAL YEAR 

ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022

- 245 -

Item # 11.



 

 

[THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY] 

- 246 -

Item # 11.



 

 

[THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY] 

- 247 -

Item # 11.



 

 

  

ADOPTED BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2023

- 248 -

Item # 11.



 

 

[THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

- 249 -

Item # 11.



 

 

APPENDIX C 

FORM OF THE CITY BOND RESOLUTION AND THE CITY BOND

- 250 -

Item # 11.



  

 

[THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY] 

- 251 -

Item # 11.



 

C-1 

 

 

INSERT CITY RESOLUTION ADOPTED. 

- 252 -

Item # 11.



 

 

[THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

- 253 -

Item # 11.



 

 

APPENDIX D 

FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION 

- 254 -

Item # 11.



 

 

[THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

- 255 -

Item # 11.



 

D-1 

UPON THE DELIVERY OF THE SERIES 2023 BONDS, BUTLER SNOW LLP PROPOSES TO DELIVER 

AN OPINION IN SUBSTANTIALLY THE FOLLOWING FORM: 

Mississippi Development Bank 

Jackson, Mississippi 

Re: $____,000
*
 Mississippi Development Bank Special Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Tupelo, Mississippi 

Public Improvement General Obligation Bond Project), dated the date of delivery thereof (the "Series 2023 

Bonds") 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We have acted as Bond Counsel in connection with the issuance by the Mississippi Development Bank (the 

"Issuer") of the above described Series 2023 Bonds, pursuant to an Indenture of Trust (the "Indenture"), dated  

____, 2023, by and between the Issuer and The Peoples Bank, as trustee (the "Trustee").  We have examined the 

law and a certified transcript of proceedings of the Issuer relative to the authorization, issuance and sale of the Series 

2023 Bonds and such other papers as we deem necessary to render the opinions in this letter, including the Issuer's 

tax covenants and representations made in the Indenture and tax certificates and the tax covenants and 

representations made by City of Tupelo, Mississippi (the "City") in tax certificates and in a resolution (the "City 

Bond Resolution") adopted by the Mayor and the City Council of the City on September 5, 2023 (collectively, the 

"Tax Representations and Covenants"). 

The Series 2023 Bonds are being issued under the authority of Sections 31-25-1 et seq., Mississippi Code 

of 1972, as amended and supplemented from time to time (the "Issuer Act"), and Sections 21-33-301 et seq., 

Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended and supplemented from time to time (the "City's Bond Act" and together 

with the Issuer Act, the "Act"), a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer adopted on September 13, 2023, 

and the City Bond Resolution (together, the "Resolution"). 

The Resolutions provide that the Series 2023 Bonds are being issued for the purpose of providing funds to 

finance the costs of purchasing the $____,000* City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement General Obligation 

Bond, Series 2023 (the "City Bond"), and paying the costs incident to the sale, issuance, and delivery of the Series 

2023 Bonds and the City Bond.  The City will use the proceeds of the City Bond to finance various capital 

improvements within the City, as more particularly described in the City Bond Resolution. 

As to questions of fact material to our opinions, we have relied upon representations of the City and the 

Issuer, certified proceedings and other certifications of the City and the Issuer and other public officials furnished to 

us, including the Tax Representations and Covenants, and without undertaking to verify the same by independent 

investigation. In all such examinations, we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures, the authenticity of all 

documents presented to us as originals, and the conformity to original documents of all copies submitted to us as 

certified, conformed, or photographic copies.  As to certificates, we have assumed the same to be properly given and 

to be accurate.   

Based on the foregoing and subject to the qualifications, statements of reliance and assumptions herein, we 

are of the opinion on the date hereof that: 

1. Assuming the due authentication thereof by the Trustee, the Series 2023 Bonds are legal, valid and 

binding limited obligations of the Issuer enforceable in accordance with the terms thereof.  The Series 2023 Bonds 

are payable from and secured only by the certain payments and funds to be received by the Issuer and the Trustee 

and pledged to the Series 2023 Bonds under the Indenture. 

                                                           

* Preliminary, subject to change. 

- 256 -

Item # 11.



 

D-2 

2. The Indenture is a valid and binding agreement of the Issuer enforceable in accordance with its terms.  

The Indenture creates a valid pledge in the Funds and Accounts and the City Bond, including the investments 

thereof (excepting therefrom the Rebate Fund), subject to the application thereof to the purposes and on the 

conditions permitted by the Indenture. 

3. Under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and court decisions, subject to the assumptions stated 

below, interest on the Series 2023 Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not 

a specific item of tax preference in the calculation of federal alternative minimum taxable income as defined in 

Section 55(b)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"); however, such interest is taken 

into account in determining the annual adjusted financial statement income of applicable corporations (as defined in 

Section 59(k) of the Code) for the purpose of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on such corporations.   

We express no opinion regarding other federal tax consequences resulting from the ownership of, receipt or accrual 

of interest on, or disposition of the Series 2023 Bonds.  In rendering the opinion contained in this paragraph (3), we 

have assumed continuing compliance with the requirements of Code that must be met by the Issuer and the City 

after the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, including the Tax Representations and Covenants, in order that interest 

on the Series 2023 Bonds not be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes. The failure to meet such 

requirements may cause interest on the Series 2023 Bonds to be includable in gross income for federal income tax 

purposes retroactive to the date of issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds.  The City and the Issuer have covenanted in 

the Tax Representations and Covenants to comply with or to require compliance with the requirements of the Code 

in order to maintain the excludability of interest on the Series 2023 Bonds from gross income for federal income tax 

purposes.   

Owners of the Series 2023 Bonds should consult their own tax advisors as to the applicability and effect on 

their federal income taxes or any other collateral federal income tax consequences. 

4. Under and pursuant to the Act, the Series 2023 Bonds and interest thereon are exempt from all income 

taxes imposed by the State of Mississippi (the “State”). 

It is to be understood that the rights of the holders of the Series 2023 Bonds and the enforceability of the 

Series 2023 Bonds and the Indenture may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other 

similar laws affecting creditors’ rights heretofore or hereinafter enacted and that their enforcement may be subject to 

the exercise of judicial discretion in accordance with general principles of equity. 

Owners of the Series 2023 Bonds should consult their own tax advisors as to the applicability and effect on 

their federal income taxes of any other collateral federal income tax consequences.  

In this opinion letter, issued in our capacity as Bond Counsel, we are opining only upon those matters set 

forth herein, and we are not passing upon the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the Issuer’s Official Statement 

or other statements made in connection with any offer or sale of the Series 2023 Bonds or upon any federal or state 

tax consequences arising from the receipt or accrual of interest on or the ownership or disposition of the Series 2023 

Bonds, except those specifically addressed herein, or upon any federal or state law with respect to the sale or 

distribution of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

This opinion letter is an expression of professional judgment regarding the matters expressly addressed 

herein. It is neither a guarantee of result nor an insurance policy with respect to the transaction or the future actions 

or performance of any party or entity.  Our services have not included any financial or other non-legal advice.  We 

express no opinion other than as herein expressly stated in this letter, and no expansion of our opinion may be made 

by implication or otherwise.  The opinions herein are given as of the date hereof and are based upon statutes, 

regulations, rulings and court decisions in effect on the date hereof and not as of any future date.  It should be noted 

that material changes regarding matters of fact and applicable law may hereafter occur.  We expressly disclaim any 

undertaking or responsibility to review, revise, update or supplement this opinion letter subsequent to its date for any 

reason or to advise you of any change in the law, whether by reason of legislative or regulatory action, by judicial 

decision or otherwise, or of any change of facts or circumstances or of any facts or circumstances that may hereafter 

come to our attention or for any other reason. 

In rendering the foregoing opinions, we have assumed the accuracy and truthfulness of all public records 

and of all certificates, resolutions, documents and other proceedings examined by us that have been executed or 

- 257 -

Item # 11.



 

D-3 

certified by public officials acting within the scope of their official capacities and have not verified the accuracy or 

truthfulness thereof.  We also have assumed the genuineness of the signatures appearing upon such public records, 

certifications, resolutions, documents and proceedings.  In rendering this opinion, we have relied upon the opinion 

of Balch & Bingham, LLP, Jackson, Mississippi, counsel for the Issuer, dated the date hereof, as to the due 

authorization and execution by and enforceability against the Issuer as to the Series 2023 Bonds and the Indenture. 

This opinion letter is issued as of the date hereof and we assume no obligation to revise or supplement this 

opinion letter to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention or any changes in law 

that may hereafter occur.  

Very truly yours, 

 

 

BUTLER SNOW LLP 

 

- 258 -

Item # 11.



 

 

[THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

- 259 -

Item # 11.



 

 

APPENDIX E 

DEFINITIONS 

- 260 -

Item # 11.



 

 

[THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

- 261 -

Item # 11.



 

 

 

1. DEFINITIONS 

In addition to any words and terms elsewhere defined herein, the following words and terms shall have the 

following meanings, unless the context or use in this Official Statement otherwise requires.  Words of the masculine 

gender should be deemed and constructed to include correlative words of the female and neuter gender.  Capitalized 

terms used and not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Indenture and the City Bond 

Resolution, as the case may be. 

Accounts 

"Accounts" means the accounts created pursuant to Article VI of the Indenture. 

Act 

"Act" means together the Issuer Act and the City Bond Act. 

Authorized Officer 

"Authorized Officer" means the President, Vice President, Executive Director, Secretary or Assistant 

Secretary of the Issuer or such other person or persons who are duly authorized to act on behalf of the Issuer. 

Bankruptcy Code 

"Bankruptcy Code" means 11 U.S.C. Section 101 et seq., as amended or supplemented from time to time. 

Beneficial Owner 

"Beneficial Owner" means, whenever used with respect to a Bond, the person in whose name such Bond is 

recorded as the beneficial owner of such Bond by a DTC participant on the records of such DTC participant, or such 

person's subrogee. 

Bond Counsel  

"Bond Counsel" means an attorney or firm of attorneys approved by the City and the Issuer nationally 

recognized in the area of municipal law and matters relating to the exclusion of interest on state and local 

government bonds from gross income under federal tax law, including particularly compliance with Section 148(f) 

of the Code.  Butler Snow LLP, Ridgeland, Mississippi, is serving as Bond Counsel in connection with the sale and 

issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

Bond Issuance Expense Account 

"Bond Issuance Expense Account" means the account by that name created pursuant to the Indenture. 

Bond Register 

"Bond Register" means the registration records of the Issuer kept by the Trustee to evidence the registration 

and transfer of the Bonds. 

Bondholder 

"Bondholder" or "holder of Bonds" or "owner of Bonds" or any similar term means the Registered Owner 

of any Bond. 

- 262 -

Item # 11.



 

E-2 

 

Bonds 

"Bonds" means the Series 2023 Bonds and any Refunding Bonds issued pursuant to the Indenture. 

Business Day 

"Business Day" means any day other than (a) a Saturday, (b) a Sunday, (c) any other day on which banking 

institutions in New York, New York or Biloxi, Mississippi, are authorized or required not to be open for the 

transaction of regular banking business, (e) any day the City Courthouse in Tupelo, Mississippi is closed, or (f) a 

day on which the New York Stock Exchange is closed. 

City 

"City" means the City of Tupelo, Mississippi, a "local governmental unit" under the Issuer Act. 

City Bond 

"City Bond" means the $____,000* Public Improvement General Obligation Bond, Series 2023, issued by 

the City pursuant to the City Bond Resolution and registered to the Trustee as assignee of the Issuer pursuant to the 

Indenture.  

City Bond Act 

"City Bond Act" means the provisions of Mississippi Code of 1972, Sections 21-33-301 et seq., Mississippi 

Code of 1972, as amended or supplemented from time to time. 

City Bond Payment 

"City Bond Payment" means the amounts paid or required to be paid, from time to time, for principal, 

premium, if any, and interest on the City Bond held by the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture. 

City Bond Purchase Agreement 

"City Bond Purchase Agreement" means that certain City Bond Purchase Agreement, dated ____, 2023, by 

and between the City and the Issuer in connection with the issuance and sale of the City Bond. 

City Bond Resolution 

"City Bond Resolution" means that certain resolution adopted by the Mayor and the City Council of the 

City on September 5, 2023, in connection with the issuance of the City Bond. 

Code 

"Code" or "Internal Revenue Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and all 

applicable Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder. 

                                                           

* Preliminary, subject to change. 

- 263 -

Item # 11.



 

E-3 

 

City Project 

"City Project" means (i) constructing, improving or paving streets, sidewalks, driveways, parkways, 

walkways or public parking facilities, and purchasing land therefor; (ii) erecting, repairing, improving, adorning and 

equipping municipal buildings and purchasing buildings and land therefor; (iii) purchasing land for parks, 

cemeteries and public playgrounds, and improving, equipping and adorning the same, including the constructing, 

repairing and equipping of swimming pools and other recreational facilities; (iv) purchasing fire-fighting equipment 

and apparatus, and providing housing for same, and purchasing land therefor; (v) erecting or purchasing waterworks, 

gas, electric and other public utility plants or distribution systems or franchises, and repairing, improving and 

extending the same; (vi) establishing sanitary, storm, drainage or sewerage systems, and repairing, improving and 

extending the same; (vii) protecting a municipality, its streets and sidewalks from overflow, caving banks and other 

like dangers; (viii) constructing bridges and culverts; (ix) purchasing machinery and equipment, including motor 

vehicles weighing not less than twelve thousand (12,000) pounds, which have an expected useful life in excess of 

ten (10) years which expected useful life shall exceed the life of the bonds financing such purchase; and (x) for other 

authorized purposes under the City Bond Act, including funding capitalized interest, if applicable, and paying the 

costs of borrowing. 

Costs of Issuance 

"Costs of Issuance" means items of expense payable or reimbursable, directly or indirectly, by the Issuer 

and related to the authorization, sale, validation, issuance and/or delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds and the City 

Bond, which items of expense shall include, but not be limited to, printing costs, costs of reproducing documents, 

filing and recording fees, initial fees and charges of the Trustee, legal fees and charges (including Bond Counsel 

fees), financial/municipal advisory and professional consultants' fees, costs of credit ratings, fees and charges for 

execution, transportation and safekeeping of the Series 2023 Bonds, credit enhancements or liquidity facility fees, 

and other costs, charges and fees in connection with the foregoing. 

Counsel 

"Counsel" means an attorney or firm of attorneys duly admitted to practice law before the highest court of 

any state and approved by the Issuer, the City and the Trustee, as applicable. 

Default 

"Default" means an event or condition the occurrence of which, with the lapse of time or the giving of 

notice or both, would become an Event of Default under the Indenture. 

DTC 

"DTC" means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York. 

DTC Participants 

"DTC Participants" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Indenture. 

Event of Default 

"Event of Default" means any occurrence or event specified in the Indenture. 

- 264 -

Item # 11.



 

E-4 

 

Fiscal Year 

"Fiscal Year" means, when used with respect to the Issuer, the Issuer's fiscal year being the twelve (12) 

month period from July 1 through the following June 30 or such other fiscal year as may be established by the 

Issuer. 

Funds 

"Funds" means the funds created pursuant to Article VI of the Indenture (other than the Rebate Fund). 

General Account 

"General Account" means the account by that name created by the Indenture. 

General Fund 

"General Fund" means the fund by that name created by the Indenture. 

Governmental Obligations 

"Governmental Obligations" means to the extent permitted by State law (a) direct obligations of the United 

States of America; (b) obligations guaranteed as to principal and interest by the United States of America or any 

federal agency whose obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America, including 

but not limited to: Department of Housing and Urban Development, Export-Import Bank, Farmers Home 

Administration (or successor thereto), Federal Financing Bank, Federal Housing Administration, Maritime 

Administration, Small Business Administration, which obligations include but are not limited to certificates or 

receipts representing direct ownership of future interest or principal payments on obligations described in clause (a) 

or in this clause (b) and which are held by a custodian in safekeeping on behalf of the holders of such receipts; and 

(c) obligations of any state of the United States of America or any political subdivision thereof, the full payment of 

principal of, premium, if any, and interest on which (i) is fully and unconditionally guaranteed or insured by the 

United States of America, or (ii) is provided for by an irrevocable deposit of the securities described in clause (i) to 

the extent such investments are permitted by State law. 

Indenture 

"Indenture" means the Indenture of Trust, and all supplements and amendments hereto entered into 

pursuant to Article XII of the Indenture. 

Interest Payment Date 

"Interest Payment Date" means any date on which interest is payable on the Bonds, and for the Series 2023 

Bonds, means each March 1 and September 1, commencing September 1, 2024. 

Investment Securities 

"Investment Securities" means any and all securities, instruments and the like in which the Issuer is 

authorized from time to time to invest its funds under State law, including but not limited to Governmental 

Obligations. 

Issuer 

"Issuer" means the Mississippi Development Bank, a body corporate and politic exercising essential public 

functions, or any successor to its functions organized under the Issuer Act. 

- 265 -

Item # 11.



 

E-5 

 

Issuer Act 

"Issuer Act" means the provisions of Sections 31-25-1 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended or 

supplemented from time to time. 

Local Governmental Unit 

"Local Governmental Unit" means (a) any county, municipality, utility district, regional solid waste 

authority, county cooperative service district or political subdivision of the State, (b) the State or any agency thereof, 

(c) the institutions of higher learning of the State, (d) any education building corporation established for institutions 

of higher learning, or (e) any other governmental unit created under state law, such as the City.  The City is a Local 

Governmental Unit under the Issuer Act. 

Moody's 

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc., a Delaware corporation, its successors and assigns, and, 

if such corporation shall for any reason no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, "Moody's" 

shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the City (with the 

approval of the Issuer), with written notice to the Trustee. 

Opinion of Bond Counsel  

"Opinion of Bond Counsel" means an opinion by a nationally recognized firm experienced in matters 

relating to the tax exemption for interest payable on obligations of states and their instrumentalities and political 

subdivisions under federal law, and which is acceptable to the Issuer and the Trustee. 

Outstanding 

"Outstanding" or "Bonds Outstanding" means all Bonds, which have been authenticated and delivered by 

the Trustee under this Indenture, including Bonds held by the Issuer, except: 

Bonds canceled after purchase in the open market or because of payment at or redemption prior to maturity; 

Bonds deemed paid under Article IX of the Indenture; and 

Bonds in lieu of which other Bonds have been authenticated under Section 3.5, 3.6 or 3.10 of the Indenture. 

Paying Agent 

"Paying Agent" means the Trustee or any successor thereto, acting as the Paying Agent under the City 

Bond Resolution. 

Principal Office 

"Principal Office" means, as it relates to the Trustee, the address for the Trustee set forth under the 

definition of Notice Address in the Indenture. 

Program 

"Program" means the program for purchasing Securities of Local Governmental Units by the Issuer 

pursuant to the Issuer Act.  

- 266 -

Item # 11.



 

E-6 

 

Program Expenses 

"Program Expenses" means all of the fees and expenses of the Trustee relating to the Bonds or the City 

Bond and costs of determining the amount rebatable, if any, to the United States of America under the Indenture, all 

to the extent properly allocable to the Program and approved in writing by the Issuer. 

Project 

"Project" means using the proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds to provide financing (a) to the City for the 

City Project, and (b) to pay the Costs of Issuance for the City Bond and the Series 2023 Bonds. 

Purchase Account 

"Purchase Account" means the account by that name created by the Indenture. 

Rebate Fund 

"Rebate Fund" means the fund by that name created by the Indenture. 

Record Date 

"Record Date" means, with respect to any Interest Payment Date, the fifteenth day of the calendar month 

next preceding such Interest Payment Date. 

Redemption Account 

"Redemption Account" means the account by that name created by the Indenture. 

Redemption Price 

"Redemption Price" means, with respect to any Bond, the principal amount thereof, plus premium, if any, 

and accrued interest payable upon redemption prior to maturity. 

Refunding Bonds  

"Refunding Bonds" means bonds issued pursuant to the Indenture and any Supplemental Indenture. 

Registered Owner 

"Registered Owner" means the person or persons in whose name any Bond shall be registered on the Bond 

Register. 

Revenues 

"Revenues" means the Funds and Accounts (except for the Rebate Fund) and all income, revenues and 

profits of the Funds and Accounts (except for the Rebate Fund) referred to in the granting clauses of the Indenture 

including, without limitation, all City Bond Payments and any additional amounts paid to the Trustee under the City 

Bond Resolution or from any other source whatsoever. 

S&P 

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Ratings Group, a division of The McGraw Hill Companies, its successors 

and assigns, and, if dissolved or liquidated or if it no longer performs the functions of a securities rating agency, 

- 267 -

Item # 11.



 

E-7 

 

"S&P" shall be deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the City 

(with the approval of the Issuer), by written notice to the Trustee. 

Securities 

"Securities" means bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued by a Local Governmental Unit 

pursuant to the Issuer Act including the City Bond. 

Series 2023 Bonds 

"Series 2023 Bonds" means the $____,000† Mississippi Development Bank Special Obligation Bonds, 

Series 2023 (Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement General Obligation Bond Project) issued pursuant to the 

Indenture. 

State 

"State" means the State of Mississippi. 

Supplemental Indenture 

"Supplemental Indenture" means an indenture supplemental to or amendatory of the Indenture, executed by 

the Issuer and the Trustee in accordance with the Indenture. 

Trust Estate 

"Trust Estate" means the property, rights, and amounts pledged and assigned to the Trustee as security for 

the Bonds, pursuant to the granting clauses of the Indenture. 

Trustee 

"Trustee" means the state banking corporation or national banking association with corporate trust powers 

qualified to act as Trustee under this Indenture which may be designated (originally or as a successor) as Trustee for 

the owners of the Bonds issued and secured under the terms of this Indenture, and which shall initially be The 

Peoples Bank, Biloxi, Mississippi. 

Underwriter 

"Underwriter" means Raymond James & Associates, Inc., Memphis, Tennessee. 

                                                           

†Preliminary, subject to change. 

- 268 -

Item # 11.



 

 

[THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

- 269 -

Item # 11.



 

 

APPENDIX F 

FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE

- 270 -

Item # 11.



 

 

[THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY] 

- 271 -

Item # 11.



 

F-1 

 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE 

THIS CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE (this "Disclosure Certificate") is 

executed and delivered by the City of Tupelo, Mississippi (the "City") in connection with the issuance of 

$____,000 Mississippi Development Bank Special Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (Tupelo, Mississippi 

Public Improvement General Obligation Bond Project), dated the date of delivery thereof (the "Series 

2023 Bonds").  The Series 2023 Bonds are being issued pursuant to an Indenture of Trust (the 

"Indenture"), dated ____, 2023, between the Mississippi Development Bank (the "Issuer") and The 

Peoples Bank, Biloxi, Mississippi, as trustee (the "Trustee").   

SECTION 1. Purpose of this Disclosure Certificate.  This Disclosure Certificate is being 

executed and delivered by the City for the benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of the Series 2023 

Bonds and in order to assist the Participating Underwriter in complying with Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) of the 

Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). 

SECTION 2. Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth in the Indenture or 

parenthetically defined herein, which apply to any capitalized terms used in this Disclosure Certificate 

unless otherwise defined in this Section, the following capitalized terms shall have the following 

meanings: 

"Annual Report" shall mean any Annual Report provided by the Issuer pursuant to, and as 

described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Certificate. 

"Dissemination Agent" shall mean any Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the City 

and which has filed with the City a written acceptance of such designation. 

"Fiscal Year" shall mean the period beginning on October 1 of and ending on September 30, or 

such other 12-month period as may be adopted by the City in accordance with law. 

"Listed Events" shall mean any of the events listed in Section 5 of this Disclosure Certificate. 

"MSRB" shall mean the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.  As of the date hereof, the 

MSRB's required method of filing is electronically via its Electronic Municipal Market Access (EMMA) 

system, which is currently available at http://emma.msrb.org. 

"Official Statement" means the final Official Statement prepared in connection with the Series 

2023 Bonds. 

"Participating Underwriter" shall mean Raymond James & Associates, Inc., the original 

underwriter of the Series 2023 Bonds required to comply with the Rule in connection with an offering of 

the Series 2023 Bonds. 

"Rule" shall mean Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) adopted by the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934, as in effect on the date of this Disclosure Certificate. 

SECTION 3. Provision of Annual Reports. 

(a) The City shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent to, not later than twelve months 

after the end of each Fiscal Year (but no later than September 30 of each year), commencing twelve (12) 

months following the end of the City’s Fiscal Year ending September 30, 2023, provide to the MSRB (in 

- 272 -

Item # 11.



 

F-2 

 

an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB), an Annual Report which is consistent with the 

requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure Certificate.  Not later than five (5) business days prior to said 

date, the City shall provide the Annual Report to the Dissemination Agent (if the City has selected one).  

The Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a 

package, and may cross-reference other information as provided in Section 4 of this Disclosure 

Certificate; provided that the audited financial statements of the City may be submitted separately from 

the balance of the Annual Report. 

(b) If the City is unable to provide to the MSRB an Annual Report by the date 

required in subsection (a), the City shall, in a timely manner, file or cause to be filed with the MSRB a 

notice in substantially the form attached to this Disclosure Certificate as Exhibit “A.”  

SECTION 4. Content of Annual Reports.  The City’s Annual Report shall contain or 

incorporate by reference the following: 

(a) A copy of its annual financial statements, if any, prepared in accordance with 

generally accepted accounting principles audited by a firm of certified public accountants. If audited 

annual financial statements are not available by the time specified in Section 3(a) above, the City shall 

provide reasonably available and accessible unaudited financial information (if any) or budgets describing 

the City's financial situation for the prior Fiscal Year and audited financial statements will be provided 

when and if available (as specified in Section 3(a)). 

(b) An update of the type of information identified in Exhibit “B” hereto, which is 

contained in the tables in the Official Statement with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds. 

Any or all of the items listed above may be incorporated by reference from other 

documents (including official statements), which are available to the public at the MSRB or filed with the 

SEC. The City shall clearly identify each such document incorporated by reference.  

SECTION 5. Reporting of Listed Events.  The City shall file or cause to be filed with the 

MSRB, in a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) business days after the occurrence of the event, notice 

of any of the events listed below with respect to the Series 2023 Bonds. All of the events currently 

mandated by the Rule are listed below; however, some may not apply to the Series 2023 Bonds. 

(1) Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

(2) Non-payment related defaults, if material; 

(3) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

(4) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

(5) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers or their failure to perform; 

(6) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed 

or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other 

material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Series 2023 Bonds, or other 

material events affecting the tax status of the Series 2023 Bonds; 

(7) Modifications to rights of bondholders, if material; 

- 273 -

Item # 11.



 

F-3 

 

(8) Series 2023 Bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

(9) Defeasances; 

(10) Release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Series 2023 

Bonds, if material; 

(11) Rating changes; 

(12) Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person;1  

(13) The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an 

obligated person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated person, other 

than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an 

action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than 

pursuant to its terms, if material;  

(14) Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a 

trustee, if material; 

(15)  Incurrence of a financial obligation2 of the obligated person, if material, or 

agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a 

financial obligation of the obligated person, any of which affect security holders, if material; and 

(16)  Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other 

similar events under the terms of a financial obligation2 of the obligated person, any of which 

reflect financial difficulties. 

SECTION 6. Format; Identifying Information.  All documents provided to the MSRB 

pursuant to this Disclosure Certificate shall be in the format prescribed by the MSRB and accompanied by 

identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB.  

                                                           

1 For the purposes of the event identified in subparagraph (b)(5)(i)(C)(12) of the Rule, the event is considered to occur when 

any of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for an obligated person in a proceeding 
under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental 
authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the obligated person, or if such jurisdiction 
has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and official or officers in possession but subject to the supervision 
and orders of a court or governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or 
liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or 
business of the obligated person. 

2 For purposes of the events identified in subparagraphs (b)(5)(i)(C)(15) and (16) of the Rule, the term “financial obligation” is 
defined to mean a (A) debt obligation; (B) derivative instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as security or a 
source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation; or (C) a guarantee of (A) or (B). The term “financial obligation” 
shall not include municipal securities as to which a final official statement has been otherwise provided to the MSRB consistent 
with the Rule.  In complying with Listed Events (15) and (16), the County intends to apply the guidance provided by the Rule or 
other applicable federal securities law, SEC Release No. 34-83885 (August 20, 2018) and any future guidance provided by the 
SEC or its staff. 

 

- 274 -

Item # 11.



 

F-4 

 

As of the date of this Disclosure Certificate, all documents submitted to the MSRB must be in 

portable document format (PDF) files configured to permit documents to be saved, viewed, printed and 

retransmitted by electronic means.  In addition, such PDF files must be word-searchable, provided that 

diagrams, images and other non-textual elements are not required to be word-searchable.   

SECTION 7. Termination of Reporting Obligation.  The City’s obligations under this 

Disclosure Certificate shall terminate upon the earliest of:  (i) the date of legal defeasance, prior 

redemption or payment in full of all of the Series 2023 Bonds; (ii) the date that the City shall no longer 

constitute an “obligated person” within the meaning of the Rule; or (iii) the date on which those portions 

of the Rule which require this written undertaking are held to be invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction in a non-appealable action, have been repealed retroactively or otherwise do not apply to the 

Series 2023 Bonds. 

SECTION 8. Dissemination Agent.   

(a) The City may, from time to time, appoint or engage a Dissemination Agent to 

assist the City in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate, and may discharge any 

such Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent. If the City elects 

not to appoint a successor Dissemination Agent, it shall perform the duties thereof under this Disclosure 

Certificate. The Dissemination Agent shall have only such duties as are specifically set forth in this 

Disclosure Certificate and any other agreement between the City and the Dissemination Agent. 

(b) In addition to the filing duties on behalf of the City described in this Disclosure 

Certificate, the Dissemination Agent shall: 

(1) each year, prior to the date for providing the Annual Report, determine 

the appropriate electronic format prescribed by the MSRB; 

(2) send written notice to the City at least 45 days prior to the date the 

Annual Report is due stating that the Annual Report is due as provided in Section 3(a) 

hereof; and 

(3) certify in writing to the City that the Annual Report has been provided 

pursuant to this Disclosure Certificate and the date it was provided. 

(4) If the Annual Report (or any portion thereof) is not provided to the 

MSRB by the date required in Section (3)(a), the Dissemination Agent shall file with the 

MSRB a notice in substantially the form attached to this Disclosure Certificate as Exhibit 

A. 

SECTION 9. Amendment; Waiver.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure 

Certificate, the City may amend this Disclosure Certificate and may waive any provision of this 

Disclosure Certificate, without the consent of the holders and beneficial owners of the Series 2023 Bonds, 

if such amendment or waiver does not, in and of itself, cause the undertakings herein (or action of any 

Participating Underwriter in reliance on the undertakings herein) to violate the Rule, but taking into 

account any subsequent change in or official interpretation of the Rule.  The City will provide notice of 

such amendment or waiver to the MSRB. 

SECTION 10. Additional Information.  Nothing in this Disclosure Certificate shall be deemed 

to prevent the City from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth 

- 275 -

Item # 11.



 

F-5 

 

in this Disclosure Certificate or any other means of communication, or including any other information in 

any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by this 

Disclosure Certificate.  If the City chooses to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of 

occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure 

Certificate, the City shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Certificate to update such information 

or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event. 

SECTION 11. Default.  In the event of a failure of the City to comply with any provision of this 

Disclosure Certificate, any holder or beneficial owner of the Series 2023 Bonds may take such actions as 

may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandamus or specific performance by court order, 

to cause the City to comply with its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate.  A default under this 

Disclosure Certificate shall not be deemed an event of default under the Indenture, and the sole remedy 

under this Disclosure Certificate in the event of any failure of the City to comply with this Disclosure 

Certificate shall be an action to compel performance. 

SECTION 12. Beneficiaries.  This Disclosure Certificate shall inure solely to the benefit of the 

City, any Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriter and the holders and beneficial owners from 

time to time of the Series 2023 Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity. 

DATE:  _________________ 

(SEAL) 

CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI 

 

By ___________________________________  

     Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By  ________________________________ 

      City Clerk 

- 276 -

Item # 11.



 

F-6 

 

EXHIBIT A 

NOTICE OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT 

Name of Issuer:   Mississippi Development Bank 

Name of Conduit Borrower: City of Tupelo, Mississippi (the "City") 

Name of Bond Issue: $____,000 Mississippi Development Bank Special Obligation Bonds, Series 

2023 (Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement General Obligation Bond 

Project) (the "Series 2023 Bonds") 

Date of Issuance:    ____, 2023 

CUSIP Numbers:   

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the City has not provided an Annual Report with respect to the Bonds 

as required by the Continuing Disclosure Certificate executed on ___, 2023 by the City.  The City anticipates that 

the Annual Report will be filed by _____________ ___, 20___. 

 

Dated:  ______________, _____ 

- 277 -

Item # 11.



 

F-7 

 

EXHIBIT B 

Name of Issuer:   Mississippi Development Bank 

Name of Conduit Borrower: City of Tupelo, Mississippi (the "City") 

Name of Bond Issue: $____,000 Mississippi Development Bank Special Obligation Bonds, Series 

2023 (Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement General Obligation Bond 

Project) (the "Series 2023 Bonds") 

Date of Issuance:    ____, 2023 

CUSIP Numbers:   

Government 

 

Name 

 

Occupation 

 

Position Held Since 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

 

- 278 -

Item # 11.



 

F-8 

 

TAX INFORMATION 

Assessed Valuation of the City1 

Assessment 

Year 

Real 

Property 

Personal 

Property 

Public 

Utility 

Property 

Mobile 

Homes 

Auto- 

Mobiles 

 

Total 

       

       

       

       

       

 

Tax Levy Per $1,000 Valuation2 

 

 

     

City - General Purpose:      

Operating Millage      

Debt Millage      

Total for City:      

 

                                                           

1 The total assessed valuation is approved in September preceding the fiscal year of the City and represents 

the value of real property, personal property and public utility property for the year indicated on which taxes are 

assessed for the following fiscal year's budget.  For example, the taxes for the assessed valuation figures for 20__ 

are collected starting in January, 20__ for the 20__-20___ fiscal year budget of the City. 

2 Tax levy figures given is mills. The County levies a tax of nine cents per acre on all timbered and/or 

uncultivated land located in the County. 

- 279 -

Item # 11.



 

F-9 

 

Ad Valorem Tax Collections 

 

Fiscal Year Ended 

September 30 

 

 

Amount Budgeted 

 

Amount 

Collected 

 

Difference 

Over/(Under) 

    

    

    

    

    

 

Outstanding General Obligation Bonded Debt 

(as of ______) 

 

Issue 

 

Date of Issue 

Outstanding 

Principal 

   

   

 

Other Outstanding Debt 

(as of ______) 

 

Issue 

 

Date of Issue 

Outstanding 

Principal 

   

  
 

  
 

 

- 280 -

Item # 11.



  

 

CITY BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

THIS CITY BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is dated _______, 

2023, by and between the MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK, a public body corporate and 

politic (the “Bank”), created pursuant to the provisions of Sections 31-25-1 et seq., Mississippi Code 

of 1972, as amended (hereinafter referred to as the “Act”), and the CITY OF TUPELO, 

MISSISSIPPI (the “City”), a “local governmental unit” within the meaning of the Act. 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Act, the Bank is authorized to purchase securities (as defined in 

the Act) issued by local governmental units (as defined in the Act); and 

WHEREAS, the City has duly authorized the issuance of its general obligation bond 

designated the City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement General Obligation Bond, Series 2023 

in the form of one fully registered bond, in the principal amount of ____ Million Dollars 

($___,000,000) (the “City Bond”); and  

WHEREAS, the City Bond is expected to be purchased by the Bank in accordance with the 

terms and conditions of this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Bank has adopted a resolution on September 13, 2023 approving an Indenture 

of Trust (the “Indenture”), dated __, 2023, by and between the Bank and The Peoples Bank, as trustee 

(the “Trustee”), authorizing the issuance of  its $____,000,000 Mississippi Development Bank Special 

Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement General Obligation 

Bond Project) (the “Series 2023 Bonds”), a portion of the proceeds of which will be used to purchase 

the City Bond.  

NOW, THEREFORE, the Bank and the City agree as follows: 

1. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Bank hereby agrees to 

purchase the City Bond and the City hereby agrees to sell the City Bond to the Bank at the purchase 

price of $____________.00, representing the par amount of the City Bond of $___,000,000.00, less 

$__________.00 to be deposited to the Bond Issuance Expense Account of the General Fund under the 

Indenture to pay the costs of issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond.  The amount of 

such purchase price will be distributed to the City, all as provided under that certain Bond Resolution 

(the “City Bond Resolution”) adopted by the May and the City Council of the City on September 5, 

2023, pursuant to which the City will issue the City Bond.  The terms of the City Bond are set forth in 

the City Bond Resolution and incorporated herein by reference. 

2. The City will take all action required by law to enable it to issue and sell the City Bond 

to the Bank, and the City's obligation to issue and sell the City Bond, and the Bank's obligation to 

purchase the City Bond, are expressly contingent upon the City's taking all steps and receiving all 

approvals required by the laws of the State of Mississippi (the “State”) to issue and sell the City Bond.   

3. To the extent the Series 2023 Bonds are subject to the rebate requirements as set forth in 

Section 148(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Regulations promulgated 

thereunder (the “Rebate Requirement”), the City agrees to pay to the Bank for prompt payment to or 

to provide evidence to the Bank of payment to, the United States of America of the Rebate 

- 281 -

Item # 11.



  

2 

Requirement resulting from the investment of moneys held by the City that constitute gross proceeds 

of the Series 2023 Bonds, as such Rebate Requirement is computed by the City.  The City agrees to 

provide documentation to the Bank relative to the computation of the Rebate Requirement and 

payment of such Rebate Requirement when required. 

4. At such time as the Bank shall reasonably request and in any event prior to the delivery 

to the Bank of the City Bond, which City Bond shall be in the form set forth in the City Bond 

Resolution and registered in the name of the Trustee, as the assignee of the Bank, the City shall furnish 

to the Bank a transcript of proceedings and the opinions of the City's Bond Counsel (“Bond Counsel”) 

and Ben Logan, Esquire, Tupelo, Mississippi (the “City Attorney”) satisfactory to the Bank which 

shall set forth, among other things, an unqualified approval of Bond Counsel and the City Attorney in 

connection with the City Bond.  The City shall bear the cost of such opinions which cost shall be paid 

out of the Bond Issuance Expense Account of the General Fund under the Indenture. 

5. The City agrees that the City Bond and the payments to be made thereon may be 

pledged or assigned by the Bank only under and to the extent provided in the Indenture. 

6. The City agrees to furnish to the Bank as long as the City Bond remains outstanding 

annual financial reports, audit reports and such other financial information as is reasonably requested 

by the Bank and as required by the Indenture. 

7. If any provision of this Agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid or 

unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such provision shall not affect any of the remaining 

provisions of this Agreement and this Agreement shall be construed and in force as if such invalid or 

unenforceable provision had not been contained herein. 

8. If the Bank does not deliver the Series 2023 Bonds and receive payment therefor on or 

before __, 2023, the City may rescind this Agreement by giving written notice of such rescission to the 

Executive Director of the Bank.  The Bank is obligated to purchase the City Bond solely from proceeds 

of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

9. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, any of which shall be 

regarded for all purposes as an original and all of which constitute but one and the same instrument.  

The Bank and the City each agree that it will execute any and all documents or other instruments and 

take such other actions as may be necessary to give effect to the terms of this Agreement. 

10. No waiver by either the Bank or the City of any term or condition of this Agreement 

shall be deemed or construed as a waiver of any other terms or conditions, nor shall a waiver of any 

breach be deemed to constitute a waiver of any subsequent breach, whether of the same or of a 

different section, subsection, paragraph, clause, phrase or other provision of this Agreement. 

11. This Agreement merges and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, and 

agreements between the Bank and the City relating to the subject matter hereof and constitutes the 

entire agreement between the Bank and the City in respect hereof. 

12. The City has reviewed the Indenture and approves the terms thereof, and agrees to take 

all actions required of it thereunder. 

13. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the 

State.  This Agreement shall become effective upon the execution of the acceptance hereof by duly 

- 282 -

Item # 11.



  

3 

authorized officers of the Bank and the City and shall be valid and enforceable as of the time of such 

acceptance 

14. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such 

terms in the Indenture. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]

- 283 -

Item # 11.



  

4 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have set our hands unto this City Bond Purchase Agreement 

as of the day first above written. 

 

MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK 

 

 

By:  ________________________________  

        Executive Director 

ATTEST: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Secretary 

 

CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI 

 

 

By:  ________________________________  

          Mayor  

ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________ 

City Clerk 
 

 
 

 

81526180.v2 

- 284 -

Item # 11.



 

 

The Mayor and the City Council of the City of Tupelo, Mississippi (the "Governing 

Body"), acting for and on behalf of the City of Tupelo, Mississippi (the "City") took up for 

consideration the matter of providing financing for certain capital improvements of the City, and 

after a discussion of the subject matter, the following resolution was presented for consideration: 

RESOLUTION OF THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF A GENERAL 

OBLIGATION BOND OF THE CITY, IN ONE OR MORE SERIES, IN A 

TOTAL AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NOT TO EXCEED 

$12,000,000 AS DESCRIBED IN THIS RESOLUTION; TO RAISE MONEY 

FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING CAPITAL PROJECTS AS 

DESCRIBED IN THIS RESOLUTION; DIRECTING THE PREPARATION, 

EXECUTION AND DELIVERY THEREOF; AUTHORIZING THE SALE OF 

SAID BOND, IN ONE OR MORE SERIES, TO THE MISSISSIPPI 

DEVELOPMENT BANK AND THE SALE OF THE NOT TO EXCEED 

$12,000,000 MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK SPECIAL OBLIGATION 

BONDS, SERIES 2023 (CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI PUBLIC 

IMPROVEMENT GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND PROJECT), IN ONE OR 

MORE SERIES; AND FOR RELATED PURPOSES.  

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council of City of Tupelo, Mississippi (the 

“Governing Body”), acting for and on behalf of City of Tupelo, Mississippi (the “City”), is 

authorized by Sections 21-33-301 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended and 

supplemented from time to time (the “City Bond Act”), to issue general obligation bonds for the 

purposes set forth therein, including certain capital projects in the City, which shall consist of 

any of (i) constructing, improving or paving streets, sidewalks, driveways, parkways, walkways 

or public parking facilities, and purchasing land therefor; (ii) erecting, repairing, improving, 

adorning and equipping municipal buildings and purchasing buildings and land therefor; (iii) 

purchasing land for parks, cemeteries and public playgrounds, and improving, equipping and 

adorning the same, including the constructing, repairing and equipping of swimming pools and 

other recreational facilities; (iv) purchasing fire-fighting equipment and apparatus, and providing 

housing for same, and purchasing land therefor; (v) erecting or purchasing waterworks, gas, 

electric and other public utility plants or distribution systems or franchises, and repairing, 

improving and extending the same; (vi) establishing sanitary, storm, drainage or sewerage 

systems, and repairing, improving and extending the same; (vii) protecting a municipality, its 

streets and sidewalks from overflow, caving banks and other like dangers; (viii) constructing 

bridges and culverts; (ix) purchasing machinery and equipment, including motor vehicles 

weighing not less than twelve thousand (12,000) pounds, which have an expected useful life in 

excess of ten (10) years which expected useful life shall exceed the life of the bonds financing 

such purchase; and (x) for other authorized purposes under the City Bond Act, including funding 

capitalized interest, if applicable, and paying the costs of borrowing (collectively, the “City 

Project”); and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body, acting for and on behalf of the City, is also authorized 

under the City Bond Act and Sections 31-25-1 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended 

(the “Issuer Act”), and other applicable laws of the State of Mississippi (the “State”), to issue its 

general obligation bond for sale to the Mississippi Development Bank (the “Issuer”) in such 

amount as it may find necessary and proper in order to provide funds to finance the costs of the 

- 285 -

Item # 11.



 

2 

 

City Project and to secure such general obligation bond with the full faith, credit and taxing 

power of the City; and 

WHEREAS, the City Project is in accordance with and in furtherance of the provisions 

of the City Bond Act and the Issuer Act (together, the “Act”); and 

WHEREAS, the City is a “local governmental unit” under the Issuer Act; and 

WHEREAS, on June 20, 2023, the Governing Body adopted a resolution (the “Intent 

Resolution”) declaring its intention to either (a) issue and sell general obligation bonds of the 

City pursuant to the City Bond Act in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed Twenty 

Million Dollars ($20,000,000) in one or more series, and/or (b) issue and sell a general obligation 

bond of the City to the Issuer pursuant to the Act in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed 

Twenty Million Dollars ($20,000,000) in one or more series, all in an amount not to exceed 

Twenty Million Dollars ($20,000,000), all for the purpose of providing financing for the City 

Project; and 

WHEREAS, as required by the Intent Resolution and the City Bond Act, a copy of the 

Intent Resolution (the “Notice of Intent”) was published in Northeast Mississippi Daily Journal, 

a newspaper published in the City, and having a general circulation in the City, and qualified 

under the provisions of Section 13-3-31, Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, the first 

publication having been made not less than twenty-one (21) days before August 1, 2023, and the 

last publication to be not more than seven (7) days prior to such date, said notice was published 

in said newspaper on July 7, 14, 21 and 28, 2023; and 

WHEREAS, as of the hour of 4:00 o'clock p.m. on August 1, 2023, (a) no qualified 

elector of the City had filed a written protest against the issuance of such general obligation 

bonds of the City and/or general obligation bond of the City to be sold to the Issuer, as described 

in the Intent Resolution, had been filed or presented by qualified electors of the City with the 

City Clerk of the City (the "City Clerk") in her office located in City Hall, as required by the 

Intent Resolution, and (b) in accordance with the Notice of Intent, all persons present or 

represented by counsel or otherwise were given the opportunity to be heard concerning the 

issuance of such general obligation bond or bonds as described in the Notice of Intent pursuant to 

the Act and the purposes for which such borrowing is to be obtained and no protest or objection 

of any kind or character against such borrowing or the purposes for which it is to be obtained 

was presented; and 

WHEREAS, at the hour of 6:00 o'clock p.m. on August 1, 2023, at the usual meeting 

place of the Governing Body, the Governing Body convened and adopted a resolution finding 

and determining that the Notice of Intent was duly published as required by law and that no 

written protest or other objection of any kind or character against the issuance of such general 

obligation bond or bonds was filed by qualified electors of the City and authorizing and 

approving the issuance of such general obligation bond or bonds to raise money for the City 

Project, all in accordance with the Act; and 

WHEREAS, it would be in the best interest of the City for the Governing Body to 

provide funding for the costs of the City Project through the issuance of a general obligation 

bond of the City to be sold to the Issuer in accordance with the Act; and 

- 286 -

Item # 11.



 

3 

 

WHEREAS, after careful study and investigation by the Governing Body, it appears to 

be in the best interest of the citizens of the City for the City to issue its Public Improvement 

General Obligation Bond, Series 2023, in one or more taxable or tax-exempt series, in the total 

aggregate principal amount of not to exceed Twelve Million Dollars ($12,000,000) (together, the 

“City Bond”) and to authorize the sale of the City Bond to the Issuer; and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer will issue its Special Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (City of 

Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement General Obligation Bond Project), in one or more 

taxable or tax-exempt series, in the total aggregate principal amount of not to exceed Twelve 

Million Dollars ($12,000,000) (together, the “Series 2023 Bonds”) and will use a portion of the 

proceeds thereof to purchase the City Bond; and 

WHEREAS, the issuance of the City Bond and the Series 2023 Bonds for the purpose of 

providing funding for the City Project will result in a substantial public benefit to the citizens of 

the City; and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body is now desirous of proceeding with the issuance of the 

City Bond and the purchase thereof by the Issuer with the proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Series 2023 Bonds will be issued pursuant to and secured by an 

Indenture of Trust (the “Indenture”), by and between the Issuer and The Peoples Bank, Biloxi, 

Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, the City Bond will be sold to the Issuer pursuant to the terms and 

provisions of this Bond Resolution (as defined herein), the Act and a City Bond Purchase 

Agreement by and between the Issuer and the City (the “City Bond Purchase Agreement”); and 

WHEREAS, the City will make payments on the City Bond in amounts sufficient to pay 

the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2023 Bonds, as and when the same 

shall become due and payable; and 

WHEREAS, the Governing Body is now desirous of proceeding with the issuance of the 

City Bond pursuant to this Bond Resolution and the purchase thereof by the Issuer with the 

proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds and authorizing the negotiation of the sale of the Series 2023 

Bonds thereof to Raymond James & Associates, Inc., Memphis, Tennessee, as underwriter (the 

“Underwriter”) pursuant to the terms and provisions of a Bond Purchase Agreement, to be 

dated as of the date of the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”), by 

and among the Issuer, the Underwriter and the City; and 

WHEREAS, there have been prepared and submitted to the Governing Body forms of: 

(a) the Indenture under which the Series 2023 Bonds will be issued and by which 

they will be secured, and 

(b) the City Bond Purchase Agreement providing for the sale of the City Bond to the 

Issuer, and 

- 287 -

Item # 11.



 

4 

 

(c) the Bond Purchase Agreement providing for the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds to 

the Underwriter, and 

(d) the Preliminary Official Statement, to be dated the date of distribution thereof (the 

"Preliminary Official Statement") describing the Series 2023 Bonds, the City Bond, the terms 

of the Indenture and other matters in connection with the sale and issuance of the Series 2023 

Bonds and the City Bond; and 

(e) the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, to be dated the date of delivery thereof (the 

“Continuing Disclosure Certificate”), to be executed by the City in connection with the 

issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, such Continuing Disclosure Certificate is provided as an 

appendix section in the Preliminary Official Statement; and 

WHEREAS, it appears that each of the documents referred to above, which documents 

are now before the Governing Body, is in appropriate form and is an appropriate document for 

the purposes identified; and 

WHEREAS, all conditions, acts and things required by the Act and the Constitution and 

laws of the State to have existed, to have happened and to have been performed precedent to and 

in connection with the adoption of this Bond Resolution, the sale and issuance of the City Bond 

to the Issuer, the sale and issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds, the execution by the City of the 

Bond Purchase Agreement, the City Bond Purchase Agreement and the distribution of the 

Preliminary Official Statement have happened and have been performed in regular and due time, 

form and manner as required by law; and 

WHEREAS, it is proposed that the Governing Body should take all such additional 

actions, authorize the execution of such certificates, applications, reports and notices, and 

authorize such other actions and proceedings as shall be necessary in connection with the sale 

and issuance of the City Bond and the Series 2023 Bonds. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, DETERMINED AND ORDERED BY 

THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY, ACTING FOR AND ON BEHALF 

OF THE CITY, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1.  All of the matters and things recited in the premises sections of this Bond 

Resolution are found and determined to be true and accurate. 

SECTION 2.  This Bond Resolution is adopted pursuant to the Act and the Constitution 

and laws of the State. 

SECTION 3.  In addition to any words and terms elsewhere defined herein, the 

following words and terms shall have the following meanings, unless some other meaning is 

plainly intended: 

“Act” shall mean together the City Bond Act and the Issuer Act. 

“Agent” shall mean any Paying Agent or Transfer Agent, whether serving in either or 

both capacities.  The Agent shall initially be the Trustee. 

- 288 -

Item # 11.



 

5 

 

“Authorized Officer” shall mean the Mayor of the City, the President of the Governing 

Body, the Clerk and any other officer designated from time to time as an Authorized Officer by 

resolution of the Governing Body, and when used with reference to any act or document also 

means any other Person authorized by resolution of the Governing Body to perform such act or 

sign such document. 

“Issuer” shall mean the Mississippi Development Bank. 

“Issuer Act” shall mean Sections 31-25-1 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended 

and supplemented from time to time. 

“Bond Counsel” shall mean the law firm selected by the Governing Body in connection 

with the City Bond and the Series 2023 Bonds.   

“Bond Resolution” shall mean this resolution, as may be amended and supplemented 

from time to time. 

“Business Day” shall mean any day other than (a) a Saturday, (b) a Sunday, (c) any other 

day on which banking institutions in New York, New York, or Biloxi, Mississippi, are 

authorized or required not to be open for the transaction of regular banking business, (d) any day 

the City Courthouse in Tupelo, Mississippi is closed, or (e) a day on which the New York Stock 

Exchange is closed. 

“City” shall mean City of Tupelo, Mississippi. 

“City Bond” shall mean the not to exceed $12,000,000 Public Improvement General 

Obligation Bond, Series 2023, of the City authorized and directed to be issued in one or more 

taxable or tax-exempt series by this Bond Resolution. 

“City Bond Act” shall mean Sections 21-33-301 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as 

amended and supplemented from time to time. 

“City Bond Payments” shall mean the payments required of the City hereunder as 

provided in Sections 9 and 18 hereof. 

“City Counsel” shall mean Ben Logan, Esquire, Tupelo, Mississippi. 

“City Project” shall mean providing funds for the purposes financing certain capital 

projects in the City, which shall consist of any of (i) constructing, improving or paving streets, 

sidewalks, driveways, parkways, walkways or public parking facilities, and purchasing land 

therefor; (ii) erecting, repairing, improving, adorning and equipping municipal buildings and 

purchasing buildings and land therefor; (iii) purchasing land for parks, cemeteries and public 

playgrounds, and improving, equipping and adorning the same, including the constructing, 

repairing and equipping of swimming pools and other recreational facilities; (iv) purchasing 

fire-fighting equipment and apparatus, and providing housing for same, and purchasing land 

therefor; (v) erecting or purchasing waterworks, gas, electric and other public utility plants or 

distribution systems or franchises, and repairing, improving and extending the same; (vi) 

establishing sanitary, storm, drainage or sewerage systems, and repairing, improving and 

extending the same; (vii) protecting a municipality, its streets and sidewalks from overflow, 

- 289 -

Item # 11.



 

6 

 

caving banks and other like dangers; (viii) constructing bridges and culverts; (ix) purchasing 

machinery and equipment, including motor vehicles weighing not less than twelve thousand 

(12,000) pounds, which have an expected useful life in excess of ten (10) years which expected 

useful life shall exceed the life of the bonds financing such purchase; and (x) for other authorized 

purposes under the City Bond Act, including funding capitalized interest, if applicable, and 

paying the costs of borrowing.  

“Clerk” shall mean the City Clerk of the City. 

“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 in effect on the date of issuance of 

the Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond, and the applicable regulations or rulings promulgated 

or proposed thereunder, and any successor thereto, as such may be amended from time to time. 

“Governing Body” shall mean the Mayor and the City Council of the City. 

“Interest Payment Date” shall mean the interest payment dates for the Series 2023 

Bonds as described in the Indenture.   

“Mayor” shall mean the Mayor of the City.  

“Municipal Advisor” shall mean Government Consultants, Inc., as Independent 

Registered Municipal Advisor to the City. 

“Paying Agent” shall mean any bank, trust company or other institution hereafter 

designated by the Governing Body for the payment of the principal of and interest on the City 

Bond.  The Paying Agent shall initially be the Trustee. 

“Person” shall mean an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, 

trust or unincorporated organization and a government or agency or political subdivision thereof.  

“President” shall mean the President of the Governing Body, or such other member of 

the Governing Body authorized by law to act in the capacity as president of the Governing Body 

in the event the Mayor is unavailable or otherwise unable to act. 

“Project” shall mean providing funds to finance (a) the costs of the City Project, and (b) 

the costs of issuance of the City Bond and the Series 2023 Bonds. 

“Record Date Registered Owner” shall mean the Registered Owner of the City Bond as 

of the Record Date. 

“Record Date” shall have the meaning given to it in the Indenture. 

“Registered Owner” or “Bondholder” shall mean the Person whose name shall appear 

in the registration records of the City maintained by the Transfer Agent and shall initially be the 

Trustee as assignee of the Issuer as provided for in the Indenture. 

“Series 2023 Bonds” shall mean the not to exceed $12,000,000 Mississippi Development 

Bank Special Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement 

- 290 -

Item # 11.



 

7 

 

General Obligation Bond Project), authorized to be issued in one or more taxable or tax-exempt 

series by the Issuer pursuant to the Issuer Act and the terms and conditions of the Indenture. 

“State” shall mean the State of Mississippi. 

“Transfer Agent” shall mean any bank, trust company or other institution hereafter 

designated by the Governing Body for the registration of the owner of the City Bond and for the 

performance of such other duties as may be herein or hereafter specified by the Governing Body.  

The Transfer Agent shall initially be the Trustee. 

“Trustee” shall mean a bank or other financial institution to be determined upon sale of 

the Series 2023 Bonds, which financial institution will have corporate trust powers and be 

qualified to act as Trustee under the Indenture, and which shall initially be The Peoples Bank, 

Biloxi, Mississippi.   

“Underwriter” shall mean Raymond James & Associates, Inc., Memphis, Tennessee.  

“2023 Bond Fund” shall mean City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement General 

Obligation Bond, Series 2023 Bond Fund provided for in Section 18 hereof. 

“2023 Construction Fund” shall mean City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public Improvement 

General Obligation Bond, Series 2023 Construction Fund provided for in Section 19 hereof. 

Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include correlative 

words of the feminine and neuter genders.  Unless the context shall otherwise indicate, words 

and terms herein defined shall be equally applicable to the plural as well as the singular form of 

any such word or term. 

SECTION 4.  The Governing Body, acting for and on behalf of the City, does hereby 

find and declare that the sale and issuance of the City Bond pursuant to the Act in an aggregate 

principal amount of not to exceed Twelve Million Dollars ($12,000,000) is necessary and 

advisable and conforms to the City Bond Act. 

SECTION 5.  The City Bond is hereby authorized and ordered to be prepared and issued 

in one or more taxable or tax-exempt series in a principal amount of not to exceed Twelve 

Million Dollars ($12,000,000)  to provide financing for the Project as authorized by the Act.  The 

Governing Body is authorized and empowered by the provisions of the City Bond Act to issue 

the City Bond without an election on the question of the issuance thereof and is authorized to 

issue the City Bond pursuant to the Act or as may otherwise be provided by law.  

SECTION 6.  The Governing Body hereby further authorizes and approves the sale of 

the City Bond to the Issuer pursuant to the terms and provisions of the City Bond Purchase 

Agreement and based upon the terms and conditions of the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds to the 

Underwriter.     

SECTION 7.  The Governing Body does hereby find and determine that the City Bond 

and the Series 2023 Bonds are being issued to provide financing for the costs of the Project. 

- 291 -

Item # 11.



 

8 

 

SECTION 8.  In consideration of the purchase and acceptance of the City Bond by those 

who shall hold the same from time to time, this Bond Resolution shall constitute a contract 

between the City and the Registered Owner from time to time of the City Bond.  The pledge 

made herein and the covenants and agreements herein set forth to be performed on behalf of the 

City for the benefit of the Registered Owner shall be for the equal benefit, protection and 

security of the Registered Owner, all of which, regardless of the time or times of its 

authentication and delivery or maturity, shall be of equal rank without preference, priority or 

distinction. 

SECTION 9.  (a) Payments of interest on the City Bond shall be made to the Record 

Date Registered Owner, and payments of principal shall be made to the Record Date Registered 

Owner in lawful money of the United States of America upon presentation of the City Bond at 

the corporate trust office of the Paying Agent. 

(b) The City Bond shall be dated the date of its delivery; shall be issued as a fully 

registered bond in a single denomination equal to the principal amount thereof; shall be 

numbered 1; shall bear interest from the date thereof at the federally taxable or tax-exempt rate 

or rates borne by the Series 2023 Bonds (as provided in the Indenture) which federally taxable or 

tax-exempt rate or rates shall be reviewed by the Municipal Advisor and determined to be 

reasonable under then current market conditions, payable on each Interest Payment Date, subject 

to the limitation that the City Bond shall not bear a greater overall interest rate to maturity than 

eleven percent (11%) per annum; and shall mature and become due and payable in the same 

manner and at the same dates and times as provided for the Series 2023 Bonds in the Indenture; 

provided, however, that the final maturity for the City Bond shall be no later than twenty-five 

(25) years from its date of issuance unless earlier redeemed as provided for in this Bond 

Resolution and the Indenture. 

(c) The City Bond is subject to redemption prior to maturity only at the times, to the 

extent, in the manner and as otherwise provided for the Series 2023 Bonds in the Indenture.  If 

applicable, the City shall provide proper notices to the Issuer and the Trustee as provided in the 

Indenture in the event the City elects to redeem the City Bond or any portion thereof, and 

redemption of the City Bond or any portion thereof shall be as provided in this Section 9 and 

Article IV of the Indenture.  It is intended that redemption of the City Bond may only occur 

through the processes provided in the Indenture, and the City hereby accepts such redemption 

provisions by this reference.  

(d) A default in the due and punctual payment of any interest or principal on the City 

Bond or a default by the City under this Bond Resolution is an Event of Default (as defined in 

the Indenture) under the Indenture entitling the Trustee to exercise certain remedies under the 

Indenture, including, but not limited to, the acceleration of all principal and interest due and 

owing on the Series 2023 Bonds outstanding.  In the event the Trustee exercises such remedies 

under the Indenture, the principal and interest due and owing on the City Bond may be 

accelerated in accordance with the Indenture and the City shall cause the City Bond to be 

redeemed and paid in full. 

SECTION 10.  (a)  When the City Bond shall have been validated and executed as 

herein provided, it shall be registered as an obligation of the City in the office of the Clerk in a 

record maintained for that purpose, and the Clerk shall cause to be imprinted upon the City 

- 292 -

Item # 11.



 

9 

 

Bond, over such official's manual or facsimile signature and manual or facsimile seal, its 

certificate in substantially the form set out in Section 12 hereof. 

(b) The City Bond shall be executed by the manual or facsimile signature of the 

Mayor and countersigned by the manual or facsimile signature of the Clerk, with the seal of the 

City imprinted or affixed thereto; provided, however all signatures and seals appearing on the 

City Bond, other than the signature of an authorized officer of the Transfer Agent hereafter 

provided for, may be facsimile and shall have the same force and effect as if manually signed or 

impressed.  In case any official of the City whose signature or a facsimile of whose signature 

shall appear on the City Bond shall cease to be such official before the delivery or reissuance 

thereof, such signature or such facsimile shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all 

purposes, the same as if such official had remained in office until delivery or reissuance. 

(c) The City Bond shall be delivered to the Issuer upon payment of the purchase price 

therefor in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Indenture and the City Bond 

Purchase Agreement, together with a complete certified transcript of the proceedings had and 

done in the matter of the authorization, issuance, sale and validation of the City Bond, and the 

final, unqualified approving opinion of Bond Counsel. 

(d) Prior to or simultaneously with the delivery of the City Bond by the Transfer 

Agent, the City shall file with the Transfer Agent: 

(i) a copy, certified by the Clerk, of the transcript of proceedings of the 

Governing Body in connection with the authorization, issuance, sale and validation of the 

City Bond;  

(ii) an authorization to the Transfer Agent, signed by the Mayor or the 

President, to authenticate and deliver the City Bond to the Issuer; and 

(iii) such other documentation, if any, as may be required by this Bond 

Resolution, the Bond Purchase Agreement, Bond Counsel and the Indenture. 

(e) At delivery, the Transfer Agent shall authenticate the City Bond and deliver it to 

the Issuer upon payment of the purchase price of the City Bond to the City in accordance with 

the City Bond Purchase Agreement. 

SECTION 11.  (a)  The City hereby designates the Trustee as the Paying Agent and 

Transfer Agent for the City Bond.  The City specifically reserves the right to hereafter designate 

a separate Paying Agent and Transfer Agent in its discretion, subject, however to the terms and 

conditions of the Indenture, and as hereinafter provided. 

(b) So long as the City Bond shall remain outstanding, the City shall maintain with 

the Agent records for the registration and transfer of the City Bond.  The Agent is hereby 

appointed registrar for the City Bond, in which capacity the Agent shall register in such records 

and permit to be transferred thereon, under such reasonable regulations as may be prescribed, the 

City Bond if entitled to registration or transfer. 

(c) The City shall pay or reimburse the Agent for reasonable fees and expenses for 

services normally rendered and expenses normally incurred and customarily paid to paying 

- 293 -

Item # 11.



 

10 

 

agents, transfer agents and bond registrars, unless otherwise agreed to by the City and the Agent.  

Fees and reimbursements for extraordinary services and expenses, so long as not occasioned by 

the negligence, misconduct or willful default of the Agent, shall be made by the City on a 

case-by-case basis, subject, where not prevented by emergency or other exigent circumstances, 

to the prior written approval of the Governing Body. 

(d) An Agent may at any time resign and be discharged of the duties and obligations 

of the function of Trustee, Paying Agent and Transfer Agent pursuant to the terms and conditions 

stated in Sections 11.05 and 11.06 of the Indenture.  

(e) In the event of the resignation or removal of the Agent, a successor Agent shall be 

selected as provided in Section 11.07 of the Indenture.  

(f) In the event of a change of Agent, the predecessor Agent shall cease to be 

custodian of any funds held pursuant to this Bond Resolution in connection with its role as such 

Agent, and the successor Agent shall become such custodian; provided, however, that before any 

such delivery is required to be made, all fees, advances and expenses of the retiring or removed 

Agent shall be fully paid.  Every predecessor Agent shall deliver to its successor Agent all 

records of account, registration records, list of Registered Owner and all other records, 

documents and instruments relating to its duties as such Agent. 

(g) The provisions of Sections 11.07 and 11.08 of the Indenture shall govern the 

acceptance of any appointment of a successor Agent. 

(h) Should any transfer, assignment or instrument in writing be required by any 

successor Agent from the City to more fully and certainly vest in such successor Agent the 

estates, rights, powers and duties hereby vested or intended to be vested in the predecessor 

Agent, any such transfer, assignment and written instruments shall, on request, be executed, 

acknowledged and delivered by the City. 

(i) The City will provide any successor Agent with certified copies of all resolutions, 

orders and other proceedings adopted by the Governing Body relating to the City Bond. 

(j) All duties and obligations imposed hereby on an Agent or successor Agent shall 

terminate upon the accomplishment of all duties, obligations and responsibilities imposed by law 

or required to be performed by this Bond Resolution. 

SECTION 12.  The City Bond shall be in substantially the following form and the Mayor 

and the Clerk be and are hereby authorized and directed to make such changes, insertions and 

omissions therein as may in their opinions be required: 

[CITY BOND FORM] 

THIS CITY BOND HAS BEEN ASSIGNED TO THE PEOPLES BANK, AS 

TRUSTEE (THE “TRUSTEE”) UNDER AN INDENTURE OF TRUST 

(THE “INDENTURE”) DATED _____, 2023, BY AND BETWEEN THE 

MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK AND THE TRUSTEE.  THIS CITY 

BOND IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF THE TRUSTEE AND IS 

- 294 -

Item # 11.



 

11 

 

NON-TRANSFERRABLE EXCEPT AS PERMITTED IN THE 

INDENTURE.   

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI  

 

CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND,  

SERIES 2023 

NO. 1  $____________ 

  Rate of Interest   Maturity   Date of Original Issue 

  Payable 

as set forth herein 

March 1, ____   __, 2023 

REGISTERED OWNER: THE PEOPLES BANK, 

As Assignee of the Mississippi Development Bank 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: ________ MILLION AND NO/100THS DOLLARS 

The City of Tupelo, Mississippi (the “City”), a body politic existing under the 

Constitution and laws of the State of Mississippi, acknowledges itself to owe and for value 

received, promises to pay in lawful money of the United States of America to the Registered 

Owner identified above, upon the presentation and surrender hereof, at the corporate trust office 

of The Peoples Bank, in Biloxi, Mississippi, or its successor, as paying agent (the “Paying 

Agent”) for the Public Improvement General Obligation Bond, Series 2023 of the City (this 

“City Bond”), on the maturity date identified above, the principal amount identified above.  

Payment of the principal amount of this City Bond shall be made to the Registered Owner hereof 

who shall appear in the registration records of the City maintained by The Peoples Bank, in 

Biloxi, Mississippi, or its successor, as transfer agent for the City Bond (the “Transfer Agent”) 

at the times and periods as provided in the Indenture (as defined herein).  

The City further promises to pay interest on such principal amount from the date of this 

City Bond as hereinafter provided until said principal sum is paid to the Registered Owner hereof 

who shall appear in the registration records of the City maintained by the Transfer Agent as of 

the Record Date (as defined in the Indenture).  

Payments of principal of and interest on this City Bond shall be made by check or draft 

mailed to such Registered Owner at its address as such address appears on such registration 

records in time to reach the Registered Owner at least five (5) days prior to an Interest Payment 

Date (as defined in the Bond Resolution, as hereinafter defined). 

This City Bond is issued under the authority of the Constitution and statutes of the State 

of Mississippi, including Sections 21-33-301 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, and 

- 295 -

Item # 11.



 

12 

 

Sections 31-25-1 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended (together, the “Act”), and by the 

further authority of proceedings duly had by the Mayor and City Council of the City, including a 

resolution adopted on September 5, 2023 (the “Bond Resolution”). 

This City Bond is issued in the aggregate authorized principal amount of ____ Million 

Dollars ($___,000,000) to provide funds to the City for the purposes set forth in the Bond 

Resolution, including, but not limited to, (i) constructing, improving or paving streets, sidewalks, 

driveways, parkways, walkways or public parking facilities, and purchasing land therefor; (ii) 

erecting, repairing, improving, adorning and equipping municipal buildings and purchasing 

buildings and land therefor; (iii) purchasing land for parks, cemeteries and public playgrounds, 

and improving, equipping and adorning the same, including the constructing, repairing and 

equipping of swimming pools and other recreational facilities; (iv) purchasing fire-fighting 

equipment and apparatus, and providing housing for same, and purchasing land therefor; (v) 

erecting or purchasing waterworks, gas, electric and other public utility plants or distribution 

systems or franchises, and repairing, improving and extending the same; (vi) establishing 

sanitary, storm, drainage or sewerage systems, and repairing, improving and extending the same; 

(vii) protecting a municipality, its streets and sidewalks from overflow, caving banks and other 

like dangers; (viii) constructing bridges and culverts; (ix) purchasing machinery and equipment, 

including motor vehicles weighing not less than twelve thousand (12,000) pounds, which have 

an expected useful life in excess of ten (10) years which expected useful life shall exceed the life 

of the bonds financing such purchase; and (x) for other authorized purposes under the City Bond 

Act, including funding capitalized interest, if applicable, and paying the costs of borrowing. 

The City will duly and punctually pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on 

this City Bond at the dates and the places and in the manner mentioned in the Bond Resolution, 

according to the true intent and meaning thereof.  Notwithstanding any schedule of payments 

upon the City Bond, the City agrees to make payments upon the City Bond and be liable therefor 

at such times and in such amounts (including principal, premium, if any, and interest) so as to 

provide for payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the $___,000,000 

Mississippi Development Bank Special Obligation Bonds, Series 2023 (City of Tupelo, 

Mississippi Public Improvement General Obligation Bond Project) (the “Series 2023 Bonds”), 

outstanding under the Indenture of Trust, by and between the Mississippi Development Bank and 

The Peoples Bank, as trustee (the “Trustee”), dated as of __, 2023 (the “Indenture”), when due 

whether upon a scheduled interest payment date, redemption or at maturity.   

Reference is hereby made to the Bond Resolution and to all amendments and 

supplements thereto for the provisions, among others, with respect to the nature and extent of the 

security for the bondholder, the rights, duties and obligations of the City and the bondholder and 

the terms upon which this City Bond is or may be issued and secured.   

The City and the Paying Agent may deem and treat the Registered Owner hereof as the 

absolute owner for the purpose of receiving payment of principal hereof and interest due hereon 

and for all other purposes and neither the City nor the Paying Agent shall be affected by any 

notice to the contrary. 

This City Bond shall be a general obligation of the City payable as to principal of, 

premium, if any, and interest out of and secured by a special tax to be levied annually by the 

City, without limitation as to time, rate or amount, upon all of the taxable property within the 

- 296 -

Item # 11.



 

13 

 

geographical boundaries of the City adequate and sufficient to provide for the payment of the 

principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the City Bond as the same becomes due.  Said tax 

shall be extended upon the tax rolls and collected in the same manner and at the same time as 

other taxes of the City are collected, and the rate of the tax which shall be so extended shall be 

sufficient in each year fully to produce the sums required as aforesaid, without limitation as to 

time, rate or amount; provided, however, that such tax levy for any year shall be abated pro tanto 

to the extent the City on or prior to September 1 of that year has transferred money to the 2023 

Bond Fund (as defined in the Bond Resolution), or has made other provisions for funds, to be 

applied toward the payment of the principal of and interest on the City Bond due during the 

ensuing fiscal year of the City, in accordance with the provisions of the Bond Resolution.  The 

avails of said tax are irrevocably pledged by the City under the Bond Resolution for the payment 

of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the City Bond as the same shall mature and 

accrue.  Should there be a failure in any year to comply with the requirements, such failure shall 

not impair the right of the holder of the City Bond in any subsequent year to have adequate taxes 

levied and collected to meet the obligations of the City Bond, as to principal of, premium, if any, 

and interest. 

This City Bond is the only evidence of indebtedness issued and outstanding under the 

Bond Resolution.  This City Bond has been purchased by the Mississippi Development Bank and 

has been assigned to the Trustee under the Indenture.  This City Bond is registered in the name 

of the Trustee and is non-transferrable except as provided in the Indenture.   

The City and the Transfer Agent may deem and treat the Person in whose name this City 

Bond is registered as the absolute owner hereof, whether this City Bond shall be overdue or not, 

for the purpose of receiving payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on this 

City Bond and for all other purposes.  All such payments so made to the Registered Owner shall 

be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon this City Bond to the extent of 

the sum or sums paid, and neither the City nor the Transfer Agent shall be affected by any notice 

to the contrary.  

Upon a default in payment under this City Bond, the Trustee may, as provided in the 

Indenture and the Bond Resolution, declare the principal of and accrued interest on this City 

Bond to be due and payable immediately. 

This City Bond shall only be redeemed under the Bond Resolution to the extent and in 

the manner required to redeem the Series 2023 Bonds pursuant to the provisions of the Indenture. 

Modifications or alterations of the Bond Resolution may be made only to the extent and 

under the circumstances permitted by the Indenture.   

This City Bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to 

any benefit or security under the Bond Resolution until the certificate of registration and 

authentication hereon shall have been signed by the Transfer Agent. 

Capitalized terms used herein, but not defined herein, shall have the meanings given to 

such terms in the Bond Resolution and the Indenture. 

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED, RECITED AND REPRESENTED that all conditions, 

acts and things required by law to exist, to have happened and to have been performed precedent 

- 297 -

Item # 11.



 

14 

 

to and in the issuance of this City Bond, in order to make the same a legal and binding general 

obligation of the City, according to the terms thereof, do exist, have happened and have been 

performed in regular and due time, form and manner as required by law.  For the performance in 

apt time and manner of every official act herein required, and for the prompt payment of this 

City Bond, including principal, premium, if any, and interest, the full faith, credit and taxing 

power of the City are hereby irrevocably pledged. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this City Bond to be executed in its 

name by the manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor of the City, countersigned by the 

manual or facsimile signature of the City Clerk of the City, under the manual or facsimile seal of 

the City, which said manual or facsimile signatures and seal said officials adopt as and for their 

own proper signatures and seal, on this the ______ day of ________ 2023. 

(SEAL) 

CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI 

 

By _________________________________ 

       Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

CERTIFICATE OF REGISTRATION AND AUTHENTICATION 

This City Bond is the City Bond described in the within mentioned Bond Resolution and 

is the Public Improvement General Obligation Bond, Series 2023, of City of Tupelo, Mississippi. 

THE PEOPLES BANK, as Transfer Agent 

 

By  _________________________________ 

        Authorized Signatory 

Date of Registration and Authentication:  ___, 2023 

REGISTRATION AND VALIDATION CERTIFICATE 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI 

COUNTY OF LEE 

 

I, the undersigned City Clerk of City of Tupelo, Mississippi, do hereby certify that the 

within City Bond has been duly registered by me as an obligation of said City pursuant to law in 

a record kept in my office for that purpose, and has been validated and confirmed by Decree of 

the Chancery Court of Lee County, Mississippi, rendered on the _____ day of __________, 

2023. 

- 298 -

Item # 11.



 

15 

 

(SEAL) 

____________________________________ 

City Clerk 

[END OF CITY BOND FORM] 

SECTION 13.  In case the City Bond shall become mutilated or be stolen, destroyed or 

lost, the City shall, if not then prohibited by law, cause to be authenticated and delivered a new 

City Bond of like date, number, maturity and tenor in exchange and substitution for and upon 

cancellation of such mutilated City Bond, or in lieu of and in substitution for such City Bond 

stolen, destroyed or lost, upon the Registered Owner's paying the reasonable expenses and 

charges of the City in connection therewith, and in case of a City Bond stolen, destroyed or lost, 

such Registered Owner's filing with the City or Transfer Agent evidence satisfactory to them that 

the City Bond was stolen, destroyed or lost, and of its ownership thereof, and furnishing the City 

or the Transfer Agent with such security and/or indemnity as may be required by law or by them 

to save each of them harmless from all risks, however remote. 

SECTION 14.  This City Bond shall be a general obligation of the City and the City 

hereby irrevocably pledges its full faith, credit and taxing power for the purpose of effectuating 

and providing for the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the City Bond 

as the same shall respectively mature and accrue.  There shall be levied annually by the City, 

without limitation as to time, rate or amount, upon all of the taxable property within the 

geographical boundaries of the City adequate and sufficient to provide for the payment of the 

principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the City Bond as the same becomes due.  Said tax 

shall be extended upon the tax rolls and collected in the same manner and at the same time as 

other taxes of the City are collected, and the rate of the tax which shall be so extended shall be 

sufficient in each year fully to produce the sums required as aforesaid, without limitation as to 

time, rate or amount; provided, however, that such tax levy for any year shall be abated pro tanto 

to the extent the City on or prior to September 1 of that year has transferred money to the 2023 

Bond Fund, or has made other provisions for funds, to be applied toward the payment of the 

principal of and interest on the City Bond due during the ensuing fiscal year of the City, in 

accordance with the provisions of this Bond Resolution.  The avails of said tax are hereby 

irrevocably pledged for the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the City 

Bond as the same shall mature and accrue.  Should there be a failure in any year to comply with 

the requirements, such failure shall not impair the right of the holder of the City Bond in any 

subsequent year to have adequate taxes levied and collected to meet the obligations the City 

Bond, as to principal of, premium, if any, and interest. 

SECTION 15.  Only if the City Bond shall have endorsed thereon a certificate of 

registration and authentication in substantially the form hereinabove set forth, duly executed by 

the Transfer Agent, shall the City Bond be entitled to the rights, benefits and security of this 

Bond Resolution.  The City Bond shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose unless and 

until such certificate of registration and authentication shall have been duly executed by the 

Transfer Agent, which executed certificate shall be conclusive evidence of registration, 

authentication and delivery under this Bond Resolution.  The Transfer Agent's certificate of 

registration and authentication on the City Bond shall be deemed to have been duly executed if 

signed by an authorized officer of the Transfer Agent; provided, however, it shall not be 

- 299 -

Item # 11.



 

16 

 

necessary that the same officer sign said certificate on every City Bond that may be issued 

hereunder. 

SECTION 16.  Ownership of the City Bond shall be in the Issuer or its assignee.  The 

Person in whose name the City Bond shall be registered in the records of the City maintained by 

the Transfer Agent may be deemed the absolute owner thereof for all purposes, and payment of 

or on account of the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the City Bond shall be made 

only to or upon the order of the Registered Owner thereof, or its legal representative, but such 

registration may be changed as hereinafter provided.  All such payments shall be valid and 

effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon the City Bond to the extent of the sum or 

sums so paid. 

SECTION 17.  The City Bond shall be transferable only as provided in the Indenture.  

Upon the transfer of the City Bond, the City, acting through the Transfer Agent, shall issue in the 

name of the transferee a new City Bond of the same aggregate principal amount and maturity and 

rate of interest as the surrendered City Bond.  

SECTION 18.  (a)  The City hereby establishes the “City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public 

Improvement General Obligation Bond, Series 2023 Bond Fund” (the “2023 Bond Fund”) 

which shall be maintained with a qualified depository in its name for the payment of the 

principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the City Bond, and the payment of the Agent's fees 

in connection therewith.  There shall be deposited into the 2023 Bond Fund as and when 

received: 

(i) The avails of any of the taxes levied and collected pursuant to Section 14 

hereof; 

(ii) Any income received from the investment of monies in the 2023 Bond 

Fund; and 

(iii) Any other funds available to the City which may be lawfully used for 

payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the City Bond or for other 

obligations of the City which may be due under the Indenture, and which the Governing 

Body, in its discretion, may direct to be deposited into the 2023 Bond Fund. 

(b) As long as any principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the City Bond or the 

Series 2023 Bonds remain outstanding and/or other obligations of the City remain outstanding 

hereunder or under the Indenture, the Clerk is hereby irrevocably authorized and directed to 

withdraw from the 2023 Bond Fund sufficient monies to make the payments necessary (the 

“City Bond Payments”) to pay (i) the principal of, premium, if any, and interest coming due on 

the Series 2023 Bonds, and (ii) any additional payments necessary and required as obligations of 

the City hereunder or under the Indenture, including, but not limited to Program Expenses (as 

such term is defined in the Indenture), and to transfer same to the account of the Trustee in time 

to reach the Trustee at least five (5) days prior to the date on which said interest, principal or 

premium, if any, on the Series 2023 Bonds shall become due, or in such time as may be required 

for any other payments regarding the Series 2023 Bonds shall become due.  The Trustee shall 

deposit all City Bond Payments received in the General Account of the General Fund of the 

- 300 -

Item # 11.



 

17 

 

Indenture (as such terms are defined in the Indenture), or such other fund or account as the 

Trustee is so directed in the Indenture. 

SECTION 19.  (a)  The City hereby establishes the “City of Tupelo, Mississippi Public 

Improvement General Obligation Bond, Series 2023 Construction Fund” (the “2023 

Construction Fund”) which shall be maintained with a qualified depository in its name.  A 

portion of the proceeds received upon the sale of the City Bond as provided in Section 6.07 of 

the Indenture shall be transferred by the Trustee and deposited in the 2023 Construction Fund.  

Monies deposited in the 2023 Construction Fund shall be used, to the extent permitted by law, (i) 

to pay, or to reimburse the City, for all costs related to implementation and completion of all 

necessary expenditures for and in connection with the City Project; (ii) to pay, or to reimburse 

the City, for architectural, engineering, fiscal, paying agent, printing, accounting, construction 

manager, feasibility consultant, legal expenses and development expenses incurred in connection 

with the City Project; and (iii) to pay costs related to any suits and proceedings in connection 

with the City Project, including any costs of settlement thereof.  

Any income received from investment of monies in the 2023 Construction Fund shall be 

deposited in the 2023 Construction Fund and shall be used for the costs of the Project. 

(b) Any amounts which remain in the 2023 Construction Fund after the completion of 

the Project shall be transferred to the 2023 Bond Fund and used as permitted under State law. 

(c) The balance of the proceeds derived from the sale of the City Bond following the 

deposit to be made pursuant to this Section 19 shall be retained by the Issuer and deposited with 

the Trustee under the Indenture to be used for the payment of the costs of issuance and sale of 

the City Bond and the costs of issuance and sale of the Series 2023 Bonds, all as provided in the 

Indenture. 

SECTION 20.  (a)  Payment of principal on the City Bond shall be made, upon 

presentation of the City Bond at the corporate trust office of the Paying Agent, to the Record 

Date Registered Owner thereof who shall appear in the registration records of the City 

maintained by the Transfer Agent as of the Record Date. 

(b) Payment of each installment of interest on the City Bond shall be made to the 

Record Date Registered Owner thereof whose name shall appear in the registration records of the 

City maintained by the Transfer Agent as of the Record Date.  Interest shall be payable in the 

aforesaid manner irrespective of any transfer or exchange of such City Bond subsequent to the 

Record Date and prior to the due date of the interest. 

(c) Principal of and interest on the City Bond shall be paid by the Paying Agent by 

check or draft mailed to the Registered Owner at the address appearing in the registration records 

of the Transfer Agent in time to reach the Registered Owner at least five (5) days prior to an 

Interest Payment Date.  Any such address may be changed by written notice from the Registered 

Owner to the Transfer Agent by certified mail, return receipt requested, or such other method 

and at the times as may be subsequently prescribed by the Transfer Agent.  

SECTION 21.  The City may issue refunding bonds, in one or more series, with the 

consent of the Issuer pursuant to a supplement to this Bond Resolution or a separate resolution to 

provide funds for the refunding of all or a portion of the City Bond so long as: (a) no default has 

- 301 -

Item # 11.



 

18 

 

occurred and is continuing under this Bond Resolution or the Indenture; and (b) there shall have 

been filed with the City and the Trustee an opinion of Bond Counsel that the exclusion from 

gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Series 2023 Bonds then 

outstanding under the Indenture shall not be adversely affected, if applicable.   

Such refunding bonds shall be appropriately designated, shall be dated, shall bear interest 

at a rate or rates not exceeding the maximum rate then permitted by law, shall be numbered, shall 

have such paying agents and shall have such maturities and redemption provisions, all as may be 

provided in the supplement to this Bond Resolution or separate resolution of the Governing Body 

authorizing the issuance of such refunding bonds.  

It is intended that this Section 21 allow for the provision of refunding bonds 

commensurate with the ability of the Issuer to issue its refunding bonds as provided in Section 

2.05 of the Indenture. 

SECTION 22.  The City Bond shall be submitted to validation in the Chancery Court of 

Lee County, Mississippi, in the manner and with the force and effect provided by Sections 

31-13-1 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended.  The Clerk is hereby directed to prepare 

a transcript of all legal papers and proceedings relating to the City Bond and to certify and 

forward the same to the State's Bond Attorney for the institution of validation proceedings. 

SECTION 23.  The City covenants to comply, if applicable, with each requirement of 

the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder necessary to maintain the exclusion of 

interest on the Series 2023 Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes, and in 

furtherance thereof, to comply, if applicable, with a certificate of the City to be executed and 

delivered concurrently with the issuance of the City Bond and the Series 2023 Bonds, or such 

other covenants as may, from time to time, be required to be complied with in order to maintain 

the exclusion of interest on the Series 2023 Bonds from gross income for federal income tax 

purposes, if applicable.  The City shall not use or permit the use of any of the proceeds of the 

City Bond or the Series 2023 Bonds, or any other funds of the City, directly or indirectly, to 

acquire any securities, obligations or other investment property, and shall not take or permit to be 

taken any other action or actions, which would cause any Series 2023 Bond to be an “arbitrage 

bond” as defined in Section 148 of the Code, if and as applicable.  Notwithstanding any other 

provisions to the contrary, so long as necessary in order to maintain the exclusion of interest on 

the Series 2023 Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes under the Code, if 

applicable, the covenants contained in this Section 23 shall survive the payment of the City Bond 

and the Series 2023 Bonds and the interest thereon, including any payment or defeasance thereof. 

SECTION 24.  The City represents as follows, if and as applicable to the Series 2023 

Bonds and the City Bond: 

(a) The City shall take no action that would cause the Series 2023 Bonds to be 

“federally guaranteed” within the meaning of Section 149(b) of the Code; 

(b) The City shall take all necessary action to have the Series 2023 Bonds registered 

within the meaning of Section 149(a) of the Code; and 

(c) The City will not employ any device or abusive transaction with respect to the 

investment of the proceeds of the Series 2023 Bonds and, to the extent necessary, the City Bond.  

- 302 -

Item # 11.



 

19 

 

SECTION 25.  The City hereby covenants that, if applicable, in connection with the 

Series 2023 Bonds it shall make, or cause to be timely made to the United States of America, any 

rebate payment required by Section 148(f) of the Code and the regulations promulgated 

thereunder and to that end, will enter into the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement (as defined in the 

Indenture) (or similar agreement respecting such federal income tax matters) with the Issuer and 

the Trustee.   

SECTION 26.  The Mayor, the President and Clerk are each hereby authorized to sign 

and file or cause to be filed a completed I.R.S. Form 8038-G “Information Return for 

Governmental Obligations” if required by Section 149(e) of the Code. 

SECTION 27.  The Mayor, the President and Clerk are each hereby authorized to 

execute a non-arbitrage certification in order to comply with Section 148 of the Code and the 

applicable regulations thereunder. 

SECTION 28.  Pursuant to SEC Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) (the “Rule”), the City, as an 

“obligated person” under the Rule, hereby covenants and agrees to enter into the Continuing 

Disclosure Certificate, setting forth the City 's agreement with regard to continuing disclosure 

and to comply with the covenants set forth therein and carry out all of the provisions of the 

Continuing Disclosure Certificate.  In the event the City fails to comply with the provisions of 

the Continuing Disclosure Certificate, the beneficial owners of the Series 2023 Bonds may take 

such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including mandamus or specific performance 

by court order, to cause the City to comply with its obligations set forth in the Continuing 

Disclosure Certificate and this Section. 

SECTION 29.  (a)  The Issuer and the City, without the consent of the owners of any of 

the Series 2023 Bonds outstanding under the Indenture, may enter into supplements to this Bond 

Resolution which shall not be inconsistent with the terms and provisions hereof for any of the 

purposes heretofore specifically authorized in this Bond Resolution or the Indenture, and in 

addition thereto for the following purposes: 

(i) To cure any ambiguity or formal defect or omission in the Indenture; 

(ii) To grant to or confer upon the Trustee for the benefit of the Bondholders 

any additional benefits, rights, remedies, powers or authorities that may lawfully be 

granted to or conferred upon the Bondholders or the Trustee, or to make any change 

which, in the opinion of Bond Counsel, does not materially and adversely affect the 

interest of the owner of the City Bond and does not require unanimous consent of the 

Bondholders pursuant to Section 12.01 of the Indenture; 

(iii) To subject to the Indenture additional Revenues (as such term is defined in 

the Indenture), properties or collateral; 

(iv) To modify, amend or supplement this Resolution in such manner as 

required to permit the qualification hereof under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as 

amended, or any similar federal statute hereafter in effect, to permit qualification of the 

City Bond or the Series 2023 Bonds for sale as exempt securities or in exempt 

transactions under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or the securities laws of any state 

- 303 -

Item # 11.



 

20 

 

or to avoid registration under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or any 

similar federal statute hereafter in effect, or to permit compliance with the Code; 

(v) To conform the text herein to any description or summary of this 

Resolution in any official statement or other offering document with respect to the City 

Bond or the Series 2023 Bonds to the extent that such description or summary was 

intended to be a verbatim recitation of a provision herein; and 

(vi) To evidence the appointment of a separate or co-trustee or the succession 

of a new Trustee under the Indenture or the succession of a new registrar and/or paying 

agent. 

(b) The provisions of this Bond Resolution may be amended in any particular with 

the written consent of the Issuer to the extent authorized by the Indenture; provided, however, 

that no such amendment may be adopted which decreases the percentage of owners of Series 

2023 Bonds required to approve any amendment, or which permits a change in the date of 

payment of the principal of or interest on any Series 2023 Bonds or of any redemption price 

thereof or the rate of interest thereon. 

(c) If at any time the Issuer and the City shall request the Trustee to consent to a 

proposed amendment of this Bond Resolution for any of the purposes of this Section 29, the 

Trustee shall, upon being satisfactorily indemnified and/or secured with respect to expenses, 

cause notice of the proposed execution of such proposed amendment to be given in the manner 

required by the Indenture to redeem Series 2023 Bonds.  Such notice shall briefly set forth the 

nature of the proposed amendment and shall state that copies thereof are on file at the principal 

corporate trust office of the Trustee for inspection by all holders of Series 2023 Bonds.  If, within 

sixty (60) days or such longer period as shall be prescribed by the Issuer following such notice, 

the owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Series 2023 Bonds 

outstanding at the time of the execution of any such proposed amendment shall have consented 

to and approved the execution thereof as herein provided, no owner of any Series 2023 Bond 

shall have any right to object to any of the terms and provisions contained therein, or the 

operation thereof, or in any manner to question the propriety of the execution thereof, or to 

enjoin or restrain the Trustee, the City or the Issuer from executing or approving the same or 

from taking any action pursuant to the provisions thereof.  Upon the execution of any such 

proposed amendment permitted and provided in this Section, this Bond Resolution shall be 

modified and amended in accordance therewith. 

(d) Copies of any such supplement or amendment shall be filed with the Trustee and 

delivered to the Issuer and the City before such supplement or amendment may become 

effective. 

SECTION 30.  The Indenture, in the form submitted as Exhibit A hereto to this meeting, 

is hereby made part of this Bond Resolution as though set forth in full herein and shall be, and 

the same hereby is, approved in substantially said form.  The Mayor, the Clerk, an Authorized 

Officer or other member of the Governing Body be, and hereby is, authorized to approve such 

additional changes as may be requested by the Issuer.  The City hereby approves and 

acknowledges the Indenture and the terms and provisions thereof and recognizes that many items 

- 304 -

Item # 11.



 

21 

 

governing the terms and conditions of the City Bond are based upon terms, limitations and 

conditions provided in the Indenture. 

SECTION 31.  The City Bond Purchase Agreement, in the form submitted as Exhibit B 

hereto to this meeting, is hereby made part of this Bond Resolution as though set forth in full 

herein and shall be, and the same hereby is, approved in substantially said form.  The Mayor and 

the Clerk, an Authorized Officer, or any other member of the Governing Body, are hereby 

authorized and directed to execute and deliver the City Bond Purchase Agreement with such 

changes, insertions and omissions as may be approved by such officers, said execution being 

conclusive evidence of such approval. 

SECTION 32.  The Governing Body of the City hereby authorizes, due to the character 

of the Series 2023 Bonds, the complexity of structuring the Series 2023 Bonds and prevailing 

market conditions, to negotiate for the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds with the Underwriter and to 

approve the submission of the form of the Bond Purchase Agreement for the sale of the Series 

2023 Bonds to the Issuer and the City, for approval at a subsequent date to be determined by the 

Municipal Advisor and the City to be the most financially advantageous to the City and the 

Issuer and hereby gives authority to the Mayor, the Clerk and an Authorized Officer of the 

Governing Body to approve the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds and to make the final decisions 

regarding (i) the aggregate principal amounts of the Series 2023 Bonds, (ii) the redemption 

provisions of the Series 2023 Bonds, (c) the interest rates to be borne by the Series 2023 Bonds, 

(iii) the maturity dates of the Series 2023 Bonds, (iv) the principal and interest payment dates for 

the Series 2023 Bonds, and (v) to make all final determinations necessary to structure the Series 

2023 Bonds; provided that the terms of the City Bond will mirror said terms of the Series 2023 

Bonds.  The Bond Purchase Agreement, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C and when 

presented for execution, is hereby approved in all respects, subject to the following conditions or 

as may be provided in the Term Sheet: (1) the par amount of the Series 2023 Bonds will not 

exceed $12,000,000; (2) the net interest cost of the Series 2023 Bonds will not exceed 11.00%; 

(3) the Series 2023 Bonds will mature no later than twenty-five (25) years from the date of 

issuance thereof; (4) the net proceeds of the City Bond shall be applied to the costs of the City 

Project and pay for the costs of issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds and the City Bond; and (5) 

terms and provisions of the Series 2023 Bonds in compliance with the Issuer Act, and the City 

Bond in compliance with the City Bond Act. The form of the Bond Purchase Agreement in 

substantially form is hereby approved in all respects and the Mayor or the Clerk or an Authorized 

Officer or any other member of the Governing Body are each hereby authorized and directed to 

execute and deliver the Bond Purchase Agreement for and on behalf of and in the name of the 

City for the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds, with such changes, omissions, insertions and 

revisions, as may be approved by either such officer, said execution being conclusive evidence of 

such approval 

SECTION 33.  (a) The form of the Preliminary Official Statement is submitted to this 

meeting and made a part of this resolution as though set forth in full herein shall be, and the same 

hereby are, approved in substantially said form.  The Mayor, the Clerk and an Authorized Officer 

of the Governing Body are hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver, as applicable, 

the Preliminary Official Statement with such changes, insertions and omissions as may be 

approved by such officer, said execution being conclusive evidence of such approval.  The 

Preliminary Official Statement is hereby "deemed final" by the City as described in the Rule.  

The Mayor, the Clerk and an Authorized Officer of the Governing Body are hereby authorized 

- 305 -

Item # 11.



 

22 

 

and directed to execute and deliver the Official Statement in connection with the Series 2023 

Bonds with such changes from the Preliminary Official Statement as he/she may approve.  Said 

Preliminary Official Statement is attached hereto as Exhibit D. 

(b) If in the opinion of the Bond Counsel, the Underwriter and the Municipal Advisor, a 

supplement or amendment to the Preliminary Official Statement and/or Official Statement is 

necessary to provide proper disclosure for the Series 2023 Bonds, the Governing Body of the 

City hereby authorizes (a) Bond Counsel to prepare and distribute such supplement or 

amendment to the Preliminary Official Statement and/or the Official Statement in a form and in a 

manner approved by the Underwriter, and (b) the Underwriter to provide distribution of such 

supplement or amendment to the Preliminary Official Statement and/or Official Statement, as the 

case may be, in connection with the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds, with the distribution of such 

supplement or amendment being conclusive evidence of the approval of the Governing Body. 

(c) The Continuing Disclosure Certificate, in the form attached to the Preliminary 

Official Statement as submitted to this meeting, is hereby made part of this Bond Resolution as 

though set forth in full herein and shall be, and the same hereby is, approved in substantially said 

form. The Mayor, the Clerk and an Authorized Officer are hereby authorized and directed to 

execute and deliver the Continuing Disclosure Certificate with such changes, insertions and 

omissions as may be approved by such officers, said execution being conclusive evidence of 

such approval. 

SECTION 34.  Copies of the documents provided for in Sections 30 through 33 of this 

Bond Resolution in the forms submitted to this meeting and approved in substantially said forms 

by this Bond Resolution are on file in the office of the Clerk. 

SECTION 35.  The Mayor and the Clerk are authorized and directed to execute and 

deliver any additional documents, agreements, instruments, requisitions and certificates, which 

are required in connection with the sale and issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds and the City 

Bond.  If the date of the issuance and delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds or the City Bond, or the 

execution and delivery of any of the documents adopted hereby occurs after December, 2023, 

then the Mayor and the Clerk are hereby fully authorized to approve all applicable and necessary 

changes to the documents approved hereby or otherwise and related to such change to provide 

for the dating of documents for the appropriate month of 2023 (including the Series 2023 Bonds 

and the City Bond), the execution of said documents being conclusive evidence of such approval, 

and no further action shall be required of the Governing Body to approve such date changes.  

Notwithstanding any other provision herein or in any attachments hereto, the Governing Body 

further authorizes any necessary changes to the name or title or series and year designation of the 

Series 2023 Bonds or the City Bond and corresponding changes to any of the related documents 

approved hereby if it is determined, after consultation with the Municipal Advisor, that it is in 

the best interest of the City for the Series 2023 Bonds to be issued at a later date, pursuant to a 

different structure, or in one or more tax-exempt or taxable series, as a private placement 

transaction as the municipal bond market conditions may dictate. 

SECTION 36.  If the City Project or any improvements located thereon shall be 

damaged or destroyed (in whole or in part) at any time while any of the City Bond remains 

outstanding, there shall be no abatement or reduction in the amount payable by the City 

hereunder and under the City Bond.  Also, if at any time while any Series 2023 Bonds remain 

- 306 -

Item # 11.



 

23 

 

outstanding, and the whole or any part of title to, or the use of, the City Project shall be taken by 

condemnation, there shall be no abatement or reduction in the amount payable by the City 

hereunder. 

SECTION 37.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, nothing in this Bond 

Resolution, express or implied, is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any Person or 

firm or corporation other than the City, the Issuer and the Trustee, any right, remedy or claim, 

legal or equitable, under and by reason of this Bond Resolution or any of the provisions hereof or 

the Indenture or any provision thereof.  This Bond Resolution, the Indenture and all of their 

provisions are intended to be and shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the City, the 

Trustee and the Issuer. 

SECTION 38.  The Mayor and Clerk are each hereby authorized and directed to sign 

requisitions and perform such other acts as may be necessary to authorize the payment by the 

Trustee under the Indenture on the date of issuance and delivery of the Series 2023 Bonds, the 

costs of issuance for the Series 2023 Bonds and costs of issuance for the City Bond. 

SECTION 39.  The Governing Body hereby approves the designation of Raymond 

James & Associates, Inc., Memphis, Tennessee as Underwriter, and The Peoples Bank, Biloxi, 

Mississippi, as the Paying Agent and Trustee for the Series 2023 Bonds under the Indenture. 

SECTION 40.  The Authorized Officers are authorized to execute and deliver such 

resolutions, agreements, certificates and other documents as are required for the sale, issuance 

and delivery of the City Bond, including the approval of the final Official Statement in 

connection with the Series 2023 Bonds. The Governing Body further authorizes Bond Counsel, 

City Counsel, the Underwriter and the Municipal Advisor, to prepare and distribute all necessary 

documents and to do all things required in order to negotiate the sale of the Series 2023 Bonds 

and to effectuate the sale and issuance of the City Bond and the Series 2023 Bonds. 

SECTION 41.  The Mayor and/or the Clerk are further authorized and directed to 

execute and deliver such additional documents and certificates which are required in connection 

with this Bond Resolution to provide for the sale, issuance and delivery of the City Bond and the 

Series 2023 Bonds.   

SECTION 42.  If the Municipal Advisor deems it in the bests interest of the City and the 

Issuer to apply for municipal bond insurance for the Series 2023 Bonds, the Governing Body 

hereby approves the execution of a commitment for the provision of municipal bond insurance 

for the Series 2023 Bonds and any additional documents and certificates which are required by 

any provider of such municipal bond insurance selected to provide credit enhancement in 

connection with the issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds.  The Mayor or the Clerk are hereby 

authorized to approve any changes, insertions and omissions as may be required by the provider 

of the municipal bond insurance to the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Preliminary Official 

Statement and Official Statement, the Indenture and the City Bond Purchase Agreement, as are 

approved by the Mayor or the Clerk, evidenced by his/her execution of the commitment for said 

municipal bond insurance and other additional documents and certificates.  In addition, the 

executive director of the Issuer and/or an authorized officer of the Issuer are hereby authorized to 

apply for municipal bond insurance and execute a commitment for the provision of municipal 

bond insurance and any additional documents and certificates which are required by any provider 

- 307 -

Item # 11.



 

24 

 

of such municipal bond insurance selected to provide credit enhancement in connection with the 

issuance of the Series 2023 Bonds. 

SECTION 43.  If the Municipal Advisor deems it in the best interest of the Issuer to sell 

the Series 2023 Bonds as a privately placed transaction (the “Private Placement Transaction”) 

due to municipal bond market conditions, the Governing Body authorizes and approves: (a) the 

Private Placement Transaction in order to conform to such determination by the Municipal 

Advisor; (b) the Private Placement Agreement in the form submitted to this meeting and attached 

hereto as EXHIBIT E; (c) Raymond James & Associates, Inc., as placement agent for the 

Private Placement Transaction (the “Placement Agent”); and (d) any term sheet, if applicable, 

of a purchaser or purchasers (the “Lender”) in connection with the Private Placement 

Transaction. 

SECTION 44.  If the Series 2023 Bonds are sold as a Private Placement Transaction the 

following shall apply: (a) the Series 2023 Bonds shall be initially issued as fully registered bonds 

in the principal denomination of $100,000 and increments of $1,000 each thereafter, or integral 

multiples thereof up to the amount of a single maturity, (b) shall be subject to redemption in the 

manner, to the extent and with such notice as stated in the Private Placement Agreement and the 

Term Sheet, (c) shall be delivered to the Lender upon payment of the purchase price therefor in 

accordance with the terms and conditions of the Private Placement Agreement and the Term 

Sheet, (d) shall be authenticated and delivered to, upon the order of or as directed by the Lender 

thereof upon payment of the purchase price of the Series 2023 Bonds to the Trustee in 

accordance with the Private Placement Agreement and the Term Sheet, and (e) may or may not 

have CUSIP numbers assigned thereto as specified in the Private Placement Agreement and the 

Term Sheet. 

SECTION 45.  If any one or more of the provisions of this Bond Resolution shall for any 

reason be held to be illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any of the other 

provisions of this Bond Resolution, but this Bond Resolution shall be construed and enforced as 

if such illegal or invalid provision or provisions had not been contained herein. 

SECTION 46.  All resolutions and orders or parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the 

extent of such conflicts, hereby repealed, and this Bond Resolution shall become effective 

immediately. 

 

- 308 -

Item # 11.



 

25 

 

The above and foregoing resolution, after having been first reduced to writing, was 

introduced by Council Member ______________________, seconded by Council Member 

______________________ and was adopted by the following roll call vote, to wit: 

YEAS:    NAYS:  ABSENT:  

 

 

 

 

 

The President thereby declared the motion carried and the resolution adopted, this the 5th 

day of September 2023. 

ATTEST:      ADOPTED: 

 

/s/ _ ______________________   /s/ ________________________________ 

CLERK OF COUNCIL    PRESIDENT 

The above and foregoing resolution having been submitted to and approved by the Mayor 

this the 5th day of September 2023. 

 

/s/______________________    /s/________________ ______________ 

CITY CLERK     MAYOR 

- 309 -

Item # 11.



 

 

EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF INDENTURE OF TRUST 

 

- 310 -

Item # 11.



 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

FORM OF CITY BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

 

- 311 -

Item # 11.



 

 

EXHIBIT C 

 

FORM OF BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

- 312 -

Item # 11.



 

 

EXHIBIT D 

 

 

 

FORM OF PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

- 313 -

Item # 11.



 

2 

 

EXHIBIT E 

 

FORM OF PRIVATE PLACEMENT AGREEMENT 

 

 

 
 

81528714.v3 

- 314 -

Item # 11.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Todd Jordan, Mayor 

DATE August 30, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF APPOINTMENT OF BRAD ROBINSON AS TUPELO 

FIRE CHIEF TJ 
  

 

Request:  

For your confirmation. 

 

- 315 -

Item # 12.



 
PRESS RELEASE 
Contact Information: 
Scott Costello, Communications Director 
City of Tupelo 
(662) 687-2361 
Scott.Costello@tupeloms.gov 
 

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE (August 30, 2023): 
 

BRAD ROBINSON PROMOTED TO TUPELO FIRE CHIEF 

TUPELO, Mississippi—Brad Robinson, a 24-year veteran of the Tupelo Fire Department, has been selected by 
Mayor Todd Jordan to be the next Fire Chief, pending approval by the Tupelo City Council. Robinson’s 
appointment will be discussed and voted on during the City Council’s Sept. 5 meeting. 

“As I said when we promoted him to interim chief, we are excited to have Brad Robinson lead the Tupelo Fire 
Department,” Mayor Jordan said. “Brad is well-qualified for the job, knows the Tupelo Fire Department inside 
and out and will do a great job.” 

Robinson, who formerly served as Deputy Chief of Operations, has served the past two months as interim chief 
of the department. He replaces Kelly Elliott, who left in late June to take over as Executive Director of the 
Mississippi State Fire Academy.  

“I am very excited for this opportunity,” Robinson said. “It’s an incredible honor to be chosen to lead this 
department, where I’ve spent the last 24 years. I am looking forward to the challenges and opportunities that are 
ahead.”  

Robinson has more than 23 years of experience with the Tupelo Fire Department. He joined the Tupelo Fire 
Department in 1999 and moved up the ranks during his tenure. He was promoted to Captain in 2008 and had 
served as Deputy Chief of Operations since October 2022.  

Robinson assists the Incident Management Team for the Mississippi Task Force as rescue team manager and is 
also team leader for the Tupelo Fire Department’s water rescue team. 

A graduate of South Pontotoc High School, he is married to Morgan Robinson and has three children. 

 

 

### 

 
- 316 -

Item # 12.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Todd Jordan, Mayor 

DATE August 24, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF APPOINTMENT OF HAROLD WILSON AS 

CHAIRMAN TO THE COMMUNITY OUTREACH TASK FORCE TJ 
  

 

Request:  

Please review and confirm the appointment of Harold Wilson as Chairman to the Community 

Outreach Task Force. 

 

- 317 -

Item # 13.



- 318 -

Item # 13.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Tanner Newman, Director of Development Services 

DATE September 5, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF REVIEW/APPROVE PROPERTIES FOR LOT 

MOWING TN 
  

 

Request:  

Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. 1972, §21-19-11, review and approve final lot mowing list.  

 

 

- 319 -

Item # 14.



Preliminary Lot Mowing Report for 09/05/2023 
 

 Violation Ref Parcel Location Owner Owner Address Owner City State Zip Inspector 

1.  44786 105H1509800 3319 ROBERT 
KENNEDY DR 

MOORE TONY A 
SR & BERNICE 

109  BELWOOD COVE BELDEN, MS 38826 RS 

2.   44788 077M3605900 1104 
CHAPMAN DR 

MALDONADO 
JOSE & JESSICA 
CRUZ 

1105 LAWNDALE STREET TUPELO, MS 38801 TP 

3.   44793 105H1501200 3492 ROBERT 
KENNEDY DR 

MOORE CHARLES 
C & SHADE' P 

3404 SHONDA CIR TUPELO, MS 38801 RS 

4.   44795 105H1500900 3321 BEASLEY 
DR 

TUCKER JAMES L 
& ELNOIS R (LE) 

271 COUNTY ROAD 1467 PLANTERSVILLE, MS 38862 RS 

5.   44797 105H1505500 3302 MEADOW 
DR 

DUKES ELIJAH & 
RENEE 

P O BOX 162 NEW ALBANY, MS 38652 RS 

6.   44798 105H1503100 3333 MEADOW 
DR 

SAMUELS LLC 4924 HARVEST PARK DRIVE MEMPHIS, TN 38125 RS 

7.   44800 105H1503000 3317 MEADOW 
DR 

WILLIAMS CARRIE 
H & JOHNNY L 

3317 MEADOW DR TUPELO, MS 38801 RS 

8.   44803 082J0902500 2413 BARNES 
CROSSING RD 

BLAGG STEVEN 
JEFFREY & 
APHILAK 

2413 BARNES CROSSING SALTILLO, MS 38866 RS 

9.   44804 088A2800700 1792 ELVIS 
PRESLEY DR 

HERNANDEZ 
CYNTHIA & 
FERNANDO 

929 BEECH AVE CHULA VISTA, CA 91911 RS 

10.   44805 088A2801200 1722 ELVIS 
PRESLEY DR 

COBALT LLC 1685 DUNWOODY DR TUPELO, MS 38801 RS 

11.   44806 088B2800200 1477 ELVIS 
PRESLEY DR 

SMITH RACHEL 251 KESWICK C DEERFIELD BEACH, FL 33442 RS 

12.   44810 112C0303900 889 S 
FEEMSTER LAKE 
RD 

MCDANIEL 
JOHNATHON D & 
KALIE MARIE 

889 S FEEMSTER LAKE RD TUPELO, MS 38804 DS 

- 320 -

Item # 14.



Preliminary Lot Mowing Report for 09/05/2023 
 

 Violation Ref Parcel Location Owner Owner Address Owner City State Zip Inspector 

13.  44812 101B0213200 414 LAKEVIEW 
DR 

TTLBL LLC 4747 EXECUTIVE DR STE 510 SAN DIEGO, CA 92121 TP 

14.   44816 077P3506700 107 LAKEVIEW 
DR 

GDA 
INVESTMENTS 
LLC 

P O BOX 87 RED BANKS, MS 38661 TP 

15.   44834 077D2515700 1208 EUGENE 
ST 

SUNSHINE STATE 
CERTIFICATES VII 
LLLP 

7900 MIAMI LAKES DR WEST MIAMI, FL 33016 TP 

16.   44849 088N3309100 1022 E MAIN ST KITTY'S HOUSE 
OF CARPET LLC 

1291 E MAIN ST TUPELO, MS 38804 RS 

17.   44863 101B0212100 508 AUGUSTA 
ST 

GRAB THE MAP 
LLC 

3195 MCCULLOUGH BLVD BELDEN, MS 38826 TP 

18.   44864 077L3606900 1910 NELLE ST BMO PROPERTIES 
LLC 

114 ROBINS ST. TUPELO, MS 38804 SB 

19.   44865 101H0123900 100 ANDREW 
CIR 

MORAES ELOI 
DOS SANTOS 

112 CR 503 GUNTOWN, MS 38849 SB 

20.   44869 077P3518700 2308 TORREY JENKINS TOMMY 
& KAREN 

2308 TORREY ST TUPELO, MS 38801 TP 

21.   44883 077C2501600 1507 TRACE 
AVE 

WEBB DEAN & 
HANKINS 
JENNIFER 

1104 COUNTY ROAD 811 SALTILLO, MS 38866 TP 

22.   44886 101R1214800 2009 
MODEANNIA ST 

HILL JAMES P 360 BOWEN FALLS GROVETON, GA 30813 SB 

23.   44887 083U0702800 1414 BEECH 
SPRINGS RD 

ARCHUSA 
PROPERTIES INC 

1100 CLAYTON AVE TUPELO, MS 38801 DS 

24.   44894 101M1206800 2011 
PRESIDENT AVE 

DOWDEN KASHIA 2011 PRESDIENT AVE TUPELO, MS 38801 SB 

- 321 -

Item # 14.



Preliminary Lot Mowing Report for 09/05/2023 
 

 Violation Ref Parcel Location Owner Owner Address Owner City State Zip Inspector 

25.  44895 089K3108200 443 N SPRING 
ST 

GRAB THE MAP 
LLC 

3195 MCCULLOUGH BLVD BELDEN, MS 38826 DS 

26.   44910 089K3105300 465 N 
BROADWAY ST 

JM HARRISON 
PROPERTIES LLC 

4098 LINCOLN CIRCLE TUPELO, MS 38801 TP 

27.   44913 078D2703300 1526 GUN CLUB 
RD 

HIGDON CALEB 1526 GUN CLUB ROAD TUPELO, MS 38801 TP 

28.   44914 078D2709900 1407 GUN CLUB 
RD 

GORDON 
STEPHEN B & 
DELOUCHE 

6768-A LEE HIGHWAY ARLINGTON, VA 22205 TP 

29.   44915 075R2214100 3428 FOREST 
HILL DR 

CHASE DAVID E 3428 FORREST HILL DR BELDEN, MS 38826 TP 

30.   44916 075S1600200 4903 ENDVILLE 
RD 

PREVAIL 
PROPERTIES LLC 

1401 FRANCIS SQUARE TUPELO, MS 38804 TP 

31.   44934 088T2706800 508 N 
HILLSDALE DR 

BOND ESTHER 508 N HILLSDALE TUPELO, MS 38804 TP 

32.          

33.          

34.          

35.          

36.          

 

- 322 -

Item # 14.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Tanner Newman, Director of Development Services  

DATE August 30, 2023  

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF REVIEW/APPROVE PROPERTIES FOR DEMOLITION TN 
  

 

Request: DRB 

The Department of Development Services requests Council approval to demolish 

substandard structures on the following properties:  

 

2607 Mount Vernon Road             076S-14-013-00 

 

5465-5546 West Main Street        103C-05-024-00 

(386 Hwy 6 West) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 323 -

Item # 15.



- 324 -

Item # 15.



- 325 -

Item # 15.



- 326 -

Item # 15.



- 327 -

Item # 15.



- 328 -

Item # 15.



- 329 -

Item # 15.



- 330 -

Item # 15.



- 331 -

Item # 15.



- 332 -

Item # 15.



- 333 -

Item # 15.



- 334 -

Item # 15.



- 335 -

Item # 15.



- 336 -

Item # 15.



- 337 -

Item # 15.



- 338 -

Item # 15.



- 339 -

Item # 15.



- 340 -

Item # 15.



- 341 -

Item # 15.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Tanner Newman, Director of Development Services 

DATE September 5, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF REZONING APPLICATION RZ22-03 TN 
  

 

Request:  

Rezoning of parcels fronting Barnes Crossing Rd West of the Natchez Trace and East of the 

intersection of Barnes Crossing Rd and I-22. 

 

 

- 342 -

Item # 16.



- 343 -

Item # 16.



- 344 -

Item # 16.



- 345 -

Item # 16.



- 346 -

Item # 16.



- 347 -

Item # 16.



- 348 -

Item # 16.



- 349 -

Item # 16.



- 350 -

Item # 16.



- 351 -

Item # 16.



- 352 -

Item # 16.



- 353 -

Item # 16.



- 354 -

Item # 16.



- 355 -

Item # 16.



- 356 -

Item # 16.



- 357 -

Item # 16.



- 358 -

Item # 16.



- 359 -

Item # 16.



- 360 -

Item # 16.



- 361 -

Item # 16.



- 362 -

Item # 16.



- 363 -

Item # 16.



- 364 -

Item # 16.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Tanner Newman, Director of Development Services 

DATE September 5, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF MDAH CLG GRANT FOR SPRING HILL BAPTIST 

CHURCH TN 
  

 

Request:  

Professional services contract with Belinda Stewart Architects for MDAH CLG Grant for Spring 

Hill Baptist Church.  

 

 

- 365 -

Item # 17.



- 366 -

Item # 17.



- 367 -

Item # 17.



- 368 -

Item # 17.



- 369 -

Item # 17.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Dennis Bonds, Interim Director of Development Services  

DATE August 30, 2023  

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF REVIEW/APPROVE LIENS FOR LOT MOWING DRB 
  

 

Request: DRB 

Adjudicating cost and assessing lien against real property under Miss. Code Ann. 1972, § 

21-19-11 located at:  

 

Address                                           Parcel Number 

  920 Blair Street                                   089J-31-183-00 

  1400 Central                                        077Q-36-081-00 

  811 North Madison                          089E-30-183-00 

  532 West Barnes Street                 089F-30-025-00 

  527 West Barnes Street                  089F-30-054-00 

  123 South Industrial                         089N-31-006-01 

 

These properties were mowed by Public Works on 8/21/23 

           
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 370 -

Item # 18.



- 371 -

Item # 18.



- 372 -

Item # 18.



- 373 -

Item # 18.



- 374 -

Item # 18.



- 375 -

Item # 18.



- 376 -

Item # 18.



- 377 -

Item # 18.



- 378 -

Item # 18.



- 379 -

Item # 18.



- 380 -

Item # 18.



- 381 -

Item # 18.



- 382 -

Item # 18.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: John Quaka, Chief of Police 

DATE August 14, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF APPROVING AND ADDING NMNU SEIZED 

VEHICLE TO ASSET LIST. JQ 
  

 

Request: Please add the following seized vehicle to the NMNU asset list: 2009 maroon GMC 

Yukon SUV; vin #1GKFC330X9J101251. 

 

 

- 383 -

Item # 19.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Quaka, John, Chief of Police 

DATE August 21, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF APPROVING NMNU SGT. DANIEL SHEPHERD TO 

BE ADDED TO THE PAYEE LIST FOR PIPE CHECKS. JQ 
  

 

Request: Please add NMNU Sgt. Daniel Shepherd to the payee list for all NMNU pipe checks 

issued.  Each pipe fund check should be made out to “Beth Smith or Daniel Shepherd.”  

 

 

- 384 -

Item # 20.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: John Quaka, Chief 

DATE August 28, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF MOU BETWEEN TPD AND US SECRET SERVICE JQ 
  

 

Request:  

 Please accept this letter of request for Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the 

Tupelo Police Department and The United States Secret Service. 

 

- 385 -

Item # 21.



- 386 -

Item # 21.



- 387 -

Item # 21.



- 388 -

Item # 21.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Chuck Williams, Director – Public Works 

DATE August 28, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF BID APPROVAL 12 MOS MATERIALS AND 

DELIVERY BID NO. 2023-039PW CW 
  

 

Request:  

Request to approve the 12 Mos Materials and Delivery Bid No. 2023-039PW 

 

5 Bidders Responded  

 

We recommend the following as the Primary Vendor for lowest and best bid – 

 

Hodges Construction 

300lb Rip Rap 31.50 

100lb Rip Rap 31.50 

Surge 8in 29.00 

Gabion 6in 31.50 * No Alternate 

Manufactured Sand 28.50 

Fill Sand 7.50 

Red Dirt 7.50 * No Alternate 

Spoiled Dirt 5.00 

 

CrossWay Trucking  

#1 Stone 3in Rock 28.70 

Crusher Run 26.45 

 

- 389 -

Item # 22.



 

Tim May  

Clay Gravel 18.00 * No Alternate 

 

**All bid prices quoted are as is and no fuel surcharge is to be added to be considered the 

primary vendor.  

 

We recommend the following as alternate vendors for lowest and/or best bid as 

appropriately needed –  

 

Hodges Construction 

Alternate - #1 Stone 3inch Rock 29.00 

Alternate – Crusher Run 26.90 

 

CrossWay Trucking 

Alternate – Surge 8 in 30.20 

Alternate – 300lb Rip Rap 33.20 

Alternate – 100lb Rip Rap 33.20 

 

Tim May – May Farms 

Alternate – Manufactured Sand 30.00 

Alternate – Fill Sand 8.00 

Alternate – Spoiled Dirt 7.00 

 

**All bid prices quoted are as is and no fuel surcharge is to be added to be considered the 

primary vendor.  

 

- 390 -

Item # 22.



- 391 -

Item # 22.



- 392 -

Item # 22.



- 393 -

Item # 22.



- 394 -

Item # 22.



- 395 -

Item # 22.



- 396 -

Item # 22.



- 397 -

Item # 22.



- 398 -

Item # 22.



- 399 -

Item # 22.



- 400 -

Item # 22.



- 401 -

Item # 22.



- 402 -

Item # 22.



- 403 -

Item # 22.



- 404 -

Item # 22.



- 405 -

Item # 22.



- 406 -

Item # 22.



- 407 -

Item # 22.



- 408 -

Item # 22.



- 409 -

Item # 22.



- 410 -

Item # 22.



- 411 -

Item # 22.



- 412 -

Item # 22.



- 413 -

Item # 22.



- 414 -

Item # 22.



- 415 -

Item # 22.



- 416 -

Item # 22.



- 417 -

Item # 22.



- 418 -

Item # 22.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

  

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Chuck Williams, Director – Public Works 

DATE August 30, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF BID APPROVAL FOR THE ENDVILLE ROAD 

WIDENING/SAFETY IMPROVMENTS PROJECT - BID NO. 2023-022PW - 

CW 
  

 

Request:  

Request for Bid Approval for the Endville Road Widening/Safety Improvements Project - 

Bid No. 2023-022PW Project 

 

Three bidders responded.  

We propose the project be awarded to the lowest and best bidder –  

 

Hodges Construction $1,202,489.20 

 

The other bid tabulations are as follows – 

 

Townes Construction   $1,366,418.00 

Cook and Sons   $1,501,741.50 

 

Request city council to approve and award bid to the lowest and best bidder, Hodges 

Construction, in the amount of $1,202,489.20 and to authorize after legal review the mayor and 

city clerk to execute the contract documents subject to subsequent ratification.    

 

 

- 419 -

Item # 23.



- 420 -

Item # 23.



- 421 -

Item # 23.



 
 
 

 
 

 

@dabbscorp   
 OFFICE 662.840.4162 1005 N. Eason Boulevard 

  MOBILE 601.927.4012 Tupelo, MS 38804 

 

 
August 31, 2023 

 
 

Mr. Chuck Williams 
Director, Public Works Dept. 
604 Crossover Road 
Tupelo, Mississippi 38801 
 
 
REFERENCE:  RECOMMENDATION OF AWARD OF CONTRACT  
   ENDVILLE ROAD SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS 
   BID NO. 2023-022PW 
      
Dear Mr. Williams: 
 
I am pleased to submit to you, along with the Mayor and City Council, our conclusions and recommendations regarding 
the award of the construction contract for the referenced project.  Bids were opened at Tupelo City Hall on Wednesday, 
August 30, 2023 at 10:00 AM local time.   
 
This project includes the widening of Endville Road, installation of curb & gutter and related drainage improvements 
on Endville Road between Countrywood Road and Walsh Road to facilitate safety improvements along this corridor.  
As represented on the attached tabulation of bids, three bids were received for this project that ranged from 
$1,202,489.20 - $1,501,741.50 .  The low bid was from James A. Hodges Construction, Inc.  The bid was reviewed based 
on the bidding criteria established for the Project and it appears that the proper proposal documentation was 
submitted as required by the Contract Documents.   
 
Thus, it is our recommendation that the City Council award this contract in the amount of $1,202,489.20 to James A. 
Hodges Construction, Inc. for the referenced project and authorize the Mayor to execute the contract per the 
conditions set forth in the Contact Documents.  We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to you and to be 
involved with this project.   Please let us know should have any questions or require additional information. 
 
Sincerely, 
DABBS CORPORATION       

      

Dustin D. Dabbs, PE       
President         

 
C: Mr. Don Lewis, COO, City of Tupelo 
 Ms. Kim Hanna, CFO, City of Tupelo 
 Mr. Ben Logan, City Attorney, City of Tupelo 
 Mr. Dennis Bonds, PE, City Engineer, City of Tupelo 
   

  
Attachment: Bid Tabulation 

- 422 -

Item # 23.



- 423 -

Item # 23.



Date: 8/30/2023

Time: 10:00

Bid # 2023-022PW Department: PW

Project:

Attandance Company

Minute Entry Sign Up Sheet

Endville Road Widening/Safety Improvements

- 424 -

Item # 23.



BID # 2023-022PW Endville Road Widening/Safety Improvements

Name CR BID BOND Signed ADD Bid Amount Non-Collusion

Hodges Construction 12510-MC Gray President 1,202,489.20$                    

Towns Construction 07443-MC Granite President 1,366,418.00$                    

Cook & Son 22593-MC Gray Owner 1,501,741.50$                    

- 425 -

Item # 23.



BID # 2023-022PW Endville Road Widening/Safety Improvements

HODGES

300 LBS RIP RAP 31.50$                  

100 LBS RIP RAP 31.50$                  

SURGE 8 inch 29.00$                  

GABION 6 inch 31.50$                  

#1 STONE 3 inch ROCK 2,926.90$             

CRUSHER RUN 28.50$                  

MANUFACTURED SAND N/A

CLAY GRAVEL 7.50$                     

FILL SAND 7.50$                     

RED DIRT 5.00$                     

- 426 -

Item # 23.



- 427 -

Item # 23.



BASE BID

1 MOBILIZATION LS 1 $124,000.00 124,000.00$ $66,500.00 66,500.00$   $201,511.50 201,511.50$ 

2 CLEARING & GRUBBING LS 1 $16,000.00 16,000.00$   $66,500.00 66,500.00$   $35,000.00 35,000.00$   

3 SAW-CUTTING LF 160 $11.03 1,764.80$     $15.00 2,400.00$     $10.00 1,600.00$     

4 REMOVAL OF ASPHALT PAVEMENT SY 670 $7.25 4,857.50$     $20.00 13,400.00$   $10.00 6,700.00$     

5 REMOVAL OF ASPHASLT DRIVEWAY PAVEMENT SY 280 $7.25 2,030.00$     $20.00 5,600.00$     $10.00 2,800.00$     

6 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER LF 60 $15.00 900.00$        $25.00 1,500.00$     $30.00 1,800.00$     

7 REMOVAL OF EXISTING 12" HDPE LF 22 $19.50 429.00$        $25.00 550.00$        $20.00 440.00$        

8 REMOVAL OF EXISTING 12" CMP LF 40 $19.50 780.00$        $25.00 1,000.00$     $20.00 800.00$        

9 REMOVAL OF EXISTING 15" HDPE LF 25 $19.50 487.50$        $25.00 625.00$        $20.00 500.00$        

10 REMOVAL OF EXISTING 15"CMP LF 42 $19.50 819.00$        $25.00 1,050.00$     $20.00 840.00$        

11 REMOVAL OF EXISTING 15" RCP LF 40 $19.50 780.00$        $25.00 1,000.00$     $25.00 1,000.00$     

12 REMOVAL OF EXISTING 18" HDPE LF 20 $19.50 390.00$        $25.00 500.00$        $20.00 400.00$        

13 REMOVAL OF EXISTING 24" HDPE LF 30 $19.50 585.00$        $25.00 750.00$        $20.00 600.00$        

14 REMOVAL OF BRICK/MASONRY MAILBOX EA 2 $500.00 1,000.00$     $500.00 1,000.00$     $1,500.00 3,000.00$     

15 REMOVAL/REINSTALL EXISTING MAILBOX EA 5 $500.00 2,500.00$     $400.00 2,000.00$     $750.00 3,750.00$     

16 REMOVAL/REINSTALL FIRE HYDRANT ASSEMBLY EA 2 $2,250.00 4,500.00$     $3,000.00 6,000.00$     $7,500.00 15,000.00$   

17 REMOVE/REINSTALL STREET SIGNS EA 8 $200.00 1,600.00$     $250.00 2,000.00$     $350.00 2,800.00$     

18 REMOVE/REINSTALL EXISTING WIRE FENCE & POSTS LF 1050 $6.43 6,751.50$     $12.00 12,600.00$   $12.00 12,600.00$   

19 15" HDPE DRAIN PIPE LF 3045 $28.45 86,630.25$   $32.00 97,440.00$   $35.00 106,575.00$ 

20 15" HDPE DRAIN PIPE 90 DEGREE BEND FITTING EA 1 $433.19 433.19$        $320.00 320.00$        $450.00 450.00$        

21 15" RCP DRAIN PIPE LF 195 $42.05 8,199.75$     $52.00 10,140.00$   $46.00 8,970.00$     

22 15" RCP FLARED END SECTION EA 18 $542.18 9,759.24$     $858.00 15,444.00$   $1,000.00 18,000.00$   

23 18" X 11" RCAP DRAIN PIPE LF 24 $60.04 1,440.96$     $72.00 1,728.00$     $60.00 1,440.00$     

24 18" HDPE DRAIN PIPE LF 210 $32.48 6,820.80$     $36.00 7,560.00$     $40.00 8,400.00$     

25 18" HDPE DRAIN PIPE 90 DEGREE BEND FITTING EA 1 $565.30 565.30$        $439.00 439.00$        $750.00 750.00$        

26 18" RCP DRAIN PIPE LF 115 $52.30 6,014.50$     $55.00 6,325.00$     $55.00 6,325.00$     

27 18" RCP FLARED END SECTION EA 1 $641.40 641.40$        $924.00 924.00$        $1,500.00 1,500.00$     

28 24" HDPE DRAIN PIPE LF 38 $49.24 1,871.12$     $46.00 1,748.00$     $55.00 2,090.00$     

29 24" HDPE FLARED END SECTION EA 3 $563.13 1,689.39$     $676.00 2,028.00$     $1,000.00 3,000.00$     

30 CONCRETE, FLOWABLE FILL (EXISTING 18" CMP) CY 9 $294.25 2,648.25$     $450.00 4,050.00$     $350.00 3,150.00$     

31 CONCRETE, CLASS B (PIPE CONNECTIONS) CY 10 $744.25 7,442.50$     $1,000.00 10,000.00$   $2,500.00 25,000.00$   

32 CONCRETE DRAINAGE STRUCTURES CY 5 $1,486.25 7,431.25$     $1,200.00 6,000.00$     $2,500.00 12,500.00$   

33 REINFORCED CONCRETE JUCTION BOX EA 4 $1,500.00 6,000.00$     $3,500.00 14,000.00$   $2,500.00 10,000.00$   

34 REINFORCED CONCRETE GRATE INLET EA 5 $2,000.00 10,000.00$   $3,000.00 15,000.00$   $3,000.00 15,000.00$   

35 REINFORCED CONCRETE CURB INLET EA 15 $2,500.00 37,500.00$   $3,500.00 52,500.00$   $3,000.00 45,000.00$   

36 REINFORCED CONCRETE CURB INLET W/EXTENSION EA 10 $2,500.00 25,000.00$   $4,700.00 47,000.00$   $3,000.00 30,000.00$   

37 REINFORCED CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER LF 4560 $23.75 108,300.00$ $26.45 120,612.00$ $32.50 148,200.00$ 

38 COLD MILLING OF ASPHALT PAVEMENT SY 400 $7.25 2,900.00$     $50.00 20,000.00$   $13.00 5,200.00$     

39 ASPHALT SURFACE COURSE, 9.5 MM MIX TONS 1500 $170.25 255,375.00$ $184.00 276,000.00$ $175.00 262,500.00$ 

40 ASPHALT BASE COURSE, 19 MM MIX TONS 1000 $190.80 190,800.00$ $162.00 162,000.00$ $190.00 190,000.00$ 

Prepared By:

SHEET 1 OF 2
CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI

BID TABULATION - BID NO. 2023-022PW

ITEM                   
NO. DESCRIPTION UNIT

UNIT                                          
COST

UNIT                                          
COST

BID DATE: 08/30/2023

TOTAL                                           
COST

TOTAL                                           
COST

HODGES    CONSTRUCTION

QNTY.

ENDVILLE ROAD SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS

COOK AND SONS   
CONSTRUCTION

TOWNES                   
CONSTRUCTION

UNIT                                          
COST

TOTAL                                           
COST

- 428 -

Item # 23.



BASE BID

41 CRUSHED STONE SUB-BASE MATERIAL TONS 2450 $35.83 87,783.50$   $46.00 112,700.00$ $46.00 112,700.00$ 

42 EXCESS EXCAVATION CY 500 $11.50 5,750.00$     $20.00 10,000.00$   $15.00 7,500.00$     

43 BORROW EXCAVATION CY 900 $14.00 12,600.00$   $30.00 27,000.00$   $18.00 16,200.00$   

44 UNCLASSIFIED EXCAVATION CY 1650 $9.00 14,850.00$   $9.00 14,850.00$   $12.00 19,800.00$   

45 BRICK/MASONRY MAILBOX (MATCH EXISTING) EA 2 $3,825.00 7,650.00$     $1,200.00 2,400.00$     $5,000.00 10,000.00$   

46 SILT FENCE LF 4500 $3.00 13,500.00$   $4.00 18,000.00$   $5.00 22,500.00$   

47 WADDLES EA 100 $6.00 600.00$        $6.00 600.00$        $100.00 10,000.00$   

48 THERMOPLASTIC LEGEND, WHITE, SYMBOL SF 200 $12.60 2,520.00$     $13.20 2,640.00$     $12.00 2,400.00$     

49 THERMOPLASTIC LEGEND, WHITE, 24" STOP BAR LF 40 $10.50 420.00$        $11.00 440.00$        $10.00 400.00$        

50 THERMOPLASTIC DETAIL STRIPE, CONT. WHITE LF 1200 $3.15 3,780.00$     $3.30 3,960.00$     $3.00 3,600.00$     

51 6" THERMOPLASTIC TRAFFIC STRIPE, CONT. WHITE LF 4500 $1.58 7,110.00$     $1.65 7,425.00$     $1.50 6,750.00$     

52 6" THERMOPLASTIC TRAFFIC STRIPE, CONT. YELLOW LF 4350 $1.58 6,873.00$     $1.65 7,177.50$     $1.50 6,525.00$     

53 6" THERMOPLASTIC TRAFFIC STRIPE, SKIP YELLOW LF 2500 $1.05 2,625.00$     $1.10 2,750.00$     $1.00 2,500.00$     

54 4" PAINT TEMPORARY TRAFFIC STRIPE, CONT. WHITE LF 4500 $0.53 2,385.00$     $0.55 2,475.00$     $0.50 2,250.00$     

55 4" PAINT TEMPORARY TRAFFIC STRIPE, CONT.ELLOW LF 4350 $0.53 2,305.50$     $0.55 2,392.50$     $0.50 2,175.00$     

56 4" PAINT TEMPORARY TRAFFIC STRIPE, SKIP YELLOW LF 2500 $0.53 1,325.00$     $0.55 1,375.00$     $0.50 1,250.00$     

57 SOLID SODDING SY 5600 $5.00 28,000.00$   $5.00 28,000.00$   $5.00 28,000.00$   

58 GRASSING/SEEDING/FERTILIZER AC 2 $2,387.50 4,775.00$     $3,000.00 6,000.00$     $3,500.00 7,000.00$     

59 UTILITY RELOCATION LS 1 $10,000.00 10,000.00$   $10,000.00 10,000.00$   $10,000.00 10,000.00$   

60 TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL / BARRIERS LS 1 $40,000.00 40,000.00$   $50,000.00 50,000.00$   $35,000.00 35,000.00$   
-             

GRAND TOTAL

Prepared By:

HODGES    CONSTRUCTION
TOWNES                   

CONSTRUCTION
COOK AND SONS   
CONSTRUCTION

BID TABULATION - BID NO. 2023-022PW
ENDVILLE ROAD SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS SHEET 2 OF 2
CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI
BID DATE: 08/30/2023

1,202,489.20$ 1,366,418.00$ 1,501,741.50$ 

ITEM                   
NO. DESCRIPTION UNIT QNTY.

UNIT                                          
COST

TOTAL                                           
COST

UNIT                                          
COST

TOTAL                                           
COST

UNIT                                          
COST

TOTAL                                           
COST

- 429 -

Item # 23.



- 430 -

Item # 23.



- 431 -

Item # 23.



- 432 -

Item # 23.



- 433 -

Item # 23.



- 434 -

Item # 23.



- 435 -

Item # 23.



- 436 -

Item # 23.



- 437 -

Item # 23.



- 438 -

Item # 23.



- 439 -

Item # 23.



- 440 -

Item # 23.



- 441 -

Item # 23.



- 442 -

Item # 23.



- 443 -

Item # 23.



- 444 -

Item # 23.



- 445 -

Item # 23.



- 446 -

Item # 23.



- 447 -

Item # 23.



- 448 -

Item # 23.



- 449 -

Item # 23.



- 450 -

Item # 23.



- 451 -

Item # 23.



- 452 -

Item # 23.



- 453 -

Item # 23.



- 454 -

Item # 23.



- 455 -

Item # 23.



- 456 -

Item # 23.



- 457 -

Item # 23.



- 458 -

Item # 23.



- 459 -

Item # 23.



- 460 -

Item # 23.



- 461 -

Item # 23.



- 462 -

Item # 23.



- 463 -

Item # 23.



- 464 -

Item # 23.



- 465 -

Item # 23.



- 466 -

Item # 23.



- 467 -

Item # 23.



- 468 -

Item # 23.



- 469 -

Item # 23.



- 470 -

Item # 23.



- 471 -

Item # 23.



- 472 -

Item # 23.



- 473 -

Item # 23.



- 474 -

Item # 23.



- 475 -

Item # 23.



- 476 -

Item # 23.



- 477 -

Item # 23.



- 478 -

Item # 23.



- 479 -

Item # 23.



- 480 -

Item # 23.



- 481 -

Item # 23.



- 482 -

Item # 23.



- 483 -

Item # 23.



- 484 -

Item # 23.



- 485 -

Item # 23.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Chuck Williams, Director – Public Works 

DATE August 28, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF CONTRACT APPROVAL FOR CITY PARK 

DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS ARPA 2023-028PW - CW 
  

 

Request:  

Request to approve the contract with James A. Hodges Construction for City Park Drainage 

Improvements – Bid No. 2023-028PW in the amount of $317,693.75 and authorize the mayor 

and city clerk to sign on behalf of the city.  

 

- 486 -

Item # 24.



- 487 -

Item # 24.



- 488 -

Item # 24.



- 489 -

Item # 24.



- 490 -

Item # 24.



- 491 -

Item # 24.



- 492 -

Item # 24.



- 493 -

Item # 24.



- 494 -

Item # 24.



- 495 -

Item # 24.



- 496 -

Item # 24.



- 497 -

Item # 24.



- 498 -

Item # 24.



- 499 -

Item # 24.



- 500 -

Item # 24.



- 501 -

Item # 24.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Chuck Williams, Director – Public Works 

DATE August 28, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF CONTRACT APPROVAL FOR VAN BUREN 

DRAINAGE IMPROVMENTS ARPA 2023-032PW - CW 
  

 

Request:  

Request to approve the contractor with Townes Construction for Van Buren Drainage 

Improvements – Bid No. 2023-032PW in the amount of $373,513.00 and authorize the mayor 

and city clerk to sign on behalf of the city.  

 

- 502 -

Item # 25.



- 503 -

Item # 25.



- 504 -

Item # 25.



- 505 -

Item # 25.



- 506 -

Item # 25.



- 507 -

Item # 25.



- 508 -

Item # 25.



- 509 -

Item # 25.



- 510 -

Item # 25.



- 511 -

Item # 25.



- 512 -

Item # 25.



- 513 -

Item # 25.



- 514 -

Item # 25.



- 515 -

Item # 25.



- 516 -

Item # 25.



- 517 -

Item # 25.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Chuck Williams, Director – Public Works 

DATE August 28, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF CONTRACT APPROVAL FOR GUM TREE PARK 

DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS ARPA 2023-029PW - CW 
  

 

Request:  

Request to approve the contract with Townes Construction for City Park Drainage Improvements 

– Bid No. 2023-029PW in the amount of $413,736.00 and authorize the mayor and city clerk to 

sign on behalf of the city.  

 

- 518 -

Item # 26.



- 519 -

Item # 26.



- 520 -

Item # 26.



- 521 -

Item # 26.



- 522 -

Item # 26.



- 523 -

Item # 26.



- 524 -

Item # 26.



- 525 -

Item # 26.



- 526 -

Item # 26.



- 527 -

Item # 26.



- 528 -

Item # 26.



- 529 -

Item # 26.



- 530 -

Item # 26.



- 531 -

Item # 26.



- 532 -

Item # 26.



- 533 -

Item # 26.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Alex Farned 

DATE August 30, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF SURPLUS FIXED ASSET ITEMS FOR AUGUST 2023 

AF 
  

 

Request:  

We are asking the Mayor and City Council to please remove the following items of the fixed 

assets due these items being scraped.  They can’t be fixed or repaired. 

 

10 Station Life Trail System at Ballard Park – Scrap 

- 534 -

Item # 27.



- 535 -

Item # 27.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Kevan Kirkpatrick, Director Cadence Bank Arena  

DATE August 23, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF APPROVAL OF CADENCE BANK ARENA MINUTES 

OF JULY 17, 2023 KK 
  

 

Request:  

PLEASE REVIEW AND ACCEPT MINUTES OF JULY 17, 2023  

 

- 536 -

Item # 28.



- 537 -

Item # 28.



- 538 -

Item # 28.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Johnny Timmons, Manager TW&L 

DATE August 30, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF REQUEST TO REJECT BID # 2023-038WL (LED 

LUMINAIRES – 6 MONTH SUPPLY BID) JT  
  

 

Request:  

 

I recommend that you reject Bid No. 2023-038WL (LED Luminaires – 6 Month Supply Bid) at 

your regular meeting on Tuesday, September 5, 2023 for the following reasons: 

 

Items 1, 2, 3 and 4 – The prices provided by all vendors are above our budget figures for these 

items. 

 

These items will be not be rebid at this time. 

 

 

 
 

- 539 -

Item # 29.



TUPELO WATER & LIGHT DEPARTMENT
BID TABULATION - LED LUMINAIRES
BID NO. 2023-038WL  
AUGUST 18, 2023

Vendors

Arkansas Nesco Solarmax
Electric LED, Inc.

Item Product

LED Luminaires (6 Month Supply Bid)

1 8000 Lumens Multi-Volt 120/277 Type 5 No Bid $125.00 No Bid
Distribution 10kV/5kA Surge Protection 

Tool-Less Entry  

2 230 Watts 35150 Lumens Multi-Volt 120/277 Type 3 $278.00 $352.28 $272.00
Distribution 4000K 10kV Surge Protection

Color: Gray

3 270 Watts 31000 Lumens Multi-Volt 120/277 $521.00 $585.23 $353.00
4000K Yoke Mount 20kV/20kA Surge Protection

with Photo Control Receptacle and Adjustable
Output Unit, Color:  Bronze

4 270 Watts 31000 Lumens Multi-Vlt 120/277 $521.00 $585.23 $353.00
4000K Yoke Mount 20kV/20kA Surge Protection

with Photo Control Receptacle and Adjustable
Output Unit, Color:  Gray

- 540 -

Item # 29.



- 541 -

Item # 29.



Entered By__________

wayne.garner@aeci.com

Arkansas Electric Cooperative Inc.
Page     1

Quote: SQ20322  8/17/23

Customer Info: CITY OF TUPELO - 320 NORTH FRONT  TUPELO MS 38802

Notes:

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Item Number Customer Item# Qty Item Price Ext. Price
Item Description Est. Delivery UOM

1 LRL1SMV34KGY1P7N 1 278.00 278.00
HOWARD ROADWAY LIGHT EA
Note: ITEM #2

2 UFAMD74YB2R7NA 1 521.00 521.00
HOWARD FLOOD EA
Note: ITEM#3 ....ITEM # REPLACED BY UFB2MD74YB2R7NA

3 UFAMD74YG2R7NA 1 521.00 521.00
LED FLOOD 4K 270W EA
Note: ITEM#4 ITEM # REPLACED BY UFB2MD74YG2R7NA

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________Quote Total       

 For any questions about this quote, please contact your Sales Coordinator.

Standard Terms and Conditions apply to any sale of goods by Arkansas Electric Cooperatives, Inc.  Sales tax is NOT included.
You can find our Terms and Conditions at aecisales.com/terms. These terms shall be incorporated by reference into any order
or other agreement for sale and purchase of goods between AECI and our customers of any such goods.

Comments: Due to volatility with material and transportation cost, pricing is subject to change.

Lead time 25-30 Days

- 542 -

Item # 29.

wgarner
Highlight

wgarner
Highlight

wgarner
Highlight

wgarner
Highlight



- 543 -

Item # 29.



- 544 -

Item # 29.



- 545 -

Item # 29.



- 546 -

Item # 29.



- 547 -

Item # 29.



- 548 -

Item # 29.



- 549 -

Item # 29.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Johnny Timmons, Manager TW&L 

DATE August 30, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF BID AWARD 2023-037WL WATER MATERIALS (6 

MONTH SUPPLY BID) JT  
  

 

Request:  

 

I recommend the following bid award for consideration at your regular meeting on Tuesday, 

September 5, 2023: 

 

Bid No. 2023-037WL – Water Materials (6 Month Supply Bid) to the low qualified bids as 

indicated on the attached bid tabulation.   

 

 
 

- 550 -

Item # 30.



Vendors
Consolidated Southern 

ITEM Product Pipe Pipe
1 ¾ x 3 Repair Clamp       $7.06 $8.75
2 ¾ x 6 Repair Clamp       $13.19 $16.05
3 1 x 3 Repair Clamp          $7.72 $9.15
4 1 x 6 Repair Clamp $14.04 $17.24
5 1½ x 3 Repair Clamp $8.53 $33.96
6 1½ x 6 Repair Clamp $16.07 $66.91
7 1¼ x 3 Repair Clamp $7.72 $33.26
8 1¼ x 6 Repair Clamp $14.04 $66.12
9 2 x 3 Repair Clamp $9.32 $11.80
10 2 x 6 Repair Clamp $16.88 $21.35
11 2 x 12 Repair Clamp $34.33 $43.36
12 3 x 12 Emergency Clamp   $112.00 $111.00
13 4 x 12 Emergency Clamp   $121.00 $120.00
14 6 x 12 Emergency Clamp   $156.00 $161.00
15 6 x 18 Emergency Clamp   $196.00 $266.07
16 8 x 12 Emergency Clamp   $172.00 $192.15
17 8 x 18 Emergency Clamp   $245.00 $312.87
18 10 x 12 Emergency Clamp   $218.00 $246.35
19 10 x 18 Emergency Clamp   $303.00 $278.50
20 12 x 12 Emergency Clamp   $265.00 $385.27
21 12 x 18 Emergency Clamp   $355.00 $449.65
22 4" Tapping Valve - Less Acc $747.00 $905.00
23 6" Tapping Valve - Less Acc $953.00 $1,280.00
24 8" Tapping Valve - Less Acc $1,519.00 $1,905.00
25 10" Tapping Valve - Less Acc $2,371.00 $2,875.00
26 12" Tapping Valve - Less Acc $2,997.00 $4,345.00
27 6 x 4 Tapping Tee $554.00 $645.00
28 6 x 6 Tapping Tee $630.00 $645.00
29 8 x 4 Tapping Tee $580.00 $610.00
30 8 x 6 Tapping Tee $650.00 $683.00
31 8 x 8 Tapping Tee $747.00 $865.00
32 10 x 4 Tapping Tee $650.00 $668.00
33 10 x 6 Tapping Tee $705.00 $718.95
34 10 x 8 Tapping Tee $820.00 $873.00
35 10 x 10 Tapping Tee $1,309.00 $1,492.00
36 12 x 4 Tapping Tee $655.00 $744.00
37 12 x 6 Tapping Tee $750.00 $801.70
38 12 x 8 Tapping Tee $907.00 $937.25
39 12 x 10 Tapping Tee $1,455.00 $1,557.50
40 12 x 12 Tapping Tee $1,486.00 $1,695.00
41 2" Coupling $151.00 $131.00

TUPELO WATER & LIGHT DEPARTMENT
BID TABULATION - WATER MATERIALS (6 MONTH SUPPLY BID) 
BID NUMBER 2023-037WL
AUGUST 18, 2023

- 551 -

Item # 30.



Vendors
Consolidated Southern 

ITEM Product Pipe Pipe

TUPELO WATER & LIGHT DEPARTMENT
BID TABULATION - WATER MATERIALS (6 MONTH SUPPLY BID) 
BID NUMBER 2023-037WL
AUGUST 18, 2023

42 3" Coupling $200.00 $172.00
43 4" Coupling $250.00 $221.00
44 6" Coupling $338.00 $292.00
45 8" Coupling $381.00 $330.00
46 10" Coupling $491.00 $425.00
47 12" Coupling $579.00 $560.00
48 3" MJ x MJ Gate Valve - Less Acc $587.00 $630.00
49 4" MJ x MJ Gate Valve - Less Acc $656.00 $715.00
50 6" MJ x MJ Gate Valve - Less Acc $836.00 $915.00
51 8" MJ x MJ Gate Valve - Less Acc $1,333.00 $1,450.00
52 10" MJ x MJ Gate Valve - Less Acc $2,080.00 $2,265.00
53 12" MJ x MJ Gate Valve - Less Acc $2,629.00 $2,875.00
54 5.25 x 3' Bury Fire Hydrant $2,556.00 No Bid
55 5.25 x 3.5' Bury Fire Hydrant $2,618.00 No Bid
56 5.25 x 4' Bury Fire Hydrant $2,680.00 No Bid
57 5.25 x 4.5' Bury Fire Hydrant $2,742.00 No Bid
58 5.25 x 5' Bury Fire Hydrant $2,804.00 No Bid
59 5.25 x 5.5' Bury Fire Hydrant $2,867.00 No Bid
60 5¼" Fire Hydrant 1' Extension Kit $893.00 No Bid
61 5¼" Fire Hydrant 1'-6" Extension Kit $1,011.00 No Bid
62 5¼" Fire Hydrant 2'-6" Extension Kit $1,619.00 No Bid
63 5¼" Fire Hydrant 3'-6" Extension Kit $1,999.00 No Bid
64 5¼" Fire Hydrant 4' Extension Kit $2,208.00 No Bid
65 5¼" Fire Hydrant Flange Repair Kit $250.00 No Bid
66 5¼" Fire Hydrant Main Valve Repair Kit $690.00 No Bid
67 5¼" Fire Hydrant Bonnet Repair Kit $107.00 No Bid
68 ¾" Corp Stop $56.00 $38.40
69 ¾" Curb Stop $103.00 $46.70
70 ¾" Meter Connector $16.00 $11.40
71 ¾" Copper Union $32.00 $21.36
72 ¾" Male Coupling $27.00 $17.54
73 ¾" Female Coupling $28.00 $18.45
74 ¾" Quarter Bend Union $39.00 $27.61
75 1" Corp Stop $85.00 $57.89
76 1" Curb Stop $158.00 $83.26
77 1" Meter Connector $24.00 $17.54
78 1" Copper Union $35.00 $24.44
79 1" Male Coupling $31.00 $20.78
80 1" Female Coupling $40.00 $25.04
81 1" Quarter Bend Union $50.00 $35.46
82 1½" Curb Valve $287.00 $194.15- 552 -

Item # 30.



Vendors
Consolidated Southern 

ITEM Product Pipe Pipe

TUPELO WATER & LIGHT DEPARTMENT
BID TABULATION - WATER MATERIALS (6 MONTH SUPPLY BID) 
BID NUMBER 2023-037WL
AUGUST 18, 2023

83 1½" Male Coupling $84.00 $56.92
84 1½" Female Coupling $107.00 $72.81
85 1½" Copper Union $120.00 $81.80
86 1½" Quarter Bend Union $167.00 $113.91
87 2" Curb Valve $418.00 $282.81
88 2" Male Coupling $120.00 $82.94
89 2" Female Coupling $127.00 $86.69
90 2" Copper Union $161.00 $110.42
91 2" Quarter Bend Union $337.00 $230.45
92 1½" x ¾" IPS Service Saddle $22.05 No Bid
93 1½" x 1" IPS Service Saddle $22.05 No Bid
94 2" x ¾" IPS Service Saddle $22.14 $29.09
95 2" x ¾" PVC Service Saddle $22.14 $29.09
96 2" x 1" IPS Service Saddle $22.14 $29.09
97 2" x 1" PVC Service Saddle $22.14 $29.09
98 4" x ¾" PVC Service Saddle $28.81 $63.40
99 4" x 1" PVC Service Saddle $28.81 $63.40
100 4" x 1½" PVC Service Saddle $36.40 $70.15
101 4" x 2" PVC Service Saddle $37.28 $70.15
102 6" x ¾" DIPS Service Saddle $38.29 $42.27
103 6" x 1" DIPS Service Saddle $38.29 $42.27
104 6" x 1½" DIPS Service Saddle $47.21 $51.48
105 6" x 2" DIPS Service Saddle $47.21 $51.48
106 8" x ¾" DIPS Service Saddle $41.81 $44.26
107 8" x 1" DIPS Service Saddle $41.81 $44.26
108 8" x 1½" DIPS Service Saddle $52.15 $57.73
109 8" x 2" DIPS Service Saddle $52.15 $57.73
110 10" x 1½" DIPS Service Saddle $68.79 $60.01
111 10" x 2" DIPS Service Saddle $68.79 $60.01
112 12" x 1½" DIPS Service Saddle $80.84 $74.90
113 12" x 2" DIPS Service Saddle $82.47 $74.90

- 553 -

Item # 30.



- 554 -

Item # 30.



- 555 -

Item # 30.



- 556 -

Item # 30.



- 557 -

Item # 30.



- 558 -

Item # 30.



- 559 -

Item # 30.



- 560 -

Item # 30.



- 561 -

Item # 30.



- 562 -

Item # 30.



- 563 -

Item # 30.



- 564 -

Item # 30.



- 565 -

Item # 30.



- 566 -

Item # 30.



- 567 -

Item # 30.



- 568 -

Item # 30.



- 569 -

Item # 30.



- 570 -

Item # 30.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Johnny Timmons, Manager TW&L 

DATE August 30, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF APPROVAL OF CHANGE ORDER # 1 FOR THE HWY 

45 SEWER OUTFALL PROJECT (BID NO 2023-019WL) JT  
  

 

Request:  

Approval of the attached change order: 

 

Hwy 45 Sewer Outfall – Change Order # 1 – This change order shows a net increase of $78,175.00 

to reroute a gravity sewer line, which brings the revised contract amount to $1,446,937.00 and 

adds thirty (30) days to the substantial completion date. The new substantial completion date is 

November 17, 2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 571 -

Item # 31.



- 572 -

Item # 31.



- 573 -

Item # 31.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Kim Hanna, CFO/City Clerk 

DATE August 25, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF FINAL RESOLUTION FOR LEGGETT & PLATT 

#0341, #0908, AND #4201 KH 
  

 

Request:  

For your review and approval 

 

- 574 -

Item # 32.



FINAL RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF TUPELO, 

MISSISSIPPI, GRANTING EXEMPTION FROM AD VALOREM TAXES TO 

LEGGETT & PLATT COMPONENTS COMPANY, INC. #0341, 0908, & 4201 

 The City Council of the City of Tupelo, Mississippi, next took up for consideration the 

matter of granting tax exemption for ad valorem taxes to LEGGETT & PLATT 

COMPONENTS COMPANY, INC. #0341, 0908, & 4201 and the following Resolution, being 

first reduced to writing, was introduced. 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI, 

GRANTING EXEMPTION FROM AD VALOREM TAXES TO LEGGETT & PLATT 

COMPONENTS COMPANY, INC. #0341, 0908, & 4201 

WHEREAS, heretofore, Leggett & Platt Components Company, Inc. #0341, 0908, & 4201, a 

foreign corporation authorized to do business and doing business in the City of Tupelo, 

Mississippi, filed with the Council an application for exemption from ad valorem taxes, except 

State and School District ad valorem taxes for a period of ten (10) years as authorized by Section 

37-31-101, et seq., of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, which application was approved 

by the Council subject to the approval of the State Tax Commission of the State of Mississippi; 

and 

WHEREAS, on the ______ day of _____________, 2023, the State Tax Commission of the State 

of Mississippi approved the application, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A, B, & 

C”; and  

WHEREAS, a certified copy of the aforesaid Sate Tax Commission’s approval has been received 

by the Council and recorded in its minutes. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the City Council of Tupelo, Mississippi 

does hereby finally approve the application for ad valorem tax exemption, except State and School 

District ad valorem taxes for a period of ten (10) years beginning on the 1st day of January, 2024 

and ending the 31st day of December, 2033, with a combined total true value of $804,298.00. 

The foregoing Resolution granting ad valorem tax exemption, except State and School District ad 

valorem taxes to Leggett & Platt Components Company, Inc. #0341, 0908, & 4201, was made on 

motion by Council Member ____________________, Seconded by Council Member 

____________________ and was brought to a vote as follows: 

 

Councilmember Palmer voted _______________ 

Councilmember Bryan voted  _______________ 

Councilmember Beard voted  _______________ 

Councilmember Davis voted  _______________ 

Councilmember Mims voted  _______________ 

Councilmember Gaston voted _______________ 

- 575 -

Item # 32.



Councilmember Jones voted  _______________ 

 

 The motion having received the affirmative vote of a majority of the members present, the 

President declared the motion carried and the resolution adopted. 

  

 WHEREUPON, the foregoing Resolution was declared, passed and adopted at a regular 

meeting of the Council on this the _________ day of ___________________, 2023. 

 

 

      CITY OF TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI 

 

 

 

      By: ________________________________ 

           TRAVIS BEARD 

     City Council President 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

MISSY SHELTON, Clerk of the Council 

 

      APPROVED: 

   

      _____________________________________ 

      TODD JORDAN, Mayor 

 

_____________________________________ 

      DATE 
 

- 576 -

Item # 32.



  

 
OFFICE OF PROPERTY TAX 

EXEMPTIONS & PUBLIC UTILITIES BUREAU 
 

 

P. O. Box 1033                Jackson, MS  39215                      www.dor.ms.gov                      Phone: 601.923.7618                FAX:  601.923.7637 

August 16, 2023 
 

Ms. Missy Shelton, City Clerk Applicant: Leggett & Platt Components Co.  #0341 

Lee County – Tupelo Applicable Code Section: MCA §27-31-105 

P.O. Box 1485 Date of Completion: December 31, 2022 

Tupelo, Ms.  38802 Date Filed: March 15, 2023 
   

EXEMPTION CERTIFICATION - NOTICE OF ACTION 
 

☐ NO ACTION – The Department of Revenue has no authority to act on exemptions requested under the cited section of law. 
 

☐ INCOMPLETE DOCUMENTATION – We cannot process your request, as necessary documentation is missing.  Please provide:  
 

☐ Application for Exemption ☐ Preliminary Resolution Granting Exemption 

☐ Itemized Asset Listing ☐ MDA Approval Letter 

☐ Tax Assessor’s Position Statement ☐ Final Resolution Granting Exemption  
 

☐ REQUEST IS CERTIFIED AS INELIGIBLE – This request is ineligible under the cited section of law. 

 
 

☒ REQUEST IS CERTIFIED AS ELIGIBLE – In accordance with the authority conferred upon the Department of Revenue, we 

hereby certify that the application for exemption submitted on behalf of the above-referenced entity is compliant with the provisions 

of law and the property referenced therein is eligible for ad valorem tax exemption to the extent permitted by law. 
 

This certification applies exclusively to the property itemized in the original application for exemption, excluding any property 

found specifically ineligible by the Department.  Outlined below is the total true value of eligible assets per the application. The 

amount of exemption is limited to the actual assessed value of such assets as annually determined by the Tax Assessor and finally 

approved by the Board of Supervisors. 
 

TOTAL TRUE VALUE PER APPLICATION REQUESTED  APPROVED 

☐    Real Property    

☒    Personal Property   $73,364.00      $73,364.00 

☐    Raw Materials $100,118.00    $100,118.00 

☐    Work-in-Progress    

 TOTAL   $173,482.00    $173,482.00 
     

☐    Ineligible Property(* see below)    

     

   

 

Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. Section 27-31-109, if the governing authorities grant the exemption certified above, they must place 

a final order on their minutes declaring this property exempt and documenting the dates when this exemption commences and 

expires.  
 

If the governing authorities issue a final order declaring this property exempt, the clerk must record the application and the order 

approving the exemption.  Finally, the clerk must send a copy of the final order to the Mississippi Department of Revenue. 
 

Should you have any questions concerning this matter, please feel free to contact us. 
 

Debra McDonald, Revenue Specialist     Paul J. Foreman, Director 

Exemptions & Public Utilities Bureau      Exemptions & Public Utilities Bureau 

(P) 601.923.7634        (P) 601.923.7632 

 

 

Save postage and get electronic verification that we have received your exemption filings by submitting any industrial exemption 

requests or correspondence electronically via email to indexemptions@dor.ms.gov . 

 

- 577 -

Item # 32.

mailto:indexemptions@dor.ms.gov


  

 
OFFICE OF PROPERTY TAX 

EXEMPTIONS & PUBLIC UTILITIES BUREAU 
 

 

P. O. Box 1033                Jackson, MS  39215                      www.dor.ms.gov                      Phone: 601.923.7618                FAX:  601.923.7637 

August 16, 2023 
 

Ms. Missy Shelton, City Clerk Applicant: Leggett & Platt Components Co.  #0908 

Lee County – Tupelo Applicable Code Section: MCA §27-31-105 

P.O. Box 1485 Date of Completion: December 31, 2022 

Tupelo, Ms.  38802 Date Filed: March 15, 2023 
   

EXEMPTION CERTIFICATION - NOTICE OF ACTION 
 

☐ NO ACTION – The Department of Revenue has no authority to act on exemptions requested under the cited section of law. 
 

☐ INCOMPLETE DOCUMENTATION – We cannot process your request, as necessary documentation is missing.  Please provide:  
 

☐ Application for Exemption ☐ Preliminary Resolution Granting Exemption 

☐ Itemized Asset Listing ☐ MDA Approval Letter 

☐ Tax Assessor’s Position Statement ☐ Final Resolution Granting Exemption  
 

☐ REQUEST IS CERTIFIED AS INELIGIBLE – This request is ineligible under the cited section of law. 

 
 

☒ REQUEST IS CERTIFIED AS ELIGIBLE – In accordance with the authority conferred upon the Department of Revenue, we 

hereby certify that the application for exemption submitted on behalf of the above-referenced entity is compliant with the provisions 

of law and the property referenced therein is eligible for ad valorem tax exemption to the extent permitted by law. 
 

This certification applies exclusively to the property itemized in the original application for exemption, excluding any property 

found specifically ineligible by the Department.  Outlined below is the total true value of eligible assets per the application. The 

amount of exemption is limited to the actual assessed value of such assets as annually determined by the Tax Assessor and finally 

approved by the Board of Supervisors. 
 

TOTAL TRUE VALUE PER APPLICATION REQUESTED  APPROVED 

☐    Real Property    

☒    Personal Property $248,861.00   $248,861.00 

☐    Raw Materials    

☐    Work-in-Progress    

 TOTAL    $248,861.00  $248,861.00 
     

☐    Ineligible Property (* see below)    

     

   

 

Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. Section 27-31-109, if the governing authorities grant the exemption certified above, they must place 

a final order on their minutes declaring this property exempt and documenting the dates when this exemption commences and 

expires.  
 

If the governing authorities issue a final order declaring this property exempt, the clerk must record the application and the order 

approving the exemption.  Finally, the clerk must send a copy of the final order to the Mississippi Department of Revenue. 
 

Should you have any questions concerning this matter, please feel free to contact us. 
 

Debra McDonald, Revenue Specialist     Paul J. Foreman, Director 

Exemptions & Public Utilities Bureau      Exemptions & Public Utilities Bureau 

(P) 601.923.7634        (P) 601.923.7632 

 

 

Save postage and get electronic verification that we have received your exemption filings by submitting any industrial exemption 

requests or correspondence electronically via email to indexemptions@dor.ms.gov . 

 

- 578 -

Item # 32.

mailto:indexemptions@dor.ms.gov


  

 
OFFICE OF PROPERTY TAX 

EXEMPTIONS & PUBLIC UTILITIES BUREAU 
 

 

P. O. Box 1033                Jackson, MS  39215                      www.dor.ms.gov                      Phone: 601.923.7618                FAX:  601.923.7637 

August 16, 2023 
 

Ms. Missy Shelton, City Clerk Applicant: Leggett & Platt Components Co.  #4201 

Lee County – Tupelo Applicable Code Section: MCA §27-31-105 

P.O. Box 1485 Date of Completion: December 31, 2022 

Tupelo, Ms.  38802 Date Filed: March 15, 2023 
   

EXEMPTION CERTIFICATION - NOTICE OF ACTION 
 

☐ NO ACTION – The Department of Revenue has no authority to act on exemptions requested under the cited section of law. 
 

☐ INCOMPLETE DOCUMENTATION – We cannot process your request, as necessary documentation is missing.  Please provide:  
 

☐ Application for Exemption ☐ Preliminary Resolution Granting Exemption 

☐ Itemized Asset Listing ☐ MDA Approval Letter 

☐ Tax Assessor’s Position Statement ☐ Final Resolution Granting Exemption  
 

☐ REQUEST IS CERTIFIED AS INELIGIBLE – This request is ineligible under the cited section of law. 

 
 

☒ REQUEST IS CERTIFIED AS ELIGIBLE – In accordance with the authority conferred upon the Department of Revenue, we 

hereby certify that the application for exemption submitted on behalf of the above-referenced entity is compliant with the provisions 

of law and the property referenced therein is eligible for ad valorem tax exemption to the extent permitted by law. 
 

This certification applies exclusively to the property itemized in the original application for exemption, excluding any property 

found specifically ineligible by the Department.  Outlined below is the total true value of eligible assets per the application. The 

amount of exemption is limited to the actual assessed value of such assets as annually determined by the Tax Assessor and finally 

approved by the Board of Supervisors. 
 

TOTAL TRUE VALUE PER APPLICATION REQUESTED  APPROVED 

☐    Real Property    

☒    Personal Property   $381,955.00  $381,955.00 

☐    Raw Materials    

☐    Work-in-Progress    

 TOTAL   $381,955.00  $381,955.00 
     

☐    Ineligible Property (* see below)    

     

   

 

Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. Section 27-31-109, if the governing authorities grant the exemption certified above, they must place 

a final order on their minutes declaring this property exempt and documenting the dates when this exemption commences and 

expires.  
 

If the governing authorities issue a final order declaring this property exempt, the clerk must record the application and the order 

approving the exemption.  Finally, the clerk must send a copy of the final order to the Mississippi Department of Revenue. 
 

Should you have any questions concerning this matter, please feel free to contact us. 
 

Debra McDonald, Revenue Specialist     Paul J. Foreman, Director 

Exemptions & Public Utilities Bureau      Exemptions & Public Utilities Bureau 

(P) 601.923.7634        (P) 601.923.7632 

 

 

Save postage and get electronic verification that we have received your exemption filings by submitting any industrial exemption 

requests or correspondence electronically via email to indexemptions@dor.ms.gov . 

 

- 579 -

Item # 32.

mailto:indexemptions@dor.ms.gov


 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Stephen Reed, Assistant City Attorney 

DATE August 24, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF DONATION OF STREETS AND ALLEYWAYS IN 

THE VILLAGES COMPLEX SA 
  

 

Request:  

Please review and approve the acceptance of the donation of streets and alleyways in the 

Villages complex. 

- 580 -

Item # 33.



- 581 -

Item # 33.



- 582 -

Item # 33.



- 583 -

Item # 33.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Stephen N. Reed, Assistant City Attorney 

DATE August 31, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF AN ORDER ACCEPTING A CONVEYANCE OF REAL 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 120 SOUTH HIGHLAND DRIVE AND 

DECLARING AS SURPLUS THE STRUCTURE(S) LOCATED AT SAID 

PROPERTY AND TO AUTHORIZE THE DEMOLITION OF THE 

SURPLUSED STRUCTURE(S). SR 
  

 

Request:  

On August 17, 2023, the City of Tupelo purchased real property located at 120 South Highland 

Drive from Charolette Denise West. The structures located on the property are in a blighted 

condition, and in need of demolition. The attached Order approves the following:  

 To accept the conveyance of real property located at 120 South Highland Drive. 

 To declare as surplus the structures located at 120 South Highland Drive.  

 To authorize the demolition of the structures declared surplus.  

 

- 584 -

Item # 34.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Stephen N. Reed, Assistant City Attorney 

DATE August 31, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF AN ORDER ACCEPTING A CONVEYANCE OF REAL 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 124 SOUTH HIGHLAND DRIVE AND 

DECLARING AS SURPLUS THE STRUCTURE(S) LOCATED AT SAID 

PROPERTY AND TO AUTHORIZE THE DEMOLITION OF THE 

SURPLUSED STRUCTURE(S). SR 
  

 

Request:  

On August 17, 2023, the City of Tupelo purchased real property located at 124 South Highland 

Drive from Vanessa P. Hendrix and Ralph W. Pounds. The structures located on the property are 

in a blighted condition, and in need of demolition. The attached Order approves the following:  

 To accept the conveyance of real property located at 124 South Highland Drive. 

 To declare as surplus the structures located at 124 South Highland Drive.  

 To authorize the demolition of the structures declared surplus.  

 

- 585 -

Item # 35.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Stephen N. Reed, Assistant City Attorney 

DATE August 31, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF AN ORDER ACCEPTING A CONVEYANCE OF REAL 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1507 FORREST STREET AND DECLARING AS 

SURPLUS THE STRUCTURE(S) LOCATED AT SAID PROPERTY AND TO 

AUTHORIZE THE DEMOLITION OF THE SURPLUSED STRUCTURE(S). 

SR 
  

 

Request:  

On August 17, 2023, the City of Tupelo purchased real property located at 1507 Forrest Street 

from Ralph W. Pound. The structures located on the property are in a blighted condition, and in 

need of demolition. The attached Order approves the following:  

 To accept the conveyance of real property located at 1507 Forrest Street. 

 To declare as surplus the structures located at 1507 Forrest Street.  

 To authorize the demolition of the structures declared surplus.  

 

- 586 -

Item # 36.



 
AGENDA REQUEST  

 

 

TO:  Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Don Lewis, COO 

DATE September 1, 2023 

SUBJECT:  IN THE MATTER OF CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS CONTRACT DL 
  

 

Request:  

For your review and approval. 

 

- 587 -

Item # 37.



- 588 -

Item # 37.



- 589 -

Item # 37.



- 590 -

Item # 37.



- 591 -

Item # 37.



- 592 -

Item # 37.



- 593 -

Item # 37.



- 594 -

Item # 37.



- 595 -

Item # 37.



- 596 -

Item # 37.



- 597 -

Item # 37.



- 598 -

Item # 37.



- 599 -

Item # 37.



- 600 -

Item # 37.



- 601 -

Item # 37.



- 602 -

Item # 37.



- 603 -

Item # 37.



- 604 -

Item # 37.



- 605 -

Item # 37.



- 606 -

Item # 37.



- 607 -

Item # 37.



- 608 -

Item # 37.



Exhibit "A"

- 609 -

Item # 37.


	Top
	Item # 1.	FIN:  PUBLIC HEARING FOR 2023 TAX LEVY
	public hearing TAX LEVY 9-5-2023
	tax levy public hearing 2024

	Item # 2.	DDS: DEMOLITION HEARING SEP 2023
	Agenda Request Demolition Hearing Sep 5 2023
	Demolitions September 5th Meeting

	Item # 3.	DDS:PH LOT MOWING SEPTEMBER 2023
	PUBLIC HEARING REQUEST - LOT MOWING 9.5.23
	PRELIMINARY LOT MOWING REPORT FOR 9.5.23

	Item # 4.	DDS: PH REZONING 2023
	PUBLIC HEARING - REZONING 9.5.23
	RZ23-02_REZONING_BARNESCROSSING

	Item # 5.	CO:MINUTES REGULAR AUGUST 15, 2023, SPECIAL CALLED AUGUST 22, 2023 SEP 2023
	Minutes 8-15 and 22, 2023
	8-15-2023 Regular Revised
	8-22-2023 Special Revised

	Item # 6.	FIN:BILL PAY SEP 2023
	Bill Pay 9-5-2023

	Item # 7.	FIN:  ADVERTISING AND PROMOTIONAL EXPENSES
	ad approval 9-5-2023

	Item # 8.	FIN: APROVE TAX ROLL FOR TAX YEAR 2023
	TAX ROLL APPROVAL FOR 2023 TAX YEAR
	Copy of Tupelo Inc. Assessed Valuation - 2023 TAX YEAR
	ADVALOREM CITY PERSONAL & REAL EXEMPT 2023
	DOWNTOWN_ABATEMENTS_2023TY

	Item # 9.	FIN: SURPLUS SEPT2023
	AGENDA REQUEST 9-5-2023 SURPLUS IPADS

	Item # 10.	FIN: BUDGET AMENDMENT #10-2023
	request to review and approve amendment #10 FY2023
	amendment #10-2023

	Item # 11.	FIN:  APPROVE 2023 CITY G.O. BOND RESOLUTION NOT TO EXCEED $12 MILLION SEP 2023
	RESOLUTION DIRECTING ISSUANCE AND SALE OF G.O. BONDS 2023 NOT TO EXCEED $12M
	City of Tupelo MS General Obligation Bonds 2023 (GO Placement) (236147) - Form of Private Placement Agreement
	MDB City of Tupelo MS General Obligation Bond (GO UW) (236147) - Form of Indenture of Trust
	MDB Tupelo General Obligation Bonds (GO UW 2023) (236147) - MDB Bond Purchase Agreement
	MDB Tupelo MS General Obligation Bonds 2023 (236147) - Form of POS
	MDB City of Tupelo MS General Obligation Bonds 2023 (GO UW) (236147) - Form of City Bond Purchase Agreement
	MDB City of Tupelo MS General Obligation Bonds 2023 (UW GO) - City Bond Resolution 

	Item # 12.	ADM:FIRE CHIEF APPOINTMENT BRAD ROBINSON SEP 2023
	Fire Chief Appt - 9-5-2023
	Brad Robinson fire chief release

	Item # 13.	ADM:APPOINTMENT HAROLD WILSON COMMUNITY OUTREACH TASK FORCE CHAIRMAN SEP 2023
	Community Outreach Wilson 9-5-2023
	2945_001

	Item # 14.	DDS: LOT MOWING SEPTEMBER 2023
	REGULAR AGENDA - LOT MOWING 9.5.23
	PRELIMINARY LOT MOWING REPORT FOR 9.5.23

	Item # 15.	DDS: REVIEW APPROVE DEMOLITIONS SEP 2023
	Agenda Request Review Approve Demolitions Sep 5 2023
	Demolitions September 5th Meeting

	Item # 16.	DDS: REZONING 2023
	REGULAR AGENDA - REZONING 9.5.23
	RZ23-02_REZONING_BARNESCROSSING

	Item # 17.	DDS: SERVICES CONTRACT 2023
	REGULAR AGENDA - GRANT FOR SPRING HILL BAPTIST CHURCH
	ActionItem_9.5.23_MDAH_Grant_ProfServicesContract

	Item # 18.	DDS: LOT MOWING LIENS SEP 2023
	Agenda Request Review Approve Lot Mowing Liens Sep 5 2023
	Lot Mowing Liens September 5th Meeting

	Item # 19.	PD: SEIZED VEHICLE TO NMNU ASSET LIST SEP 2023
	Agenda request 09.05.2023

	Item # 20.	PD: ADDING NMNU SGT. DANIEL SHEPHERD TO PIPE CHECKS ISSUED SEP 2023
	Adding Shepherd to pipe fund checks

	Item # 21.	PD: MOU BETWEEN TPD AND US SECRET SERVICE   AUGUST 2023
	ITEM-Staff-USSS
	MOU. USSS

	Item # 22.	PW: BID APPROVAL 12 MOS MATERIALS AND DELIVERY 2023-039PW SEPT 2023
	AGENDA MEMO 2023-029PW 12 MOS MATERIALS AND DELIVERY BID
	Bid Tabulation PDF
	Sign in sheet 2023-039PW
	James Hodges Construction Bid
	Crossway Trucking Bid
	May Farms
	APAC Bid
	Poe Bros Trucking Bid

	Item # 23.	PW: BID APPROVAL ENDVILLE RD WIDENING/SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS BID NO. 2023-022PW SEPT 2023
	AGENDA MEMO BID APPROVAL NO. 2023-022PW ENDVILLE ROAD WIDENING AND SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS
	BID 2023-022PW Bid Tabulation
	Recom of Award.Endville Rd_08-31-2023
	SIGN IN SHEET
	Bid 2023-022PW Minute Entry Sign In for Bid
	Endville Rd BID TAB_08-30-2023
	Hodges Construction Bid
	Townes Construction Bid
	Cook & Son Bid

	Item # 24.	PW: CONTRACT APPROVAL CITY PARK DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS ARPA 2023-028PW SEPT 2023
	AGENDA MEMO CONTRACT APPROVAL 2023-028PW CITY PARK DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS
	BID Documents City Park Drainage Improvements

	Item # 25.	PW: CONTRACT APPROVAL VAN BUREN DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS ARPA 2023-032PW SEPT 2023
	AGENDA MEMO CONTRACT APPROVAL 2023-032PW VAN BUREN DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS
	BID Documents Van Buren Drainage Improvements

	Item # 26.	PW: CONTRACT APPROVAL GUM TREE PARK DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS ARPA 2023-029PW SEPT 2023
	AGENDA MEMO CONTRACT APPROVAL 2023-029PW GUM TREE PARK DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS
	BID Documents Gum Tree Park Drainage Improvements

	Item # 27.	PR: FIXED ASSETS SURPLUS SCRAP SEP 2023
	Fixed Asst August 2023
	Scan Aug 30, 2023

	Item # 28.	COL: MINUTES OF JULY 17, 2023
	minutes 07-23
	July 2023 signed minutes

	Item # 29.	TWL: REJECT BID NO 2023-038WL (LED LUMINAIRES - 6 MONTH BID) SEP 2023
	2023-09-05 Bid 2023-038WL Rejection - LED Luminaires (6 Month Bid)
	2023-09-05 Bid 2023-038WL Rejection - LED Luminaires (6 Month Bid)

	Item # 30.	TWL: BID 2023-037WL WATER MATERIALS (6 MONTH BID) SEP 2023
	2023-09-05 Bid 2023-037WL Award - Water Materials (6 Month Bid)
	2023-09-05 Bid 2023-037WL Award - Water Materials (6 Month Bid)

	Item # 31.	TWL: BID 2023-019WL - CHANGE ORDER 1 - ENSCOR SEP 2023
	2023-09-05 Bid No 2023-019WL Change Order 1 - Enscor
	2023-09-05 Bid No 2023-019WL Change Order 1 - Enscor

	Item # 32.	FIN:TAX EXEMPTION LEGGETT & PLATT 0341 0908 4201 SEP 2023
	Leggett & Platt 0341 2023
	Leggett & Platt Ad Valorem Taxes. - 2023 Final approval
	Leggett  Platt Components Company Inc. #0341 (City of Tupelo) 2023
	Leggett  Platt Components Company Inc. #0908 (City of Tupelo) 2023
	Leggett  Platt Components Company Inc. #4201 (City of Tupelo) 2023

	Item # 33.	ADM:DONATON OF STREETS/ALLEYWAYS FROM THE VILLAGES SEP 2023
	The Villages Donation 9-5-2023
	2944_001

	Item # 34.	ADM: accept and surplus 120 South Highland; Sep. 23
	Order to accept convyance and declare as surplus (120 S. Highland)

	Item # 35.	ADM: accept conveyance and surplus 124 South Highland; Sep. 23
	Request to accept convyance and declare as surplus (124 S. Highland)

	Item # 36.	ADM: Order to accept conveyance and surplus 1507 Forrest; Sep. 23
	Request to accept convyance and declare as surplus (1507 Firrest)

	Item # 37.	ADM:COUNCIL CHAMBERS CONTRACT SEP 2023
	City Hall Contract 9-5-2023
	Tupelo Council Chambers Renovations
	A105-2017 - Owner_Contractor Short Form_2023.08.21

	Bottom



